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In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under exisling lows, regulalions andjudicial decisions, and assuming conlinued compliance by the County.with cerlain
covenonls, interesl on lhe Series 2017A Bonds is excludable from gross income for federal income ldx purposes and is not on ilem o/ lax preference /or
purposes of lhe federal ahernalive minimum lax imposed on individual and corporalions; howeyer, such inleresl is laken inlo accounl in delermining
adjusled currenl eamingsfor the purpose of compuling lhe olternalive minimum ldx imposed on certain corporations. INTEREST ON THE SERIES 20178
BONDS IS NOI EXCLUDABLE FROM GROSS INCOME OF A RECIPIENT THEREOF FOR FEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES. In the opinion of
Bond Counsel, inleresl on lhe Series 2017 Bonds is exenpt lrom presenl Slale ol Georgia income laxalion The opinion conlains greater delail, and is
subjecl lo exceptions, as noled in " LEGAL MATTERS -Tax Mauers" herein.

OCONEE COUNTY, GEORGIA

NEW ISSUE
(Book-Entry Only)

$10,870,000*
Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds,

Series 2017A

Dated: Date of Delivery

RATING:
Standard & Poor's: AA

(See "MISCELLANEOUS - Rating")

$1,845,000*
Water and Sewerage Taxable Refunding Revenue Bonds,

Series 2017

Due: September l, as shown on the inside fiont cover

The Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A (the "series 2017A Bonds") and the Oconee County, Georgia
Water and Sewerage Taxable Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 20178 (the "Series 20178 Bonds" and, together with the Series 2017A Bonds, the "series
2017 Bonds") are being issued in book-entry form in denominations of$5,000 or any integral multipte thereofby Oconee County, Georgia (the..County,,)
The Series 2017A Bonds are being issued to (i) finance the renovation and improvement of the Calls Creek Wastewater Reclamation Facility and the
acquisition, construction and installation of additional water and sewer facilities and equipment (the "Projects") and (ii) pay certain costs and expcnses
relating to the issuance ofthe Series 2017A Bonds The Series 20178 Bonds are being issued to (i) advance refund the County's outstanding Water and
Sewerage Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2009, and (ii) pay certain costs and expenses relating to the issuance ofthe Series 20178 Bonds See "PLAN
OF FINANCE " Interest on the Series 2017 Bonds is payable semiannually on March I and September I of each year, commencing on March 1,2018 See,
'DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2017 BONDS" herein.

The Series 2017 Bonds will be registered in the name of Cede & Co, as nominee of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (the
"Securities Depository") The Securities Depository will act as securities depository for the Series 2017 Bonds Purchases will be made only in book-entry
form through the Participants (as herein defined) in the Securities Depository, and no physical delivery ofthe Series 2017 Bonds will be made to the
Beneficial Owners(ashereindefined) Paymentofprincipalandinterestandpremium,ifany,ontheseries20lTBondswill bemadetoBeneficial Owners
by the Securities Depository through its Participants. As long as Cede & Co is the registered owner of the Series 2017 Bonds, as nominee of the Securities
Depository, references herein to the holders of the Series 2017 Bonds or registered owners shall mean Cede & Co , as aforesaid, and shall not mean the
Beneficial Owners of the Series 2017 Bonds See "DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2017 BONDS" herein

The Series 2017,A Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity as described herein. See 'DESCzuPTION OF THE SERIES 20 l7 BONDS -
Redemption "

The Series 2017 Bonds, the Series 2003 Bonds (defined herein), the Series 2012 Bonds (defined herein), and any parity bonds hereafter issued
will be secured by and are payable from a first pledge of and lien on the Net Revenues (defined herein) derived from the operation of the System (defined
herein). See'SECUzuTY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2017 BONDS "

Neither the general credit nor the taxing power ofthe State ofGeorgia or any political subdivision thereof, including the County, is pledged to the
payment of the Series 2017 Bonds. The Series 2017 Bonds are limited obligations of the County and are payable solely from the Net Revenues of the
System The Series 2017 Bonds do not constitute a charge, lien or encumbrance upon any other property ofthe County

SEE MATURITY AND RATE OR YIELD SCHEDULES ON THE INSIDE FRONT COVER.

THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF THIS
ISSUE INVESTORS MUST READ TIIE ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAI TO THE MAKING OF AN
INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION

The Series 2017 Bonds are offered, when, as and if issued by the County, subject to prior sale, to the withdrawal or the modification ofthe offer
without notice, to validation by the Superior Court ofOconee County, Georgia and to the approval oflegality by Gray Pannell & Woodward LLP, Atlanta,
Georgia, Bond Counsel. Certain legal mafters will be passed upon forthe County by its counsel, Daniel C. Haygood, Esq., Watkinsville, Georgia and by its
disclosure counsel, Gray Pannell & Woodward LLP, Atlanta, Georgia The Series 2017 Bonds will be available for delivery through The Depository Trust
Company in New York, New York on or about October l'1 ,201'1

Dated: October _,2017
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MATURITIES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST RATES, AND YIELDS*

$10,870,000*
Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds,

Series 20174

Maturity
(September 1)

2024
202s
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037

Maturity
(Seotember l)

2018
2019

Principal
Amount

s965,000
880,000

Interest
Rate

lnterest
Rate

Principal
Amount

s550,000
580,000
610,000
640,000
670,000
705,000
740,000
780,000
820,000
860,000
905,000
9ss,000

l,ooo,oo0
1,055,000

Yield CUSIP(r)

Yield CUSIP(r)

* Preliminary, subject to change(') CUSIP data presented herein has been provided by Standard & Poor's CUSIP Service Bureau, a division of The
McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. Copyright 2015. American Bankers Association.

$1,845,000*
Water and Sewerage Taxable

Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 20178

* Preliminary, subject to change(r) CUSIP data presented herein has been provided by Standard & Poor's CUSIP Service Bureau, a division of The
McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. Copyright 2015. American Bankers Association.
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No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized to give any information or to make any
representations, other than those contained in this Official Statement in connection with the offering contained
herein, and if given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon. This Ofhcial
Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of the
Series 2017 Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer,
solicitation or sale.

The information contained in this Official Statement has been obtained from representatives of the County,
public documents, records and other sources considered to be reliable, but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or
completeness by, and is not to be constituted as a representation by the Underwriter. The delivery of this Official
Statement at any time does not imply that any information herein is correct as of any time subsequent to its date.
Any statements in this Official Statement involving estimates, assumptions and matters of opinion, whether or not so
expressly stated, are intended as such and not as representations offact.

The Underwriter intends to offer the Series 2017 Bonds to the public initially at the offering prices set forth
on the inside front cover page of the Official Statement, which may subsequently change without any requirement of
prior notice. The Underwriter reserves the right to join with dealers and other underwriters in offering the Series
2017 Bonds to the public. The Underwriter may offer and sell the Series 2017 Bonds to certain dealers (including
dealers depositing the Series 2017 Bonds into unit investment trusts) at prices lower than the public offering price.

In connection with this offering, the Underwriter may over-allot or effect transactions which stabilize or
maintain the market price of the Series 2017 Bonds at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open
market. Such stabilizing, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.

NO REGISTRATION STATEMENT RELATING TO THE SEzuES 2OI7 BONDS HAS BEEN FILED
WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION ("SEC") OR ANY STATE SECURITIES
AGENCY. THE SEzuES 2OI7 BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SEC OR
ANY STATE SECURITIES AGENCY, NOR HAS THE SEC ORANY STATE SECURITIES AGENCY PASSED
UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT, ANY REPRESENTATION TO
THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the County, the System,
and the terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved. The Series 2017 Bonds have not been
recommended by any federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority. Furthermore, the foregoing
authorities have not confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this Oflicial Statement. Any
representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

For purposes of compliance with Rule l5c2-12 of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, as

amended (the "Rule"), and in effect on the date of this Preliminary Official Statement, this document constitutes a
Preliminary Official Statement of the County with respect to the Bonds that has been deemed "final" by the County as

of its date except for the omission of no more than the information permitted by the Rule.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

of

ocoNEE couNTY, GEORGIA

Relating to its

$10,870,000*
Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds,

Series 2017A

$1,845,000*
Water and Sewerage Taxable Refunding Revenue

Bonds, Series 20178

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this Official Statement, which includes the cover page and the Appendices hereto, is to
furnish certain information in connection with the sale by Oconee County, Georgia (the "County") of $10,870,000*
in aggregate principal amount of its Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A (the "Series 2017A Bonds")
and $1,845,000* in aggregate principal amount of its Water and Sewerage Taxable Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 20178 (the "Series 20178 Bonds" and, together with the Series 2017A Bonds, the "Series 2017 Bonds").
Capitalized terms used but not def,rred herein shall have the meanings assigned to them in the Bond Resolution
(defined herein). See Appendix A - "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF BOND RESOLUTION -
Definitions."

This introduction is not a summary of this Official Statement and is intended only for quick reference. It is
only a brief description of and guide to, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, more complete and detailed
information contained in the entire Official Statement, including the cover page and the Appendices hereto, and the
documents summarized or described herein. A full review should be made of the entire Ofhcial Statement and of
the documents summarized or described herein, if necessary. The offering of the Series 2017 Bonds to potential
investors is made only by means of the entire Offrcial Statement, including the Appendices hereto. No person is
authorized to detach this Introduction from the Official Statement or to otherwise use it without the entire Official
Statement, including the Appendices hereto.

The County

The County, the issuer of the Series 2017 Bonds, is a political subdivision of the State of Georgia created
by the laws of the State of Georgia. The County is located in northeast Georgia, approximately 6 miles south of
Athens and 53 miles east of the City of Atlanta. It is bordered by Athens-Clarke, Oglethorpe, Morgan, Greene and
Walton Counties. The County seat is Watkinsville. Other municipalities in the County are Bogafl, Bishop and
North High Shoals. See "OCONEE COUNTY GENERAL INFORMATION."

Purpose ofthe Series 2017 Bonds

The Series 2017 A Bonds are being issued to (i) finance the renovation and improvement of the Calls Creek
Wastewater Reclamation Facility and the acquisition, construction and installation of additional water and sewer
facilities and equipment (the "Projects") and (ii) pay certain costs and expenses relating to the issuance ofthe Series
2017 A Bonds. The Series 20178 Bonds are being issued to (i) advance refund the County's outstanding Water and
Sewerage Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2009, and (ii) pay certain costs and expenses relating to the issuance of
the Series 20178 Bonds. See "PLAN OF FINANCE."

Throughout this Preliminary Official Statement an asterisk indicates that the information is preliminary and
subject to change.



Security and Sources ofPayment for the Series 2017 Bonds

The Series 2017 Bonds, the County's outstanding Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2003 (the
"Series 2003 Bonds"), the County's outstanding Water and Sewerage Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2012 (the
"Series 2012 Bonds") and any parity bonds hereafter issued are secured by and are payable from a first pledge of
and lien on the revenues derived from the operation of the System after the payment of the reasonable costs of
operating, maintaining and repairing such System (the "Net Revenues"). The Series 2017 Bonds are limited
obligations of the County and are payable solely from the Net Revenues. The Series 2017 Bonds do not constitute a
charge, lien or encumbrance on any other property of the County. See "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 20I7 BONDS.''

Description of the Series 2017 Bonds

Redemption.x The Series 2017 A Bonds are subject to redemption prior to their stated maturity. The Series
20178 Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity. See "DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2017
BONDS - Optional Redemption and - Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption."

Denominqtions. The Series 2017 Bonds are issuable in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple
thereof. See "DESCRIPTION OF THE SEzuES 2017 BONDS - Denominations, Payments, Registrations, Transfers
and Exchanges."

Registration, Transfers and Exchanges. The Series 2017 Bonds will be issued in fully registered form.
When in book-enfiy form, the purchasers of the Series 2017 Bonds (the "Beneficial Owners") will not receive
certificates representing their ownership interest in the Series 2017 Bonds. Instead, such Series 201 7 Bonds will be
held by a securities depository, initially The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") and registered in the name of DTC
or its nominee, Cede & Co. Any transfer or exchange of the ownership interest in Series 2017 Bonds held in
book-entry form will be made through computerized book-entry changes on the books of DTC through DTC's
Direct and Indirect Participants in the manner described herein under "DESCzuPTION OF THE SERIES 2017
BONDS - Book-Entry System of Registration." When not in book-entry form, ownership of any Series 2017 Bond
may be transferred upon surrender of such Series 2017 Bond to the Bond Registrar, together with an assignment
duly executed by the registered owner or his attorney or legal representative, subject to the conditions hereinafter
described. When not in book-entry form, the Series 2017 Bonds are exchangeable for a like aggregate principal
amount of Series 2017 Bonds of the same maturity in denominations of $5,000 or integral multiples thereof, subject
to the conditions hereinafter described. See "DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2017 BONDS - Denominations,
Payments, Registrations, Transfers and Exchanges. "

Payments.Interest on the Series 2017 Bonds is payable on March I and September 1 of each year (each
such date, an "Interest Payment Date"), commencing March 1,2018. Payment of the principal of and interest on the
Bonds will be made by the Paying Agent directly to Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, and will subsequently be
disbursed to Participants hereinafter defured) and thereafter to Beneficial Owners of the Series 2017 Bonds. When
not in book-entry form, interest on the Series 2017 Bonds is payable by check or draft mailed by first class mail on
the Interest Payment Date to the owners thereof as shown on the books and records of the Bond Registrar on the
15th day of the calendar month next preceding the lnterest Payment Date. When not in book-entry form, principal
on the Bonds is payable upon surrender thereof at the corporate trust office of the Paying Agent located in Atlanta,
Georgia. See "DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2017 BONDS - Denominations, Payments, Registrations,
Transfers and Exchanges."

Notices. Not less than 30 days nor more than 60 days before the date upon which redemption is to be made,
a notice of such redemption will be mailed by f,rst class mail, postage prepaid, to all registered owners of Series
2017 Bonds to be redeemed at the addresses which appear upon the bond registration books. See "DESCRIPTION
OF THE SERIES 2017 BONDS - Notice of Redemption."

For a more complete description of the Series 2017 Bonds and the basic documentation pursuant to which
they are issued, see "DESCRIPTION OF TIIE SERIES 2017 BONDS" and Appendix A.



Tax Exemption

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, subject to the limitations and conditions described herein, under existing
laws, regulations and judicial decisions, and assuming continued compliance by the County with certain covenants,
interest on the Series 2017A Bonds (including any original issue discount properly allocable to a holder thereof) is
exempt from present State of Georgia income taxation, is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes, and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal individual and corporate alternative
minimum tax; however, with respect to corporations (as defined for federal income tax purposes), such interest is
taken into account in determining adjusted current earnings for the pur?ose of computing the alternative minimum
tax imposed on such corporations. See Appendix D for the form of the opinion Bond Counsel proposes to deliver in
connection with the issuance of the Series 2017A Bonds.

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, based on existing law, the interest on the Series 20178 Bonds is exempt
from present State of Georgia income taxation. Bond Counsel will express no opinion as to any other tax
consequences regarding the Series 20178 Bonds. INTEREST ON THE SERIES 20178 BONDS IS NOT
EXCLUDABLE FROM THE GROSS INCOME OF A RECIPIENT THEREOF FOR FEDERAL INCOME TAX
PURPOSES.

For more complete discussion of such opinion and certain other tax consequences of owning the Series
2017 Bonds, including certain exceptions to the exclusion of the interest of the Series 2017 Bonds from gross
income, see "LEGAL MATTERS - Tax Matters; -- Original Issue Discount; and - Premium Bonds" herein.

Bond Registrar, Paying Agent and Other Custodians and Depositories

Regions Bank, Atlanta, Georgia will act as Bond Registrar and as Paying Agent for the Series 2017 Bonds.

On September 20,2077, the Board of Commissioners of the County approved the designation of Regions
Bank, Atlanta, Georgia, as successor Bond Registrar and Paying Agent for the outstanding Series 2003 Bonds and
Series 2012 Bonds and successor Custodian of the Sinking Fund. The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A. will serve in such capacities until such transfers are effective.

Professionals Involved in the Offering

Certain legal matters pertaining to the County and its authorization and issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds
are subject to the approving opinion of Gray Pannell & Woodward LLP, Atlanta, Georgia, Bond Counsel. Copies of
Bond Counsel's opinion will be available at the time of delivery of the Series 2017 Bonds, and a copy of the
proposed form of such opinion is attached hereto as Appendix D. Certain legal maffers will be passed on for the
County by its counsel, Daniel C. Haygood, Esq., Watkinsville, Georgia and its disclosure counsel, Gray Pamell &
Woodward LLP, Atlanta, Georgia. The financial statements of the County as of June 30,2076, and for the year then
ended, attached hereto as Appendix C, have been audited by Treadwell, Tamplin & Co., Madison, Georgia,
independent registered public accountants as stated in their report which appears in Appendix C hereto. See
"MISCELLANEOUS - Independent Professionals."

Authority for Issuance

The Series 2017 Bonds are being issued in accordance with the Constitution and laws of the State of
Georgia, including but not limited to the Revenue Bond Law (O.C.G.A. Section 36-82-60 et seq., as amended). The
Series 2017 Bonds will be issued under and secured pursuant to the terms and conditions of a resolution adopted by
the County on October 23,1998, as amended and supplemented by resolutions adopted by the County on November
3, 1998, July 18,2003, September 1,2009, October 22,2009,June26,2012,July 12,2012, September 20,2017 and
to be supplemented on or about October 3,2017 (collectively, the "Bond Resolution"). See "DESCRIPTION OF
THE SERIES 2017 BONDS - Legal Authority."



Offering and Delivery of the Series 2017 Bonds

The Series 2017 Bonds are offered, subject prior to sale, when, as, and if issued by the County, to the
withdrawal or the modification of the offer without notice, to validation by the Superior Court of Oconee, Georgia
and to the approving opinion of Gray Pannell & Woodward LLP, Atlanta, Georgia, Bond Counsel. The Series 2017
Bonds are expected to be delivered through The Depository Trust Company in New York, New York, on or about
October 17 ,201'l .

Continuing Disclosure

The County has covenanted for the benefit of the owners of the Series 2017 Bonds in a Disclosure
Certificate (the "Disclosure Certificate") to provide certain financial information and operating data relating to the
System (the "Annual Report") by not later than 270 days after the end of each fiscal year of the County,
commencing with fiscal year 2017, and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain events, if deemed by the
County to be material (the "Material Events Notices"). The Annual Report and the Material Events Notices will be
filed with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through the operation of the Electronic Municipal Market
Access System ("EMMA"). The County's undertaking to provide the Annual Report and Material Events Notices
pursuant to the Disclosure Certificate is described in Appendix B. The covenants have been made in order to assist
the Underwriter in complying with Securities and Exchange Commission Rule l5c2-12 (the "Rule").

The County has entered into previous continuing disclosure agreements with respect to the Rule (the "Prior
Undertakings"). There have been occurrences over the last five years during which the County has failed to timely
comply with its obligations under the Prior Undertakings, as follows:

(l) For fiscal years2012 through 2014,the County failed to timely file its annual reports that
were due on December 27,2012, December 27,2013 and, December 27,2014, respectively, with respect to
outstanding general obligation bonds and revenue bonds issued by or on behalfofthe County.

(2) The County filed its audited financial statements for fiscal year 2012 on January 1,2013
(7 days late), its audited financial statements for fiscal year 2013 on January 2,2014 (6 days late) and its
audited furancial statements for fiscal year 2014 on January 2,2015 (6 days late).

(3) The County filed required operating data for fiscal year 2012 on January 3,2013, and
March 31 , 2013 (7 and 4 days late), required operating data for fiscal year 2013 on January 2,2014 (6 days
late).

(4) The County filed its general fund budget for fiscal year 2013 on January 2,2014 (371
days late), and its general fundbudget for fiscal year2014 on January 2,2015 (371 days late).

(5) The County failed to provide its amual reports for fiscal year 2012 and fiscal year 2013
with respect to its Revenues Series 2012, its General Obligation Refunding 20 I 1A, and its Taxable General
Obligation Refunding 2011B until August 18, 2015.

(6) The County failed to provide the required notice of late filing for the instances described
above.

(7) The County failed to file notices of rating changes.

The County participated in the Securities and Exchange Commission's Municipal Continuing Disclosure
Cooperation (MCDC) initiative regarding misstatements in prior offering documents regarding the County's prior
compliance with its Prior Undertakings. On March 3,2017, the Securities and Exchange Commission provided the
County a notice that it has concluded its review of the submission pursuant to the Municipalities Continuing
Disclosure Cooperation Initiative from the County and that based on the information it has as of this date, it does not
intend to recommend an enforcement action by the Securities and Exchange Commission against the County. This
notice was providedunderthe guidelines set out in the hnal paragraph of Securities Act Release No.5310, which
states in part that the notice "must in no way be construed as indicating that the parly has been exonerated or that no
action may ultimately result from the staff s investigation."



Pursuant to written procedures approved by the Board of Commissioners of the County on June 30, 2015, the
County implemented additional internal written procedures designed to insure that future annual reports, including
annual reports relating to the Series 2017 Bonds, will be filed on a complete and timely basis. Additionally, Digital
Assurance Certification, L.L.C. (DAC) will serve as the continuing disclosure dissemination agent for the County.

Other Information

This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information contained herein is subject to
change.

This Official Statement contains forecasts, projections, and estimates that are based on current expectations
but are not intended as representations of fact or guarantees of results. If and when included in this Official
Statement, the words "expects," "forecasts," "projects," "intends," "anticipates," "estimates," and analogous
expressions are intended to identifi forward-looking statements as def,ured in the Securities Act of 1933, as

amended, and any such statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, which could cause
actual results to differ materially from those contemplated in such forward-looking statements. These forward-
looking statements speak only as of the date of this Official Statement. The County disclaims any obligation or
undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect
any change in the County's expectations with regard thereto or any change in events, conditions, or circumstances
on which any such statement is based.

This Official Statement and the Appendices hereto contain brief descriptions of, among other matters, the
County, the Series 2017 Bonds, and the security and sources of payment for the Series 2017 Bonds. Such
descriptions and information do not purport to be comprehensive or defluritive. The summaries of various
constitutional provisions, statutes, the Bond Resolution and other documents are intended as summaries only and are
qualified in their entirety by reference to such documents, and references herein to the Series 2017 Bonds are
qualified in their entirety to the form thereof included in the Bond Resolution. Copies of the Bond Resolution and
other documents and information are available, upon request and upon payment to the County of a charge for
copying, mailing and handling, from Wes Geddings, Oconee County Commission, P.O. Box 145,23 North Main
Street, Watkinsville, Georgia; telephone: (706) 769-2944. During the period of the offering of the Series 2017
Bonds; copies of such documents are available upon request and upon payment of a charge for copying, mailing,
and handling from Stifel Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, 3630 Peachtree Road, N.E., Suite 400, Atlanta"
Georgia, telephone (404) 504-27 60.

The Series 2017 Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, and the Bond Resolution
has not been qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, n reliance on exemptions contained in such Acts.

This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall
there be any sale of the Series 201 7 Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person
to make such offer, solicitation, or sale.

No dealer, broker, salesman, or other person has been authorized by the County or the Underwriter to give
any information or to make any representations other than those contained in this Offrcial Statement, and, if given or
made, such other information or representations should not be relied upon as having been authorized by the County
or the Underwriter. Except where otherwise indicated, all information contained in this Official Statement has been
provided by the County. The information set forth herein has been obtained by the County from sources which are
believed to be reliable but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by the County or the Underwriter. The
information contained herein is subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of this Official Statement
nor any sale made hereunder shall under any circumstances create an implication that there has been no change in
the affairs of the County or the other matters described herein since the date hereof or the earlier dates set forth
herein as of which certain information contained herein is given.

In connection with this offering, the Underwriter may over-allot or effect transactions which stabilize or
maintain the market prices of the Series 2017 Bonds at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open
market. Such stabilizing, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.



DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2017 BONDS

General

The Series 2017 Bonds will be dated as of their date of issuance and delivery. The Series 201 7 Bonds will
bear interest at the rates per annum set forth on the inside front cover page of this Official Statement (computed on
the basis of a 360-day year of twelve 30-day months). Interest on the Series 2017 Bonds is payable on March I and
September 1 of each year, commencing March 1,2018 (each such date an "Interest Payment Date"). The Series
2017 Bonds will mature on the dates and in the amounts set forth on the inside front cover page hereof.

Denominations, Payments, Registrations, Transfers and Exchanges

The Series 2017 Bonds will be issued in fully registered form in the denomination of $5,000 each or
integral multiples thereof. The County, the Bond Registrar and the Paying Agent may deem and treat the registered
owner as the absolute owner of such Series 2017 Bond for purposes of receiving payment of or on account of
principal and interest payable thereon, and for all other purposes; the County, the Bond Registrar and the Paying
Agent will not be affected by any notice to the contrary.

When in book-entry form, the purchasers of the Series 2017 Bonds (the "Beneficial Owners") will not
receive cefiificates representing their ownership interest in the Series 201 7 Bonds. Instead, such Series 2017 Bonds
will be held by a securities depository, initially The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") and registered in the name
of DTC or its nominee, Cede & Co. Any transfer or exchange of the ownership interest in Series 2017 Bonds held
in book-entry form will be made through computerized book-entry changes on the books of DTC through DTC's
Direct and Indirect Participants in the manner described herein under "DESCRIPTION OF THE SERIES 2017
BONDS - Book-Entry System of Registration."

When not in book-entry form, ownership of any Series 2017 Bond is transferable upon surrender thereof to
the Bond Registrar, together with an assignment duly executed by the registered owner or his attorney, in such form
as shall be satisfactory to the Bond Registrar. Upon any such transfer of ownership, the Bond Registrar will cause to
be authenticated and delivered a new Series 2017 Bond or Series 2017 Bonds registered in the name of the
transferee in the authorized denomination in the same aggregate principal amount and interest rate as the Series 2017
Bonds surrendered for such transfer. When not in book-entry form, the Series 2017 Bonds may be exchanged for a
like principal amount of Series 20 17 Bonds of the same interest rate of other authorized denominations. For every
exchange or registration of transfer, the Bond Registrar may charge an amount sufficient to reimburse it for any tax
or other governmental charge required to be paid with respect to such exchange or registration of transfer, but no
other charge may be made to the owner for any exchange or registration of transfer of the Series 2017 Bonds.

Book Entry System of Registration

The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, New York, will act as securities depository for the
Series 2017 Bonds. The Series 2017 Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of
Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee). One fully-registered Series 2017 Bond will be issued for each maturity
and series of the Series 2017 Bonds, each in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity and series, and will be
deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world's largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York
Banking Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code,
and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity, corporate and
municipal debt issues and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC's participants ("Direct
Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales
and other securities transactions in deposited securities through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and
pledges between Direct Participants' accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities
certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, clearing corporations and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The



Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities
Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect
Participants"). DTC has a Standard & Poor's rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Direct and Indirect
Participants (collectively, the "Participants") are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More
information about DTC can be found at http://www.dtcc.com/ and http://rvrvry.dtc.orsi.

Purchases of the Series 201 7 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants,
which will receive a credit for the Series 2017 Bonds on DTC's records. The ownership interest of actual
purchasers of the Series 2017 Bonds ("Beneficjal Owners") is in turn recorded on the Direct and Indirect
Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase.
Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as

well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or lndirect Participant through which the Beneficial
Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2017 Bonds are to be
accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of the Beneficial
Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Series 2017
Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Series 20 1 7 Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2017 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are
registered in the name of DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an
authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Series 2017 Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of
Cede & Co. or such other nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the
actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2017 Bonds; DTC's records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants
to whose accounts the Series 2017 Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The
Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants and by Direct and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements
among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial
Owners of the Series 2017 Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment transmission to them of notices of
significant events with respect to the Series 2017 Bonds, such as redemptions, defaults and proposed amendments to
the security documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Series 2017 Bonds may wish to ascertain that the
nominee holding the Series 2017 Bonds for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial
Owners; in the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the registrar and
request that copies of the notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices will be sent to DTC. If less than all the Series 2017 Bonds within an issue are being
redeemed, DTC's practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to
be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Series
2017 Bonds unless authorizedby a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI procedures. Under its usual
procedures, DTC mails an omnibus proxy to the County as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus
Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series
2017 Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the omnibus proxy).

Principal, premium (if any) and interest payments on the Series 2017 Bonds will be made to Cede & Co. or
such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct
Participants' accounts, upon DTC's receipt of fi.utds and conesponding detail information from the County or the
Paying Agent, on the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments
by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the
case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in "street name," and will be the
responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, the Paying Agent or the County, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal, premium (if any) and interest



to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the
responsibility of the Paying Agent or the County, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of the
Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Series 2017 Bonds at any
time by giving reasonable notice to the County or the Paying Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a
successor depository is not obtained, certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

The County may, at any time, decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through
DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event, certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

For so long as Series 2017 Bonds are issued in book-entry form through the facilities of DTC, any
Beneficial Owner desiring to cause the County or the Paying Agent to comply with any of its obligations with
respect to the Series 2017 Bonds must make arrangements with the Direct Participant or Indirect Participant through
whom such Beneficial Owner's ownership interest in the Series 2017 Bonds is recorded in order for the Direct
Participant in whose DTC account such ownership interest is recorded to make the instructions to DTC described
above.

NEITHER THE COLINTY NOR THE PAYING AGENT NOR THE UNDERWRITER (OTHER THAN IN ITS
CAPACITY, IF ANY, AS A DIRECT PARTICIPANT OR AN INDIRECT PARTICIPANT) WILL HAVE ANY
OBLIGATION TO THE DIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR THE INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR THE PERSONS
FOR WHOM THEY ACT AS NOMINEES WITH RESPECT TO DTC'S PROCEDURES OR ANY
PROCEDURES OR ARRANGEMENTS BETV/EEN DIRECT PARTICIPANTS, INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS
AND THE PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT RELATING TO THE MAKING OF ANY DEMAND BY CEDE
& CO. AS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF SERIES 2017 BONDS, THE ADHERENCE TO SUCH
PROCEDURES OR ARRANGEMENTS, OR THE EFFECTIVENESS OF ANY ACTION TAKEN PURSUANT
TO SUCH PROCEDURES OR ARRANGEMENTS.

THE ABOVE INFORMATION CONCERNING DTC AND DTC'S BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM HAS BEEN
OBTAINED FROM SOURCES THAT THE COUNTY BELIEVES TO BE RELIABLE, BUT THE COLTNTY
TAKES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE ACCURACY THEREOF. NEITHER THE COUNTY NOR THE
PAYING AGENT WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPANTS,
BENEFICIAL OWNERS, OR OTHER NOMINEES OF SUCH BENEFICIAL OWNERS FOR (I) SENDING
TRANSACTION STATEMENTS; (2) MAINTAINING, SUPERVISING OR REVIEWING, OR THE
ACCURACY OF, ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY PARTICIPANT OR OTHER NOMINEES
OF SUCH BENEFICIAL OWNERS; (3) PAYMENT OR THE TIMELINESS OF PAYMENT BY DTC TO ANY
PARTICIPANT, OR BY ANY PARTICIPANT OR OTHER NOMINEES OF BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO ANY
BENEFICIAL OWNER, OF ANY AMOLINT DUE IN RESPECT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF OR REDEMPTION
PREMIUM, IF ANY, INTEREST OR PURCHASE PRICE ON SERIES 2OI7 BONDS; (4) DELIVERY OR
TIMELY DELIVERY BY DTC TO ANY PARTICIPANT, OR BY ANY PARTICIPANT OR OTHER
NOMINEES OF BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNERS, OF ANY NOTICE (INCLUDING
NOTICE OF REDEMPTION) OR OTHER COMMLTNICATION WHICH IS REQUIRED OR PERMITTED
UNDER THE TERMS OF THE RESOLUTION TO BE GIVEN TO HOLDERS OR OWNERS OF SERIES 2017
BONDS; (5) THE SELECTION OF THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT
OF ANY PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF SERIES2017 BONDS;OR (6) ANY ACTION TAKEN BY DTC OR ITS
NOMINEE AS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF SERIES 2017 BONDS.

So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of Series 2017 Bonds, as nominee for DTC, references in
this Official Statement to the Bondholders, holders or registered owners of Series 2017 Bonds (other than under the
caption "LEGAL MATTERS - Tax Matters herein) shall mean Cede & Co., as aforesaid, and shall not mean the
Beneficial Owners of Series 2017 Bonds.

When reference is made to any action which is required or permitted to be taken by the Beneficial Owners,
such reference shall only relate to those permitted to act (by statute, regulation or otherwise) on behalf of such



Beneficial Owners for such purposes. When notices are given, they shall be sent by the County or the Paying Agent
to DTC only.

As long as the book-entry system is used for Series 2017 Bonds, the Paying Agent and the County will give
anynoticesrequiredtobegiventoOwnersofSeries20lTBondsonlytoDTC. Conveyanceofnoticesandother
communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct
Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject
to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial owners may desire to
make arrangements with a Direct Participant or Indirect Participant so that all notices of redemption or other
communications to DTC which affect such Beneficial Owners will be forwarded in writing by such Direct
Participant or Indirect Participant.

NEITHER THE COUNTY NOR THE PAYING AGENT WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR
OBLIGATION TO SUCH DIRECT PARTICIPANTS, OR THE PERSONS FOR WHOM THEY ACT AS
NOMINEES, WITH RESPECT TO THE PAYMENTS TO OR THE PROVIDING OF NOTICE FOR THE
DIRECT PARTICIPANTS, THE INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS, OR THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS OF SERIES
20I7 BONDS.

Optional Redemption*

The Series 2017A Bonds maturing on September l, 20_ and thereafter are redeemable prior to maturity
at the option of the County, in whole or in part at any time on or after September 7,20-, in any order of maturity
(less than all of such Series 2017A Bonds of a single maturity to be selected by lot in a manner determined by the
Paying Agent) from any moneys available therefor at par plus accrued interest to the redemption date, all in the
manner provided in the Bond Resolution.

The Series 20178 Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.

Mandatory Sinking Fund Redemption*

The Series 2017A Bonds maturing on September l, 20_, are subject to scheduled mandatory redemption
prior to maturity in part at a redemption price equal to _% of the principal amount thereof on the date of such
redemption, in the following principal amounts on the dates set forth below (the September 1,2}_amount to be
paid rather than redeemed):

Date Principal Amount

The Series 20178 Bonds maturing on September 1,20-, are subject to scheduled mandatory redemption
prior to maturity in part at a redemption price equal to _yo of the principal amount thereof on the date of such
redemption, in the following principal amounts on the dates set forth below (the September 1,20- amount to be
paid rather than redeemed):

Date Principal Amount

Optional or mandatory sinking fund redemptions shall be made pro rata, rounded to the nearest S5,000,
among the holders of the Series 2017 Bonds of each date of maturity by redeeming from each such holder that



principal amount which bears the same proportion to the principal amount of such stated maturity registered in the
name of such holder of the Series 2017 Bonds as the total principal amount of such stated maturity to be redeemed
on any sinking fund payment date bears to the aggregate principal amount of such stated maturity Outstanding prior
to redemption. If the Bond Registrar cannot make a strict pro rata redemption among the holders of the Series 2017
Bonds of a stated maturity, the Bond Registrar shall redeem more or less than a pro rata portion from one or more
holders of such stated maturity in such manner as the Bond Registrar deems fair and reasonable. In connection with
any such redemption prior to maturity, the Bond Registrar shall make appropriate entries in the Bond Register to
reflect a portion of any Series 2017 Bond so redeemed and the amount of the principal remaining outstanding. The
Bond Registrar's notation in the Bond Register shall be conclusive as to the principal amount of any Outstanding
Series 2017 Bond at any time.

Notice of Redemption

Notice of redemption will be given by first class mail at least 30 days and not more than 60 days prior to
the redemption date, to all registered owners of Series 2017 Bonds to be redeemed at their addresses of record as

they appear on the books of the Bond Registrar. Failure to mail any such notice, or any defect therein, will not
affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of any other Series 201 7 Bond. Failure of any bondholder
to receive such notice if mailed as aforesaid will not affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of such
Series 2017 Bond. Interest shall cease to accrue on any Series 2017 Bonds duly called for redemption on the
redemption date ifpayment thereofhas been duly provided for. The privilege oftransfer or exchange ofany ofthe
Series 2017 Bonds so called for redemption may be suspended for a period commencing 15 days preceding the
mailing of the notice of redemption and ending on the date fixed for redemption. If on the date set for redemption
any conditions to redemption stated in the notice have not been met, the Paying Agent shall retum to the owners
thereofany Series 2017 Bonds tendered for redemption, and as soon as practicable, send out a notice to the owners
of such Series 2017 Bonds in the same manner as notices of redemption notiffing them of the cancellation of such
redemption.

Legal Authority

Paragraph I of Section VI of Article IX of the Constitution of the State of Georgia authorizes any political
subdivision to issue revenue bonds as provided by general law and provides (1) that the obligation represented by
revenue bonds shall be repayable only out ofthe revenue derived from the project and shall not be deemed to be a
debt of the issuing political subdivision nd (2) that no issuing political subdivision shall exercise the power of
taxation for the purpose ofpaying any part ofthe principal or interest ofany such revenue bonds.

The Series 2017 Bonds are being issued and secured pursuant to the authority granted by Article 3 of
Chapter 82 of Title 36 of the Official Code of Georgia Amotated, known as the "Revenue Bond Law" (the
"Revenue Bond Law"), and under the provisions of the Bond Resolution.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2017 BONDS

Pledge of Net Revenues

Under the terms of the Bond Resolution, the Series 2017 Bonds are secured by a first and prior pledge of
and lien on the "Net Revenues." The Series 2017 Bonds rank on parity with the Series 2003 Bonds and Series 2012
Bonds. "Net Revenues" are defined as the amount of money or its equivalent actually collected from the operation
of the System and remaining in the Revenue Fund (defined herein) after the payment of the reasonable and
necessary cost of operating, maintaining and repairing the System, but before making provisions for depreciation or
amortization charges. The County may, under certain terms and conditions as provided in the Bond Resolution,
issue additional parity bonds ("Parity Bonds") payable from the Net Revenues and ranking on a parity as to lien on
such Net Revenues with the lien thereon securing the Series 2017 Bonds. The Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012
Bonds, the Series 2017 Bonds and such Parity Bonds are collectively referred to herein as the "Bonds." See "- Rate
Covenant" below and "APPENDIX A - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND
RESOLUTION."

Flow of Funds

Pursuant to the Bond Resolution, the County is required to deposit all revenues derived from the System
into the Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Revenue Fund (the "Revenue Fund"). The County is
required first to pay the costs of operating and maintaining the System and then to make payments to the Oconee
County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Sinking fund (the "Sinking Fund"). The Sinking Fund consists of one
account designated as the "Debt Service Account." After making such payments, the County may fund subordinate
obligations. Except for a reasonable working capital reserye in an amount not to exceed 45 days estimated operating
and maintenance costs, all remaining funds will be paid from the into the Oconee County, Georgia Water and
Sewerage Renewal and Extension Fund (the "Renewal and Extension Fund"). See "APPENDIX A - SUMMARY
OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION."

Debt Service Reserve Account

The Bond Resolution, as supplemented by the resolution of the County adopted on June 26,2012 in
connection with the issuance of the Series 2012 Bonds (the "2012 Supplemental Resolution"), provides for the
establishment of separate accounts in the Reserve Account of the Sinking Fund and the designation of such
separate accounts to secure one or more series of Additional Parity Bonds upon the earlier to occur: (a) the
Series 2003 Bonds and the Series 2009 Bonds are no longer outstanding, (b) the requisite holders ofthe Series
2003 Bonds and the Series 2009 Bonds have consented to the establishment of separate accounts in the
Reserve Account and the designation of such separate accounts to secure one or more series of Bonds, or (c)
the Series 2012 Bonds together with any Additional Parity Bonds (as defined in the Bond Resolution)
constitute 55o/o in aggregate principal amount of all Bonds. The 2012 Supplemental Resolution further
provides that all resolutions adopted in connection with the issuance of Additional Parity Bonds must contain
this provision. This modification to the Bond Resolution will also allow the County to not designate any
account in the Reserve Account to secure a series of Additional Parity Bonds, with the effect that such series
of Additional Parity Bonds will not be secured by, or have access to, any amounts in any of the accounts of
the Reserve Account.

Upon the issuance of the Series 2012 Bonds, the owners of the Series 2012 Bonds, by their purchase
thereof, were deemed to have consented to the establishment of to the establishment of separate accounts in
the reserve account and the designation of such separate accounts to secure one or more series of Additional
Parity Bonds. The Series 2003 Bonds and the Series 2012 Bonds will be the only Bonds which will be
outstanding after the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds which are secured by the Reserve Account. Assured
Guaranty Municipal Corp. (formerly, Financial Security Assurance Inc.), as bond insurer for the Series 2003
Bonds, has consented, on behalf of the holders of the Series 2003 Bonds, to the establishing of separate
accounts in the Reserve Account and the designation ofsuch separate account to secured one or more series
of Bonds.
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uPoN ISSUANCE OF THE SERIES 2017 BONDS, THE OWNERS OF THE SERTES 2017
BONDS, BY THEIR PURCHASE THEREOF, WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE CONSENTED TO THE
ESTABLISHMENT OF SEPARATE ACCOUNTS IN THE RESERVE ACCOUNT AND THE
DESIGNATION OF SUCH SEPARATE ACCOUNTS TO SECURE ONE OR MORE SERIES OF
ADDITIONAL PARITY BONDS.

THE COUNTY WILL NOT DESIGNATE ANY ACCOUNT IN THE RESERVE ACCOUNT TO
SECURE THE SERIES 2017 BONDS, AND, THEREFORE, THE SERIES 2017 BONDS WILL NOT BE
SECURED BY, OR HAVE ACCESS TO, ANY AMOUNTS IN ANY OF THE ACCOUNTS OF THE
RESERVE ACCOUNT.

Rate Covenant

In the Bond Resolution, the County has agreed to place into effect a schedule ofrates, fees and charges for
the services, facilities and commodities fumished by its System to produce funds sufficient to (i) operate and
maintain the System in a sound businesslike basis, (ii) make payments to the Sinking Fund equal to 115% of the
principal of and interest on the Series 20 12 Bonds, the Series 20 I 7 Bonds and any additional parity bonds coming
due in the current sinking fund year, (iii) pay an amount equal to 100% of the principal of and interest on any junior
lien obligations and (iv) create and maintain a reserve for extensions and improvements to the System.

The rates, fees and charges shall be classified in a reasonable manner to cover users of the services and
facilities fumished by the System so that as near as practicable such rates, fees and charges shall be uniform in
application to all users falling within any reasonable class. No free services shall at any time be furnished from the
System; provided, however, the Counfy shall have the right to provide free service to the governmental buildings
owned by the City of Watkinsville.

In the event the County shall fail to adopt a schedule or schedules ofrates, fees and charges, or to revise its
schedule of rates, fees and charges in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Resolution, any bondholder,
without regard to whether any default, as defined in the Bond Resolution, shall have occurred, may institute and
prosecute in any court of competent jurisdiction, an appropriate action to compel the adoption of a schedule or
schedules of rates, fees and charges, or the revision of the schedule or schedules of rates, fees and charges in
accordance with the requirements of the Bond Resolution.

Parity Bonds

Upon satisfaction of certain conditions, the Bond Resolution permits the County to issue additional parity
bonds without express limit as to principal amount, which will be equally and ratably secured on a parity basis with
the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds and the Series 2017 Bonds as to all of the Net Revenues. See
"APPENDIX A - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION - Parity Bonds."
The County may issue additional parity bonds in the future to finance capital improvements to the System. The
issuance of additional parity bonds may, for a period of time, dilute the security for the Series 2017 Bonds. The
Bond Resolution also allows the County to issue obligations secured by the Net Revenues that are junior and
subordinate to the Series 2017 Bonds as to lien and right of payment. Under the terms of the Bond Resolution,
should revenue bonds be issued ranking as to lien on the Net Revenues junior and subordinated to the lien securing
the payment of the Series 2017 Bonds, then payments to the Renewal and Extension Fund may be suspended or
reduced and such money will be available to the extent necessary to pay the principal or and interest on such junior
lien bonds and to create and maintain a reasonable reserye therefore, and such moneys may be allocated and pledged
for that purpose. See "APPENDIX A - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND
RESOLUTION - Flow of Funds."

Limited Obligations

The Series 2017 Bonds are special limited obligations of the County payable solely from the Net Revenues.
The Series 2017 Bonds are not payable from and are not secured by a charge, lien, or encumbrance upon any funds
or assets of the County other than the Net Revenues and the funds created and held under the Bond Resolution.
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The Series 2017 Bonds do not and will not constitute a debt or general obligation of the County or a
pledge of the faith and credit or taxing power of the County. No governmental entity, including the County
is obligated to levy any tax for the payment of the Series 2017 Bonds. No recourse may be had against the
General Fund of the County for the payment of the Series 2017 Bonds. The pledge of and lien on Net
Revenues securing the Series 2017 Bonds does not create a legal or equitable pledge, charge, lien, or
encumbrance upon any of the Countyts property or income, receipts, or revenues, except the Net Revenues
and the amounts on deposit in the funds held under the Bond Resolution.

Remedies

The Revenue Bond Law provides that the provisions of the Revenue Bond Law and the Bond Resolution
constitute a contract between the County and the owners of the Series 2017 Bonds. The Revenue Bond Law
provides that the duties of the County, the Board of Commissioners of Oconee County, Georgia, and the officers of
the County under the Revenue Bond Law and the Bond Resolution are enforceable by any owner of the Series 201 7

Bonds by mandamus or other appropriate action or proceeding at law or in equity.

The Revenue Bond Law also provides that in the event the County defaults in the payment of the principal
or interest on any of the Series 2017 Bonds after the same becomes due, whether at maturity or upon call for
redemption, and such default continues for a period of 30 days, or in the event the County or the Board of
Commissioners of Oconee County, Georgia, or the officers, agents, or employees of the County fail or refuse to
comply with the essential provisions of the Revenue Bond Law or default in any material respect in the Bond
Resolution, any holders of the Series 2017 Bonds shall have the right to apply in an appropriate judicial proceeding
to the Superior Court of Oconee County, Georgia or to any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a
receiver of the System, whether or not all Series 20 I 7 Bonds have been declared due and payable and whether or not
such holder is seeking or has sought to enforce any other right or to exercise any remedy in connection with the
Series 2017 Bonds. Upon such application, the Superior Court of Oconee County, Georgia, if it deems such action
necessary for the protection of the bondholders, may appoint and, if the application is made by the holders of 25
percent in principal amount of the Series 2017 Bonds then outstanding, shall appoint a receiver of the System.

The receiver so appointed under the Revenue Bond Law, directly or by his agents and attorneys, is required
under the Revenue Bond Law to forthwith enter into and upon and take possession of the System. If the court so

directs, the receiver may exclude the County, the Board of Commissioners of Oconee County, Georgia, and the
County's officers, agents, and employees, and all persons claiming under them, wholly from the System. Under the
Revenue Bond Law, the receiver will have, hold, use, operate, manage, and control the System, in the name of the
County or otherwise, as the receiver may deem best. Under the Revenue Bond Law, the receiver will exercise all
the rights and powers of the County with respect to the System as the County itself might do. The receiver will
maintain, restore, insure, and keep insured the System and from time to time will make all such necessary or proper
repairs as the receiver may deem expedient. Under the Revenue Bond Law, the receiver will establish, levy,
maintain, and collect such fees, tolls, rentals, and other charges in connection with the System as he deems
necessary or proper and reasonable. Under the Revenue Bond Law, the receiver will collect and receive all revenues
and will deposit the same in a separate account and apply the revenues so collected and received in such manner as

the court shall direct.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Revenue Bond Law described above, the receiver has no power to
sell, assign, mortgage, or otherwise dispose of any assets of whatever kind or character belonging to the County and
useful for the System. The authority of any such receiver is limited to the operation and maintenance of the System.
No court may have jurisdiction to enter any order or decree requiring or permitting the receiver to sell, assign,
mortgage, or otherwise dispose of any such assets.

The receiver must, in the performance of the powers conferred upon him, act under the direction and
supervision of the court making such appointment and will at all times be subject to the orders and decrees of such
court and may be removed by such cour1.

Under the terms of the Revenue Bond Law, whenever all that is due upon the Series 2017 Bonds and
interest thereon and upon any other notes, bonds or other obligations and interest thereon having a charge, lien, or
encumbrance on the revenues of the System and under any of the terms of the Bond Resolution has been paid or
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deposited as provided therein and whenever all defaults have been cured and made good and it appears to the court
that no default is imminent, the court must direct the receiver to surrender possession of the System to the County.
The same right of the holders of the Series 2017 Bonds to secure the appointment of a receiver exists upon any
subsequent default as is provided in the Revenue Bond Law.

If the County were to default on the Series 2017 Bonds, the realization of value from the pledge of the Net
Revenues to secure the payment of the Series 2017 Bonds would depend upon the exercise of various remedies
specified by the Bond Resolution and Georgia law (including the Revenue Bond Law). These remedies may require
judicial actions, which are often subject to discretion and delay and which may be difficult to pursue. The
enforceability of rights or remedies, with respect to the Series 2017 Bonds may be limited by state and federal laws,
rulings, and decisions affecting remedies and by bankruptcy, insolvency, or other laws affecting creditors' rights or
remedies heretofore or hereafter enacted.

Section 36-80-5 of the Official Code of Georgia Annotated provides that no political subdivision created
under the Constitution or laws of the State of Georgia shall be authorized to file a petition for relief from payment of
its debts as they mature or a petition for composition of its debts under any federal stafute providing for such relief
or composition or otherwise to take advantage of any federal statute providing for the adjustment of debts of
political subdivisions and public agencies and instrumentalities. Section 36-80-5 of the Official Code of Georgia
Amotated also provides that no chief executive, mayor, board of commissioners, or other governmental officer,
governing body, or organization shall be empowered to cause or authorize the filing by or on behalf of any political
subdivision created under the Constitution or laws of the State of Georgia of any petition for relief from payment of
its debts as they mature or a petition for composition of its debts under any federal statute providing for such relief
or composition or otherwise to take advantage of any federal statute providing for the adjustment of debts of
political subdivisions and public agencies and instrumentalities.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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PLAN OF FINANCE

Estimated Sources and Uses of Funds*

The sources and uses of funds in connection with the issuance of the Series 2017 A Bonds are estimated
below.

Sources ofFunds:
Proceeds from Sale of Series 20 I 7A Bonds

[Plus/Less] Net Original Issue [Premium/Discount]:

Total Sources

Uses ofFunds:
Deposit to Construction Fund
Costs of Issuance(r)

Total Uses

Includes legal and accounting fees, Underwriter's discount, rating agency fees, printing and

below.

engraving costs, validation court costs, and other costs ofissuance.

The sources and uses of funds in connection with the issuance of the Series 20178 Bonds are estimated

Sources ofFunds:
Proceeds from Sale ofSeries 2017B Bonds

[Plus/Less] Net Original Issue [Premium/Discount]:

Total Sources

Uses ofFunds:
Deposit to Escrow Fund
Costs of Issuance(r)

Total Uses

(r,) Includes legal and accounting fees, Underwriter's discount, rating agency fees, printing and

engraving costs, validation court costs, and other costs ofissuance.

Discussion of Projects

A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2017 A Bonds will be used for the purpose of financing or
refinancing the costs of renovating and improving the Calls Creek Wastewater Reclamation Facility (the "Calls
Creek WRF") and acquiring, constructing and installing additional water and sewer facilities and equipment (the
"Projects").

The Projects include the renovation and improvements of the existing Calls Creek WRF from its currently
permitted 0.67 MGD to 1.5 MGD. Such renovation and improvements include, but are not limited to, the following:

l) Upgrade influent pumping station to 7.5 MGD Peak Flow;
2) Chemical feed systems for phosphorus removal and pH / akalinity control;
3) 1.5 MGD biological treatrnent system with associated tankage and aeration equipment;
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4) Ultra-violet disinfection system;
5) Effluent flow monitoring flume;
6) Upsized effluent pipeline;
7) Conversion of existing 0.5 MG gallon aeration basin into solids holding tank;
8) Bio-solids dewatering building including screw press;
9) Two nominal 60-foot diameter secondary clarifiers;
l0) Final filtration including duplex, tertiary disk filters;
I l) Maintain use of the existing plant headworks and equalization basin; and
l2) Septage receiving station forprocessing ofseptic waste from regional septic haulers.

A portion of the Projects use the existhg plant headworks and equalization basin, and is designed to meet
the new pollutant limits contained in NPDES Permit No. GA0050211 as modified by Georgia EPD.

In addition to the renovation and improvements to the Calls Creek WRF, a portion of the proceeds of the
Series 2017A Bonds will be used for the purpose of financing or refinancing the costs of acquiring, constructing and
installing an additional elevated water storage facility known as the Northwest Oconee Pressure Zone, which
includes a 250,000 gallon elevated storage tank and a booster pumping station. Such elevated water storage facility
will be constructed for the purpose of providing acceptable system pressure and hre flow for the planned Dove
Creek Elementary School, located in the northwest part of the County.

The expected completion date of the total Projects is June 30, 2019. See Appendix E, "WRITTEN
REPORT OF COIJNTY,S ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT" for a more detailed description of the Projects.

Discussion of Refunding

Pursuant to the Bond Resolution, including a resolution of the County adopted on September 1, 2009, as
supplemented on October 22,2009, the County issued and delivered $7,095,000 in aggregate principal amount of its
Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2009 (the "series 2009 Bonds"),
which bonds have as security for the payment thereof a first priority pledge of and lien on the Net Revenues of the
System.

The proceeds of the Series 2009 Bonds were used to provide funds to (i) refund all of the outstanding
principal amount of the Oconee County Water and Sewerage Improvement and Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series
1998, issued in the original aggregate principal amount of $12,290,000, and (ii) pay the costs of issuing the Series
2009 Bonds. The Series 2009 Bonds are currently outstanding and unpaid in the aggregate principal amount of
$1,735,000, maturing (or subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption) on September l, in the years 2018 and
2019.

The County will use a portion of the proceeds of the Series 20178 Bonds to advance refund all of the
outstanding Series 2009 Bonds (the "Refunded Bonds").

The proceeds of the Series 20178 Bonds, after payment of the costs of issuance, will be irrevocably
deposited in escrow with Regions Bank, as escrow agent (the "Escrow Agent"), pursuant to an Escrow Deposit
Agreement (the "Escrow Deposit Agreement"), dated as of October 1,2017, between the County and the Escrow
Agent, and will be applied by the Escrow Agent to the purchase of certain direct obligations of the United States of
America (the "Acquired Obligations"). The Acquired Obligations will bear interest at such rates and will be
scheduled to mature at such times and in such amounts so that sufficient moneys will be available to pay when due
the principal of and premium and interest on the Refunded Bonds through the fural maturity date for the Refunded
Bonds of September 1,2019. None of the moneys deposited with the Escrow Agent will be available to pay the
principal of and interest on the Series 20178 Bonds, and the owners of the Series 20178 Bonds will have no claim
to such moneys. Causey Demgen & Moore Inc. will veri$ the mathematical accuracy of certain computations with
respect to the sufficiency for such purpose of the Acquired Obligations and cash on deposit in the escrow fund. See
"MISCELLANEOUS - Verification of Arithmetical Computations" herein.

The County acknowledges and intends that, by virtue of the aforesaid deposits with the Escrow Agent, the
Refunded Bonds will be deemed to have been paid and that, consequently, the rights granted to the holders of the
Refunded Bonds under the Bond Resolution will have ceased, been terminated, and become void concurrently with
the issuance and delivery of the Series 20178 Bonds.
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D€bt Scrvic€ Sch€dule

The following table sets forth the debt service requ[ements dudng €a.h fiscal year on the Series 2003 Bonds and tbe Series 2012 Bonds (collectively,
the "Prior Bonds') and tle Sedes 2017 Bonds, which are all secured by and payable fiom the Net Revenues of the System, assuming the refunding of the
Refrmded Bonds. The Sedes 2003 Bonds, the Seri€s 2012 Bonds atrd the Series 2017 Bonds will be the ody debt secued by a first lien on the Net Revenues of
the System.

OCONEE COUNTY WATERAND SEWERAGE SYSTEM
DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS(')

Prior Bonds Series 2017A Bonds* Series 2017B Bonds*

Fiscal Year
Ended June 30

2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2037
2038

Total

Interest Total Interest Total

Total Bond
Debt

ServicexPrincipal

$250,000
265,000
380,000

1,27o,ooo
1,335,000
1,400,000
1,470,000

Interest

$296,350
288,625
278,950
241,500
176,37 5

108,000
36,500

Total

$546,3s0
553,625
658,950

1,5 1 1,500
1,511,375
1,5og,ooo
1,506,500

Principal

$--

550,000
580,000
610,000
640,000
670,000
705,000
740,000
780,000
820,000
860,000
905,000
955,000

1.000.000

s10.870.000

Principal

s--
965,000
880,000

$1315-000s6Jl0-000 $r*426J00 s7J96J00
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The Walton County Water and Sewer Authority (the "WCWSA") entered into two notes (the "GEFA
Loans") payable with the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority ("GEFA") in 2013 and 2015, respectively. The
County is obligated to pay 28.8% of the amounts payable under this note pursuant to an intergovernmental
agreement for the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project. As of August 1,2017, the principal amount of the County's
obligations to WCWSA under the GEFA Loans is $7,879,071. The GEFA Loans are subordinate to the lien on such
Net Revenues securing the Series 2017 Bonds. See "SYSTEM FINANCIAL INFORMATION - Summary of
Assets, Liabilities and Fund Balance" herein.

Other Obligations

Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority (UOBWA)

ln 2015, the Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority (the "UOBWA") issued $14,870,000 in original
aggregate principal amount of its Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A, (the "UOBWA Series 2015A Bonds")
and $15,110,000 in original aggregate principal amount of its Taxable Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015B (the
"UOBWA Series 20158 Bonds" and, together with the UOBWA Series 2015A Bonds, the "UOBWA Series 2015
Bonds"). The UOBWA Bonds are currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $25,695,000. The
UOBWA Series 2015 Bonds refunded the UOBWA's outstanding Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2005, which
refunded the UOBWA's outstanding Revenue Bonds, Series 1997 (the "UOBWA Series 1997 Bonds"). The
UOBWA Series 1997 Bonds were issued to finance (i) a raw-water supply reservoir (the "Bear Creek Reservoir")
with an estimated withdrawal capacity of 52 million gallons per day ("MDG") and (ii) a 21 MGD water treatment
plant with accompanying raw and finished water mains (the "Bear Creek Water Treatment Plant"). The Bear Creek
Reservoir serves as a primary water source for Barrow, Jackson and the County and as a reserve raw water supply
source for Athens-Clarke County.

Pursuant to the Reservoir Agreement (as defined herein), the Water Treatment Agreement (as defrned
herein) and the Supplemental Contract, dated May l, 2015, by and between the Upper Oconee Authority and the
County (the "Supplemental Contract"), the County agreed to pay the UOBWA amounts sufficient to pay 20.959Yo of
the debt service on the UOBWA Series 2015 Bonds, including the amounts necessary to fund the required reserye
and renewal accounts associated with the UOBWA Series 2015 Bonds (the "UOBWA Debt Service Payment"). The
UOBWA Series 2015 Bonds mature on July 1,2027. In addition, the County must pay (a) 12% of the fixed
operating and maintenance costs and administrative and general management costs of the UOBWA incurred in
connection with the Bear Creek Reservoir (the "Bear Creek Reservoir Operating Costs Payments"); (b) variable
operation and maintenance costs of the UOBWA on a unit cost basis (per thousand gallons purchased) in connection
with each of the Bear Creek Reservoir and the Bear Creek Water Treatment Plant (the "Variable Reservoir and
Treatment Plant Operating Costs Payments"); and (c) 19.05% of the fixed operating and maintenance costs and
administrative and general management costs of the UOBWA incurred in connection with the Bear Creek Water
Treatment Plant (the "Water Treatment Plant Operating Costs Payments" and together with the Reserve Operating
Costs Payments and the Variable Reservoir and Treatnent Plant Operating Costs Payments, the "UOBWA
Operating Costs Payments"). The County is billed monthly for the UOBWA Operating Costs Payments. In
consideration of the County's UOBWA Debt Service Payment and UOBWA Operating Costs Payments, the County
is entitled to l2o/o of the Bear Creek Reservoir capacity afi 19.05% of the Bear Creek Water Treatment Plant
capacity. See "THE SYSTEM--Water System" herein.

THE COUNTY'S BEAR CREEK OPERATING COSTS PAYMENTS ARE TREATED AS
OPERATING COSTS OF THE SYSTEM AND ARE PAID PRIOR TO THE DEBT SERVICE ON THE
SERIES 2012 BONDS, THE SERIES 2017 BONDS AND ANY ADDITIONAL PARITY BONDS. THE
UOBWA DEBT SERVICE PAYMENT, TO THE EXTENT MADE WITH NET REVENUES OF THE
SYSTEM, WILL BE PAID AFTER THE DEBT SERVICE PAYMENTS ON THE SERIES 2OO3 BONDS,
THE SERIES 2012 BONDS AND THE SERIES 2017 BONDS. THE COUNTY HAS COVENANTED IN
THE BOND RESOLUTTON THAT THE UOBWA DEBT SERVICE PAYMENT IS SUBORDINATE TO
THE SERIES 2OO3 BONDS, THE SERIES 2012 BONDS, THE SERIES 2017 BONDS AND ANY
ADDITIONAL PARITY BONDS.
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lilalton County Water and Sewerage Authority (WCIVSA)

Under the terms of an Intergovemmental Reservoir and Water Supply and Treatment Agreement, dated as

of September 7,2007 (the "Hard Labor Creek Contract"), among the Walton County Water and Sewerage Authority
(the "WCWSA"), the County and Walton County, Georgia ("Walton County"), the County is responsible for 28.8oh
of all construction and operating costs (the "WCWSA Operating Costs Payments") of the Hard Labor Creek Project
(as defined herein) and is entitled to that same percentage of treated water. See "THE SYSTEM--History" herein
for more information on the Hard Labor Creek Project. Walton County is responsible for 71.2o/o of all construction
and operating costs of the Hard Labor Creek Project and is entitled to that same percentage of treated water. The
WCWSA issued $8,425,000 in original principal amount of its Revenue Bonds (Oconee-Hard Labor Creek
Reservoir Project), Series 2015 (the "WCWSA Series 2015 Bonds") and $9,465,000 in original principal amount of
its Revenue Bonds (Oconee-Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project), Series 2016 (the "WCWSA Series 2016 Bonds"
and, together with the WCWSA Series 2015 Bonds, the "WCWSA Bonds") to refund the Walton County Water and
Sewer Authority Revenue Bonds (Oconee-Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project), Series 2008 (the "WCWSA Series
2008 Bonds"). The WCWSA Bonds are currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $17,755,000.
The WCWSA Series 2008 Bonds were issued to finance a portion of the Hard Labor Creek Project. Pursuant to the
Intergovemmental Contract-Reservoir Project, dated as of October 1,2007, as supplemented (the "Hard Labor
Creek Debt Contract" and, together with the Hard Labor Creek Contract, the "WCWSA Contracts"), each between
the County and the WCWSA, the County has agreed to pay sufficient amounts to the WCWSA to pay debt service
on the WCWSA Bonds (the "WCWSA Debt Service Payments").

THE COUNTY INTENDS TO, BUTIS UNDER NO OBLIGATION TO, USE THE NET REVENUES
FROM ITS SYSTEM TO MAKE THE WCWSA DEBT SERVICE PAYMENTS, BUT THE NET
REVENUES OF THE SYSTEM ARE NOT PLEDGED TO THE PAYMENT OF THE WCWSA DEBT
SERVICE PAYMENTS. IN ADDITION, THE NET REVENUES OF THE SYSTEM ARE NOTPLEDGED
TO THE PAYMENT OF THE COUNTY'S OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE HARD LABOR CREEK
CONTRACT AND THE WALTON OPERATING COSTS PAYMENTS ARE NOT TREATED AS
OPERATING COSTS OF THE SYSTEM. THE COUNTY HAS COVENANTED IN THE BOND
RESOLUTION THAT ALL PAYMENTS UNDER THE WALTON CONTRACTS ARE SUBORDINATE
TO THE SERIES 2003 BONDS, THE SERTES 2012 BONDS, THE SERIES 2017 BONDS AND ANy
ADDITIONAL PARITY BONDS.

Proposed Debt

After the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds the County does not currently anticipate issuing any additional
debt that will be payable from the Net Revenues within the next three years.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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THE SYSTEM

History

The System was created in 1989 with the transfer of all of the assets and liabilities of the Oconee Utility
Authority (the "Authority") to the County. The Authority was created by an Act of the General Assembly of the
State of Georgia in 1981, which act was repealed in 1989. The facilities comprising the System date to the late
1930's when the original plans for the City of Watkinsville's water and sewerage system were developed. The City
of Watkinsville system was upgraded during the 1960's and further expanded in 1986 with the construction of the
Calls Creek Water Reclamation Facility (formerly the Calls Creek Water Pollution Control Plant), an activated
sludge wastewater treatrnent plant (the "Calls Creek WRI"). The operations of the City of Watkinsville system
were transferred to the Authority in 1984 and the assets were transferred to the System in 1989. Since 1990, the
County has expanded its systems by accepting as contributed capital, infrastructure, including both water and sewer
systems, financed and constructed by private developers. Under County Water and Wastewater Standards
Ordinance, all water and sewerage facilities and improvements, both public and private within the jurisdiction of the
County, including wells, lines, pumping stations and force mains, must be conveyed to the County as contributed
capital assets.

It 1994, the General Assembly of the State of Georgia created the Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority
(the "UOBWA"), which was charged with the responsibility of securing reliable public water supply for a four-
county area, which includes the County, Athens-Clarke County, Barrow County and Jackson County, Georgia. In
December of 1997 , the UOBWA Series 1 997 Bonds were issued by the UOBWA to finance the construction of (i) a
raw water supply reservoir (the "Bear Creek Reservoir") with a permitted withdrawal capacity of 52 million gallons
per day ("MGD") and (ii) a 2l MGD water treatment plant with accompanying raw and finished water mains (the
"Bear Creek Water Treatment Plant"). The Bear Creek Reservoir and Bear Creek Water Treatment Plant were
completed in April, 2002. Pursuant to a certain Intergovernmental Reservoir and Raw Water Supply Agreement,
dated as of July 22, 1996 (the "Reservoir Agreement"), and a certain Intergovernmental Water Treatment and
Transmission Agreement, dated as of July 22, 1996 (the "Water Treatment Agreement"), each between the
Authority and the four member counties, including the County, the County is entitled to the amounts described in
"THE SYSTEM - Water System" below.

Ln2007, the County and Walton County began the acquisition and construction of a 1,367 acre, 12 billion
gallon reservoir on Hard Labor Creek, located near Social Circle, Georgia in Walton County. After completion, the
project will include a water treatment facility, storage tanks, a pumping station and a transmission system
(collectively, the "Hard Labor Creek Project"). As described above, pursuant to the Hard Labor Creek Contract, the
County is responsible for 28.8oh of all construction and operating costs of the Hard Labor Creek Project and is
entitled to that same percentage of treated water. Walton County is responsible for 7l.2Yo of all construction and
operating costs of the Hard Labor Creek Project and is entitled to that same percentage of treated water. The
County's and Walton County's interest in the Hard Labor Creek Project are herein referred to as the "Entitlement
Shares." The current estimated cost of constructing the entire Hard Labor Creek Project is currently $170,000,000
with approximately $86,900,000 in estimated future costs, including the water treatment plant, remaining as of fiscal
year ended June 30, 2017. lt is anticipated that the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project and High Shoals Raw Water
Diversion will be completed by January,2020. As of the date of this Statement, the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir
Management Board (HLC RMB) is considering options for deferring the construction of the water treatment plant
until such time in the future as either party would need access to treated water capacity.

The County and Walton County each have a beneficial interest in the Hard Labor Creek Project and own an
undivided interest in the raw and treated water in accordance with their Entitlement Shares. The County and Walton
County are permitted to sell a portion of their Entitlement Share of treated water outside of their geographic
boundaries for a period not to exceed l0 years (including all renewal options).

The County and Walton County each have a frst right of refusal to purchase the other's excess raw or
treated water at least every 10 years before either the County or Walton County can sell such excess raw or treated
water to a third party. The County and Walton County are also permitted to sell their Entitlement Share of the Hard
Labor Creek Project, subject to a first right of refusal of the other parfy. The Hard Labor Creek Project is currently

20



operated by the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Management Board (HLC RMB) with Walton County providing most
of the routine daily tasks. The County and Walton County share the operating and maintenance costs based on their
respective Entitlement Shares.

Management and Adm inistration

The County is a political subdivision of the State of Georgia. The System is under the direction and control
of the County's five-member Board of Commissioners (the "Board of Commissioners"). The Board of
Commissioners has the sole responsibility for establishing rates and all user fees charged by the System and for
setting policy regarding the billing procedures, operations and capital improvements to the System. See "OCONEE
COUNTY GENERAL INFORMATION - Form of Government and County Officials" herein for information
regarding the Board of Commissioners.

Following is biographical information on persons with the responsibility for the control and operations of
the County and the System:

John Daniell, Chairman, Board of Commissioners of Oconee County. Mr. Daniell has served as Chairman
since January 1,2017. Prior to his election as Chairman, Mr. Daniell served as the Business Manager of
Westminster Christian Academy. He has 22 years of experience as Senior Accountant, Controller, or CFO, and 9
years of experience as VP of Operations or Operations Manager. Mr. Daniell holds a degree in Business
Administration from the University of Georgia.

Justin Kirouac, County Administrator. Mr. Justin Kirouac was appointed in July 2017 by the Board of
Commissioners to manage the day-to-day affairs of the Counf and serves at the pleasure of the Board of
Commissioners. Mr. Kirouac has over eighteen years of governmental experience and was appointed County
Administrator n 2017 where he is responsible for govemment operations. Prior joining the County, he spent over
ten years at the City of Johns Creek serving as Assistant City Manager, lnterim Community Development Director,
Deputy Director of Community Development and Planning and Zoning Administrator. Prior to Johns Creek, he has
worked at Gwinnett County, Georgia Municipal Association and City of Duluth in various capacities in the Planning
and Development field and research. He has a B.A. in Political Science from Grove City College and a M.P.A. from
Georgia State University.

Wes Geddings, Finance Director. Mr. Geddings was appointed in September 2012 by the Board of
Commissioners to manage the financial affairs of the County and serves at the pleasure of the Board of
Commissioners. Prior to his appointment, Mr. Geddings served as Assistant Finance Director of the County since
Jtly 2007. Previously, Mr. Geddings served for more than twenty years as Supply Officer in the United States
Navy. Mr. Geddings holds a degree in Business/Business Management from the Kelley School of Business at the
University of Indiana.

l(ayne Haynie, P.E., Utility Director. Mr. Haynie was appointed in August 2015 by the Board of
Commissioners to manage the day to day operations of the System, overseeing the County's drinking water
distribution, wastewater treatment, water engineering and customer service areas. He serves at the discretion of the
County Administrator. Before his appointment, Mr. Haynie served in the water engineering market since 1982, after
graduating from the Georgia Institute of Technology with a Bachelor of Civil Engineering.
He has served the engineering profession in both the private sector and local government for 34 years, overseeing,
planning, permitting, designing and constructing hurdreds of millions of dollars in projects across Georgia and the
Southeast.

Water System

General. Operating under Georgia EPD Permit No. CG2190000, the County's water system (the "Water
System") is a Class-I system containing components for the production, treatment, storage and distribution of
drinking water to County customers. The current EPD permit runs until September 17,2019 when renewal will be
required. The County's existing water system provides service to approximately 10,950 residential, commercial,
institutional, and industrial customers located in the City of Watkinsville, the Town of Bishop, the City of Bogart,
and in the unincorporated portions of the County through 290 miles of transmission and distribution mains. The
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County also provides finished water supply to two wholesale customers, Walton County and Piedmont Water, a
private water company operating within the County and the region.

Exported Water Sales. Pursuant to a Water Purchase Contract, dated December 28, 2009, between the
County and Walton County, the County agreed to sell, and the Walton County Authority agreed to buy, potable
water in an amount not to exceed 0.50 MGD as determined on a monthly basis, at a purchase price of $ L70 per 1000
gallons (the "Walton County Contract"). In addition, Walton County may purchase under the Contract additional
water in excess of the daily quantity based on availability and on the best interests of the County. The term of the
original Contract extended through December 31,2017. At present the agreement will be negotiated for renewal in
October 2017 for approval by both Oconee and Walton County Boards for November consideration.

Pursuant to a Water Purchase Contract, dated May 5, 2000 and updated on August 14, 2009, by and
between the County and Piedmont Water, the County agreed to sell, and Piedmont Water agreed to buy, potable
water in an amount that equals the needs of Piedmont Water's customers in Brookwood Estates subdivision, and at
other locations where Piedmont operates within Oconee County, at a purchase price of $2.46 per 1,000 gallons (the
"Piedmont Contract"). The Piedmont Contract will remain in effect until the County expands service coverage to
those locations, and / or the Piedmont customers desire to switch providers.

llater Supply. The County's2017 annual average daily demand of water is approximately 2.90 MGD with
the maximum day estimated at 3.90 MGD. The County meets system demands using the following sources of
water:

l. Approximately 96% from the Bear Creek Water Treatment Plant operated by the UOBWA,

2. Approximately 3% from four (4) County permitted active groundwater wells, with 9 permitted
reserve wells,

3. Approximately l%i imported from Barrow County and Athens-Clarke County Unified
Government at various border subdivisions.

Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority (UOBWA).

The County entered into the Reservoir Agreement and the Water Treatment Agreement (collectively, the
"UOBWA Agreements") under the terms of which the UOBWA agreed to sell at wholesale and the County is
entitled to buy each year l2Yo of the output and services of the Bear Creek Reservoir and 19.05o/o of the output and
services of the Bear Creek Water Treatrnent Plant, respectively (each percentage, its "Entitlement Share"), for the
purposes of resale inside and outside the territorial boundaries of the County. The UOBWA Agreements expire 50
years from the dates of their execution at which time the County's Entitlement Share under each contract shall be
fully vested, provided that the County is not in default under the respective contract at that time.

UOBWA has previously issued its revenue bonds to finance the acquisition and construction of the Bear
Creek Reservoir and the Bear Creek Water Treatment Plant. Under the UOBWA Agreements, on a monthly basis,
the County pays a percentage of the required debt service on the UOBWA Bonds as well as other costs associated
with the maintenance and operation of the Bear Creek Reservoir and the Bear Creek Water Treatment Plant. See

"DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE - Other Obligations" herem.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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system.

Description

River Intake-
Raw Water
Withdrawal
Reservoir
Withdrawal
WTP Treated
Water Capacity

The table below provides the County's Entitlement Shares of the capacities of the UOBWA water supply

CounB's Entitlement Share of the UOBWA Facilities
Average
Daily Maximum Capacity of Capacity of

Georgia EPD Flow Day Entitlement Facility, Monthly Facility, Max
PermitNo. (MGD) (MGD) Share Averaee (MGD) Day (MGD)

078-0304-05 N/A 7.2

078-0304-06 7.0 9.s

cs l570l2l N/A 4

12% 60 60

l2%o 58 79

t9% 2t 2t

Source: Oconee County Utility Department.

In 2008, the UOBWA received concuffence from Georgia EPD on a high rating study to increase the
filtration capability of the water treatment plant from 2l to 26.5 MGD within the existing plant foot print. This
study will be used to develop construction drawings, plans and specifications to construct these improvements in a
very cost effective manner should an increase in treatment capacity be needed by any or all of the members of the
Authority. During the years before the plant is high-rated, leasing of respective members' finished water treatment
capacity is a more efficient way to conserve funding while operating the plant in a more efFrcient manner, as higher,
steady, filtration rates tend to lower operation and maintenance costs at the plant, benefitting all members.
Projections found in the County's 2050 Long Range Water Forecasts project a need for treated (drinking, potable)
water capacity by year 2021. The County is currently in negotiations with the UOBWA to lease portions of
available treated water capacity with its partners in the UOBWA who operate significantly within the limit of their
respective Entitlement Shares. By 2018, the County projects to lease an additional 0.5 to I MGD for a period of 5-
years, renewable annually. Additional blocks of capacity can be considered in the future, as the need arises and
members can offer excess capacity.

Hard Labor Creek Reseryoir Management Boqrd (HLC-RMB).

ln 2007, the County entered into agreements to form a partnership with Walton County for the planning,
permiuing and construction of the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project. Georgia EPD authorized the filling of the
new reservoir in September 2015. Other work associated with the raw water reservoir, including the intake, raw
water pipeline and ancillary facilities were completedn20lT, with long-term filling of the pool projected at full
pool (700-feet MSL) by early 2018. The County's 2050 Long Range Water Forecasts predict that the County may
import water from the project's yield by the year 2045 timeframe. The County will be entitled to an estimated
28.8% of the output of the facility, as discussed in "THE SYSTEM -- History" above. This future supply of water,
combined with existing supplies from UOBWA, should provide the County with an ample supply of water until at
least 2060, per the 2050 Long Range Water Forecasts.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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The table below describes the County's Entitlement Shares of the capacities of the Hard Labor Creek
Reservoir Management Board water supply system.

Countv's Entitlement Share of the HLC Facilities

Average Maximum
Georgia EPD Day Day Entitlement
PermitNo. (MGD) (MGD) ShareDescription

Apalachee River Intake-
Raw Water Withdrawal 147-0305-03
Reservoir Withdrawal -
Initial Stage 147-0307-03
Reservoir Withdrawal -
Final Stage 147-0307-03

N/A

4.8

14.9

t7.3 28.8%

5.8 28.8%

17.9 28.8%

Capacity of
Facility,
Monthly
Average
(MGD)

60.0

16.60

51.8

Capacity
of Facility,
Max Day
(MGD)

60.0

20.0

62.1

Source: Oconee County Utility Department.

The County also entered into a reciprocal water supply agreement with the Athens-Clarke County Unified
Government, Georgia ("ACCUG"), dated as of May 29,2003 (the "ACCUG Water Supply Agreement"), under the
terms of which each of the County and Athens-Clarke County will make available to the other on a daily basis
potable water in a quantity not to exceed 100,000 gallons. In addition, each of the County and ACCUG may
purchase additional potable water from one another during times of emergency, based on availability and at the
discretion of the applicable seller. Based on the respective meter readings, each of the County and ACCUG shall
render a monthly bill and pay such monthly bill to the other for the water received for the previous consumption
period. The ACCUG Water Supply Agreement was updated on February 18,2014 with a term of twenty years from
the date of its execution.

The County also owns and maintains 4 active groundwater and 9 reserve wells, all permitted by Georgia
EPD. The active groundwater wells yield a range of 50 to 200 gallons per minute, or approximately 0.250 MGD.

Treatment. Water supplied by the UOBWA, Barrow County and Athens-Clarke County Unified
Government, is finished and ready for consumption. Finished water from the County wells is disinfected and
fluoridated before distribution.

Storoge. The County operates three (3) elevated storage tanks including one 250,000-gallon, one 500,000-
gallon, and one 1 million-gallon tank. A portion of the funding resulting from this Bond Issue will serve to
construct two new elevated water storage reservoirs in 2018 and2019 increasing elevated storage by 1,000,000
gallons to 2,750,000-gallons, or approximately l-day's average consumption, thereby improving drought resiliency
or disaster preparedness.

Water Distribution. The System's water distribution is comprised of approximately 293 miles of water
lines, varying in size from 4 to 24-inches in diameter.

Wastewater System

General. The County's wastewater system (the "Wastewater System") currently serves approximately
2,400 customers (connections) and contains components for the collection, transmission, treaunent and disposal of
treated wastewater. The majority of County residents rely on onsite wastewater treatment (septic systems) for
wastewater disposal; however, approximately 1,700 residential customers utilize the County's two wastewater
treatment plants for wastewater treatment. The wastewater system consists of approximately 84 miles of sewers and
force mains, size 6 through l8-inches in diameter. Much of the sewer system was constructed after 1990 and is
relatively new compared with more urbanized areas of the State. The County promotes and conducts a preventive
maintenance program of infiltration / inflow, root removal, and rehabilitation of sewer lines.
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Wastewater Treqtment Capacity. To promote orderly and balanced growth while conserving the County's
water resources, in March, 2016, the County adopted a policy by which the County reserves wastewater treatment
capacity for approximately 30o/o of its residential subdivisions containing smaller lots. Most new residential
developments will be served by septic systems (on-site treatment) and may connect to a centralized sewer system in
the more distant future. In addition to the 30% reservation for residential wastewater capacity, the County reserves
50oh of its wastewater treatment capacity for commercial and institutional uses, with the remaining 20Yo of the
allowable capacity reserved for industrial uses and strategic economic development targets.

llastewater Treatment. The County owns and operates two wastewater treafinent plants, the Calls Creek
WRF, and the Rocky Branch Land Application Facility (LAS), a land treatment system. The current permitted

design capacity of Calls Creek WRF is 0.667 MGD. In 2076, the County received a Waste Load Allocation from
Georgia EPD to prepare to expand Calls Creek WRF to 1.5 MGD. The 1.5 MGD Upgrade is underway and will be
commissioned in August of 2018. The LAS was commissioned into service in July, 2002. This facility was initially
permitted for 200,000 gallons per day ("GPD"), and was later re-rated to a handle a capacity of 400,000 GPD. In
2017, Georgia EPD approved the County's construction plans to improve and optimize the design capacity of the
LAS facility. Those improvements are underway and should be commissioned by March 2018.

Exported lVastewqter. Pursuant to the ACCUG Water Supply Agreement as described under "THE
SYSTEM - Wastewater System" above, the County exports approximately 18,000 GPD of wastewater to the
ACCUG sewer system at inter-county connection points. Under the agreement, the County may utilize
approximately 15,000 GPD of additional wastewater treatment capacity within the ACCUG system after notification
and acceptance of said County customers by ACCUG.

Customers

Set forth below is the number of water system customers for each of the last five fiscal years.

Fiscal Years Ended June 30

Residential
Commercial/ Industrial

Total

Residential
CommerciaU Industrial

Total

2013

6,436
2.657
9,093

2014 2015 2016

6,789 7,009 7,339
2.802 2.893 3.030
9,591 9,902 10,369

2017

7,s96
3.1 36

10,732

Source: Oconee County Utility Department.

Set forth below is the number of sewer system customers for each of the last five fiscal years.

Fiscal Years Ended June 30
20t3

1,156

477
1,633

2014

1,397

572
1,959

2015

1,472

608
2,090

2016

1,627

671
2,299

2017

1,730
714

2,444

Source: Oconee County Utility Department.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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Largest Customers

Set forth below is information concerning the ten largest water customers of the System for the year ended
June 30, 2017. No independent investigation has been made of, and consequently no representation can be made as
to, the stability or financial condition of any of the customers listed below or that such customers will continue to
maintain their status as major customers of the System.

Ten Largest Water Customers

Customer

Oconee County School
District

Ameripride Services, Inc.
Athens Ridge, LLC
Walton Co. Board of

Comm.

ACG, LLC

Business/Product

Institutional - Bd. of Ed.
Industrial Laundry
Residential - Campus

Govemment - Wholesale
Residential -
Construction

Annual Total
Consumption Billing

(MG)

Percentage of
Total Water System

Revenues(l)

Percentage of
Total System
Revenues(2)

1.560/o

1.10

0.94

0.58

0.58
0.57

0.50

0.48
0.39
0.37
7.t6%

19.5

15.7
10.0

$148,800
98,900
84,900

2.04o/o

1.35

l.l6

0.72

0.71
0.70

0.62

0.59
0.48
0.45
8.82Yo

Piedmont Water Company Privat - Wholesaler
Oconee Co. Board of Goverrment -
Comm. Institutional

Georgia General Kipling,
LLC Residential Complex

Athens Academy Institutional - Education
St. Mary's Highla d Hills Institutional - Retirement

TOTAL

30.9 52,500

5.68 52, t 00
17.4 51,000

3.99 44,900

6.96 43,200
4.01 34,700
4.66 33.200

$644.200

CI Totahr""udited operating water revenues for the System for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 wereapproximately
$7,300,000.

(2) Total unaudited total operating revenues for the System for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 were approximately
$9,000,000.

Source: Oconee County Utility Department.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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Set forth below is information concerning the ten largest sewer customers of the System for the year ended
June 30, 2017. No independent investigation has been made of and consequently no representation can be made as
to, the stability or financial condition of any of the customers listed below or that such customers will continue to
maintain their status as major customers of the System.

Customer

Ameripride Services, Inc.
Athens Ridge, LLC
Oconee County School
District

Bensons Bakery, Inc.
Georgia General Kipling,
LLC

St. Mary's Highland Hills
Cheddars Casual Caf6
Oconee County Board of

Comm.
Kroger, Inc.
Home Depot, Inc.
Alexion Pharmaceuticals

TOTAL

Business/Product

Industrial Laundry
Residential Complex
Board of Education

Commercial - Bakery
Residential Complex

Institutional - Retirement
Commercial - Restaurant

Government - Institutional
Commercial - Retail
Commercial - Retail
Industrial - Pharma / Bio

Percentage of
Total Sewer Svstem

Revenr"sfr)

13.72%
4.61

4.60

3.95

2.10

r.26
0.97

0.95
0.89
0.66

0.5
34.37o/o

Annual
Demand
(MG)

37.5
10.0
t4.6

10.8

6.96

3.35
3.r7

2. l8
2.92
2.16
2.03

Total
Billine ($)

s233,300
78,400
78,200

67,100
35,700

21,400
16,500

16,200
15,200
I 1,300
I 1.000

$5E4p08

Percentage of
Total System
Revenues(2)

2.590
0.87

0.87
0.75

0.40
0.24
0. l8

0. l8
0.17
0.13
0.12

6.49%

Total unaudited operating sewer revenues for the System for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2017 were approximately
s1,700,000.

(2) Total unaudited total operating revenues for the System for the fiscal year ended June 3 0, 20 I 7 were approximately
$9,000,000.

Source: Oconee County Utility Department.

Historical Water and Sewer Demand

Set forth below is information conceming the amount of water and sewer service billed by the County to its
customers during each ofthe past five fiscal years.

Historical Water Demand

Fiscal Years Ended June 30

Average Daily Demand (MGD)
Peak Day Demand (MGD)

Historicql Sewer Demand

Fiscal Years Ended June 30,
2017

0.90
1.63

Source: Oconee County Utility Department.

Billing Procedures

The County uses a one-cycle billing procedure in accordance with which customer meters are read and
billed monthly. Bills are mailed to approximately one fourth of the accounts and are considered delinquent if not

Average Daily Demand (MGD)
Peak Day Demand (MGD)

2013 2014 20ts 2016 2017

2.09 2.00 2.17 2.27 2.81
4.77 3.52 3.83 3.39 3.99

2013 2014 2015 2016

0.60 0.70 0.86 0.77
0.78 0.84 1.45 1.37
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paid by the billing due date. A late charge equal to the greater of $2 or ten percent ofthe bill is assessed on the
delinquent date. After approximately 7 days past the due date, a late notice phone call and/or email to the customer
is made, is mailed, and after l0 to l4 additional days, water service is discontinued if the outstanding balance is not
paid. Once County staff is dispatched,, a $40 non-payment fee is imposed in addition to the ten percent penalty and
must be paid before service is resumed, or in order for service to continue. The County requires a customer deposit
at service commencement. The amount of the deposit varies depending on the type of service(s) provided.

Rates, Fees and Charges

User fees are set by the Board of Commissioners of the County to recover independently the cost of
providing water and sewerage service, to pay the principal and interest on the debt obligations of the System and to
generate reserves for emergencies and expansion of the System. The minimum water bill is based on meter size and
will vary in relation to the meter size and volume of water used. In addition to the user fees and charges outlined
below for water and sewer usage, the Courty charges a water connection fee based on the size of the meter being
used and a sewer capacity fee based on estimated wastewater treatment capacity allocated for the customer's use.

These fees are reflective of the cost of providing such service. The Water and Sewer Rate Study and Financial
Model completed :rl,2017 refured said fees to better allocate System costs and expenses with the appropriate fees.

Set forth below is a schedule of the water and sewer rates and fees for the System for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2017, together with the rate increases that went into effect on July 1,2017, as approved by the Board of
Commissioners of the County during the annual budget process. On June 6,2017, the Board of Commissioners of
the County have also approved rate increases for the next four years, with water rate increases of approximately
1.0% each year and sewer rates increases of approximately 4.5oh each year.

Meter Size

518"x314"
l"

lY2"
2"
J

4"
6"

Ouantitv (Gallons)

1,001 - 4,000
4,001 - 8,000
8,001 - 12,000
12,001- 20,000
20,001 & over

MONTHLY WATER RATES

Base Rate - All Categories

Minimum Charge
(Through June 30, 2017)

(0 to 1.000 eallons)

$19.79
31.47
46.1 8
93.89

187.78
326.32
400.42

Residential Water Rates

Rate per 1,000 Gallons after
Minimum

(Through June 30. 2017) Quantity (Gallons)

Minimum Charge
(Effective July l, 2017)

(0 to 1.000 sallons)

s19.99
39.94
73.20

113.1I
206.22
339.2s
400.42

$s.00
6.00
6.87
8.01
8.66

1,001-7,000
7,001-14,000
14,001 & over

Rate per 1,000 Gallons
after Minimum

(Effective July l. 2017)

s5.1 8
7.09
8.99
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Commercial and Institutional Water Rate

Rate per 1,000 Gallons after
Minimum

(Throueh June 30.2017)
Rate per 1,000 Gallons after Minimum

(Effective July 1. 2017)Ouantitv (Gallons)

1,001 & over

l(ater Connection Fees. Each new water customer must also pay a water connection fee. For a 518 x 314-
inch meter, the connection is $1,800.00, which includes a $1,465.00 water availability fee, a S170.00 tap and meter
fee and a $165.00 inspection fee. The water availability fee is based on the properfy's equivalent capacity expressed
in an "equivalent residential connection" ("ERC"). One ERC is equivalent to 220 gallons per day average usage.

MONTHLY SEWERRATES

Base Usage Over 2,000 Base Usage Over 1,000
Charge Gallons Charge Gallons

(Through June 30, (Through June 30, (Effective July l, (Effective July 1,

2017) 2017) 2017) 2017)

s6. l7 $6.23

(0 to 2.000 Gallons) (per 1.000 Gallons) (0 to 1.000 Gallons) (per 1.000 Gallons)Customer

Residential
Commercial
Industrial

s22.62
3 8.07
51.50

s4.69
5.09
6.18

$18.74
39.78
53.82

ss.30
5.32
6.46

Sewer Capacity Fees. Each new residential sewer customer must also pay a sewer capacity fee. This fee is
based on the property's equivalent capacity expressed in an "equivalent residential connection" ("ERC"). One ERC
is equivalent to a 260 gallons per day, average usage. New customers to be connected to the Calls Creek WRF or
the Rocky Branch Land Application sewer service areas are charged a wastewater capacity fee of $3,441 per ERC,
including and inspection fee of $165.00. New commercial or industrial customers are charged a wastewater
capacity fee calculated by the Director using in accordance with County policies contained in the Water and
Wastewater Systems Ordinance.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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Comparison of System Rates With Rates of Other Water and Sewerage Systems

Set forth below is a 2017 comparison of representative monthly residential water and sewer bills of
customers of the System and customers of comparable water and sewer utility systems.

Residential Water and Sewer Bill Based on Consumption of 6,000 Gallons
and Rates in Effect July l. 2017

Utilit-v

Forsyth County WSA
City of Covington
Butts County WSA
City of Toccoa
Barrow County WSA
City of Madison
Newton County WSA
Rockdale Water Resources
Paulding County
Douglasville-Douglas County WSA
Coweta County WSA
City of Winder
Walton County
Eatonton-Putnam WSA
Athens-Clarke County
Jackson County WSA
City of Gainesville (Outside)
Oconee County

Sewer Total

$39.04 $68.04
36.00 68.95
36.00 69.00
35.83 69.58
3l.08 76.38
42.40 84.80
47.78 87.01

52.07 88.66
44.96 92.92
54.96 94.06
48.65 9s.92
4690 100.45

51.50 102.02
54.46 102.27
43.34 102.69
56.30 104.84
59.28 106.04
4s.24 91.13

Water

$29.00
32.95
3 3.00
33.75
45.30
42.40
39.23

36.59
47.96
39. r0
47.27
53.55
50.52
47.8r
59.35
48.54
46.76
45.89

Source: Oconee County Utility Department;2017 Water & Sewer Rate Study Georgia Water Rates Dashboard; L,NC
Environmental Finance Center

Rate Setting Process

Under Georgia law, the County has the exclusive authority to establish rates and charges for water and
sewer service supplied by the System. The rates charged by the County for water and sewer service supplied by the
System are not subject to review or approval by any federal or state regulatory body. The Board ofCommissioners
of the County establishes the rates, which are subject to change at any time (usually annually as adopted with the
annual operating budget) as the Board of Commissioners of the County deems advisable. The Board adopts rate
schedules by resolution after recommendations from the staff of the System. The staff of the System makes periodic
reviews of the rate structure to determine if modifications are needed. See "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR TI{E SERIES 2017 BONDS - Rate Covenant" herein for a description of the County's agreements
concerning the rates, fees, and charges for the services, facilities, and commodities to be furnished by the System.
No statutory procedures are required as a condition precedent to a change in rates.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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Government Permits and Enyironmental Regulation

Water Withdrawal

The Georgia Water Quality Control Act authorizes the State of the Georgia Department of Natural
Resources, Environmental Protection Division ("EPD") to regulate groundwater withdrawal in Georgia. EPD has
issued to the County operating permits for the withdrawal of groundwater in the following amounts. The primary
source of water is from the UOBWA . See "THE SYSTEM - - Water System" above.

Water System

Watkinsville System
Apalachee Point System

Wastewater
Treatment Plant

Call Creek WRF
Rocky Branch LAS
Rocky Branch LAS

Permitted Treatment
Capacitv (MGD)

Average Maximum

2017Actual
Treatment Flow (MGD)

Average Maximum
2.8 MGD

N/A
N/A
N/A

0.128 MGD
0.005 MGD

0.367 MGD
0.011MGD

llastewqter Treatment

The County's wastewater operations are subject to the regulatory requirements imposed by the federal
Water Pollution Control Act, as amended (the "Clean Water Act"), and the Georgia Water Quality Control Act. The
regulatory requirements are administered by Georgia EPD with oversight by the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency. EPD has issued to the County an operating permit for the treatrnent of wastewater in the following
amounts at the following wastewater treatrnent plants:

Permitted Treatment 2017 Acntal Treatment
Capacity Flow (Monthly

NPDES Permit No. (Monthly Average MGD) Average MGD)
GA0050211 0.667 MGD 0.390 MGD
GAJ020I76 0.400 MGD 0.410 MGD
GA0038806 1.000 MGD Not Active

State and federal regulations applicable to the County's wastewater operations deal with, among other
issues, the quality of effluent which may be discharged from the County's wastewater treatment facilities, the
disposal of sludge generated by the wastewater treatrnent plants, and the nature of waste material (particularly
industrial waste) discharged into the collection system. To comply with federal regulations concerning the industriat
discharge of waste materials into the sewer system, the County must administer and enforce industrial pretreatrnent
limitation standards upon users of the sewer system. Georgia EPD does not presently require the County to establish
industrial pretreatment limitation standards for users of the sewer system. Instead, EPD administers the industrial
pretreatment program and issues industrial pretreatment permits to those industrial users of the sewer system which
are subject to federal pretreatment guidelines.

National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System ("NPDES") Permits

Under the Clean Water Act, an NPDES permit is generally required for discharges to surface water.
Therefore, to comply with federally mandated effluent quality and disposal criteriq the County must operate its
wastewater treatment facilities according to discharge limitations and reporting requirements set forth in NPDES
permits as described in the table above. The Calls Creek WRF has an NPDES permit allowing surface water
discharge to Calls Creek. The Calls Creek WRF discharge permit expires on July 14,2019.

An application for an increase in discharges to Calls Creek from its current 0.667 MGD to 1.5 MGD will be
frnalized and submitted in August 2017. The County received concuffence with its Design Development Report for
this expansion in February 2017.

The Rocky Branch LAS operates under an NPDES permit allowing treatrnent of 0.400 MGD of wastewater
to permitted limits, then land application of up to 2.5-inches per week, of treated effluent over the 110 acre spray
field system. The LAS permit expires on July 17,2079. Also, in a yet-to-be activated NPDES permit the County
has an NPDES permit for a stream discharge of up to 1 MGD into Barber Creek, located near the LAS. This permit,
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referenced in the table above expires on May 24,2022. As of the date hereof, a diversion pipeline, the Epps Bridge
Road Force Main Replacement, is under construction to divert portions of the influent flows (up to 0.250 MGD)
from the LAS to the Calls Creek WRF by August 2018. This diversion will optimize the County's discharge
permits, allowing allocated residential, commercial and industrial growth to continue in the LAS service district.

As of the date hereof, the County is completing its Long Range Wastewater Forecasts which will determine
the plan for development of future wastewater resources for Calls Creek, Barber Creek, and the Middle Oconee
River, to the year 2050.

Other Approvals

With the arrival of Wayne Haynie, P.E., as Director in August 2015, Georgia EPD authorized the County,
through a Delegation Agreement, to review and approve plans and specifications for water and sewer improvements
and extensions to the County's Systems. As such plans and specifications are fmalized by the development
community, the Director, a licensed professional engineer in the State of Georgia, reviews them for conformance to
the County's Water and Wastewater Standards Ordinance and the Georgia EPD approved Construction Standards

and Specifications. The County issues approvals and permits for extensions to the Systems, then inspects said
improvements for conformance to applicable standards, then accepts the improvements as extensions to the Systems
with the Final Plat process. The same procedure is followed for County funded capital projects that become
extensions to the Systems. As needed, the County prepares applications to obtain new or modified operating
permits.

Issues Relating to Noncompliance

The County is currently in substantial compliance with all of its environmental permits and all
environmental requirements applicable to the System.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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SYSTEM FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Accounting System and Policies

The County maintains all of its funds and accounts relating to the System separate from other County
funds. The accounting practices and policies of the County relating to the System conform to generally accepted
accounting principles as applied to governments. The System is accounted for as an Enterprise Fund of the County.
Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations (i) that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private
business enterprises, where the intent of the governing body is that the cost (expenses, including depreciation) of
providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or recovered primarily through
user charges, or (ii) where the governing body has decided that periodic determination ofrevenues earned, expenses
incurred, and net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability,
or other purposes. The System is accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. Its revenues are recogrized
when earned, and its expenses are recognized when incurred.

Note I of the audited frnancial statements of the System included as part of Appendix C contains a detailed
discussion of the County's significant accounting policies relating to the System.

Management Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations

Since the System was created in 1989, the financial condition of the System has improved steadily. The
System's operating revenues have increased from approximately $8,950,000 in fiscal year 2013 to approximately
$11,500,000 in fiscal year2017, representing an increase of approximately 28.5 percent. The System's operating
expenses have decreased from approximately $6,040,000 in fiscal year 2013 to $5,540,000 in fiscal year 2017,
representing a decrease of8.2 percent. During the same period, total net assets for the System have increased at an
average annual rate of 9.0 percent from $57,700,000 in fiscal year 2013 to $83,700,000 in fiscal year 2017,
representing an increase of45 percent.

System management attributes the System's financial condition to the County's policy of adhering to a rate
structure designed to generate revenues sufficient to maintain the System's physical plant while providing internal
capital necessary for continued glowth. The County reviews the System's rate structure on an annual basis and has
increased water and sewer rates five times since July 1,2012, including a 1.0%o water rate increase and a 4.5%o sewer
rate increase for fiscal year 2078.

Summary of Operating Results

The following table sets forth selected historical financial information of the System for the most recent
five fiscal years. The historical hnancial information for the fiscal years ended June 30,2013 to 2016 presented
below has been derived from the County's audited financial statements for the respective years. The historical
information for the fiscal year ended June 30,2017 has been prepared by the County without an audit. For more
detailed information with respect to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, see Appendix C.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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OCONEE COUNTY, GEORGIA WATER AND SEWERAGE SYSTEM
SUMMARY OF OPERATING RESULTS

For the Years Ended June
2013

$6,389,969
236,948

$6,902,292
)/.\ )1)

$7,900,647
248.847

$8,415,112
'\14 a'ra
L I 

'.LLL

20l7tt

s9,109,684
253.719

2014 2015 2016
Operating revenues:

Charges for Services
Miscellaneous

Total Operating Revenues

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Management fees
Other contracted services
Water purchases and
treatment costs
Supplies and materials
Repairs and maintenance
Utilities
Insurance
Depreciation
Other charges

Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)

Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Investment earnings
Water availability fees
Sewer capacity fees
Sewer connection fees
Loss on disposal ofassets
Gain on disposal of assets

Amortization expense - UOBWA
Miscellaneous income
Interest expense

Total Non-Operating
Income (Expenses)

Income (loss) before operating transfer:
Capital contributions
Transfers in

Change in net assets

Total net assets beginning
Prior Period Adjustment
Total net assets - beginning, restated
Total net assets - end

6,626,917 7,147,564 8,149,494 8,687,334 9,363,403

1,192,213

90,756

l,l57,g6g
44,899

562,441
348,414
ll,969

1,445,624
105,476

1,265,331

77,168

1,293,365
70,926

443,596
381,417

9,860
1,514,280

9s,230

1,346,804

101,628

1,100,819
83,649

665,893
351,022

I l, 153

1,601,277

1,435,654

149,744

1,581,715
75,820

564,294
382,047

8,721
1,756,086

1,312,735

345,s63

1,3 83,154
27,674

554,277
397,320

12,824
1,836,933

82.184217,150 110,054
4,959,660 5,151,173 5,479,395 6,064,135 5,952,663

1.667.2s7

39,732
696,241
389,490

54,250
1,279

(167,378)

(913.4s7)

r.996.391

24,327
1,036,765

619,485
228,650

(167,378)

(834.743\

2.670.099

24,131
736,798
298,712
39,250

(167,378)

(787.78s\

2.623.t99

36,539
1,072,460
1,076,642

137,700

2,952
(l 5 1,654)

(640.352)

3.410.739

59,443
865,366
675,895
145,350

(151,654)

(65130;;

907,106 143,728 1,534,187 943,096
100,1s7

1,767,414 2,903,497 2,813,827 4.157,386 4,353,835
352,208 2,216,006 2,216,006 1,960,082

1.438.348

7,555,816

69,036,406

2,000,000
400.781

7,088,810

76,592,222

785.668

2,905,290

55,512,292
(717,913)

s10.967 510.967

5,630,470 6,296,679

57,699,669 63,330,139
(590,412)

s4.794.379 57.699.669 62.739.727 69.036.406 76.s92.222
$s7,699,669 $63,330,139 S69,036,406 $76s92222 $83.681,032

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]

(r) Unaudited.
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Historical Debt Service Coverage Ratios

Set forth below are the System's historical debt service coverage ratios for the past five fiscal years.

Fiscal Years Ended June 30,

Historical Net Revenues
Available for Debt Service(r)

Historical Debt Service
On Revenue Bonds(2)

Historical Debt Service
Coverage Ratio

2013

94,293,873

s 1,5 I 8,676

2.83x

2014

$5,419,898

sl,227,419

4.42x

2015 20t6 2017Q)

$5,370,267 $6,705,478 $6,934,874

$1,284,',763 $1,510,163 $1,514,431

4.1 8x 4.44x 4.58x

(r) 
Operating net income (loss) of the System, before capital contributions and tansfers, plus depreciation and amortization (amortization

of the reasonable investment cost in the Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority). lncludes water availability fees, sewer capacity fees and
connection fees in fiscal years 2013, 2014,2015,2016 and20L7 of $1,139,981, $1,884,900, 51,074,760,$2,286,802, and $1,686,610
respectively.
(2) Includes the debt service requirements on the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2009 Bonds, and the Series 2012 Bonds. Excludes debt
service on the loan payable to GEFA because the loan was secured by a subordinate lien on the Net Revenues of the System. Also
excludes the Upper Oconee Debt Service Payment made pursuant to the Upper Oconee Agreements and the Supplemental Contract and
the Walton Authority Debt Service Payments made pursuant to tlre Walton Contracts because these obligations are subordinate to the
obligations with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2009 Bonds and the Series 2012 Bonds.
(3) unaudited.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]

35



Projected Debt Service Coverage*

The following table sets forth the projected debt service coverage based upon the revenue available for debt
service for the fiscal year ended June 30,2017. For a forecast ofprojected revenues for the System for fiscal years
2018 thlOugh 2022, see APPENDIX E _..WRITTEN REPORT OF COUNTY,S ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT
- Financial Projects".

Fiscal Year
Ended

June 30
Gross

Revenues

Net Operating and
Maintenance

Expenses

Net Revenues
Available for

Debt
Service(r),(2)

Total
Debt Service

on
Revenue

gor6r(r),(r)*

Total
Debt

Service
Coveragex

2018
2019
2020
2021
2022

292x
2.57x
2.58x
2.88x
2.93x

s10,263,591
10,711,825
11,129,434
11,577,230
11,806,797

$5,328,695
5,347,875
5,734,595
5,681 ,3 l9
5,803,971

$4,934,896
5,363,950
5,394,839
5,895,912
6,002,825

$1,686,903
$2,088,725
$2,090,500
s2,049,200
$2,049,075

Source: Oconee County Utility Department
(r) 

Operating net income (loss) of the System, before capital contributions and tansfers, plus depreciation and amortization (amortization
of the reasonable investment cost in tlre Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority). lncludes projected water availability fees, sewer
c^apacity fees and connection fees in the projected amountof$829,353 for fiscal years 2018,2019,2020,2021 and2022.(2) 

Pro.lected revenues available for debi service are based on the following factors: (l) Growth in customer base (water connections) of
l7%q or 1.9%o anntally, as projected by State of Georgia Office of Planning & Budget (OPB) from 2016 to 2025, (2) Growth in average
daily water demand of 16.70/o, or 1.9%o, over same period, and (3) on June 6,2017, the Board of Commissioners of the County approved
rate increases for the next four years, with water rate increases of approximately l.0o/o each year and sewer rates increases of
approximate ly 4.5o/o e ach y ear.(') 

Includes the projected debt service requirements on the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds and the Series 2017 Bonds. Debt
service calculations are based on actual payments made in each fiscal year. Excludes expected debt service on the loan payable to GEFA
because the loan is secured by a subordinate lien on the Net Revenues ofthe System. Also excludes the projected Upper Oconee Debt
Serrrice Payment to be made pursuant to the Upper Oconee Agreements and the Supplemental Contract and the projected Walton
Authority Debt Service Payments to be made pursuant to the Walton Contracts because these obligations are subordinate to the
obligations with respect to the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds and the Series 2017 Bonds.(o) 

Assumes the Series 2017 Bonds have been issued, the Refimded Bonds have been refunded as described herein.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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Capital Improvements

The following table summarizes the estimated value of capital improvements made to the System in each
year for the past five fiscal years and the funding sources for such capital improvements.

Fiscal
Year

2013
2014
2015
2016
20170)

Total Value of
Capital Improvements

$3s2,208
2,216,006
2,216,006
1,960,082
2,000,000

(r) Unaudited.

There are $8,820,000 in Water System improvements, and 520,600,000 in Sewerage System
improvements, expected to be made through fiscal year 2022. T\e County currently anticipates paying for the new
water and sewerage system improvements, in part, with the proceeds of the Series 2017 Bonds and the proceeds of a
one percent special purpose local option sales tax ("SPLOST"), the imposition of which was approved by a majority
vote of voters in the County voting in an election held on November 4, 2014. There also can be no assurance that
sufficient taxes will be collected from the SPLOST to fully finance the planned capital improvements.

Hard Labor Creek Project

As described above, the County and Walton County have completed approximately 50%o (in dollars) of the
Hard Labor Creek Project including the dam, reservoir, raw water pumping station and pipeline. The County is
responsible for 28.8%o of all construction and operating costs of the Hard Labor Creek Project and is entitled to that
same percentage of treated water. The current estimated cost of constructing the entire Hard Labor Creek Project is
currently $170,000,000 with approximately S86,900,000 in estimated future costs, including the water treatrnent
plant, remaining as of FYE June 30,2017. It is anticipated that the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project and High
Shoals Raw Water Diversion will be completed by January, 2020. As of the date of this Statement, the Hard Labor
Creek Reservoir Management Board (HLC RMB) is considering options for defening the construction of the water
treafnent plant until such time in the future as either party would need access to treated water capacity. The
County's portion of the total estimated cost is approximately $48,900,000. See "THE SYSTEM - History" above
herein.

To date, $19,500,000 of WCWSA Bonds have been issued to finance a portion of the County's
construction obligations for the Hard Labor Creek Project. See "DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE - Other
Obligations" above herein. The County's remaining obligations to pay for construction costs for the Hard Labor
Creek Project are currently estimated at 525,000,000, and was originally planned to be incurred over the next five
years. Project expenditures, in light ofreduced need for treated water capacity in the region, are under evaluation by
the HLC RMB. The County intends to, but is under no obligation to, use the net revenues from the System to make
WCWSA Debt Service Payments on the WCWSA Authority Bonds and to make Walton Operating Costs Payments
required under the Hard Labor Creek Contract, but the Net Revenues of the System are not pledged to such
payments. To the extent the County decides to use revenues from the System to furance the County's remaining
construction or operating costs for the Hard Labor Creek Project, it is anticipated that the County will need to
implement water and sewerage rate increases.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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Summ.ry ofAs6eb, Lhbiliti€s rod Fund Bshnce

The following table sets forth s€lect€d historical financial information ofthe System for the most recent five Iiscal years. For more detailed infomEtion
with resp€ct to fiscal yeal ended June 30, 2016, see Appendix C. See also, "LEGAL MATTERS - Pending Litigation" herein.

ASSETS
Current Assets:

Cash
Investments, plus accrued interest
Accounts receivable, less allowances
Internal balances
Due from other governments
Sewer capacity fees receivable
Prepaid items
Restricted Cash

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash
Restricted investments
Sewer capacify fees receivable
Investment - UOBWA, net
Bond and note issuance costs, net
Deferred loss on bonds, net
Net pension asset

Capital assets

Capital assets not being depreciated
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets

Total noncurrent assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred amount on debt refunding
Deferred outflow related to pensions

Total deferred outflows
Total assets and deferred outflows

$3,078,666
2,732,434

563,737
0

I 1,280

0

8,1 t4
520,636

6,914,867

810,262

3,868,463
0

11,004,884

0

0

t5,926

$4,870,783
2,251,761

981,362
t,t'76
7,435

0
8,864

0

s5,229,443
3,422,388

849,312
10,269

88,248
0

9,2s7
0

$7,600,325
4,126,392

971,705
57,610

144,291

0

r 0,599
0

$5,967,022
5,369,615

547,102
tt5,2t9
343,219

0
10,599

0

23,7'.|1,844

53, I 60,134

7 6,871,978
92.57 t,513

8,121,381

1,114,705
4,213,590

0

10,837,506

0

0

30, I 05

28,788,929
53,187,574

81,976,503
98,172,409

9,608,917

1,444,689
3,653,913

0

9,724,064
0
0

0

34,481,855
53,701,1 l5
88, I 82,970

989,862
1 0,1 28

12,910,922

1,910,386

2,847,830
0

9,s72,4t0
0

0
0

35,050,538
57,087,733

1,910,644
152,190

12,352,776

2,080,341

3,436,094
0

9,572,410
0

0

0

38,578,360
58,102,323

t,827,484
r52,190

92,138,271 96,680,683

r 03,005,636 106,468,897 111,769,528

472,017

0

393,5 10

0

$99,9s8,397 $ r 06,687,300 $r13,614,s43 $121,442,653 $126,101,979

SUMMARY OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Fiscal Years Ended June

(r) unaudited.
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Years Ended June 30

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable
Accounts payable-construction from restricted
investments
Deferred revenue
Retainage payable
Internal balances
Salaries and benefits payable
Accrued interest
Customer deposits-payable from restricted cash

Compensated absences

Bonds, notes and contracts payable

Total current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities:

Bonds, notes and contracts payable, net
Net pension liability
Compensated absences

Total noncurrent liabilities
DEFERRED INFLOW OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflow related to pensions

Total liabilities and deferred inflows

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets

Restricted for debt service
Unrestricted

Total net position

(r) unaudited.

$99,914

0

0

29,143
108,446

15,823
ss8,968
520,636

0

t,135,796
2,468,726

39,720,246

s129,629

521,832
0

3 19,01 8

108,564

l 8,798
555,030
622,943

0

1,678,334
3,954,148

39,326,801
0

76,212

$165,422

tt7,t72
0

401,827

117,579
25,029

526,594
693,937

0

1,962,698
4,010,258

39,952,299
530,989

84,591

s520,192

21,200
0

73,181
384,282

37,536
491,751

782,404
0

2,067,714
4,378,260

39,732,171
662,957
69,840

$2,000

21,200
0

73,181
2,000

40,000
491,751
853, I l2

0

2,000,000
3,483,244

38,347,002
s20,861

69,840
0

69.755
39,790,001

0

39,403,013 40,567,879 40,464,968 38,937,703

0 7,203
42,258,727

47,298,299
2,194,758
8,206,6t2

$57,699,669

43,357,161

50,490, l 78
2,839,327

I 0,000,634

$63,330,139

44,578,137 44,850,431

55,243,044 58,608,292

3,039,805 3,042,943
10,753,557 14,940,987

$69,036,406 $76,s92,222

42,420,947

61,500,000
3,050,000

19,131,032

$83,68 1,032

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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Operating Budget

The budget for the System is prepared annually by the Utility Director and the Finance Director for review
by the Board of Commissioners of the County. The Board of Commissions of the County adopts the budget for the
System along with all other County budgets at the hrst regular Board meeting in June. Set forth below is the budget
for the System for fiscal year ended ending June 30, 2018.

Operating Revenues:
Charges for Water and Sewer Services:
Misc. Revenues

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses: (r)

Salaries and Benefits
Operating Expenses
Water purchases and treatment costs
Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)

Non-operating Revenues (Expenses):
Water and Sewer Connection Fees
Interest Income
Interest Expense

Total Non-Operating Income (Expenses)

Net lncome:

Additional Budgeted Expenditures :

Capital Expenditures
Debt Principal

Does not include a refund
currently held and will be

$8,364,300
269.300

$8.633.600

$1,727,100
2,050,050
1,565,500

1,500
5.344.150

$3.289.450

$918,000
48,400

(834.7s0)
$131.650

s3.42 l. I 00p)

$1,815,000
$1,606,100

of capacity fees in the approximate amount of $2,690,625, which amount is
paid from a separate segregated account. See "LEGAL MATTERS - Pending

Litigation" herein.(2) The amount shown as Net Income will be used to make debt service payments scheduled for fiscal year
ending June 30, 2018 in an amount equal $2,441,000.

Employee Benefits

Retirement Benefits

Defined BeneJit Pension Plan

The County provides a def,rned benefit retirement program for its employees.

Plan Description

The County sponsors the Association County Commissioners of Georgia Restated Pension Plan for Oconee
County Employees (The Plan). The Plan, through execution of an adoption agreement, is affiliated with the
Association County Commissioners of Georgia Defined Benefit Plan Third Restate Defured Benefit Plan (The
ACCG Plan), an agent multiple-employer pension plan administered by GEBCorp.
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The ACCG, in its role as the Plan Sponsor, has the sole authority to amend the provisions of The ACCG
Plan, as provided in Section 19.03 of the ACCG Plan document. The County has the authority to amend the
adoption agreement, which defines the specific operational provisions of The Plan, as provided in Section 19.02 of
the ACCG Plan document.

Complete hnancial statements for The Plan can be obtained directly from the plan administrator at:

GEBCorp.

400 Galleria Parkway, Suite 1250

Atlanta, Georgia 30339

Al1 full-time County employees are eligible to participate in the Plan after completing three years of
service. Benef,rts are fully vested after ten years of service. Participants employed before August 2010 become
eligible to retire at age 65 with 5 years of participation in the Plan. Employees hired after August 2010 must have l0
years of service to be eligible to retire with benefits from the Plan. Upon eligibility to retire, participants are entitled
to an annual of 2o/o of the average annual compensation multiplied by the participant's years of service, payable as a
life annuity. Average annual compensation is based on the highest average of the Participant's compensation over
two consecutive plan years during the ten plan years preceding the Participant's date of retirement or termination.
The Plan also provides benef,rts in the event of death or disability. These benefit provisions were established by an
adoption agreement executed by the County Board of Commissioners.

County employees are not required to contribute to the Plan. The County contributes the entire cost of the
Plan, using the actuarial basis described in the annual valuation repoft.

Plan Asset Mix and Accounting Policies

The Plan's frnancial statements are prepared on an accrual basis, modified to include unrealized gains or
losses on marketable securities owned by the Plan and increments in cash value of death benefits. Plan member
contributions are recognized when due and the County has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions.

Investments in securities are valued at current market prices. The trust fund is invested, approximately, in
70% equities ar,d 30o/o fixed income securities on a cost basis.

Plan assets do not include any loans, notes, bonds, or other instruments or securities of the County or
related parties except for cunent receivables ofplan contributions due from the County.

Plan Membership

Retirees, beneficiaries and disabled receiving benefits
Terminated plan members entitled to but not receiving benefits
Active plan members

Total

Covered compensation for active participants

77
104
196

377

$8,439,900

Contributions

The County is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. Section 47-20 of the Georgia Code
sets forth the funding standards for state and local governmental pension plans. The Georgia Constitution enables
the governing authority of the County, the Board of Commissioners, to establish and amend from time to time, the
contribution rates for the employer and its plan members. Administrative expenses are based on total covered
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payroll of plan members and are added to the annual funding requirement. The County's actuarially required
contribution was $1,623,896 and its actual contribution was $1,716,341, or 1060/o of the required contribution and
20.34% of the covered compensation. The County paid its contribution during December 2015, so the County
reported no payable and the plan reported no receivable for amounts due for the 2015 plan year.
Net Pension Liability

The County's total pension liability was determined based on an actuarial valuation as of December 31,
2015 and the net pension liability was measured as of the same date. The December 31,2075 actuarial valuation
determined the total pension liability using assumptions that were applied to all periods included in the measurement
as follows:

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Investment Retum 7.50%
Salary Increases 5.00% with an age based scale as follows:

Age Salary increase
Under 30
30-39
40-49
50+

5.0% plus 1.5%
5.0% plus 1.0%
5.0% plus 0.5%
5.0% plus 1.0%

Based on the results of a February 2014 experience study

Future payroll growth 5.50% per year

No cost of living adjustments are awarded after retirement.

Mortality: RP-2000, Projected with Scale AA

Change in Assumptions

The actuarial valuation as of December 31,2015 usedthe RP-2000 mortality table, projectedwith Scale
AA in estimating the total pension liability. Prior valuations used the RP-2000 mortality table. Changing the
mortality table used in the valuation resulted in the actuarially determined total pension liability increasing by
$945,358.

Discount Rate

The discount rate is determined using a building block approach based on 20-year benchmarks (25%
weighting), 30-year benchmarks (25% weighting), and forward-looking capital market assumptions for moderate
asset allocations as determined by UBS (50% weighting). The discount rate is rounded to the nearest 0.25%.

The discount rate is calculated as follows:
Expected return

Weiehtine Weishtedreturn
2U-year benchmark weighted average retum 7.44% 25% 1.86%
30-year benchmark weighted average return 9.49% 25% 2.37%
UBS capital market moderate asset allocation assumption 6.30%o 50% 3.15%

Calculated discount rate 7.38%

Rounded to the nearest 0.25o/o and used as the discount rate 7.S0oh

42



The 20 and 30 year benchmark weighted average returns are calculated using the following asset allocation

and historical returns based on their compounded annual growth rate (CAGR):

Benchmark
s&P s00
Barclay's Agg
MCSE EAFE
Citi Non US WEBI
NAREIT Equity
Russell2000
Russell3000
S&P Mid-cap

Weighted average return

Allocation
30%
30%
t5%

50h

5%
5%
5%
50h

100%

Average 20
Year Return

8.80%
5.75%
5.44%
s.48%
9.91%
8.96%
8.89%

11.83%

7.440h

Average 30
Year Return

10.74%
7.80%
9.5r%
5.48%

1t.35%
937%

10.58%
1321%

9.49%

The above calculated discount rate was used to calculate both the beginning and ending total pension
liability. The average contribution made to the plan over the last 5 years was used to project plan assets. The
projected plan assets are sufficient to pay all projected benefits promised to current plan participants. Because
projected plan assets are sufficient to pay all projected promised benefits, the expected long-term rate ofreturn was
used to discount all projected benefit payments.

Because of the sensitivity of the calculation of the total pension liability to relatively small changes in the
discount rate, the total pension liability calculated using discount rates one percentage point higher and lower than
the discount rates actually used to calculate the total pension liability follows:

Total Pension Liability
Fiduciary Net Position

Net Pension Liability

Discount Rate
Sensitivitv Analvsis

6.s0% 8.s0%

927,942,540 521,488,486
1s.273.164 15.273.164

il2 69 1 5521532

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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Summary of Changes in Total Pension Liability, Fiduciary Net Position and Net Pension Liability

The changes in the total pension liability from the beginning to the ending of the year are as follows:

Summary of Changes

Beginning of year
Changes during plan year:
Service cost
Interest on total pension liability
Liability experience (gain)/loss
Assumption change
Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Net investment income
Benefit payments
Administrative expenses
Other expense
Net change

End ofyear

Total Pension Liabilit_v
$22,793,423

660,206
1,630,194

(9s,391)
945,358

(914,999)

Fiduciary Net Position
$14,530,746

1,7]fi;i

152,431
(914,999)

(44,145)
(t67,2t0)

742,418
$75,273,164

Net Pension Liabilitv
$7,662,677

660,206
1,630,194
(95,391)
945,358

(1,716,341)

(152,431)

44,145
167,210

1,492,950

$9.r45.627

Pension Expense, Deferred OutJlows Related to Pension Items and Deferred Inflows Relaled to Pension ltems

The following schedule reconciles the pension contributions to the total pension expense reported by the
County in the government-wide statements:

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows and Inflows

2,225,369
$24,418,791

Pension Contributions
Change in net pension liability
Deferred outflow related to investment results
Deferred outflow related to change in assumptions
Deferred inflows related to experience gain
Amortization of deferred inflows
Amortization of deferred outflows

Pension expense

$1,716,341
1,482,950
(794,259)
(945,358)

95,391
(14,453)
143.236

$L683.848

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows
ofResources ofResources

The unamortized deferred outflows and inflows related to pension items are as follows:

Differences between expected and actual experience
Change of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on
Plan investments

$ 80,938
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The County made its pension contribution for the 2015 plan year (calendar year 2015) in December 2015.
Accordingly, the County did not make any contributions to the pension plan between the measurement date and the
County's fiscal year-end, so the County does not report a deferred outflow of resources related to pension
contributions. None of the deferred outflows of resources will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability.

The County amortizes the differences between projected and actual investment retums into pension
expense equally over a closed five year amortization period. The County amortizes differences between actual and
expected experience and any changes in assumptions over the expected remaining service period of participants. The
expected amortization of the County's current deferred outflows and inflows over the next five years is:

Year ended June 30,
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022

ExperienceDifference AssumptionChange Investment Results Difference
$14,453

14,453
14,453
14,453
14,453
8,673

$143,236
143,236
143,236
143,236
143,236

85,941

$235,451
235,451
235,451
205,945

$80.938 $802,121 $9t2,298

D eferr e d C omp ens ation P I an

The County offers employees the Oconee County Deferred Compensation Plan created in accordance with
Intemal Revenue Code Section 457 . The plan is administered by an independent third party plan administrator. As a
result, the assets and liabilities of the plan are not recorded on the County's financial statements. All contributions to
this plan are voluntary employee contributions.

D efined C ontr ibut ion P I an

The County has also established the Oconee County 401(a) Defrned Contribution Plan through adoption of
the ACCG 401(a) Defined Contribution Program. The plan was established to provide benefits at retirement to
Oconee County employees. There are no employee or employer contributions at this time. The County has delegated
certain administrative responsibilities to ACCG, or its designee. Plan provisions are established and may be
amended by the Board of Commissioners.

In addition, the following pension and retirement plans are in effect, but are not under the direct control of
the County:

Extension Service Employees Retirement Plan

Employees of the Oconee County Agricultural Extension Service are covered under the Teachers
Retirement System of Georgia. The General Fund contribfies 9.24oh of these employees' compensation to their
pension fund.

Probate Judge's Retirement Fund of Georgia

The Probate Judge is covered under a pension plan that requires that certain sums from marriage licenses
and f,rnes or forfeitures be remitted to the pension plan before the payment of any costs or other claims.

Clerk of Superior Court Retirement Fund

The Clerk of Superior Court is covered under a pension plan which requires that certain sums from fees and
fines or forfeitures be remitted to the pension plan before the payment of any costs or other claims.
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Sherifls Retirement Fund/Peace Officer's Annuitv and Benefit Fund

The Sheriff and sheriff deputies are covered under separate pension plans which require that certain sums
from fines or bond forfeitures be remitted by the Probate Judge or Clerk of Superior Court to the pension plans
before the payment of any costs or other claims.

Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

GASB Statement No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits
Other Than Pensions, requires the recognition of certain postemployment obligations in the accrual basis financial
statements of state and local governments. The purpose of the statement is to require local governments to recognize
the cost of promised postemployment benefits as those benefits are earned by employees. Consequently, the expense
recorded in the accrual basis statements of the County reports the actuarially determined cost of benefits earned this
year plus an amortization component of benefits earned in previous years. The actuarial valuation of the County's
postemployment benefits amortizes the cost of the previously earned benefits over 30 years

The County provides postretirement health care benefits under the Oconee County Health Care Plan to
former employees who retired prior to 2070, certatn former employees who retired in 2010 and 2071 and current
employees who remain insured by the County's health plan throughout their employment with the County through at
least age 65 provided that the employee has at least 5 years of service. The plan is a single employer plan, and it
does not issue a separately available financial report. The County contributes toward retiree health costs on the
authority of a resolution by the Board of Commissioners. Any plan amendments would similarly be approved by a
resolution of the Board of Commissioners.

The County contributes around $215 per month towards a retfuee's Medicare supplement premium.
Dependent cost is the responsibility of the retiree, but neither retirees nor current employees contribute toward the
plan. During the fiscal year, expenditures of $138,709 were recognized for retiree health care and Medicare
supplements. The County has the following participants in its plan:

Retired participants 55

Active participants 192

Total participants 2L7

The Actuarial Accrued Liability and the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability for the County's OPEB are
calculated as follows:

Retired participants
Active participants

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL)

Less: Present value ofplan assets

Untunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL)

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]

$2,649,177
2,112,167

4,761,344

$4,761,344
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The County fmances its postemployment benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. The cumulative Annual
Required Contribution (ARC) from the implementation of GASB Statement No. 45 as determined by the actuarial
valuation exceeded the County's cumulative expenditures on a pay-as-you-go basis. This results in the County
reporting a Net OPEB Obligation. The ARC and the Net OPEB benefit are calculated as follows:

Normal cost (current service cost) $
Amortization of UAAL (share of past service cost) 107,540

Annual Required Contribution (ARC)
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation
Adjustment to Annual Required Contribution

Annual OPEB Cost
OPEB cost paid during year

Change in Net OPEB obligation
Net OPEB Obligation/(Asset), beginning

Net OPEB Obligation/(Asset), ending

Percentage of ARC contributed

Unfunded Funded

320,81 8

(4,880)
),2) )

3l9,l7t
(138,709)

180,462
(122,009)

$58,453

43%

The County frnances its postemployment benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis resulting in the County having
no present value of plan assets. Consequently, all of the actuarial accrued liability is unfunded. A three year history
of funding information for Other Postemployment Benefits is presented in the required supplementary information
immediately following the footnotes that provides information about whether the funded ratio is increasing or
decreasing over time. The following contains summary information about the County's funding progress for its
OPEB obligation:

Actuarial Accrued
Actuarial Actuarial Liability (AAL)
Valuation Value of Projected unit

Date Assets (a) Credit (b)

UAAL as a

Percentage of
AAL (UALL) Ratio Covered Covered Payroll

(b-a) (a/b) Payroll (c) ((b-a)/c)

7nt20t5 s--

Trend Information

$4,761,344 $4,761,344 0% 97,951,720 s99%

Year
Ended

OPEB
Cost

$319,171
$107,735
$107,735

OPEB Cost
Contributed

% of ARC
Contributed

6t30t2016
6130/201s
613012014

$138,709
$t43,792
$164,229

43%
t33%
l52o/o

OPEB
Obligation/(Asset)

$58,453
s(122,009)

s(8s,952)

Actuariql Assumptions and Methods

The actuary performed his valuation based on the benefits offered under the plan as explained by the
County. The actuarial valuation of the plan involves estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of events far into the future. The actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual
revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. The
actuarial valuation projects the costs ofthe benefits provided based on the substantive plan currently in place and the
relative cost sharing of the plan between the County and the retired employees. The actuarial calculations reflect a
long-term perspective, consistent with that perspective the methods and assumption used include techniques
designed to reduce short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets. The
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following table contains the significant methods used and assumptions made by the actuary for purposes of the
actuarial valuation:

Valuation date 6130/16
Actuarial cost method Projected unit credit
Amortization method Ler el percentage of pay, open
Remaining amortization period 23 years
Asset valuation method Market value of assets
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return (includes 3% inflation) 4%
Medical cost trend rate 5%o premium increase annually

The actuarial valuation used the same medical cost trend rate for all years.

Immediately following the notes is a required schedule of funding progress which presents multiyear trend
information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the
actuarial accrued liability for benefits.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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OCONEE COUNTY GENERAL INFORMATION

The information contained in this section is included only for purposes of supplying general information
regarding the County. The Series 2017 Bonds are payable solely from the sources described in this Official
Statement under the Section entitled "SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2017
Bonds." The Series 2017 Bonds shall not be deemed to constitute a debt of the County or a pledge of the faith and
credit thereof, nor shall the County be subject to any pecuniary liability thereon. The Series 2017 Bonds are limited
obligations of the County and are payable solely from the Net Revenues of the System. The Series 2017 Bonds do
not constitute a charge, lien or encumbrance upon any property of the County. No owner of a Series 2017 Bond
shall ever have the right to compel the exercise of the taxing power of the County to pay the same, nor shall the
Series 2017 Bonds constitute a charge, lien or encumbrance, legal or equitable, upon any other property of the
County.

Introduction

The County is a political subdivision of the State of Georgia created by the Constitution of the State of
Georgia in 1875. The County encompasses 186 square miles and, in addition to Watkinsville, includes the
municipalities of Bogart, Bishop and North High Shoals. The City of Watkinsville is the County seat. Watkinsville
is located approximately 53 miles east of the City of Atlanta.

Form of Government and County Officials

The County is govemed by, and generally acts through, a Board of Commissioners consisting of five-
members, who are elected at large and serve staggered four-year terms. Information concerning the current
members of the Board of Commissioners is set forth below:

Name

John Daniell, Chairman
Mark Thomas
Chuck Horton

WE. "Bubber" Wilkes
Mark Saxon

Services

Principal
Occupation

Chairman, Board of Commissioners
Commissioner Post I
Commissioner Post 2
Commissioner Post 3
Commissioner Post 4

Expiration of
Term of Office

December 31,2020
December 3 1, 201 8

December 31,2020
December 3 l, 201 8

December 31,2020

The County provides a full range of services to its citizens, including garbage collection, police and fire
protection, emergency medical assistance, parks and recreation, water supply, sewage treatment, and roads and
infrastructure maintenance. All services, except for water supply and sewage treatment, are paid primarily by tax
revenues. Water supply and sewage treatrnent are paid by user charges. The citizens of the County have not
experienced any recent intemrptions in those services.

Employees, Employee Relations, and Labor Organizations

The County employs approximately 267 full-time, 80 part-time and seasonal persons in all departments of
government. No employees of the County are represented by labor organizations or are covered by collective
bargaining agreements, and the County is not aware of any union organizing efforts at the present time.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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Population

The following table reflects the population estimates for the County for the years 2012 through 20 1 6.

Population

Year

2016
2015
2014
2013
2012

Countv

36,838
35,872
35,073
34,047
33,526

State United States

10,310,371 323,127,513
10,199,398 320,896,618
10,087,231 319,563,456
9,984,938 316,204,909
9,914,668 313,998,379

State United States

Source: U.S. Bureau of Census, American FactFinder.

Per Capita Income

The following table reflects the estimated per capita income figures for the County, the State of Georgia
and the United States for the years 20l l through 2015 (the most current published data).

Per Capital Personal Income

Year

2015
2014
2013
20t2
2011

Countv

$5 5,216
53,508
49,768
49,324
46,359

$40,367
3 8,873
37,172
36,863
36,863

s235,700
235,000
238,200
241,400
234,400
228,700
151,600

$148,100
148,000
151,300
156,400
160,200
161,400
111,200

$42,095
40,838
39,157
39,455
37,811

United States

s 178,600
175,700
176,700
181,400
186,200
188,400
119,600

Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.

Home Values

The following table shows the median home value for the County, the State and the United States for
census years 2000 and 2010 and for the years 201 I through 2015.

Median Home Values

Countv StateYear

2015
2014
2013
2012
20tt
2010
2000

Source: U.S. Bureau of Census.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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Largest Employers

Set forth below are the ten largest employers located in Oconee County as of June 30,2016, their industries
and their approximate number of employees. There can be no assurance that any employer listed below will
continue to be located in Oconee County or will continue employment at the level stated. No independent
investigation has been made of, and no representation can be made as to, the stability or financial conditions of the
companies listed below.

Ten Largest Employers

Employer Type of Business Employees

Caterpillar Machinery Manufacturing 1,550
Oconee County School System Education 908
Oconee County Government Local Govemment 357
Wal-Mart Discount Retailer 300
St. Mary's Health Care Health Care Provider 260
Zaxby's, Inc. Corporate Headquarters 220
UGA Information Tech Services Information Technology 200
Lowe's Home Improvement Retailer 185

Industrial Mechanical Inc. Mechanical Contractors 180
Benson's Bakery Baked Goods Manufacturer 170

Source: Oconee County Economic Development Authority.

Labor Statistics

The following table reflects the total labor force in the County, together with the unemployment rates for
the County, the State of Georgia and the United States for the years 2012 tbrotgh2016.

County Labor Force

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

17,071 17,109 17,265 17,430 18,177
County Unemployment Rate 6.3% 5.6% 5.1% 4.3% 4.1%
State Unemployment Rate 9.2% 8.2% 7.1% 5.9% 5.4%
United States Unemplolment Rate 8.1% 7.4% 6.2% 5.3% 4.9%

Source: Georgia Department of Labor, Workforce Statistics & Economic Research, Local Area Unemployment
Statistics Unit

Building Permits Summary

Set forth below is information conceming residential building permits in the County for the years 201I to
2015.

Sinele Familv Multi-Unit Buildinss Total
Year # Permits Value # Permits Value # Permits Value

2015 359 $89,083,781 10 $4,380,000 369 593,463,781
2014 293 79,542,666 2 660,000 295 80,202,666
2013 482 100,984,815 4 3,750,000 486 704,734,815

180 44,738,290 | 440,000 l8l 45,118,290
91 23,901,401 0 0 91 23,901,401

Source: University of Georgia, Terry College of Business, Selig Center for Economic Growth.

2012
2011

51



Industry Mix

Industr.v

Agriculture, Forestry, Mining, Quarrying
Mining
Construction
Manufacturing
Services:

Utilities
Wholesale Trade
Retail Trade
Transportation and Warehousing
Information
Finance and Insurance
Real Estate and Rental and Leasing
Professional Scientifi c/Technical Services
Management of Companies and Enterprises
Administrative and Waste Services
Educational Services
Health Care and Social Services
Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation
Accommodation and Food Services
Other Services (except Public Administration)

Unclassified - industry not assigned
Federal Government
State Government
Local Government
Total All Industries

The following table reflects industry mix for the fourth quarter of 2016.

Average Monthly Average Weekly
Number of Firms Employment Wages

t9
I

128
34

2
64
89
l7
l3
75
64

164
J

1l
20

127
15

50

79
68
ll
9

t7
1.146

**
427

1,436
**
80

357
228
720
615
647
523

1,177
133

1,333
440
68
63
47

1.422
l1.071

$s86
**

851

868

!t< *

1,017

454
,l<:t

832
1,275

556
l,l l9
l,l l3

712
541

1,127
372
227
747

1,089
I,028

461
745

s7s2

139
{.*

507
622

Source: Georgia Department of Labor.
*+ Denotes confidential data relating to individual employers and cannot be released.

Banking Deposits

2016.
The following table reflects the banking deposits in the County as of June 30 for the years2012 through

Total Deposits in CounW
(in thousands)

Year

2016
20ts
2014
2013
2012

Total Deposits

$736,494
741,871
630,568
596,989
587,715

Source: Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation.

According to the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, as of June 30,2076, the County had 9 financial
institutions with a total of l3 branch offices.
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Categories of Land by Use

Set forth below are the types of land use within the County for the last five years, computed based on the
number ofacres ofreal property in the County ofthe various categories for ad valorem property tax purposes.(r)

Categories of Land Use

Residential Asricultural Commercial Industrial Conservation OlheIu,Year

2016
2015
2014

2013
2012

18.37%

20.t2
18.40

18.59
18.87

11j7%
10.81

9.s7
9.69

t0.67

2.33%
2.s4

2.27

2.26
2.28

0.64%

0.70

0.64

0.62
0.74

65.84%
63.47

66.76

66.02

65.82

1.26%

2.35

2.37

2.81
1.62

Percentages are based on the number of acres of real property set aside for each purpose. The total acreage of all real
properly subject to ad valorem taxation Iocated in Oconee County is approximately 107,325 acres. This figure does not
include tle acreage of real property that is exempt from ad valorem property taxation. See "AD VALOREM TAXATION -
Properly Subject to Taxation."(2) Includes forest land, timber 100%, utilities and preferential.

Source: Georgia Department of Revenue, Tax Digest Consolidated Summary.

Other Information Concerning the County

Quality healthcare is provided to the County's residents at Athens Regional Medical Center and St. Mary's
Hospital, two regional hospitals servicing individuals within the sunounding counties. Additionally, hospitals are
present in Barrow, Jackson, Morgan and Walton counties to provide less acute medical attention to local residents.

Additional medical facilities in the County include Reddy Urgent Care (1061 Dunwoody Road) which
provides an emergency room alternative with extended hours. Also available is Regional First Care, affiliated with
Athens Regional Medical System. St. Mary's Health Care operates an Alzheimer's and dementia unit. This facility
was constructed adjacent to the Highland Hills Retirement Center. St. Mary's also has a number of services
provided at The Exchange. This facility offers outpatient diagnostic services, outpatient rehabilitation, a wellness
center, a sleep disorder center, and an outpatient lab collection center.

The County has six elementary/primary, two middle, and two high schools within the county which
include: Colham Ferry Elementary School, High Shoals Elementary School, Malcolm Bridge Elementary School,
Oconee County Elementary School, Oconee County Primary School, Rocky Branch Elementary School, Malcolm
Bridge Middle School, Oconee County Middle School, Oconee County High School, and North Oconee High
School, employing approximately 471teachers and enrolling approximately 7,500 students.

There are three private schools located within the County that provide exceptional preschool through l2th
grade educational opporhrnities: Athens Academy, Prince Avenue Christian School and Westminster Christian
Academy.

Gainesville College, a two-year member of the University System of Georgia, has a Watkinsville satellite
campus for individuals seeking degrees or academic credits, but does offer some four-year degree options. The
University of Georgia, the flagship institution in the University System, is located just miles away in Athens,
Georgia. Athens Technical College also provides a wide range of associate degree, diploma, and techlical
certificate programs to prepare individuals for success in a chosen field.

A number of recreational opportunities are available within the County. There are four athletic complexes
within the County, as well as several parks. At present, the majority of programs overseen by the recreation
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department occur at Oconee Veteran's Park on Hwy. 53 west of Watkinsville. This new complex consists of
baseball/softball fields, tennis courts, walking track, multi-purpose facility, senior citizens center, and the veterans'
memorial. Herman C. Michael Park has a gymnasium, tennis courts, softball fields, baseball fields, and a walking
track.

Heritage Park is located along U.S. Highway 441in southem Oconee County. This facility has capability
for livestock events and houses the historic Central School. There are also a number of public parks and areas
within the community which enhance the quality of life within the County. Harris Shoals Park (located behind
Watkinsville City Hall) is a wonderful facility that affords playground equipment for children, a picnic pavilion, a
walking track, and a baseball field for public use. Additionally, a softball field and playground are available for use
in North High Shoals. In the town of Bogart (in northwestern Oconee County), another recreational complex exists.
This facility includes baseball and softball fields, a walking track, playground and picnic pavilion.

There are three golf courses located entirely or partially within the County. The courses include Jennings
Mill Country Club, Lane Creek Golf Club and The Georgia Club. In July 2009, Oconee County's first hotel, Spring
Hill Suites opened on Daniels Bridge Road. Featuring 99 rooms, the hotel is equipped with numerous amenities and
features three meeting rooms. Additionally, Ashford Manor Bed & Breakfast is located in downtown Watkinsville
and has six themed rooms. The Luxury Inn is a motel located along US 441 Business in southern Watkinsville.

The County has access to Atlanta's Harlsfield-Jackson International Airport for domestic and international
travel; the nation's busiest airport is located 70 miles from the County. Regional travel can be accommodated from
the Athens-Ben Epps Airport located approximately 10 miles away from Watkinsville.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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LEGAL MATTERS

Pending Litigation

The County, like other similar bodies, is subject to a variety of suits and proceedings arising in the ordinary
conduct ofits affairs. Except as provided in the next paragraph, the County, after reviewing the current status ofall
pending and threatened litigation with its counsel believes that, while the outcome of litigation cannot be predicted,
the final settlement of all lawsuits that have been filed and of any actions or claims pending or threatened against the
County or its officials in such capacity are adequately covered by insurance or sovereign immunity or will not have
material adverse effect upon the financial position or results of operations of the County.

The County is currently involved in three law suits in the Oconee County Superior Court over the County's
exercise of its rights under its ordinances to repurchase unused sewer capacity. County ordinances allow the
reservation of sewer capacity through the payment of capaciry fees, but also provide that such capacity may be
repurchased ifnot used in three years. The County chose to exercise its rights as to three large subdivisions which
had not utilized significant amounts of sewer for a number of years and the owners of those subdivisions are
contesting that action. The refund amount is $2,690,625, which has been accounted for separately since the exercise
ofits right to repurchase such unused sewer capacity.

There is no litigation now pending or, to the knowledge of the County, threatened which restrains or
enjoins the issuance or delivery of the Series 2017 Bonds, the use of Net Revenues for the payment of the Series
2017 Bonds, or the use of the proceeds of the Series 2017 Bonds or which questions or contests the validity of the
Series 2017 Bonds or the proceedings and authority under which they are to be issued. Neither the creation,
organization, or existence of the County, nor the title of the present members or other ofhcials of the County to their
respective offices, is being contested or questioned.

Validation Proceed ings

The County will cause proceedings to be instituted in the Superior Court of Oconee County to validate the
Series 2017 Bonds. The State of Georgia will be the plaintiff in the proceeding, and the County will be the
defendant. A final judgment confirming the validation of the Series 2017 Bonds is a condition to the issuance and
purchase thereof.

Closing Certificates

The County will deliver to the Underwriter a certificate that no litigation is pending or threatened against it
which would have a material effect on the issuance or validity of the Series 2017 Bonds or the use of the Net
Revenues to pay the Series 2017 Bonds or on the fmancial condition of the County. In addition, the County will
represent to the Underwriter in the Bond Purchase Agreement that the information contained in this Official
Statement does not contain any misrepresentation of a material fact and does not omit or state any material fact
necessary to make the statements herein contained, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading.

Tax Matters

Generally. The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") establishes certain requirements
which must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the Series 2017 Bonds for interest thereon to be and
remain excluded from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation. Noncompliance with such requirements
could cause the interest on the Series 2017 A Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes
retroactively to their date of issue. These requirements include, but are not limited to, provisions which prescribe
yield and other limits within which the proceeds of the Series 2017A Bonds are to be invested and require that
certain investment earnings on the foregoing be rebated on a periodic basis to the Treasury Department of the United
States. The County has covenanted in the Bond Resolution to comply with the requirements of the Code in order to
maintain the exclusion of interest on the Series 2017A Bonds from gross income for federal income tax purposes.
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Failure to comply with these covenants could result in interest on the Series 2017A Bonds being includable in the
gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes.

Legal matters incident to the authorization, validity, and issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds are subject to
the approving opinion of Gray, Pannell & Woodward LLP, Bond Counsel. The opinion of Bond Counsel is attached
to this Official Statement as Appendix D. Copies of the opinion will be available at the time of the initial delivery of
the Series 2017 Bonds.

Federal Tax Matters.In the opinion of Gray, Pannell & Woodward LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing
statutes, rulings and court decisions and under applicable Regulations, interest on the Series 2017 A Bonds is not
includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the
federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations; however, with respect to corporations (as
defured for federal income tax purposes), such interest is taken into account in determining adjusted current earnings
for purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations. Except as provided below
with respect to original issue discount and premium, no opinion will be expressed with respect to any other federal
tax consequences of the receipt or accrual of interest on the Series 2017 A Bonds.

Ownership of the Series 2017 A Bonds may result in other collateral federal income tax consequences to
certain taxpayers, including without limitation, corporations subject to the environmental tax, banks, thdft
institutions and other financial institutions, foreign corporations which conduct a trade or business in the United
States, properfy and casualty insurance corporations, S corporations, individual recipients of social security or
railroad retirement benefits and taxpayers who may be deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to
purchase or carry the Series 2017A Bonds. Purchasers of the Series 2017A Bonds should consult their tax advisors
as to the applicability ofany such collateral consequences.

In rendering our opinion that the interest on the Series 2017A Bonds is not includable in gross income for
federal income tax purposes, Bond Counsel will (i) rely as to certain factual matters upon representations of the
County with respect to, among other things, the use of the proceeds of the Series 2017A Bonds without undertaking
to veriff the same by independent investigation and (ii) assume the continued compliance by the County with its
covenants relating to the use of the proceeds of the Series 2017A Bonds and compliance with other requirements of
the Code. The inaccuracy of any such representations or noncompliance with such covenants may cause interest on
the Series 2017 A Bonds to become includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to the
date ofissuance ofthe Series 2017A Bonds.

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to any federal tax consequences regarding the Series 20178 Bonds.
INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2OI7B BONDS IS NOT EXCLUDABLE FROM THE GROSS INCOME OF A
RECIPIENT THEREOF FORFEDERAL INCOME TAX PURPOSES.

Interest payments with respect to the Series 20178 Bonds will be reported to the owners and the Internal
Revenue Service (the "IRS"). Such amounts will normally not be subject to withholding of federal income tax.
However, the Authority or its agent may be required to withhold federal income tax at arate of 28Yo from payments
to certain owners ("backup withholding") in accordance with Section 3406 of the Internal Revenue Code. This tax
may withheld from certain payments if (i) an owner fails to furnish the Authority or its agent with his or her tax
identification number ("TIN") certified under penalties of perjury, (ii) the Authority or its agent is notified by the
IRS that the TIN furnished by an owner is incorrect, (iii) the IRS notifies the Authority or its agent that an owner has
failed to report properly certain income to the IRS, or (iv) when required to do so, an owner fails to certifo under
penalty of perjury that he or she is not subject to backup withholding.

State Tm Matters. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing statutes, interest on the Series 2017
Bonds is exempt from all present state income taxation within the State of Georgia. Interest on the Series 2017
Bonds may or may not be subject to state or local income taxation in jurisdictions other than Georgia under
applicable state or local laws. Purchasers of the Series 2017 Bonds should consult their tax advisors as to the
taxable status of the Series 2017 Bonds in a particular state or local jurisdiction other than Georgia.

Circular 230. Prospective investors are urged to consult their own tax advisors before determining whether
to purchase Series 2017 Bonds. The tax discussion herein under "LEGAL MATTERS - Tax Matters" was not
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intended or written to be used, and cannot be used, for purposes of avoiding taxpayer penalties. This discussion was
written to support the promotion or marketing of the Series 2017 Bonds.

Other Tax Consequences to Investors. There may be other federal, state, local, or foreign tax
considerations applicable to the circumstances of a particular investor. Prospective investors are urged to consult
their own tax advisors before determining whether to purchase Series 2017 Bonds. Purchasers of Series 2017 Bonds
who are nonresident alien individuals, colporations that are not incorporated in the United States or under the laws
of the United States or of any state of the United States, or other non-United States persons should consult their own
tax advisors with respect to the possible applicability of United States withholding and other taxes on income
realized in respect to the Series 2017 Bonds.

Original Issue Discount

With respect to the Series 2017A Bonds maturing September 1,20- (collectively, the "Original Issue
Discount Bonds"), the difference between the initial public offering prices of such Original Issue Discount Bonds
and their respective stated principal amounts constitutes original issue discount treated as interest which is excluded
from gross income for federal income tax purposes subject to the caveats and provisions described in the foregoing
section.

In the case of an owner of an Original Issue Discount Bond, the amount of original issue discount which is
treated as having accrued with respect to such Original Issue Discount Bond is added to the cost basis of the owner
in determining, for federal income tax purposes, gain or loss upon disposition of an Original Issue Discount Bond
(including its sale, redemption or payment at maturity). Amounts received upon disposition of an Original Issue
Discount Bond which are attributable to accrued original issue discount will be treated as tax-exempt interest, rather
than as taxable gain, for federal income tax purposes.

Original issue discount is treated as compounding semiannually, at the yield to maturity of each individual
Original Issue Discount Bond, on days which are determined by reference to the maturity date of such Original Issue
Discount Bond. The amount treated as original issue discount on an Original Issue Discount Bond for a particular
semiannual accrual period is equal to (i) the product of (a) the yield to maturity for such Original Issue Discount
Bond (determined by compounding at the close of each accrual period) and (b) the amount which would have been
the tax basis for such Original Issue Discount Bond at the beginning of the particular accrual period if held by the
original purchaser, (ii) less the amount of any interest payable for such Original Issue Discount Bond during the
accrual period. The tax basis is determined by adding to the initial public offering price on such Original Issue
Discourt Bond the sum of the amounts which have been treated as original issue discount for such purposes during
all prior periods. If an Original Issue Discount Bond is sold between semiannual compounding dates, original issue
discount which would have accrued for that semiannual compounding period for federal income tax purposes is to
be apportioned in equal amounts among the days in such compounding period.

Premium Bonds

The difference between the principal amount of the Series 2017 A Bonds maturing on September I , 20 _
(collectively, the "Premium Bonds") and the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses, brokers or
similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters or wholesalers) at which price a substantial
amount of such Premium Bonds of the same maturity was sold constitutes to an initial purchaser amortizable bond
premium which is not deductible from gross income for Federal income tax purposes. The amount of amortizable
bond premium for a taxable year is determined actuarially on a constant interest rate basis over the term of each
Premium Bond. For purposes of determining gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond, an
initial purchaser who acquires such Premium Bond in the initial offering to the public at the initial offering price is
required to decrease such purchasers adjusted basis in such Premium Bond amually by the amount of amortizable
bond premium for the taxable year. The amortization of bond premium may be taken into account as a reduction in
the amount of tax-exempt income for purposes of determining various other tax consequences of owning the
Premium Bonds. Owners of the Premium Bonds are advised that they should consult with their own advisors with
respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning such Premium Bonds.
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The foregoing is a general discussion of certain federal income tax consequences of original issue premium
and discount and does not purpose to deal with all tax questions that may be relevant to particular investors or
circumstances. Holders of the Series 2017A Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the
apportionment for federal income tax purposes of accrued tax-exempt interest upon a sale or exchange (including
redemption) and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of original issue premium and discount.

Changes in Federal Tax Law

From time to time, there are legislative proposals in Congress that, if enacted, could alter or amend the
federal tax matters referred to above or adversely affect the market value of the Series 2017A Bonds. It camot be
predicted whether or in what form any such proposal might be enacted or whether if enacted it would apply to the
Series 2017 Bonds issued prior to enactment. In addition, regulatory actions from time to time are announced or
proposed and litigation is threatened or commenced which, if implemented or concluded in a particular manner,
could adversely affect the market value of the Series 2017 A Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether any such
regulatory action will be implemented, how any particular litigation or judicial action will be resolved, or whether
the Series 2017A Bonds or the market value thereof would be impacted thereby. Purchasers of the Series 2017A
Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed legislation, regulatory initiatives or
litigation. The opinions expressed by Bond Counsel are based upon existing law, legislation and regulations as
intelpreted by relevant judicial and regulatory authorities as of the date of issuance and delivery of the Series 2017 A
Bonds and Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion as ofany date subsequent thereto or with respect to any pending
legislation, regulatory initiatives or litigation.

MISCELLANEOUS

Rating

Standard & Poor's Rating Services has assigned a rating of "AA" to the Series 2017 Bonds. The rating
reflects only the respective view of the rating agency, and any desired explanation of the significance of the rating
should be obtained from the rating agency fumishing such rating, at the following addresses: Standard & Poor's
Rating Services,55 Water Street, New York, New York 10041. Generally, arating agency bases its rating on the
information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies, and assumptions of its own. There is no
assurance that such rating will remain unchanged for any given period of time or that they wilt not be revised
downward or withdrawn entirely by the rating agency furnishing the same, if, in its judgment, circumstances so
warrant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of such rating, or either of them, may have an adverse effect
on the liquidity and market price of the Series 20 l7 Bonds.

Underwriting

Stifel Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (the "Underwriter"), has agreed to purchase the Series 2017
Bonds pursuant to a Bond Purchase Agreement entered into between the County and the Underwriter. The
Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Series 2017A Bonds at a purchase price of $_ (par, [plus/less] net
original issue [premium/discount] of $_, less Underwriter's discount of $ ). The Underwriter
has agreed to purchase the Series 20178 Bonds at a purchase price of $_ (par, [plus/less] net original issue

[premium/discount] of $_, less Underwriter's discount of $ ). The Bond Purchase Agreement
provides that the Underwriter will purchase all of the Series 2017 Bonds if any are purchased, the obligation to make
such purchase being subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement. The
Underwriter intends to offer the Series 2017 Bonds to the public initially at the offering prices shown on the inside
front cover page hereof, which prices may subsequently change without any requirement of prior notice. The
Underwriter reserves the right to join with other dealers and underwriters in offering the Series 2017 Bonds to the
public. The Underwriter may offer and sell the Series 201 7 Bonds to certain dealers at prices lower than the public
offering.

Independent Professiona ls

Legal matters incident to the authorization, issuance and sale of the Series 2017 Bonds are subject to the
approval of Gray Pannell & Woodward LLP, Atlanta, Georgia, Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed
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on for the County by Daniel C. Haygood, Esq., Watkinsville, Georgia, Counsel to the County and Gray Pannell &
Woodward LLP, Atlanta, Georgia, as County's disclosure counsel.

The furancial statements of the County as of June 30,2016 and for the year then ended, attached hereto as

Appendix C, have been audited by Treadwell, Tamplin & Co., Madison, Georgia independent registered public
accountants, as stated in its report which appears in Appendix C.

Verification of Mathematical Com putations

The arithmetical accuracy of certain computations included in the schedules provided by Stifel Nicolaus &
Company, Incorporated on behalf of the County relating to (a) computation of forecasted receipts of principal and
interest on the restricted Acquired Obligations and the forecasted payments of principal and interest to redeem the
Refunded Bonds, and (b) computation of the yields on the Refunded Bonds and the restricted Acquired Obligations
was examined by Causey Demgen & Moore [nc.. Such computations were based solely upon assumptions and
information supplied by Stifel Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated on behalf of the County. Causey Demgen &
Moore Inc. has restricted its procedures to examining the arithmetical accuracy of certain computations and has not
made any study or evaluation of the assumptions and information upon which the computations are based and,
accordingly, has not expressed an opinion on the data used, the reasonableness of the assumptions, or the
achievability of the forecasted outcome.

Additional Information

Use of the words "shall" or "will" in this Official Statement in summaries of documents to describe future
events or continuing obligations is not intended as a representation that such event or obligation will occur but only
that the document contemplates or requires such event to occur or obligation to be fulhlled.

Any statements made in this Official Statement involving estimates or matters of opinion, whether or not so

expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations offact, and no representation is made that any ofthe
estimates or matters of opinion will be realized. Neither this Official Statement nor any statement which may have
been made orally or in writing is to be construed as a contract with the owners of the Series 2017 Bonds.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank.]
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AUTHORIZATION OF AND CERTIFICATION CONCERI\ING OFFICIAL STATEMENT

The Official Statement has been authorized by the Board of Commissioners of the County. Concurrently
with the delivery of the Series 2017 Bonds, the undersigned will furnish his certificate to the effect that nothing has
come to his attention that would lead him to believe that this Official Statement contained, as of the date of delivery
of the Series 2017 Bonds, any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact which should be
included herein for the purposes for which this Official Statement is intended to be used or which is necessary to
make the statements contained herein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

Chairman,
Oconee County Board of Commissioners

By:
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APPENDIX A

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION

The following summarizes certain provisions of the Bond Resolution. Reference is made to the Bond
Resolution for the detailed provisions thereof.

Definitions

The following is a summary of the definitions of certain words and terms used in the Bond Resolution and
appearing in this Appendix A and in this Official Statement. Reference is made to the Bond Resolution for the
complete definitions of such words and terms.

"2003 Resolution" means that cerlain resolution adopted by the County on July 18, 2003.

"2009 Resolution" means that certain resolution adopted by the County on September 1, 2009, as

supplemented on October 22,2009.

"2012 Resolution" means that certain resolution adopted by the County on June 26, 2012, as

supplemented on July 12,2072.

"20 l7 Resolution" means that certain resolution adopted by the County on September 20, 2017 , as

supplemented on October _, 2017 .

"Additional Parity Bonds" means, after the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds, any water and
sewerage revenue bonds which might hereafter be issued on a parity with the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series
2012 Bonds, the Series 2017 Bonds or any such water and sewerage revenue bonds issued on parity
therewith pursuant to the terms of the Bond Resolution subsequent to the issuance of the Series 2017
Bonds.

"Bond Resolution" means, collectively, the Original Resolution, the 2003 Resolution, the 2009

Resolution, the 2012 Resolution and the 201 7 Resolution, as may be supplemented from time to time.

The term "Bonds" or "bonds" means after the issuance ofthe Series 2017 Bonds, the Series 2003

Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds and the Series 2017 Bonds, and, unless the context clearly indicates

otherwise, any Additional Parity Bonds.

"Counfy'" means Oconee County, Georgia, and any public corporation, entity, body or authority to
which is hereafter transferred or delegated by law the duties, powers, authorities, obligations or liabilities of
the County either in whole or in relation to the System.

"Net Revenues" means the gross revenues of the System remaining after the payment therefrom of
the reasonable and necessary costs of operating, maintaining and repairing the System, but before making
any provision for depreciation or amortization charges.

"Original Resolution" means that certain resolution of the County adopted on October 23,7998, as

supplemented on November 3, 1998, authorizing the issuance of the Series 1998 Bonds.

"Series 1998 Bonds" means the Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Improvement and
Refunding Revenue Bonds issued under the Original Resolution.

"Series 2003 Bonds" means the Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds,

Series 2003, issued under the 2003 Resolution.
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"Series 2009 Bonds" means the Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Refunding
Revenue Bonds, Series 2009, issued under the 2009 Resolution.

"Series 2012 Bonds" means the Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Refunding
Revenue Bonds, Series 2012, issued under the2012 Resolution.

"Series 2017 Bonds" means the Series 2017A Bonds and the Series 20178 Bonds.

"Series 2017A Bonds" means the Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds,
Series 2017A, issued under the 2017 Resolution.

"Series 20178 Bonds" means the Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Taxable
Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 20178, issued under the 2017 Resolution.

"System" means the water and sewerage facilities as now existent and as hereafter added to,
extended and improved and owned by the County and used by it in furnishing water and sewerage services
and facilities.

Limited Obligations

The principal of, interest and the redemption premium, if any, on the Bonds shall not be payable from or a
charge upon any funds of the County other than the Net Revenues of the System. No owner of the Bonds shall ever
have the right to compel the exercise of the taxing power of the County to pay the same, or the interest thereon, or to
enforce payment thereof against any other properry of the County, nor shall the Bonds constitute a charge, lien or
encumbrance, legal or equitable, upon any other property of the County other than the Net Revenues of the System
pledged to the payment thereof.

Flow of Funds

The County has covenanted that it will continue to maintain the special fund created in the Original
Resolution and designated as "Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage System Revenue Fund" (hereinafter
sometimes referred to as the "Revenue Fund"), separate and apart from its other funds so long as the Series 2003
Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds, the Series 2017 Bonds and any future issues of Additional Parity Bonds therewith
hereafter issued are outstanding and unpaid or until provisions shall have been duly made for the payment thereof.
Revenues of the System shall be disbursed from the Revenue Fund used only in the following manner and order:

(a) There shall first be paid from said Revenue Fund the reasonable and necessary costs of operating,
maintaining and repafuing the System, including salaries, wages, the payment of any contractual
obligations incurred pertaining to the operation of the System, the cost of materials and supplies, rentals of
leased property, real or personal, insurance premiums, audit fees and such other charges as may properly
be made for the purpose of operating, maintaining and repairing the System in accordance with sound
business practice, but before making provisions for depreciation, and including that portion of the
payments made by the County out of System revenues to the Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority under
the Intergovernmental Reservoir and Raw Water Supply Agreement and the Upper Oconee Water
Treatment and Transmission Agreement among the Upper Oconee Basis Water Authority, the County,
Athens-Clarke County, Barrow County and Jackson County, Georgia, dated July 22, 7996, other than that
portion of payments which relate to the debt service on the Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series 2015,{ and Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority Taxable Revenue Refunding
Bonds, Series 2015B.
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(b) There shall next be paid from said Revenue Fund into the special fund created in the Original
Resolution and designated as "Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage System Sinking Fund" (the "Sinking
Fund"). There has been created within the Sinking Fund two accounts, one of which is known as the Debt Service
Account and the other is known as the Debt Service Reserve Account. After there have been paid from the Revenue
Fund the sums required or permitted to be paid pursuant to the provisions of paragraph (a) above there shall be paid
into said Debt Service Account for the purpose of paying the principal of and interest on the Series 2003 Bonds, the
Series 2012 Bonds and the Series 2017 Bonds as the same become due and payable in the then current sinking fund
year, and taking into consideration moneys already deposited into the Debt Service Account and moneys deposited
therein simultaneously with the issuance and delivery of the Series 2017 Bonds, the following amounts:

(D commencing with the month of delivery of the Series 2017 Bonds and on or before the
25b day of such month, and on or before the 25th day of each month thereafter through the month of
February,2018, an amount equal to one-sixth (1/6) of the interest coming due on March 1,2017 for the
Series 2003 Bonds and the Series 2012 Bonds;

(iD beginning with the month of delivery of the Series 2017 Bonds and on or before the 25th

day of such month, and on or before the 25th day of each month thereafter through the month of August,
2018, an amount equal to one-twelfth (1/12) of the principal of the Series 2012 Bonds coming due (whether
by maturity, scheduled mandatory redemption or otherwise) on September l, 2018;

(iii) commencing with the month of delivery of the Series 2017 Bonds and on or before the
25th day of such month, the pro rata amount of monthly interest due on March 7,2018, for the number of
days remaining in such month, and on or before the 25th day of each month thereafter continuing through
the month of February, 2018, the interest due for such month, in order to provide an amount sufficient to
pay the interest coming due on the Series 2017 Bonds on March 1, 2018;

(iv) on or before the 25th day of each month, commencing with the month of delivery of the
Series 2017 Bonds and continuing from month to month thereafter through the month August, 2018, an
amount equal to one-tenth (l/10) of the principal of the Series 2017 Bonds coming due (whether by
maturity, scheduled mandatory redemption or otherwise) on September l, 2018;

(v) on or before the 25th day of each month, commencing with the month of March,2018
and continuing from month to month thereafter an arnount equal to one-sixth (l/6th) of the interest on the
Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds and the Series 2017 Bonds coming due on the next ensuing
Interest Payment Date; and

(vi) on or before the 25th day of each month, commencing with the month of September,
2018, and continuing from month to month thereafter, an amount equal to one-twelfth (l/l2th) of the
principal on the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds and the Series 2017 Bonds coming due (whether
by maturity, scheduled mandatory redemption or otherwise) on the next ensuing principal payment date;

, such aggregate monthly payments to continue from month to month until sufficient funds are on hand in
said Sinking Fund to pay all of the outstanding Series 2003 Bonds, Series 2012 Bonds and Series 2017
Bonds and the interest which will be come due and payable thereon.

(A) The Debt Service Reserve Account shall be maintained for the purpose of paying the
principal of and interest on the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds and any Additional Parity Bonds
designated as secured by such Debt Service Reserve Account falling due in any year as to which there
would otherwise be a default and if money is taken from said Debt Service Reserve Account for the
payment of such principal and interest, the money so taken shall be replaced in said Debt Service Reserve
Account from the first moneys in the Revenue Fund thereafter available and not required to be used for
maintenance and operation charges and not required to be paid into the Debt Service Account as

hereinabove provided in paragraph (b).
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In determining the amount on deposit in the Debt Service Reserve Account for any purpose
hereunder, there shall be taken into account the amount available to be drawn under any "Debt Service
Reserve Surety Bond", which is defined to mean an unconditional and irrevocable surety bond from an
insurance company that is rated at the time of issuance of such surety bond in the highest rating category by
Standard & Poor's Corporation or Moody's Investors Service, Inc. payable on any interest or principal
payment date equal to any portion of the cash balance then required to be maintained in the Debt Service
Reserve Account.

(B) If, in any month, for any reason, the full amount therein required to be paid in such month
shall not be paid into the Sinking Fund, any deficiency shall be added to and shall become a part of the
amount required to be paid into the said Sinking Fund in the next succeeding month; provided, however,
the County covenants and agrees that in the event it hereafter elects to issue Additional Parity Bonds,
pursuant to the provisions of the Bond Resolution, the above stated payments into the Sinking Fund will be
increased to the extent necessary to pay the principal of and interest on the then outstanding Series 2003
Bonds, Series 2012 Bonds, the Series 2017 Bonds and on any Additional Parity Bonds therewith then
outstanding and on the bonds proposed to be issued coming due, either at maturity or by proceedings for
mandatory redemption, in the then current sinking fund year and to create and maintain a reserve for that
purpose in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the maximum annual principal and interest requirement in all
succeeding sinking fund years on the then outstanding Series 2003 Bonds, Series 2012 Bonds, any
outstanding Additional Parity Bonds designated as secured by the Debt Service Reserve Account and on
the bonds proposed to be issued if such bonds are designated as secured by the Debt Service Reserve
Account, (iD 10% of the aggregate principal amount in all succeeding sinking fund years on the then
outstanding Series 2003 Bonds, Series 2012 Bonds on any outstanding Additional Parity Bonds designated
as secured by the Debt Service Reserve Account and on the bonds proposed to be issued ifsuch bonds are
designated as secured by the Debt Service Reserve Account or (iii) l25o/o of the average annual principal
and interest requirements on outstanding Series 2003 Bonds, Series 2012 Bonds, any outstanding
Additional Parity Bonds designated as secured by the Debt Service Reserve Account and on the bonds
proposed to be issued if such bonds are designated as secured by the Debt Service Reserve Account (the
"Reserve Requirement").

It is expressly provided, however, that if at any time there are on deposit in said Debt Service
Reserve Account moneys and securities (such securities to be valued at the lower of their market value or
face amount, plus accrued interest thereon) the aggregate amount of which is in excess of the Reserve
Requirement, such excess shall be withdrawn from the Debt Service Reserve Account and immediately
deposited into the Debt Service Account in the Sinking Fund. The calculation and determination of such
excess amounts in accordance with this provision shall be the responsibility of the chief furancial officer of
the County and such financial ofhcer shall noti! the Sinking Fund Custodian and make or cause to be
made any transfer of funds required pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph.

The net reyenues remaining in the Revenue Fund after the payment of the sums required or
permitted to be paid under the provisions of the preceding paragraph (a) above are pledged to the payment
of the principal of and the interest on the Bonds, including the Series 2017 Bonds, and any future parity
bonds issued under the provisions of the Bond Resolution. Said revenues so pledged shall immediately be
subject to the lien of this pledge without any physical delivery thereof or further act and the lien of this
pledge shall be valid and binding against it, and against all parties having claims of any kind against it,
whether such claims shall have arisen in contract, tort or otherwise and irrespective of whether or not such
parties have notice thereof.

(c) There will next be paid from the revenues remaining in the Revenue Fund after making the
payments required or permitted to be paid pursuant to the provisions of paragraphs (a) and (b) above, such payments
as may be required to be made out of net revenues of the System to repay junior lien obligations, including, but not
limited to (i) any loans made by Georgia Environmental Finance Authority and the State of Georgia Revolving
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Fund, (ii) that portion of the payments made by the County out of Net Revenues to the Upper Oconee Basin Water
Authority under the Intergovernmental Reservoir and Raw Water Supply Agreement and the Upper Oconee Water
Treatment and Transmission Agreement among the Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority, the County, Athens-
Clarke County, Barrow County and Jackson County, Georgia, dated July 22, 1996, which relate to debt service on
the Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2015A and the Upper Oconee Basin
Water Authority Taxable Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 20158, and (iii) any and all existing loans having a lien
on the net revenues of the System.

(d) The County has covenanted that it will continue to maintain the special fund heretofore created in
the Original Resolution and designated as "Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage System Renewal and

Extension Fund" (the "Renewal and Extension Fund"). After there have been paid from the Revenue Fund in each

month the sums required or permitted to be paid under the provisions of paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) above, there shall
next be paid from the Revenue Fund into the Renewal and Extension Fund from the moneys then remaining in said
Revenue Fund (except for a working capital reserve in an amount not to exceed 45 days estimated operating and

maintenance costs) as determined by the County all remaining moneys remaining in the Revenue Fund.
Expenditures shall be made from said Renewal and Extension Fund only for the purpose of: (a) In case of an

emergency having a major effect upon the System caused by some extraordinary occurrence which makes it
necessary to use the funds of the said System for the alleviation or removal of such effects and an insufficiency of
money exists in the Revenue Fund to meet such emergency; (b) Making replacements, additions, extensions and
improvements and acquiring equipment and paying the cost of any engineering studies, surveys or plans and
specifrcations pertaining to the future development or expansion of the County's System deemed to be reasonable

and in the best interest of the County and the bondholders; (c) Payment of the charges of the Depository(s) for
investment services; (d) Paying principal of and interest on any revenue bonds then outstanding and falling due at
any time for the payment of which money is not available in the Sinking Fund securing the payment of same and the
interest thereon; or (e) Acquiring bonds in the open market at a price less than or equal to the redemption price. In
addition, there may be paid from such Renewal and Extension Fund (i) payments to be made by the County pursuant

to the Intergovernmental Contract-Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project, dated as of October 7,2007, as amended
and supplemented from time to time, between the County and the Walton County Water and Sewerage Authority
and (ii) payments to be made by the County pursuant to the Intergovernmental Reservoir and Water Supply and
Treatment Agreement, dated as of September 1,2007, between the County, Walton County, Georgia and the Walton
County Water and Sewerage Authority.

It is expressly provided, however, that should bonds be hereafter issued or obligations incurred ranking as

to lien on the revenues of said System junior and subordinate to the lien securing the payment of Bonds, including
the Series 2017 Bonds, including any issue or issues of parity bonds hereafter issued, then such payments into the
Renewal and Extension Fund as provided in the paragraph above may be suspended and such moneys shall be
available to the extent necessary to pay the principal of and interest on such junior lien bonds and to create and
maintain a reasonable reserve therefor and such moneys may be allocated and pledged for that purpose.

Amendments

The bond insurer for the Series 2003 Bonds, acting on behalfofthe holders ofthe Series 2003 Bonds, has
consented to the below amendment and upon the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds, the Series 2009 Bonds will no
longer be outstanding, and therefore the Bond Resolution will be amended to include the following:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the County may, at its option, upon the issuance of a

series of Additional Parity Bonds, create and establish separate additional reserye accounts for
such series of Additional Parity Bonds or for one or more series of Additional Parity Bonds. The
Reserve Account and any separate additional reserve accounts so established shall be for the
exclusive benefit of the registered owners of the applicable series of Additional Parity Bonds
designated as secured thereby and the registered owners of a series of Bonds not designated as

secured by the Reserve Account or any such separate additional reserve account, as applicable,
shall have no right to require payment of the principal of or interest on any held by them, from the
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Reserve Account or any separate additional reserve account created for other series of Additional
Parity Bonds. The County shall specify in the supplemental resolution creating and establishing of
a separate additional reserve account the method for determining the amount required to be held
therein (the "Additional Reserve Account Requirement"), which shall not be greater than an
amount equal to the lesser of (i) the maximum annual principal and interest requirement in all
succeeding sinking fund years on all outstanding Additional Parity Bonds designated as secured
by such additional reserve account, (ii) 10% ofthe aggregate principal amount in all succeeding
sinking fund years on all outstanding Additional Parity Bonds designated as secured by such
additional reserve account, or (iii) l25Yo of the average annual principal and interest requirements
on all outstanding Additional Parity Bonds designated as secured by such additional reserve
account. Hereafter, the supplemental resolution providing for a series of Additional Parity Bonds
shall specifz whether such series of Additional Parity Bonds shall be designated as secured by the
Reserve Account, shall be designated as secured by any separate additional reserve account
hereafter established, or shall be designated as not secured by the Reserve Account or by any
separate reserve account.

Any additional reserve account created for a series of Additional Parity Bonds, shall be
maintained for the purpose of paying the principal of and interest on such Additional Parity Bonds
falling due in any year as to which there would otherwise be a default and if money is taken from
said additional reserve account for the payment of such principal and interest, the money so taken
shall be replaced in said additional reserve account from the first moneys in the Revenue Fund
thereafter available (pro rata with any amounts required to be paid into the Reserve Account and
any other separate additional reserve accounts) and not required to be used for maintenance and
operation charges and not required to be paid into the Debt Service Account as provided in the
Bond Resolution.

Debt Service Reserve Account Not Designated for Series 2017 Bonds

The Series 2017 Bonds are hereby designated as not being secured by the Debt Service Reserve Account or
any other separate reserye account.

Additional Parity Bonds

Bonds may be issued on a parity with the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds, and the Series 2017
Bonds provided that the following conditions are met:

(a) The payments covenanted to be made into the Sinking Fund, as the same may have been enlarged
and extended in any proceedings authoriztngthe issuance of any Additional Parity Bonds, must be currently being
made in full amount as required and said "Debt Service Account" and "Debt Service Reserve Account" held within
said Sinking Fund must be at their proper respective balances.

(b) The net revenues of the System for a period of twelve (12) consecutive months out of the eighteen
(18) consecutive months preceding the month of adoption of the proceedings authorizing the issuance of such
additional bonds must have been equal to at least one and one-fifth (1 l/5) times the maximum debt service
requirement for any succeeding sinking fund year on the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds, the Series 2017
Bonds and any other issue or issues of parity bonds therewith then outstanding and on the bonds proposed to be
issued, or in lieu of the foregoing formula, if a new schedule of rates and charges for the services, facilities and
commodities furnished by the System shall have been adopted and shall be in effect and an independent and
recognized firm of Certihed Public Accountants shall certiff that had this new rate schedule been in effect during
the period described above the net revenues ofthe System would have been equal to at least one and one-fifth (1

l/5) times the maximum debt service requirement for any succeeding sinking fund year on the Series 2003 Bonds,
the Series 2012 Bonds, the Series 2017 Bonds and any parity bonds therewith then outstanding and on the bonds
proposed to be issued. Net revenues for the purpose ofthis paragraph O) shall be construed to be the gross revenues
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of the System remaining after the payment of the sums required or permitted to be paid to operate and maintain said

System pursuant to the provisions of Article V of the Original Resolution, but before provision for depreciation.

An adjustment may be made to "net revenues of the System" in computing the aforesaid coverage test (i)
equal to 80% of additional new net revenues of the System estimated to be received in the third fiscal year after
delivery of the Additional Parity Bonds from connections to the System certified in writing by the County's
consulting engineers to have been made during and after such l2-month period to the extent that such new net
revenues ofthe System are not otherwise taken into account, or (ii) equal to 100% ofthe estimated net revenues, as

certified by the Certified Public Accountants or consulting engineers, to be received from a system to be acquired
with the proceeds of such parity bonds and which system is then in existence and whose customers are currently or
will become customers of the System as of the third anniversary of the date of issuance of the such parity bonds.

(c) An independent and recognized firm of Certified Public Accountants shall certify in triplicate to
the goveming body of the County that the requirements of paragraph (a) above are being complied with and that the
requirements of paragraph (b) above have been met. A copy of the certificate of the Certified Public Accountants
shall be furnished to the designated representative of the original purchasers of the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series

2012 Bonds, the Series 2017 Bonds and any other issue or issues of Additional Parity Bonds therewith then
outstanding.

(d) Except when bonds are being issued solely for the purpose of refunding outstanding revenue
bonds, the County's engineering department or consulting engineers shall provide the County with a written report
recommending the additions, extensions and improvements to be made to the System and stating that same are

feasible, designating in reasonable detail the work and installation proposed to be done and the estimated cost of
accomplishing the Project.

An executed duplicate original of such report of said engineers as required by this provision shall be

furnished to the designated representative of the original purchasers of the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012
Bonds and the Series 2017 Bonds not less than thirty (30) days before any proceedings are taken to actually issue

such additional bonds.

(e) The governing body of the County shall pass proper proceedings reciting that all of the above
requirements have been met, shall authorize the issuance of said bonds and shall provide in such proceedings,

among other things, the date such bonds shall bear, the rate or rates of interest and maturity dates, as well as the
registration and redemption provisions. The interest on the bonds of any such issue shall fall due on March I and

September I of each year, and the bonds shall mature in installments on September 1, but, as to principal, not
necessarily in each year or in equal installments. Any such proceeding or proceedings shall require the County to
increase the monthly payments then being made into the Sinking Fund to the extent necessary to pay the principal of
and the interest on the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds, the Series 2017 Bonds and on all such Additional
Parity Bonds therewith then outstanding and on the bonds proposed to be issued as same become due and payable in
the then current sinking fund year, and to create within five (5) years from the date of the bonds to be issued a
reserve in the Reserve Account that complies with the requirements of Section 28 of the Original Resolution. Any
such proceeding or proceedings shall restate and reaffirm, by reference, all of the applicable terms, conditions and
provisions of the Bond Resolution.

Such additional bonds or obligations and all proceedings relative thereto, and the security therefor, shall be

validated as prescribed by law.

Rate Covenant

Pursuant to the Bond Resolution, the County covenants to place into effect a schedule of rates, fees and
charges for the services, facilities and commodities furnished by the System and as often as it shall appear necessary
the County covenants to revise and adjust such schedule ofrates, fees and charges for water services and facilities to
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the extent necessary to produce funds along with any moneys from the general fund of the County included in the
System budget referred to in the Original Resolution sufficient (a) to operate and maintain said System on a sound
business like basis (b) to make payments into the Sinking Fund equal to ll5oh of the amounts sufficient to discharge
the payment of the principal of and the interest on the Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds and the Series 2017
Bonds and any future parity issues as the same become due and payable in the then current sinking fund year, (c) to
pay at amount equal to 100% of principal of and interest on junior lien obligations refened to in the Original
Resolution, and (d) to create and maintain a reserve therefor in the amount as required therein or such larger
amounts as may be required in any proceedings authorizingany such issue or issues of parity bonds, as well as to
create and maintain a reserve for extensions and improvements to the System.

The rates, fees and charges shall be classified in a reasonable manner to cover users of the services and
facilities fumished by the System so that as near as practicable such rates, fees and charges shall be uniform in
application to all users falling within any reasonable class. No free services shall at any time be furnished from the
System; provided, however, the County shall have the right to provide free services to the existing governmental
buildings owned by the City of Watkinsville, Georgia. The County will undertake within its health powers or such
other applicable powers now or hereafter provided by law, to require the owners of all improved property abutting
any water line or sewerage line to connect with the System; provided, however, the County may waive such
mandatory connections for improved property existing as of the date of the Bond Resolution. No customer shall be
connected to the System or served by the County without a proper meter having been first installed. All services
shall be fumished in accordance with rates now or hereafter established, including services furnished to any County,
municipal corporation or other public board or body.

In the event the County shall fail to adopt a schedule or schedules ofrates, fees and charges, or to revise its
schedule or schedules of rates, fees and charges, in accordance with the provisions of the Original Resolution, any
bondholder without regard to whether any default, shall have occurred, may institute and prosecute in any court of
competent jurisdiction, an appropriate action to compel the County to adopt a schedule or schedules of rates, fees
and charges orto revise its schedule or schedules ofrates, fees and charges in accordance with the requirements of
the Original Resolution.

Insurance

The County shall procure and maintain or cause to be procured and maintained so long as the Series 2003
Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds, the Series 2017 Bonds and any parity bonds therewith are outstanding: (a) Fire and
extended coverage insurance on the insurable portions of the System in a responsible insurance company or
companies authorized and qualified to do business under the laws of the State of Georgia; (b) Public liability
insurance relating to the operation of the System in amounts deemed adequate by the County; and (c) Vehicular
public liability insurance on any vehicle owned by the County and used in the operation of the System in amounts
deemed adequate by the County. The proceeds of such fire and extended coverage policies are pledged as security
for the bonds, but shall be available for and shall, to the extent necessary and desirable, be applied to the repair and
replacement of the damaged or destroyed property. In the event the proceeds of such policies are not used for that
pu{pose, then same shall be deposited in the Renewal and Extension Fund. All insurance policies shall be open to
the inspection of the bondholders or their duly authorized representatives at all reasonable times

Payment in Full

When sufficient moneys are deposited with the sinking fund custodian or paying agent for any issue of the
Bonds, as the case may be, to pay any such issue of outstanding Bonds, and the interest due or to become due
thereon, and also including any premium required to be paid should such Bonds be called for redemption, or
provision having been duly made therefor, same shall constitute payment in full of such issue or issues of the Bonds.

A-8



Modification, Alteration, Supplementation or Amendment of Resolution

The County may, from time to time and at any time, adopt such resolution or resolutions supplemental
thereto as shall be deemed necessary or desirable for the purpose of modif,ing, altering, amending, adding to, or
rescinding, in any particular, any of the terms or provisions contained in the Bond Resolution or in any supplemental
resolution or in the bonds; provided, however, that nothing therein contained shall permit, or be construed as

permitting: (a) the extension of the maturity of any bond issued thereunder; (b) the reduction in the principal amount
of any bond or the alteration of the rate or rates of interest thereon or any other modification of the terms of payment

of such principal or interest; (c) the reduction of the percentage of the principal amount of bonds required for
consent to such supplemental resolution; and (d) the creation of any lien on the revenues of the System prior to or
superior to the lien created on the revenues of the System as the security for the payment of the Bonds and the
interest thereon. A modification or amendment of the provisions with respect to the Sinking Fund is not to be

deemed a change in the terms of payment.

Event of Defaults and Remedies

Each of the following events is declared an "event of default," that is to say, if: (a) payment of the principal
of any of the Bonds shall not be made when the same shall become due and payable, at its maturity or by
proceedings for mandatory redemption or optional redemption; or (b) payment of any installment of interest shall
not be made when the same becomes due and payable, or within thirty (30) days thereafter; or (c) the County shall,
for any reason, be rendered incapable of fulfilling its obligations hereunder; or (d) an order or decree shall be

entered, with the consent or acquiescence of the County, appointing a receiver, or receivers, of the System, or of the
revenues thereof, or any proceedings shall be instituted, with the consent or acquiescence of the County, for the
purpose of effecting a composition between the County and its creditors, or for the purpose of adjusting claims of
such creditors, pursuant to any federal or State statute now or hereafter enacted, if the claims of such creditors are

under any circumstances payable out ofthe revenues ofthe System, or ifsuch order or decree, having been entered
without the consent and acquiescence ofthe County, shall not be vacated or discharged or stayed on appeal within
sixty (60) days after entry thereof, or if such proceeding, having been instituted without the consent or acquiescence
of the County, shall not be withdrawn, or any order entered shall not be vacated, discharged or stayed on appeal,

within sixty (60) days after the institution of such proceedings, or the entry of such orders; or (e) the County shall
make a default in the due and punctual performance of any other of the covenants, conditions, agreements or
provisions contained in the Bonds or in the Bond Resolution, on the part of the County to be performed, and such

default shall continue for thirty (30) days after written notice, specifoing such default and requiring same to be

remedied, shall have been given to the County by any bondholder.

Upon the happening and continuance ofany "event ofdefault" specified above, then and in every such case

the owners of not less than fifty-five per centum (55%) in the principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding may,
by a notice in writing to the County, declare the principal of all the Bonds then outstanding (if not then due and

payable) to be due and payable immediately, and upon such declaration the same shall become and be immediately
due and payable, anything in the Bonds or in the Bond Resolution contained to the contrary notwithstanding;
provided, however, that if at any time after the principal of the Bonds shall have been so declared to be due and
payable, all arrears of interest, if any, upon the Bonds then outstanding, and all other indebtedness secured by the
Bond Resolution, except the principal of any Bonds not then due by their terms, and the interest accrued on such
Bonds since the last interest payment date, shall have been paid, or shall have been provided for any deposit with the
Paying Agent for such Bonds of a sum sufficient to pay the same, and every other default in the observance or
performance of any covenant, condition or agreement in the Bonds, or herein contained, shall be made good, or
provisions therefor satisfactory to such bondholders shall have been made, then and in every such case the owners of
not less than fifty-five percent (55%) in principal amount of the Bonds then outstanding may, by written notice to
the County; rescind and annual such declaration and its consequences, but no such rescission or annulment shall
extend to, or affect, any subsequent default or impair any right consequent thereto.
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Upon the happening and continuance ofany "event ofdefault", as provided above, then and in every such
case any bondholder may proceed, subject to the provisions ofBond Resolution, to protect and enforce the rights of
the bondholders under the Bond Resolution by a suit, action or special proceedings in equity, or at law, either for the
appointment of a receiver of the System as authorized by the Revenue Bond Law, or for the special performance of
any covenant or agreement contained in the Bond Resolution or in aid or execution of any power granted in the
Bond Resolution, or for the enforcement of any proper legal or equitable remedy as such bondholder shall deem
most effectual to protect and enforce the rights aforesaid, insofar as such may be authorized by law.

In case any proceeding taken by any bondholder on account ofany default shall have been discontinued or
abandoned for any reason, or shall have been determined adversely to such bondholder, then and in every such case

the County and the bondholders shall be restored to their former positions and rights hereunder, respectively, and all
rights, remedies, powers and duties of the bondholders shall continue as though no such proceedings had been taken.

No one, or more, owners of the Bonds secured by the Bond Resolution shall have any right in any manner
whatever by his or their action to affect, disturb, or prejudice the security granted and provided for in the Bond
Resolution, or to enforce any right under the Bond Resolution, except in the manner provided in the Bond
Resolution, and all proceedings at law or in equity shall be instituted, had and maintained for the equal benefit of all
o\ryners of such outstanding Bonds.

No remedy conferred in the Bond Resolution upon the bondholders is intended to be exclusive of any other
remedy or remedies, and each and every such remedy shall be cumulative, and shall be in addition to every other
remedy given under the Bond Resolution or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity, or by statute.

No delay or omission of any bondholder to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default occurring
and continuing as aforesaid, shall impair any such default or be construed as an acquiescence therein and every
power and remedy given by the Bond Resolution to the owners of the Bonds, respectively, may be exercised from
time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (this "Disclosure Certificate") is executed and delivered by Oconee
County, Georgia (the "County") in connection with the issuance of $ in aggregate principal amount
of the Oconee County Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 20174 (the "Series 2017A Bonds") and

$ in aggregate principal amount of the Oconee County Water and Sewerage Taxable Revenue Bonds,
Series 20178 (the "Series 20178 Bonds" and, together with the Series 2017A Bonds, the "Bonds"). The Bonds are

being issued pursuant to the Bond Resolution (as defined below). The County hereby covenants and agrees as

follows:

SECTION l. Puroose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being executed and
delivered by the County for the benefit of the Beneficial Owners (as herein defined) of the Bonds and in order to
assist the Participating Underwriter (as herein defined) in complying with the Rule (as herein defined).

SECTION 2. Dehnitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Bond Resolution, which apply to
any capitalized terms used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defured in this Section, the following
capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:

"Annual Report" shall mean any Annual Report provided by the County pursuant to the Rule and this
Disclosure Certificate.

"Beneficial Owner" shall mean any person who (a) has the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent
with respect to, or to dispose of ownership of, any of the Bonds (including persons holding the Bonds through
nominees, depositories or other intermediaries) or (b) is treated as the owner of any of the Bonds for federal income
tax purposes.

"Dissemination Agent" means Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. (DAC), Atlanta, Georgia, or its
successor in interest, or any successor Dissemination Agent designated in writing by the County and which has filed
with the County a written acceptance of such designation.

"EMMA" means the MSRB's Electronic Municipal Market Access System, as described in Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, Act Release No.34-59062, which receives electronic submissions of the Annual Report on
the EMMA website at http ://rvrvlv.em ma.m srb.orq.

"Fiscal Year" shall mean any period of twelve consecutive months adopted by the County as its fiscal year
for financial reporting purposes and shall initially mean the period beginning on July I of each calendar year and
ending June 30 ofthe next calendar year.

"Bond Resolution" shall mean the resolution adopted by the Board of Commissioners of the County on
October 23, 7998, as amended and supplemented by resolutions adopted by the Board of Commissioners of the
Cormty on November 3, 1998, July 18, 2003, September 1, 2009, October 22,2009, June 26,2012, July 12,2072,
September 20,2017, and , 2017 , pursuant to which the Bonds were issued, and any amendments or
supplements thereto.

"Listed Events" shall mean any of the events listed in Section 5 of this Disclosure Certificate.

"MSRR" shall mean the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, or any successor thereto. Currently, the
MSRB's address is:

MSRB
1900 Duke Street, Suite 600
Alexandria, VA 22314
Attn: Disclosure
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"Participating Underwriter" shall mean Stifel Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated, or its successor
interest.

"Rule" shall mean Rule l5c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.

SECTION 3. Provision of AnnualReports.

(a) Not later than 270 days after the end of the Fiscal Year, commencing with Fiscal Year
2017, the County shall provide, or cause the Dissemination Agent (if other than the County) to provide, an Annual
Report electronically to EMMA. The Annual Report will be made to EMMA as PDF files configured to permit
documents to be saved, viewed, printed and retransmitted by electronic means. In each case, the Annual Report may
be submitted as a single document or as separate documents comprising a package, and may cross-reference other
information as provided in Section 4 of this Disclosure Certificate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the audited
financial statements of the County may be submitted separately from the balance of the Amual Report when such
audited financial statements are available. In the event that the audited financial statements are not included with the
Annual Report and will be submitted at a later date, the County shall include unaudited financial statements in the
Annual Report and shall indicate in the Annual Report the date on which the audited financial statements will be
submitted.

(b) Not later than 15 business days prior to the date specified in paragraph (a) of this Section
3 for providing the Annual Report to EMMA, the County shall provide the Annual Report to the Dissemination
Agent (if other than the County). If the County is unable to provide an Annual Report by the date required in
paragraph (a), the Dissemination Agent shall send, in a timely manner, a notice to EMMA in substantially the form
attached as Exhibit A.

(c) The Dissemination Agent shall also:

(D determine each year prior to the date for providing the Annual Report, the
m€Inner of filing with EMMA; and

(iD (if the Dissemination Agent is other than the County) file a report with the
County certiffing that the Annual Report has been provided pursuant to this Disclosure
Certificate, stating the date it was provided to EMMA.

(d) If the Dissemination Agent has not received an Annual Report and Certification by 6:00
p.m. Eastem time on Amual Filing Date (or, if such Annual Filing Date falls on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, then
the first business day thereafter) for the Annual Report, a Failure to File Event shall have occurred and the Issuer
irrevocably directs the Dissemination Agent to immediately send a Failure to File Event notice to the MSRB.

SECTION 4. Content of Annual Reports. The County's Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by
reference the following :

(a) If audited furancial statements are not yet available, the unaudited hnancial statements of
the County, and when audited financial statements are available, the audited financial statements of the County, both
such types of financial statements to be prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, as in
effect from time to time.

(b) If the accounting principles changed from the previous fiscal year, a description of the
impact of the change as required by Section 8 of this Disclosure Certificate.

(c) A statement indicating that the fiscal year has not changed, or, if the fiscal year has
changed, a statement indicating the new fiscal year.
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(d) Information of the type set forth in the Official Statement under the following headings:

(l) "THE SYSTEM -- "Customers;"
(2) "THE SYSTEM - Largest Customers;"
(3) "SYSTEM FINANCIAL INFORMATION - Summary of Operating Results;"
(4) "SYSTEM FINANCIAL INFORMATION - Summary of Assets, Liabilities and

Fund Balance;"
and

(5) "SYSTEM FINANCIAL INFORMATION - Historical Debt Service Coverage
Ratios."

Any or all of the items listed above may be incorporated by reference from other documents, including
official statements of debt issues with respect to which the County is an "obligated person" (as defined by the Rule),
which have been filed in accordance with the Rule and the other rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission.
If the document incorporated by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the MSRB. The
County shall clearly identiff each such other document so incorporated by reference.

SECTION 5. Reportins of Significant Events.

The County shall give, or cause to be given, notice to EMMA, in an electronic format as

prescribed by the MSRB, of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds within ten
business days ofthe occurrence ofthe event:

(i) Principal and interest payment delinquencies.

(iD Non-payment related defaults, if material.

(iiD Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties.

(iv) Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties.

(v) Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform.

(vi) Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or fural
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 507I-TEB) or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other
material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds.

(vii) Modifications to rights of the Bondholders, if material.

(viii) Bond calls, if material, and tender offers.

(ix) Defeasances.

(x) Release, substitution or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material.

(xi) Rating changes.

(xii) Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the County.

(xiii) The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the County or the
sale ofall or substantially all ofthe assets ofthe County, other than in the ordinary course
of business, or the entry into a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other
than pursuant to its terms, if material.
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(xiv) Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if
material.

SECTION 6. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The County's obligations under this Disclosure
Certificate shall terminate upon the defeasance (within the meaning of the Rule), prior redemption or payment in fuIl
of all of the Bonds. The County shall notifl, EMMA that the County's obligations under this Disclosure Certificate
have terminated. If the County's obligations are assumed in full by some other entity, such person shall be
responsible for compliance with this Disclosure Certificate in the same manner as if it were the County, and the
original County shall have no further responsibility hereunder.

SECTION 7. Dissemination Agent. The County may, from time to time, appoint a dissemination agent to
assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate, and the County may, from time to time,
discharge the dissemination agent, with or without appointing a successor dissemination agent. If at any time there
is not a designated dissemination agent, the County shall be the dissemination agent. The initial Dissemination
Agent shall be Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. (DAC), or its successor in interest.

SECTION 8. Amendment. This Disclosure Certificate may not be amended unless independent counsel
experienced in securities law matters has rendered an opinion to the County to the effect that the amendment does
not violate the provisions of the Rule and all current amendments thereto and interpretations thereof that are
applicable to this Disclosure Certificate.

In the event that this Disclosure Certificate is amended or any provision of the Disclosure Certif,rcate is
waived, the notice of a Listed Event pursuant to Section 5(vii) hereof shall explain, in narrative form, the reasons for
the amendment or waiver and the impact of the change in the type of operating data or financial information being
provided in the Annual Report. If an amendment or waiver is made in this Disclosure Certificate which allows for a
change in the accounting principles to be used in preparing hnancial statements, the Annual Report for the year in
which the change is made shall present a comparison between the f,rnancial statements or information prepared on
the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the basis of the former accounting principles. The
comparison shall include a qualitative discussion of the differences in the accounting principles and impact of the
change in the accounting principles on the presentation of the financial information. A notice of the change in the
accounting principles shall be deemed to be material and shall be sent to EMMA.

SECTION 9. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed to prevent
the County from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure
Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other information in any Annual Report or notice
of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Certificate. If the County
chooses to include any information in any Annual Reporl or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to
that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Certificate, the County shall have no obligation under this
Disclosure Certificate to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report or notice of occurrence
of a Listed Event.

SECTION 10. Default. In the event of a failure of the County to comply with any provision of this
Disclosure Certificate, the Participating Underwriter or any Beneficial Owner may take such actions as may be
necessary and appropriate, including seeking specific performance by court order, to cause the County to comply
with its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate. A default under this Disclosure Certificate shall not be
deemed an Event of Default under the Bond Resolution, and the sole remedy under this Disclosure Certificate in the
event of any failure of any parly to comply with this Disclosure Certificate shall be an action to compel
performance. The cost to the County of performing its obligations under the provisions of this Disclosure
Certificate shall be paid solely from funds lawfully available for such purpose.

SECTION 1 l. Duties. Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent. The Dissemination Agent shall
have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Certificate, and the County agrees to indemnif,
and save the Dissemination Agent, its off,rcers, directors, employees and agents, harmless against any loss, expense
and liabilities which they may incur arising out of or in the exercise or performance of their powers and duties
hereunder, including the costs and expenses (including attorney's fees) of defending against any claim of liability,
but excluding liabilities due to the Dissemination Agent's gross negligence or willful misconduct. The
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Dissemination Agent may consult with counsel (who may, but need no! be counsel for any party hereto or the
County), and the opinion of such Counsel shall be fulI and complete authorization and protection in respect of any
action taken or suffered by it hereunder in good faith and in accordance with the opinion of such Counsel. The
obligations of the County under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of the Dissemination Agent and
payment of the Bonds.

SECTION 12. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of the County, the
Participating Underwriter, and Beneficial Owners from time to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any
other person or entity.

SECTION 13. Intermediaries: Expenses. The Dissemination Agent is hereby authorized to employ
intermediaries to carry out its obligations hereunder. The Dissemination Agent shall be reimbursed immediately for
all such expenses and any other reasonable expense incurred hereunder (including, but not limited to, attorney's
fees).

SECTION 14. Counterparts. This Disclosure Cerlificate may be executed in several counterparts, each of
which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument.

SECTION 15. Governing Law. This Disclosure Certificate shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia.

SECTION 16. Severabilitv. In case any one or more of the provisions of this Disclosure Certificate shall
for any reason be held to be illegal or invalid, such illegality or invalidity shall not affect any other provision of this
Disclosure Certificate, but this Disclosure Certihcate shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal or invalid
provision had not been contained herein.
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Date: October _,2017

OCONEE COUNTY, GEORGIA

(sEAL)

Attest:

By
Chairman

By:
Clerk
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The undersigned hereby accepts its duties as Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Certificate, this
_ day ofOctober, 2017.

DIGITAL ASSURANCE CERTIFICATION, L.L.C.

By:
Authorized Officer
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EXHIBITA

NOTICE OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT

Name of Issuer: Oconee County, Georgia

Name of Bond Issue: $ Oconee County Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A; and
$ Oconee County Water and Sewerage Taxable Revenue Bonds, Series
20178

CUSIP Numberr:

Date of Issuance: October_,2017

NOTICE IS I{EREBY GIVEN that Oconee County, Georgia (the "County") has not provided an Annual
Report due with respect to the above-named Bonds as required by its Disclosure Certificate, dated October _,
2017. The County anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed by

This notice is based on the best information available at the time of dissemination. Any questions
regarding this notice should be directed to

Dated:

OCONEE COUNTY, GEORGIA

Chairman

@madeastothecorrecbressoftheCUSIPnumbereitherasprintedonthebondsoras
contained herein, and reliance may only be placed on other bond identification contained herein.

By:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Honorable Commissioners of
Oconee County, Georgia

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statenrents of the governmental activities, the business-type activities,
the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Oconee
County, Georgia, as ofand for the year ended June 30,2016, and the related notes to the financial statenrents, which
collectively comprise the County's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Slatements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation,
and maintenance of intemal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the
financial statements of the Oconee County Health Department, which replesents 100% of the assets, net position and
revenues of the component unit column. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose report has
been fumished to us, and our opinion on the financial statements, insofar as it relates to the amounts included in the
Oconee County Health Department, is based on the report of other auditors. We conducted our audit in accordance
with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial
audits contained,in Government.4uditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
staten'rents are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers intemal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness ofthe entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, based on our report and the report ofother auditors, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the govemmental activities, business-type
activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information
for Oconee County, Georgia as of June 30,2016, and the respective changes in financial position and cash flows,
where applicable, thereof in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Serving tLe Northeast Georgia area sfurce 1970

www.ttccpa.com



Other Molters

Required Supplene ntary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management's Discussion
and Analysis, the Retirement Plan - Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios and Schedule
of Pension Contributions, the Other Postemployment Benefits - Schedule of Funding Progress, and the Schedule of
Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - Ceneral Fund and information on
pages I through IX, and pages 42-46 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such infonnation,
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board,
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the infomration and
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express
an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise
Oconee County, Georgia's financial statements as a whole. The combining and individual fund schedules, the
Schedule of Projects Constructed with Special Sales Tax Proceeds, the Schedule of State Contractual Assistance,
and the Certification of 9- I - 1 Expenditures, as listed in the table of contents, are presented for purposes of additional
analysis and are not required parts ofthe basic financial statements.

The combining and individual nonmajor fund statements, the Schedule of Projects Constructed with Special Sales
Tax Proceeds, and the Schedule of State Contractual Assistance, are the responsibility of management and were
derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial
statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare financial statements or to the financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial
statements as a whole.

The Certification of9-l-l Expenditures has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit ofthe
basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.



Other Repofting Required by Government Audiling Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated January 31, 2017 on our
consideration of Oconee County's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is
to describe the scope of our testing of intemal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That reporl
is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Governmenl Auditing Standards in considering Oconee
County, Georgia's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Madison, Georgia
January 31,2017
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ocoNEE couNTY, GEORGIA
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

For the Year Ended June 30,2016

Management's discussion and analysis provides an objective and easily readable analysis of the
government's financial activities. The analysis provides summary financial information fbr Oconee
County and should be read in conjunction with the Government's financial statements.

Overview of the Financial Statements

The Government's discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to Oconee County
Government's financial statements which include government-wide and fund statements as well as

notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary financial information
in addition to the basic financial statements that may be of interest to the reader.

The Government's basic financial statements are comprised of three components:

1. Government-wide financial statements present an overall picture of the Government's
financialposition and results of operations.

2. Fund financial statements present financial information for the Govemment's major funds.
3. Notes to the financial statements provide additional information conceming the

Govemment's finances that are not disclosed in the Government-wide or Fund financial
statements.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

Government-wide financial statements are designed to provide a broad overview of the financial
position of Oconee County and are similar to private-sector financial statements. They include a
statement of net position and a statement of activities. Emphasis is placed on the net position of
governmental activities and business-type activities and the change in net position. Govemmental
activities are primarily supported by sales taxes, property taxes, federal and state grants, and charges
for services and fines. Business-type activities are supported by charges to the users of those activities.

The Statement of Net Position shows the County's assets less its liabilities at June 30, 2016. The
difference between these assets and liabilities is reported as net position. Assets, liabilities and net
position are reported for all governmental activities separate from the assets, liabilities and net position
of business-type activities. Changes in net position over time may be helpful in identifying an
improving or deteriorating financial position.

The Statement of Activities follows the Statement of Net Position and presents information showing
how the net assets changed during the fiscal year. The statement presents all underlying events which
give rise to the change, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows. Some included items. such
as accounts payable or earned but unused vacation leave, will produce changes in cash in a future fiscal
period.

Both statements attempt to distinguish functions of Oconee County that are principally supported by
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from functions that are intended to



recover all or a significant portion oftheir costs through user fees and charges (business-type
activities).

Govemmental activities reported in the statements include general government, law enforcement,
parks and recreation, jail operations, zoning and enforcement, judicial, public works and human
resources. Business-type activities financed by user charges include water and sewer, sanitation
collection sites and community development.

Fund Financial Statements

A fund is a grouping of related accounts used to maintain control over resources that have been
separated for specific activities or objectives. Like other state and local governments, Oconee County
uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements
and Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). All funds of Oconee County government can
be divided into three categories: governmental, proprietary and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds account for the same functions as those reported under the government-wide
Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities. However, this set of financial statements
focuses on events that produce near-term inflows and outflows of spendable resources as well as on the
balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. This has a narrower focus than
the government-wide financial statements. Such information may be useful in evaluating Oconee
County's near-term financing requirements and available resources.

By comparing functions between the two sets of statements for government funds and governmental
activities, readers may better understand the long-tenn impact of the government's near-term financing
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statements of
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this
comparison. The county reports two major govemmental funds - General Fund and SPLOST 2015
Funds. (pg 3)

Proprietary Funds report, in greater detail, the same information presented as business-type activities in
the government-wide financial statements for one major fund: water and sewer. (pg 8-10)

Fiduciary Funds are agency funds held in a custodial nature outside the general county govemment.
Although these funds are presented in the fund set of statements, they do not appear in the government-
wide financial statements because the fiduciary funds are not available to support Oconee County
Government's general programs. The accrual accounting used for fiduciary funds is much like that
used for proprietary funds. Funds held by Oconee County for investment are reflected in this section
as the Agency Fund. The county reports six agency funds - Tax Commissioner, Sheriff, Superior
Court, Probate Court, Magistrate Court and Juvenile Court. (Sch l4)

Notes to the Financial Statement

The Notes provide additional detail concerning the financial activities and financial balances of the
Government. Additional information about the accounting practices of the Govemment; investments
of the Government, long-term debt and the pension plan are some of the items included in the Notes.
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Governmental Activities

For governmental activities, the change in net position amounted to $1,094,145. (Exb 2) This increase
is due to a combination of factors, including the addition of capital assets net of depreciation,
developer contributions represented at an estimate of fair market value, as well as the treatment of
long-term debt. Oconee County continues to practice conservative fiscal policies.

Bus iness-Type Activities

Business type activities include the County's Enterprise Funds: Water & Sewer Fund, Solid Waste
Fund and Special Facilities Fund. For business-type activities, the change in net position amounted to
a total of $7,556,393 (Exb 2) as a result of operating revenues, capital contributions and transfers in
from SPLOST. SPLOST 2009 Fund transferred $1,438,348 (Exb 6) to the Water and Sewer Fund for
the purposes of capital expenses. A major activity of the Water & Sewer Fund was its
intergovernmental project with the Walton County Water & Sewerage Authority. This project is also
referred to as the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project.

Financial Analysis of Oconee County's Funds

As noted earlier, Oconee County employs fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
fi nance-related legal requirements.

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds provide information on near-term inflows, outflows and balances of spendable
resources. In assessing Oconee County's financial requirements, unassigned fund balance is a
particularly useful measure of net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. The
governmental fund types include: General Fund, SPLOST Funds, Special Revenue Funds, Capital
Projects Local Resources Fund, and Industrial Development Authority Projects Fund.

As of June 30,2016, Oconee County governmental funds reported combined fund balances of
$26,865,120, (Exb 4) an increase of $7,562 ,434. (Exb 4) The County continues to utilize SPLOST
funds to retire debt and for the development of capital projects such as roads, water and sewer
improvements.

General Fund is the chief operating fund of the county. At June 30,2016, total fund balance in the
general fund was $10,821,520. (Exb 4) There was an increase of $1,102,772 (Exb 4) in the general
fund balance. The increase in fund balance derives from a combination of factors. A reimbursement
from the State Department of Transportation for the Mars Hill Widening project accounted for $725K.
Additional increases in fund balance resulted from property digest growth. The Board of
Commissioners continues to take conservative measures by working closely with Elected Officials and

Department Directors to keep expenditures at a minimum.

SPLOST Capital Projects Fund reflects funds collected with the lYo sales tax and expended for capital
items that are in agreement with the referendum approved by the voters. Because projects often cross
several years and involve design, land acquisition and construction phases, expenditures may valy
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widely from year to year. Costs expended yearly in capital projects funds are added to the County's
construction-in-progress until the project is complete, and then depreciated over its useful life. Water
and Sewer projects funded by SPLOST are treated as transfers out to the Water and Sewer Fund and
accounted for as Capital Improvement Projects in the Water and Sewer Fund.

Industrial Development Authoritv Fund The Industrial Development Authority is presented within the
County's Financial Statements as a blended component unit.

In March 2072, Oconee County was selected as the site for the Caterpillar facility. Caterpillar
constructed a facility, approximately 850,000 sq. ft., which straddles the Oconee/Athens-Clarke
County line. This facility produces small-track type tractors_and mini-hydraulic excavators. As a joint
venture, the counties provided infrastructure improvements to support the site, while Caterpillar
provided site improvements and constructed the facility. In FY12, the Industrial Development
Authority was awarded a State Edge Grant for $18 million by the OneGeorgia Authority for the
purpose of site preparation and initial construction costs associated with the Caterpillar plant. The
Industrial Development Authority issued $10,380,000 Series 2012 Revenue Bonds during March2012
as incentive for the Caterpillar development. As of 2016, Caterpillar has created 1,500 jobs and has
invested $143M in facilities and equipment.

In March 2016, the Industrial Development Authority issued $4,285,000 Series 2016 Revenue Bonds.
The proceeds frorn these bonds were to be used to acquire, construct, improve, and extend certain
economic developrnent road projects. These bonds are repayable solely through the proceeds of an
intergovernmental contract between the Authority and Oconee County and are listed as Contract
Payable-OCIDA in the Financial Statements.

ln FY16, the Authority used $34,881 (Sch 8) in operating funds and $260,931 in20l2 Revenue bond
proceeds and $165,173 in2016 Revenue bond proceeds. (Sch 9)

Special Revenue Fund by ordinance the Oconee County Board of Commissioners authorized an excise
tax on rooms, lodgings and accommodations to contribute to the promotion of tourism, conventions
and trade shows. In fiscal year 2010, the operation of a hotel and the excise tax revenue collections was
initiated. The revenue for the period ending June 30, 2016 totaled $156,147. (Sch 8)

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary Fund statements provide the same information as in the business activities column of the
government-wide statements, but in greater detail, and on a fund basis for enterprise funds.

Enterprise Funds - At June 30, 2016, total net position amounted to $78,61 1,000. (Exb 6) This
includes a change in net position of $7,556,393. (Exb 6) Net position changes are a result of
operations, non-operating revenues, depreciation, expenses, capital contributions. donated assets and
grants. The two funds in this category, Water & Sewer Fund and Other Enterprise Funds (Solid Waste
Fund and Special Facilities Fund) receive additional revenue from such areas as user fees, licenses,
permits, rent and donated infiastructure.
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As part of the lntergovernmental Agreement between the County and the Upper Oconee Basin Water
Authority (UOBWA), reconciliation is performed at the Authority's year-end (December 3l) to
determine the actual cost sharing by each member county.

ln October 2007 , the county entered into as part of an lntergovernmental Contract with Walton County
and the Walton County Water and Sewerage Authority (WCWSA) for a Reservoir Project. The
contract indicated that WCWSA would issue Revenue bonds (Oconee-Hard Labor Creek Reservoir
Project). Series 2008 totaling $19,535,000 (Note 7),for the purpose of financing or refinancing all or a
portion of the cost of acquiring, constructing, installing and equipping a reservoir and related treatment
and transmission facilities, paying capitalized interest on the Series 2008 Bonds, funding a debt service
reserve and paying the costs of issuing the Series 2008 Bonds. In July 201 5, Series 2015 WCWSA
Refunding Bonds were issued in the amount of $8,425,000 to partially refund the Series 2008 Revenue
Bonds and to pay the costs of issuance. The county intends to make the contract payments with
revenues derived from its water and sewerage system. Subsequent to year-end, Series 2016 WCWSA
Refunding Bonds were issued in the amount of $9,465,000 to partially refund the Series 2008 Revenue
Bonds and to pay the costs of issuance.

During 2013,the County entered into a note payable with WCWSA and Georgia Environmental
Finance Authority (GEFA). The County is obligated to pay 28.8% of the amounts payable under that
note pursuant to the intergovernmental agreement that established the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir
Project. The note allowed for up to $20,000,000 of borrowing, of which the County's share would be

$5,760,000. At year-end, the entire note balance had been drawn and was outstanding. In July 2014,
the county entered into a second note payable with WCWSA and GEFA. The County is obligated to
pay 28.8%;o of the amounts payable under the note pursuant to the intergovernmental agreement that
established the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project. The note allows for up to $12,000,000 of
borrowing of which the County's share would be $3,456,000. At year end, the total borrowed to date
was $7,344,067 of which the County is responsible for $2,115,091 (Note 7).

Program Revenue, General Revenue and Total Revenue

Total program revenues for primary government increased from the previous fiscal year.
The county received operating and capital grants which were a driving force in the increase. The
general state of the economy also improved, along with an improvement in Sales Tax revenues. House
Bill 386 was passed by the 2012 Georgia General Assembly and provided a new rnethod of taxation
for motor vehicles. commonly refemed to as Title Ad Valorern Tax or TAVT. This bill became
effective March 1 , 2013. Vehicles purchased after March 7 , 2013 are exempt from Sales Tax and the
ad valorem tax (aka "birthday tax"). These taxes are replaced by a one-time tax that is imposed on the
fair market value of the vehicle called the TAVT. This fee is calculated by multiplying the fair market
value by 7 .0o/o in2016.

Financial Highlights

The economy in Oconee County is returning to normal Pre-Recession levels faster than neighboring
counties in the region. Primary factors in determining normalcy are low unernployment, new revenue
sources through small business activity and an increase in new housing starts. Sales Tax revenue and
economic activity have increased over the period slightly faster than projected. All of these factors
enabled Oconee County to maintain the budget at current levels and in some cases. coming in under
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budget. The millage rate was maintained while the property digest increased. In November 2014, the
voters approved via referendum SPLOST 2015. The first collections were in October 2015 and the
first distribution to the County was received in November 2015. As part of the SPLOST 2015
referendum, funds were allocated for G. O. Bond debt repayment. The Transportation Improvement &
Maintenance Program & Water and Sewer Improvement plans are funded through SPLOST funds and
remain within budget for infrastructure improvements.

In March 2016,the Industr:ial Development Authority issued $4,285,000 Series 2016 Revenue Bonds.
The proceeds from these bonds were to be used to acquire and construct Parkway Boulevard and
improve certain other economic development road projects.

Oconee County's total assets exceeded total liabilities at June 30,2016,by $162,475,448. (Exb 1) Of
this amount,$5,240,373 (Exb 1) may be used to meet the county's ongoing obligations to citizens and
creditors.

As a whole, the financial position of the Oconee County government improved when compared to
recent years. At June 30,2016, Oconee County's Governmental Fund Statement Report combined
ending fund balances of $26,865,120 (Exb 4) an increase of $7,562,434. Of this amount, $14,994,442
(Exb 3) is restricted for Capital projects which commit the following funds: SPLOST 2004 -
$3,695,406 (Sch 6), SPLOST 2009 -93,670,771 (Sch 6), SPLOST 2015 - 52,938,466 (Exb 3), Hotel
Sales Tax - $137 ,298 (Sch 5), Industrial Development Authority Projects - $4,1 19,827 (Sch 6), and
General Fund - $432,674. (Exb 3) In addition, the General Fund has committed$2,762,835 (Exb 3) to
advance fund GDOT project SR53/\4ars Hill Road. Phase I of the project included reimbursements
from the State of Georgia totalin g $5 ,337 ,170.25. The County began Phase II of the project with
reimbursable expenditures as of June 30,2016 totaling 5749,491.

The General Fund reported an adequate unassigned fund balance of $6,752,21 1. (Exb 3) During
FYl6, the government in accordance with GASB 45, accounting and financial reporting by employees
for post-employment benefits other than pensions continued to remain in effect. The County
implemented GASB 54 Fund Balance reporting and governmental fund type definitions in20l2.In
2013, the County implemented GASB 61 . This Statement modifies certain requirements for inclusion
of component units in the financial reporting entity. The amendments to the criteria for blending
improve the focus of a financial reporting entity on the primary govemment by ensuring that the
primary govemment includes only those component units that are so intertwined with the primary
government that they are essentially the same as the prirnary government, and by clarifying which
component units have that characteristic. Oconee County and the Oconee County Industrial
Development Authority were reported in FY13 as a blended component unit in accordance with GASB
61. The County also irnplemented GASB 63. This Statement provides guidance for deferred outflows
and deferred inflows of resources and defines those elements which are distinct from assets and
liabilities as a consumption or acquisition of net assets that are applicable to future reporting periods
and renames net assets to net position. The County also fuither implemented GASB 65. This
Statement reclassifies certain items as deferred outflows or as deferred inflows of resources previously
reported as assets and liabilities. In FYl5, the County implemented GASB 68, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Pensions - an Amendment of GASB 27.
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Government - Wide Financial Analysis

Table I & Table 2 depict comparative data for Oconee County, Georgia for the fiscal year ended June
30,2015 and the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016. The comparative data highlights Government-wide
net position (Table l) and changes in net position (Table 2). Fiscal year ended 2016 shows an increase
in the change in net position of $8.65 million (Exb 2) over the previous fiscal year.

Budget Variations

The original General Fund budget for the fiscal year end June 30,2016, reflected anticipated revenues
of $23,120,500 and expenditures of $21.212,306. The final budget for the fiscal year showed revenues
of $25,451.620 and expenditures of $23,865,801, while the actual results for fiscal year ending June
30,2016 indicated revenues of $25,975,968 and expenditures of $22,850,264. (Sch.3) The local
economy improved in Oconee County. Primary factors were low unemployment, new revenue sources
through small business activity and increased commercial site construction. Sales Tax revenue has
increased over the period and economic activity has improved. The opening of the Epps Bridge Centre
in Oconee County has generated sales tax and in turn boosted the County's economy.

For a detailed ovenriew of Oconee County's Capital Assets, the reader is referred to Notes to the
Financial Statements, Note 3. For Long-term Debt Obligations, the reader is referred to Note 7.
Additionally, Oconee County is utilizing Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds to supplement SPLOST
funding as a means to assist in providing for future infrastructure, water sources and sewer needs.

Component Units

Separately issued financial statements for the Oconee County Health Department, a discretely
presented component unit of the County, provide more detailed information about the financial
position and results of the Health Department. These statements can be obtained by contacting the
Health Department at:

Oconee County Health Department
160 Experiment Station Road
Post Office Box222
Watkinsville, Georgia 3067 7

Separately issued financial statements for the Oconee County Industrial Development Authority, a

blended component unit of the County, provides more detailed information about the financial position
and the results of the Industrial Development Authority. These statements can be obtained by
contacting the lndustrial Development Authority at:

Oconee County lndustrial Development Authority
Post Office Box1527
Watkinsville, Georgia 3067 7
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Oconee County, Georgia
For the Year Ended June 30, 2016

Table 1

Net Position
(in Millions)

Governmental
Activities

Business-Type
Activities Total

2015

20.70
90.09

110.79

0.70
0.10

111.59

1.31

0.81
26.70

28.82

0.00

28.82

80.71

8.78
0.10
0.16
0.00
0.20

(7.18)

82.77

2016

28.18
87.92

116.10

0.66
1.53

118.29

1.43

1.09
31.84

34.36

0.07

34.43

78.24

14.99
0.17
0.20
0.00
0.24

(e e8)

83.86

60.35

0.00
0.00
0.00
3.04
0.00

15.22

78.61

2015 2016 2015 2016

Assets

Current & Other Assets
CapitalAssets, Net

TotalAssets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred Amount on Debt Refunding
Deferred Outflow Related to Pensions

TotalAssets and Deferred Outflows

Liabilities

Current & Other Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities

Due Within One Year
Due in More Than One Year

Total Liabilities

Deferred lnflows of Resources
Deferred lnflow Related to Pensions

Total Liabilities and Deferred lnflows

Net Position

Net lnvestment in CapitalAssets
Restricted

CapitalProjects
Judicial
Public Safety
Debt Service
Other Purposes

Unrestricted

Total Net Position

24.96 27.53
89.99 93.88

114.95 121.41

0.99 1.91

0.01 0.'18

115.95 123.50

2.03

1.96
40.90

4.89

0.00

M.89

1.99

2.06
40.83

44.88

0.01

44.89

57.06

0.00
0.00
0.00
3.04
0.00

10.96

71.05

45.66 55.71
180.08 181.80

225.74 237.51

1.69 2.57
0.1 '1 1.71

227.54 241.79

3.34 3.42

2.77 3.15
67.60 72.67

73.71 79.24

0.00 0.08

73.71 79.32

137.77 138.59

8.78 14.99
0.10 0.17
0.16 0.20
3.04 3.04
0.20 0.24
3.78 5.24

153.82 162.47
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Oconee County, Georgia
For the Year Ended June 30, 2016

Table 2
Changes in Net Position

(in Millions)

Governmental
Activities

Business-Type
Activities Total

Revenue
Program Revenues:

Charges for Services
Operating Grants & Contributions
Capital Grants & Contributions

General Revenues:
Property Taxes
Sales Taxes
lntangible Taxes
Business Taxes
Franchise Fees
Other Taxes
lnvestment Earnings
Gain on Disposal of Capital Asset

Total Revenues

Program Expenses
General Government
Judicial
Public Safety
Public Works
Health & Welfare
Culture & Recreation
Housing & Development
lnterest & Fiscal Charges
Water & Sewer
Solid Waste
Special Facilities

Total Expenses

Excess (Deficiency) Before
Transfers & Contributions

Total Transfers

Changes in Net Position

Net Position, Beginning
Prior Period Adj-lmplementation GASB 68
Net Position, Beginning, as Restated

Net Position, Ending

2015 2016

14.19 15.97
0.62 0.71
5.66 3.49

11.48 12.17
12.66 13.24
0.48 0.57
1.48 1.59
0 30 0.33
0.18 0.19
0.04 0.06
0.09 0.00

47.18 48.32

460
062
310

2015 2016

4.65
0.71
1.53

12.17
13.24
0.57
1.59
0.33
0.19
0.03
0.00

2015

9.59
0.00
2.56

2016

11.32
0.00
1.96

0.03
0.00

11.48
12.66
0.48
1.48
0.30
0.18
0.02
0.09

0.02
0.00

12.17 13.31

6.09
2.06
9.56
6.44
0.73
361
1.54
0.71

6.59
2.08
9.89
6.48
0.73
3.80
1.67
068

6.09 6.59
2.06 2.08
9.56 9 89
6.44 6.48
0.73 0.73
3.61 3.80
1.54 1.67
0.71 0.68
6.43 6.85
0.47 0.44
o 47 0.46

6.43
0.47
0.47

685
044
046

30.74 31.92 7.37 7.75 38.11

4.27 3.09
(1.83) (2.00)

4.80 5.56
1.83 2.OO

9.07 8.65
0.00 0.00

2.45

87.81
(7.4e)
80.32
82.77

1.09

82.77
0.00

82.77
83.86

6.63

55.35
(0.e3)
64.42
71.05

7.56

71.05
0.00

71.05
78.61

8.659.07

153.16 153.82
(8.42l. 0.00

144.74 153.82
153.82 162.47
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Oconee County, Georgia
Statement of Net Position

June 30,2016

Governmental
Activities

Business-Type
Activities

$ 12,850,167

12,908,407

3 14,840

175,847

(338,1 02)

2,04r,s69
2t9,757

t2.3r5

$ 7,600,863

4,126,392
976,520

338, I 02

144,291

14,074

1,91 0,386

2,847,830

9,572,410

35,200,538

58,676.249

$ 20,4s1,030
17,034,799

t,291,360

17s,847

2, I 85,860

233,831

t,922,'701

2,847,830

9,572,410

57,480,759
124,315,234

237.s1r.661

Exhibit 1

Health
Department

$ s37,343

40,358

25,442

603,143

88,504

691,647

4_5,515

452,987

49,002
s47,504

Total
ASSETS
Cash Otrote 2)
Investrnents, plus accrued interest (Note 2)
Accounts receivable. net

Taxes receivable, net

lnternal balances (Note 4)

Due from other govemments

Prepaid expenses

Restricted cash (Note 2)
Restricted investments (Note 2)

Investment - UOBWA, net (Note 5)

Capital assets (Note 3)
Capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Total assets

DEFERRED OfITFLOWS OF RESOT]RCES
Deferred arnount on debt refunding
Deferred outflow related to pensions (Note 9)

Total assets and defcrred oufflows

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable

Accounts payable from restricted assets

Retainage payable

Salaries and benefits payable

Accrued interest

Customer deposits

Long-term liabilities: (Note 7)

Portion due or payable rvithin one year:

Bonds, notes, leases, and contracts payable

Compensated absences

Portion due or payable after one year:

Bonds, notes, leases, and contracts payable, net

Net pension liability (Note 9)
OPEB obligation (Note l0)
Conpensated absences

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred in{low related to pensions

Total liabilities and deferred inflows

NET POSITION
Net investrnenl in capital assets

Resfricted for:
Capital projects

Judicial
Public safety

Debt service

Other purposes

Unrestricted
Total net position

22,280,221

65,638,985

1 16.104,006

660,969

1,530,957

118,295,932

771,676

12,3t5

346,696

30 r,098

1,061,582
23,432

22,942,456
8,r45,326

s8,4s3

696,156
34.359,1 90

7Z-294

34,431,484

78,241,425

14,994,442

172,260

200,402

236.795
(9,980.876)

$ 83,864,448

t21,40',7,655

r,910,644
r83.792

123,502,091

567,549

2t,200
73,1 81

s2,00_s

49t,'15t
782,404

2,067,714

39,732,17t
1,000,303

94,t69
44,882,447

8,644

44,891,091

2,571,613
1,714.749

241,798,023

1,339,225

33,5 l5
73,181

398,70 l
792.849
782.404

3,129,296
23.432

62,674,627
9,145,629

58,453

790,325
79,241,637

79322,575

39,774

587,278

80.938

ts,221,249 s,240,373

$ 78,611,000 s 162,475,448

60.346,808

3,042,943

138,588,233

t4.994,442
172.260

200.402
3,042,943

236.79s

25,442

78,927

s 104,369

The accompmying notes are m integral part ofthese finmcial statements
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Oconee County, Georgia
Statement of Activitics

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

Program Revenues Net (Expense) Revenue and
Chanses in Net Position

s (5,57s,944)
(1,0'77,368)
(8,844,670)
(4,942,282)

(s30,339)

(2,559,293)
(822,038)
(67s,862)

(2s,027,796)

$ (5,s75,944)
(1,077,368)
(8.844,67o',)

(4,942,282)
(530,339)

(2,5s9,293)
(822,038)
(67s,862)

(25.027.796)

Exhibit 2

Health
Department

$ 49,034

1,526,356

1,960,082

Activities:

Fees, Fines and

Charges for
SerricesExpenses

$ 6,593,236
2,07'1,404

9,893,572

6,483,129
728.785

3,799,207
1,668,679

675,862
3t,919,874

6,856, l4l
443,427

Operating Capital
Grants and Grants and

Contributions Contributions
Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
Governmental:
General govemment

Judicial
Public safety
Public worls
Health and welfnre

Culfure and recreation
Housing and development
Interest ar-rd fiscal charges

Total governmental activities
Business-type:
Water and sewer

Solid r.r,aste

Special facilities
Total business-type activities

Component units:
Oconee County Health Department
Total Oconee County

985,559
'709,372

952,343
t4,491

1.153,164
834,468

31,733

290,664

96,559

198,446

86,750
12,173

t,526,356

716.325

460,372 164,840

7,7 59,940 11,318,771

754,342 483,861

$ 40,434,156 $ 16,4s2,029

General revenues:

Taxes

t,960,082

3 l9.515
$ r,035,840 $ 3,486,438

Property taxes, levied for general purposes

Sales tar
lntangible ta,x

Business taxes

F'ranchise taxes

Other taxes

lnvestment eamings

Gain on disposal ofcapital assets

Transfers

Total general revenues and transfers

Change in net position
Nct position - beginning
Net position - ending

$ 6,078,077 6,078,077
(263,632) (263,632)
(29s,532) (295,s32)
5,s18,9t3 5,518.913

(25,027,796) 5,518,9 13 ( 19,508,883)

4.649,397

10,974,136
t79,79s

12,176,938
r 3,235,800

568.488
1,592,698

325,111
192,078
28.917 36.539

2.852

12,176,938
t -3,235,800

568.488
1,592.698

325,1tt
192_078

65,456

2,852
1,063

(1,998,089) 1,998.089

26,121.94t 2,037,480 28,159.42t 1,063

t,094,145 '7,556.393 8,650.538 50,097

82,770,303 71,054.607 t53,824,910 54.272

$ 83,864,448 $ 78,61 1,000 S 162,47s,448 $ 104,369

The accompmying notes ile m integral pat ofthese financial statements,
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Oconee County, Georgia
Balance Sheet

Governmental Funds

June 30,2016

Exhibit 3

Other Total
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds

General
Fund

SPLOST
2015

Fund

ASSETS
Cash (Note 2)
Investments (Note 2)

Accounts receivable, net

Taxes receivable, net

Internal balances (Note 4)

Due from other govemments

Prepaid items

Restricted cash (Note 2)
Total assets

$ 1,097,531
g,22g,ggg

182,452

175,068

501,465

1,367,933

2l 1,800

12,315

$ 12,778,553

$ 487,094

954,616
314,722

12,315

t,768,747

$ 2,503,557

567,924

$ 9,249,079

3.678,418
132,388

779

301,342

105,712

7,957

$ 12,850,r67
12,909,407

3 14,840

17 5,847

802,807

2,04t,569
219,757

12,315

$ 3,071,481 $ 13,475,675 $ 29,325,709

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Internal balances (Note 4)

Salaries and benefits payable

Bonds and deposits payable

from restricted cash

Total liabilities

Deferred inflows of resources:

Unavailable property taxes

Unavailable grant reimbursements

Total deferred inflows

Fund balances:

Nonspendable

Restricted

Capital projects

Judicial
Public safety

Culture and recreation

Housing and development
Committed

Public works
Assigned

Subsequent years' budget

Health and welfare
Housing and development

Unassigned

Total fund balances
Total liabilities, deferred

inflows, and fund balances

133,015 369,832

$ 133,015 151,567

186,293

31.972

$ 771,676

1,140,909

346,694

12,315

2.271,594

163,476

24,810
188,286

211,800

432,674

709 164,185

24,810
709 1 88,995

2,938,466

2,762,83s

662,000

6,7s2,2t1
10,821,520 2,938,466

s 12,778,553 $ 3,071,481

7,957

11,623,302

172,260

200,402
81 ,971

154,824

168,987

701,109

(5,678)

13,105,134

$ t3,47s,67s

2t9,757

14,994,442

17?,260

200,402
87,971

154,824

2,762,935

662,000
168,987

701,109

6,746.533
26,865,120

$ 29,3?5,709

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these hnancial statements
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Exhibit 3.1

Oconee County, Georgia
Reconciliation ofthe Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

to the Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2016

Total.fund balances for govemmental funds (Exhibit 3) $ 26.865,120

Tolal net positior reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position is
different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and

therefore are not reported in the firnds Those assets consist of:
Capital assets not being deprecialed

Capital assets, net of depreciation
Total capital assets

Some ofthe County's taxes will be collected after year-end, but are not available
soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures, and therefore are

reported as unavailable property taxes in the funds.

Gralt reimbursements are recorded as revenue once the costs for the grant are

incurred under the accrual basis of accounting used on the Statement ofNet
Position. The reimbursements must be received in time to liquidate current
obligations to be considered available and reported as revenue in the funds.
This adjustment represents revenue not received in time to be considered available.

Deferred ontflows ofresources related to pensions represent unamortized differences between
actual and projected income and changes in assumptions that accounting standards require
be amortized into income over future periods. These deferrals do not constitute current
financial resources and are not reported in the funds.

Deferred inflows or resources related to pensions represent unamortized diflerences
between actuarial assumptions and actual experience. The defenls do not constitute cufient
financial obligations and are not reported in the funds.

The County's normal cost and amortized past service cost of other postemployment benefits
have exceeded the amounts that the County has paid toward providing these benefits.
The total amount ofthe actuarially determined cost ofthese benefits have exceeded
the amounts paid are reported as a liability in the Statement of Net Position.

Gains and losses on the refunding of debt issuances are amortized into income during the
shorter ofthe remaining life ofthe refunded debt or the life ofthe new debt issuance. The
unamortized loss is reported as a deferred outflow ofresources.

22,280.221

6s,638,98s

87.919.206

164,1 85

24,810

1,530,9-55

(72,294)

(58,453)

660.969

Long-term liabilities applicable to the County's governmental activities are not
due and payable in flre current period and accordingly are not fund liabilities.
Interest on long-term debt is not accrued in governmental funds, but rather is
recognized as an expenditure when due. All liabilities - both curreirt and long-term -
are reported in the Statement ofNet Position. Balances at year-end are:

Accrued interest $ (301,098)
Bonds, notes. and capital leases payable (24,004,033)
Ne1 pension liability (8,145,326)
Compensated absences - long-temr (719,588)

Total long-term liabilities (33,170,050)

Total net position of govemmental activities (Exhibit l) $ 83,364,448

The accompmying notes ue a integral part of these fnacial statments
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Oconee County, Georgia
Statement ofRevenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances

Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

Exhibit 4

Other Total
Governmental Governmental

Funds Funds
General

Fund

SPLOST
20r5
Pund

REVENUES
Taxes

Licenses aud permits

Intergovemmental revenue

Charges for sen,ices
Fines and forfeitures

Investment income

Contributions and donations
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General govemment

Judicial
Public safety

Public v''orks

Health and welfare

Culture and recreation

Housing and development
Debt service:

Principal paynents
lnterest and fiscal charges

Debt issuance costs

Capital outlay:

General government

Public safety
Public works

Culture and recreation
I'Iousing and development

Intergovernmental
Total expenditures

Excess (defi ciency) of revenues over/
(under) expenditures

oTHER FTNANCTNG SOURCES (USES)

Proceeds from long-term debt
Proceeds from sale ofcapital assets
'I'ransfers in
Transfers (out)

'fotal other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

Fund balances - beginning
Fund balances - ending

$ 21,005,700

746,715
1,236,635
2,486.982

326,433
27,288

2,429
143,786

$ 5.110,857 $ 1,801,698

446,513
1,067,r25

69,495
I 6,1 43

163,631

25,411

3,590,016

5,453

359,28'7

1,602.03 I
236,532
488.722

3 8.1 98

t'78.277

163.998

491.578

85,000

77,444
83,050

3 15,806

47,614

80, I 73

233,834
4.486,99'7

(896,981)

$ 27,918,2ss
'146,715

1,683. I 48

3,554,107
395,928

43,915

166,060

169,197

34,677.325

5,110,744
2,062,285

8,776,291
4,074,328

'737,845

3,069,944

1.489,346

1,032,516

679,661

85,000

129,391
1.052,055

770,010

95,732

80, I 73

949,865

30, 1 95,1 86

4,482,139

484

25.975,968

5.105,291

1,702,998

7 ,l'7 4,260

3,837,796
249,123

3,031,746
l ,3 l 1,069

415,000
22,981

22,850,264

3,125,704

64-193

82.500
(2,t69,62s)
(2,022,932)

1,102,772

9,718,748

5,I I 1,341

453.518
165,t02

51.94',1

969.005

454,204
48,1 1 8

716,031
2,857,925

2,253,416

685,050

685,050

2,938.466

4,329,141 5,014,191

- 64,193
1,682,458 1,764,958
(1,s93,422) (3,763,04'7)

4,418,177 3,080,295

3,52r,196 7,562,434

19.302,686- 9,583,938
$ 10,821,520 S 2,938,466 $ r3,r05,134 $ 26,865,120

The accompmying notes are m integral part ofthese financial statements

5



Exhibit 4.1

Page I
Oconee County, Georgia

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances ofGovernmental Funds

to the Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,2016

Net change infund balances - total govemmental funds (Exhibit 4)

The change in nel position reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities is
different because:

Govemmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However. in the
Statement of Activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which
capital outlay ($2,638,360) is exceeded by depreciation ($5,043,420) in tlre current period.

In the Statement of Activities, only the gain or loss on ttre sale/disposal of capital assets is
reported. However, in the governmental funds, the proceeds from the sale increase
financial resources. Thus, the change in net position differs from the change in fund
balance by the cost ofthe capital assets sold/disposed (net ofaccumulated depreciation).

Pension expenditures represent contributions to the pension plan made during the fiscal year
and are reported in the funds. Pension expense represents the change in the net pension liability
and any amortization of differences in projected and actual eamings, changes in assumptions,
changes in benefits or differences between expected and actual experience. The statement of
activities reports pension expense. These figures differ by:

s 7.562.434

(2.405,060)

(1s2,417\

29,022

Under the full accrual method, postemployment benefits expenses are recorded as the benefits
are earned. These benefits are recognized as expenditures in the funds as they become a claim on
current financial resources. The County accrued the increase in the OPEB obligation
which represents the difference between the actuarially determined OPEB costs and the current
payment offinancial resources. (180,462)

Governmental funds do not recognize all tax revenues not collected within 60 days of year end.

However, the Statement of Activities uses the accrual basis and. thus, the entire
amount is recognized as revenue, regardless ofthe collection date. This is the net difference
in revenue between the accrual basis used in the govemment-wide statements and the
modified accrual basis used in the funds. 09,220)

Govemmental funds do not recognize certain other revenues not collected rvithin 60 days of
year end. However, the Statement of Activities uses the accrual basis, and, thus, the
entire amount is recognized as revenue, regardless ofthe collection date. This is the
net difference in revenue between the accrual basis used in the govemment-vvide
statements and the modified accrual basis used in the funds. (27,792)

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese financial statements
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Exhibit 4.1

Page2
Oconee County, Georgia

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,

Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances ofGovernmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,2016

Contribulions ofassets that do not constitute financial resources are not reported as revenue

in the funds, but are reported as capital grants and contributions in the govemment-lvide

Statement ofActivities because this statement reports revenue on the full accrual basis.

This adjustment represents the estimated fair market value of assets contributed to the Counry-. 381,795

Loan proceeds are reported as financing sources in governmental funds and thus

contribute to the change in fund balance. In the Statement of Net Position. however,
issuing debt increases long-term liabilities and does not affect the Statement ofNet Position (5,014,191)

Repayment of principal is an expenditure in the govemmental funds but
reduces the liability in the Statement of Net Position. Also, govemmental funds

report the effect of premiums, discounts and similar items when debt is

first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the Statement of
Activities. Additionally, interest on long-term debt is not accrued in govemmental funds.

but rather is recognized as an expenditure when due. The amounts of the items that comprise

these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items are:

Principal repayment
Accrued interest on debt

Amortization of deferred amount on bord refunding

Amortization of bond premiums and discounts

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the govemmental funds,

expenditures are not recognized for transactions that are not normally paid with
expendable available financial resources. In the Statement ofActivities,
however, which is presented on the accrual basis, expenses and liabilities are

reported regardless ofwhen financial resources are available. This adjustment
combines the net change ofthe compensated absences account.

Change in net position of govemmental activities (Exhibit 2)

1,032,516
(16,271)
(38,88 l )
19,879

997,243

(77,207)

$ 1,094.145

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese financial statements
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Exhibit 5

Ocorree County, Georgia
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
June 30,2016

Enterprise Funds
Water and

Server

Fund

Other
Enterprise

Funds TotalASSETS

Current assets:

Cash (Note 2)
Investments. plus accrued interest (Note 2)
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $61.904
Intemal balances (Note 4)
Due from other govemments

Prepaid items

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:

Restricted cash (Note 2)
Restricted investments (Note 2)
lnvestment - UOBWA, net (Note 5)

Capital assets (Note 3)

Capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation

Total capital assets

Total noncurrent assets

DEF'ERRED OUTF'LOWS OF RESOTIRCES
Deferred amount on debt refunding
Deferred outflorv related to pensions (Note 9)

Total deferred outflows

Total assets and deferred outflows

LIABTLITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accounts payable-consfuction from resficted investmerts
Retainage payable

Intemal balanoes (Note 4)
Salaries and benefits payable

Accrued interest

Customer deposits-payable from restricted cash

Bonds, notes and contracts payable (Note 7)
Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities :

Bonds, notes and contracts payable, net (Note 7)
Net pension liability (Note 9)
Compensated absences (Note 7)

Total noncurrent liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOLIRCES
Deferred inflow related to pensions (Note 9)

Total liabilities and deferred inflows

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets

Restricted for debt service
Unrestricted

Total net position

40,464,968 361,675 40,826,643

7 ,203 |,441 8,644

$ 7,600,32s

4.t26,392
97 r,705
57,6t0

144,291

I 0,s99

12,9t0,922

1,910.3 86

2,847,830
9,572,410

35.050,538

5'7,087,733

92,t38,27t
l 06,468.897

t,910,644
1 52,1 90

2,062,834

t21,442.653

4,815

664,774

3,475

673,602

I 5 0.000

1,588,5 l6
1,738,5 l6
1,738.5 I 6

3t,602
31,602

2,443.720

xi 7.600.863

4,126,392
976,520
722,384

t44,29t
14,074

13.s84.524

1,910,386

2,847,830
9,572,410

35,200,538

58,676,249

93,876,787

108,207,413

1,910,644

t83,792
2,094,436

r23,886,173

538

520,192

21,200

73,181

384,282

37,s36
491,7 5l
782,404

2,067,714

4,378,260

39,732,171

662,9s7

69.840

47.357

14.469

6r,826

337.346

24,329

567,549

21,200

73,18 1

384.282
s2,00s

491,751

782,404
2.067.714
4,440,086

39,732,171

1,000,303

94,t69

4s,275,373

60,346,808

3,042,943

42494244,850.431

58,608,292

3,042,943

The accompmfng notes ae m integral pat of these finmcial statments
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Exhibit 6

Oconee County, Georgia
Statement ofRevenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,2016

Bnterprise Funds
Water and Other

Sewer Enterprise
Fund Funds Total

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services

Licenses and permits

Rents and royalties
Miscellaneous

Total operating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and benefits

Other contracted sen'ices

Water purchase and treatment costs

Supplies and materials

Repairs and maintenance

utilities
Insurance

Depreciation
Other charges

Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPEN SES)

Investrnent eamings

Gain on disposal ofassets

Water avail abil ity fees

Sewer capacity fees

Sewer connection fees

Amortization expense - UOBWA
Interest expense

Total nonoperating revenue

lncome (loss) before contributions and transfers

Capital contributions
Transfers in

Change in net position

Total net position - beginning
Total net position - ending

903,799 6,967.934

2,623,199 (559,164) 2,064,03s

$ 8,41s,r 12

)1) )))

$ 236,s89

7,500

100,069

477

8,651,701

7,500

l 00,069

272,699

9,031,969

1,869,270

383,s41

1,58 1,7 r 5

tt3,l42
590,965

443,574

18,232

1,830,422

137,073

8,687,334

1,135,654

149,'7 44

1,581,715

75,820

564,294

382,047

8,721

1,756,086

1 10,054

6.064,r35

36,539

2,852
t,072,460
t,076,642

137,700
( 1 5 1,654)

(640.352)

1,534,187

4.1s7,386

1,960,082

1,438,348

7,555,816

69,036.406
g 76,592,222

344,635

433,616

233,797

71 1))
26,671

6r,527
9.51 1

74,336

27,019

(5s9,164)

559.74r

36,539

2,8s2
1,072,460

t.076,642
137,700

(15 1,654)

(640,352)
1.s34, l 87

3,598,222

r,960,082

1,998,089

577 7,556,393

2.018.201

$ 2,018,778
7 |,054,607

$ 78,611,000

The accompmying notes il€ m iDtegral part olthere finacial statmmts
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Exhihit 7

0conee County. Georgia
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,2016

Enterprise Funds
Water and

Sewer
[und

Other
Enterprise

Funds Total
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTTVITIES
Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees

Net oash provided (used) by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCT.NG
Transfers in
Interfund loans - proceeds and collections

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FTNANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition and construction of capital assets

Proceeds from issuance ofdebt
Principal payments on debt

Interest payments on debt
Sewer capacity and connection fees from customers

Proceeds from sale ofcapital assets

$ 8,653,408

(2,57s,014)
( 1,440,789)

4.637,605

ACTIVITIES
r,438,348

219,362

t,657,7t0

$ 2.623,199

1,756,086

(122,393)

11.342)
(s6,043)

354,766

12.507

88,46'7

(14,7s1)
( I 34,859)
l3 1,968

$ 4,637,60s

$ 348,123 Xi 9,001,53r
(430,444) (3,005,4s8)
(435.808) (1.876,s97)
(518,129) 4,rt9,476

s06.928 r,945,276
219,362

2.164,638

(3,368,356)

338,867
( 1,988,483)
(1.ss2,992)
2,286,802

2,852

(4,281,3 r 0)

506.928

21,'71'.7

800,857

822,574

2,825,378

6.685,871

$ 9,511,249

$ 7,600,863
1,910,3 86

$ 9,5t1,249

2,064.035

1,830,422

( l 1 8,904)
159

(56,043)

3 18,668

t2.960
88,467

( 16,8 r 9)
(16 1,834)

(1 1,20r )

t1.739
$ s38

$ 538

$ 538

$ (559,164)

74,336

3,489
1,501

(36,098)

453

(2,068)
(26,97s)
26.397

$ (518,129) $ 4,119,476

Net cash used for capital and related financing activities

CASH FLOWS }'ROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest ald dividends
Proceeds fiom sale ofinvestments

Ne1 cash provided by investing acrivities

Net change in cash

Cash - beginning
Cash - end

Displayed as:

Cash

Restricted cash - noncurrent

Reconciliation ofoperating income (loss) to net cash provided
(used) by operating activities:

Operating income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:

Depreciation expense

Change in assets, liabilities and deferred amounts:

Receivables, net

Prepaid items
Due from other govemments
Aooounts payable

Accrued expenses

Customer deposits

Compensated absences

Net change in pension deferrals
Net pension liabitity

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities

Non-cash investing, capital and financing activities:
Discount on GEFA note

Contribution of water system assets
$ 66.742

1,893,340

$ 66,742 $

r,893.340

The accompaying notes {e o integral pan of these fmmcial statements
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Exhibit 8

Oconee County, Georgia
Statement of Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities

Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2016

s 546,912
546,912

546,912
546,912

$-

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofthese financial statements.

ll

Agency
tr'undsASSETS

Cash

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Due to others

Total liabilities
NET POSITION



Notes to Financial Statements



Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30,2016

Note l: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A. Reporting Entity

Oconee County was incolporated under the laws of the State of Georgia in I 875. The County is govemed by a five-member Board
of Commissioners. Each commissioner is elected to a four-year term. The Chairman serves as the full-time Chief Executive
Officer and the other four commissioners senr'e on a part-time basis. The Chairman is responsible for the daily operations of the
County.

The financial statements of Oconee County, Georgia (the County) have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.

In confornrity with generally accepted accounting principles, as set forth in GASB Statement No. 14, The l-inancial Reporting
Entity, as amended by GASB Statement No. 61, the financial statements of the reporting entity include those of Oconee County
(the primary government) and its component units. The County implemented the guidance of GASB Statement No. 6l Ifte
Financial Reporting Enlily: Omnibus, which amends some of the provisions of Statement 14, as of July 7,2012. The criteria for
including organizations as component units within the County's reporting entity, as set forth in Section 2100 of GASB's

, include whether:

* the organization is legally separate (can sue and be sued in its own name)
* the County holds the corporate powers ofthe organization
* the County appoints a voting majority of the organization's board
* the County is able to impose its will on the organization
x the organization has the potential to impose a financial benefit/burden on the County
* there is fiscal dependency by the organization on the County

Discretely Presented Componenl Units - The component unit columns in the govemment-wide financial statements include the
financial data of the County's component units. They are included because, if excluded, the County's financial statements would
be misleading. They are reported in separate colurnns in the govemment-wide financial statements to emphasize their legal
separation from the County. The following component units are included in the statements:

Oconee County Health Department - The Health Department was created by state legislative act in 1964 to provide various health
related progrtrms such as immunization, family planning, and nutrition services. lt operates under an Executive Offrcer and a

seven member board comprised of the following: the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners, the Oconee County School
Superintendent, and the Mayor of the City of Watkinsville, three at-large members appointed by the County, and one at-large
member appointed by the City of Watkinsville. Because the County appoints a majority of the Health Department's board and
provides funding in support of the Health Department, it is reported as discretely presented component unit of the County.

The County made appropriations to the Health Department totaling $90,750 during the year.

The Health Department issues its own financial statements and it has a June 30 fiscal year end. Complete financial statements of
the individual component units can be obtained from its administrative offices at:

Oconee County Health Department
160 Experiment Station Road
Post Office Box222
Watkinsville, Georgia 30677

Blended Component Units - Based on the GASB criteria, the Oconee County Industrial Development Authority (OCIDA) qualifies
as a blended component unit.
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Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the tr'inancial Statements

June 30,2016

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

Oconee Countv Industrial Development Authority - The financial operations of OCIDA are presented in its stand-alone statements
as governmental activities. The five voting members of the OCIDA include the Chairman of the Board of Commissioners, the
President of the Oconee County Chamber of Commerce, the Mayor of the City of Watkinsville, and two at-large members
appointed by the County Board of Commissioners. Substantially all of the financial operations of the Authority are subject to the
prior approval of the Board of Commissioners. The OCIDA issued bonds which are payable only from payments by Oconee
County pursuant to an intergovemmental agreement. Because substantially all of the debt of the OCIDA will be paid by resources
of the County, the OCIDA is reported as a blended component unit.

The OCIDA issues its own financial staternents and has a June 30 year end. Complete financial staternents of the OCIDA can be
obtained from its administrative offices at:

Oconee County lndustrial Development Authority
Post Office Box 145
Watkinsvi I le, Georgia 3067 7

B. Basis of Presentation, Basis of Accounting

Basis ofPresentation

Government-wide Statemenls: The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the primary
government (the County) and its conrponent units. These statenrents include the financial activities of the overall govemment,
except for fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double-counting of internal activities. These
statements distinguish between the governmental and business-type activities of the County. Governmental activities generally are
financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues and other nonexchange transactions. Business-type activities are financed in
whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.

The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for the different business-type
activities of the County and for each function of the County's govemmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are
specifically associated with a program or function and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. Indirect expense
allocations that have been made in the funds have been reversed for the statement of activities. Program revenues include (a) fees,
fines and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and (b) grants and contributions that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not classified as program
revenues, including all taxes, are presented as general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements: The fund financial statements provide information about the County's funds, including its fiduciary
funds. Separate statements for each fund category - governmental, proprietary andfi&rciary - are presented. The emphasis of
fund financial statements is on major govemmental and enterprise funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining
govemmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds.

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and expenses
generally result front providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal
ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the enterprise fund are charges to customers for sales and services.
Operating expenses for the enterprise fund include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on
capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are repofted as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

The County reports the following major govemmental funds:

General Fund- This is the County's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general government,
except those required to be accounted for in another fund.

SPLOST 2015 - This is a capital projects fund established to account for all special local option sales tax revenues collected as a
result of the County's 2015 SPLOST referendum as well as the specifically identified projects for which the SPLOST tax was
established.
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Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30,2016

Note l: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

The County repofts the following major enterprise fund:

ll/aler and Sev,er Fund - This fund accounts for the operation, maintenance and development of the County's water and sewer
system.

The County reports the following fiduciary fund type:

Agency F-unds - These funds account for monies held by the County in a trustee capacity or as an agent on behalf of individuals,
private organizations, other governments and/or other funds. Following are the agency funds of the County at year-end: Tax
Comnrissioner, Sheriff, Superior Court, Probate Court, Magistrate Court and Juvenile Court.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting

Government-wide, Proprietary and Fiduciary Fund Financial Statemenls - The government-wide, proprietary and fiduciary fund
financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus. The governmental activities in the
government-wide financial statements and the proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the accrual
basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when eamed and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless
of when the related cash flows take place. Nonexchange transactions, in which the County gives (or receives) value without
directly receiving (or giving) equal value in exchange, include property taxes, grants, entitlements, and donations. On an accrual
basis, revenue from property taxes is recognized in the fiscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue from grants,
entitlements and donations is recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements - Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and tlre modified accrual basis of accounting. Underthis method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available.
The County considers all revenues reported in the governmental funds to be wailable if the revenues are collected within sixty
days after year-end. Property taxes, sales taxes, franchise taxes, licenses and interest are considered to be susceptible to accrual.
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term debt,
claims and judgments and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have matured. General
capital assetacquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds ofgeneral long-term debt and acquisitions
under capital leases are reported as other financing sources.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the govemment's policy to use restricted resources first,
then unrestricted resources, as they are needed.

C. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting

The County follows these procedures in establishing budgetary data reflected in the financial statements:

l. Prior to the May Commissioners' meeting, department heads nrust subrnit their requests for budgets for the coming
year.

2. The Board of Commissioners meets with each deparlment head to discuss their requests and make necessary
adjustments.

3. The revised requests are reviewed at the May Commissioners' meeting.

4. The final budget is approved at the June Commissioners' meeting.

5. Departmenl heads may make lateral changes to the budget within their department. Any increase in total
departmental budgets, however, must be approved by the Board of Cornmissioners.

t4



Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30,2016

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

6. The budget is prepared and adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles, but is
adopted at the department level and presented as such in the financials. A reconciliation from the department level to
current expenditures, debt service expenditures and transfers out is provided. An annual budget is adopted for the
General Fund, Special Revenue Funds and Capital Projects Funds. An operating budget is prepared for each
Enterprise Fund for planning, control, cost allocation, and evaluation purposes. Budgetary amounts are not formally
integrated into the Enterprise Fund general ledgers.

D. Encumbrances

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders, contracts, and other commitments for the expenditure of money are
recorded in order to reserve that portion of the applicable appropriation, is used by the County. There were no outstanding
encumbrances at year-end.

E. Deposits and Investments

Cash colrsists of demarrd and interest-bearing deposits held in banks. Allbank deposits must be collateralized by an amount equal
to ll0oh of uninsured deposits of the State of Georgia or U.S. obligations or direct loans to the County. General Fund cash
balances in excess of amounts required for the County's daily operating activities were invested in either the State of Georgia
Local Government Investment Pool or Certificates of Deposit during the fiscal year.

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with original
maturities of thirty days or less.

Investments that represent certificates of deposits with an original maturity greater than 90 days are recorded at cost plus accrued
interest, which approximates market value. Investments with quoted market prices, such as obligations of the federal government,
are reported at the quoted market price.

F. Receivables and Payables

All trade and properry tax receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectibles, when material. Water and Sewer Fund
allowances for uncollectible accounts, netted with accounts receivable, were $61,904 as ofyear-end.

G. Property Tax Calendar

Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as ofJanuary l. The County bills and collects its own property taxes as
well as the taxes for the County School District and several cities within the Counfy. County property tax revenues are recognized
when levied to the extent that they result in current receivables.

Property taxes were levied on September 3, 2015. The collection period for property taxes was September 15, 2Ol5 through
November 15, 2015. Taxes receivable at June 30,2016 amounted to $175,847 while unavailable property taxes totaled $164,185.

H. Prepaid Items

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items.
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Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the -Financial Statements

June 30,2016

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

L Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment and infrastructure assets (roads, bridges, sidewalks and similar items), are

reporled in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the govenrment-wide financial statements.
Property, plant and equipment with initial, individual costs that equal or exceed $5,000 are recorded as capital assets. Capital
assets are recorded at cost or estinrated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at their
estimated fair value atthe date of donation. The cost of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or
materially extend assets' lives are not capitalized.

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Interest incurred during the
construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities, net of related interest earned, is included as part of the capitalized
value of the assets constructed.

Properly, plant and equipment of the primary govemment, as well as the component units, is depreciated using the straight-line
method over the following estimated useful lives:

Asset Class

Infrastructure
Building and improvements
Water and sewer distribution system
Vehicles
Fumiture, fixtures and equipment

Estimated
Useful Lives

r 5-50
l0-s0
20-50
4-20
5- l0

Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 34, the County has retroactively identified all infrastructure assets placed in service prior to July
1,2002 and has recorded those assets which fall within the County's capitalization policy.

J. Accumulated Unpaid Vacation, Sick Pay, and Other Employee Benefit Amounts

The liability for compensated absences reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund statements consists of unpaid,
accumulated annual vacation and comp time balances. The liability has been calculated using the vesting method, in which leave
amounts for employees who currently are eligible to receive termination payments as well as other employees who are expected to
become eligible in the future to receive such payments upon termination are included. ln accordance with the provisions of GASB
Statement 16, conceming Accounting for Compensated Absences, no liability is recorded for nonvesting accumulating riglrts to
receive sick pay benefits. Compensated absence balances related to governmental activities are liquidated through the General
Fund.

IC Restricted Assets

Restricted assets consist of restricted cash and investments. These resources have been set aside for customer deposits, debt
service reserves for the water and sewerage revenue bonds, construction of the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir, and the repayment of
the contract payable with WCWSA.
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Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30,2016

Note 1: Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, continued

L. Fund Equity

The governmental funds report the following five categories of fund balance: Nonspendable, Restricted, Committed, Assigned,
and Unassigned.

Nonspendable - amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in nonspendable form or because they are legally or
contractually required to be rnaintained intact.

Restricted - amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because ofconstitutional provisions or enabling legislation or
because ofconstraints that are extemally iurposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or the laws or regulations ofother
governments.

Committed - amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal action of Board of Commissioners.
Oconee County Board of Commissioners is the highest level of decision-making authority for the County. Comrnitments may be
established, modified, or rescinded only through ordinances or resolutions approved by Oconee County Board of Cornmissioners.

Assigned - amounts that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed but that are intended to be used for
specific purposes. Through board action, the Board of Commissioners has authorized the Finance Director to assign fund
balances.

Unassigned - all other spendable amounts.

When an expenditure is incuned for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance or net position is available,
the County considers restricted funds to have been spent first. When an expenditure is incurred for which committed, assigned, or
unassigned fund balances are available, the County considers arnounts to have been spent first out ofcolnmitted funds, then
assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds, as needed, unless the County has provided otherwise in its commitment or
assignment actions.

Note 2: Deposits and Investments

Deposits

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the government's deposits may not be returned to it. The
County's policy regarding custodial credit risk is to comply with the state law requiring collateralization of uninsured deposits up
to ll0o/o of the value of the deposits. As of June 30,2016, none of the County's deposits was exposed to custodial credit risk.

Restricted Cash

At year-end, the County had the following restricted cash:

Purpose

General Fund
Liability bonds payable

Water and Sewer Fund
Debt service reserve 2009 bonds
Debt service reserve 2012 bonds
Construction proceeds - WCWSA 2012 GEFA
Customer deposits

Restricted cash - noncurrent

Balance

$ 12,315

760,114
300, I 34

73,181
776,957

t7
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Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30,2016

Note 2: Deposits and Investments, continued

Investments

Credit Risk

Georgia law authorizes local govemments to invest in the following types of obligations:

Obligations of the State of Georgia or any other states;
Obligations issued by the United States;
Obligations fully insured or guaranteed by the United States government or governmental agency;
Obligations of any corporation of the United States Government;
Prime bankers' acceptances;
The State of Georgia Local Govemment Investment Pool;
Repurchase agreements; and
Obligations of other political subdivisions of the State of Georgia.

The County has no investment policy that would further limit its investment choices. As of June 30, 2016, the County had
$17,941,627 invested in Georgia Fund 1. Georgia Fund 1, created by O.C.G.A. 36-83-8, is a stable net asset value investment pool
which follows Standard and Poor's criteria for AAAm rated money market funds. However, Georgia Fund I operates in a manner
consistent with Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940, but is not considered to be a2a-7 like pool. The pool is not
registered with the SEC as an investment company. The pool is managed by the Office of the State Treasurer. Its primary
objectives are safety of capital, investment income, liquidity and diversification while maintaining principal ($1.00 per share
value). Net asset value is calculated weekly to ensure stability. The pool distributes earnings (net of management fees) on a
monthly basis and detennines participant's shares sold and redeemed based on $1.00 per share.

lnterest Rate Risk

The County does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair
value losses arising from increasing interest rates.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The County places no limit on the amount the County may invest in any one issuer. GASB Statement No. 40 requires disclosure
when the percent is 57o or more in any one issuer. The County had no investments that met this requirement at year-end.

f,'oreign Currency Risk

The County is not exposed to foreign currency risks as all deposits and investments are denominated in US dollars.
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Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30,2016

Note 2: Deposits and Investments, continued

At year-end, the County had the following investments:

Credit RiskType of Investment
Unrestricted:
Water and Sewer Fund
Georgia Fund 1

Certificates of deposit

General Fund
Georgia Fund I

SPLOST 2004 Fund
Georgia Fund I

Restricted:
Water and Sewer Fund
Georgia Fund I
Fidelity Treasury Money Market Shares

Weighted Average
Maturities Balance

AAAf

AAAf

AAAf
Total unrestricted

42 days

l2 month

42 days

42 days

AAAf 42 days

AAAm 53 days

Total restricted
Total investments

2,r 88,655

1.937.737

4,126,392

9,229,989

3,678,418
17,034,799

2,844,565
3,265

2,847,830
$ 19,882,629

The maturities of the County's investments in Georgia Fund 1 and the Fidelity Treasury Money Market Shares is calculated based
on a weighted average maturity of the investrnents held in the respective funds.

Level I Level2 Level 3 Fair value
Investments measured at fair value:

Georgia Fund I $ 17,941,627

The County's investment in Georgia Fund I is not classified within the fair value hierarchy because it represents an external
investment pool for which fair value is measured using a fair value per share methodology. The certificates of deposit are not
negotiable or transferrable, so they meet the definition of a "nonparticipating interest eaming investment contract" and are
measured at cost in accordance with GASB Statement No.31. The Fidelity Treasury Money Market Shares is a money market
investment having a remaining maturity of one year or less and are reported at amortized cost in accordance with GASB 3 I .

The source of the restricted investments held by the County's Water and Sewer Fund
is as follows:

Water and Sewer Fund
Construction proceeds 2008 WCWSA Contract Payable

Debt service reserve 2008 WCWSA Contract Payable
Sinking Fund 2008 WCWSA Contract Payable

Debt service reserye 2003 bonds

Sinking Fund 2015 WCWSA Contract Payable

Restricted investments - noncurrent

865,135

1,408,533

418,145
3,26s

152.752

t9
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Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2016

Note 2: Deposits and Investments, continued

Custodial Credit Risk-Investments

For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the County will not be able to
recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. All of the investments
held by the County are either insured or registered in the name of the County. The County has no policy on custodial credit risk for
investments.

Note 3: Capital Assets

Capitaf asset activity for the year ended June 30,2016 was as follows:

Primarv Government

Governmental activities:
Capital assets nol being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress

lntangibles
Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets being deprecialed:
Infrastructure
Buildings and improvements
Equipment, furniture and vehicles

Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Infrastructure
Buildings and improvements
Equipment, furniture and vehicles

Total accumulated depreciation
Total capital assets being depreciated, net

Govemmental activity capital assets, net

Beginning
Balances Increases Decreases

Ending
Balances

tt,'159,938
8,783,576

$$
1,278,832

I 13,400

$ l1,758,938
9,977,493

s43,800

1,000

84,925
430.400

20.973.9r4

109,273,054
43,785,104
14,906,151

167,964,309

74,212,436
13,049,600

11,581,299
98,843,335

69.120.974

$ 90,094,888

1,392,232

268,395
127,279

1,317 ,17 5

1,712,849

2,806,292
1,394,727

842,401
5,043,420

(3,330,s72)

$ (1,938,340)

85,925 22,280,221

355,702
174,967

530,669

109,541,449
43,556,680
16,048,359

169,146,488

77,018,728

14,240,042
12,248,733

103,507,503

204,285
174.967

379,252

t5t,4t7 65,638,985

$ 237,342 S 87,919,206

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:

General government
Judicial
Public safety

Public works
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation
Housing and development
Total governmental activities depreciation expense

Total interest cost incurred for governmental activities
was expensed.

was $679,661. All of the interest cost incuned for govemmental activities

$ 344,850

796
1,009,942
2,908,202

42,343
686,870

50,417

$ 5,043,420
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Note 3: Capital Assets, continued

Business-type Activities:

Water and Sewer Fund:
Capital assets rlot being depreciated:

Land
Construction in progress

Intangibles
Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated:

Treatrnent and distribution system
B uildings and improvements
Equipment, furniture and vehicles

Total capital assets being depreciated
Less accumulated depreciation for:

Treatment and distribution system
Buildings and improvements
Equipment, furniture and vehicles

Total accumulated depreciatiou
Capital assets being depreciated, net

Water and sewer capital assets, net

Total Non-major Business-type Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land
Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment, fumiture and vehicles

Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Land improvements
Buildings and improvements
Equipment, furniture and vehicles

Total accumulated depreci ation
Capital assets being depreciated, net

Total non-major business-type activities, net
Business-type activities capital assets, net

Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30,2016

Beginning
Balances Increases Decreases

Ending
Balances

$ 3,442,714
30,980,845

58,296

3,745,359

34,481,855 3,745,359 3,176,676 35,050,538

$-
3,176,676

$ 3,442,714
31,549,528

58,296

80,994,232

296,136
1,109,013

82,399,381

24,206,572
133,760

97r,316
25.311.648
57,087,733
92,138,271

75,903,764
296,136

1,056,778
77,256,678

22,515,972
124,201

9l 5,390

23,555,563
53,701, 1 t 5

88, I 82,970

5,090,468

s2,23s
5,142,703

1,690,600

9,559
5s,926

1,756,085

3,386,618

7,131,977 3,176,676

$ r 50,000

r 50,000

44,865
2,836,369

278,978
3,160,212

32,822

1.250,318

214,220
1,497,360
r,662,8s2
l,gl2,g52

$ 89,995,822

$ 150,000

150,000

44,865

2,836,369
27g,g7g

3,160,212

33,899
1,314,090

223,717
1,571,696
1,599,516

1,738,516

$ 93,876,787

1,077

63,762

9.497

$ 3,176,676

The Water and Sewer Fund incurred total interest cost of $1,514,658 of interest costs, of which $874,306 was capitalized and
$640,352 was expensed.
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Note 4: Interfund Balances and Activity

Interfund balances

Interfund balances at June 30,2016 consist ofthe following:

Due to:
Govemmental funds
General Fund

Non-major Gov't Funds

Enterorise funds
Water and Sewer Fund
Non-major Enterprise Funds

General Fund

Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the f inancial Statements

June 30,2016

Due from:
Water &

General Non-major Sewer

Fund Gov't Funds Fund Total

$ $ ll7,l83 $ 384,282 $ 501,46s
289,842 I I,500 - 301,342

- -57,610- 57,6t0
664,774 664,774

$ 954,616 $ 186,293 $ 384,282 $ 1,525,191

Interfund receivables and payables arise from interfund transactions and are recorded by all funds affected in the period in which
the transactions are executed or are the result of the General Fund maintaining the cash for another fund. Balances that are the
result of transactions between funds are the result of current transactions and will be settled within the next year. The General Fund
is the custodian for $269,520 of cash belonging to the Hotel/Motel Fund (a non-major governmental fund) will be settled when the
resources are expended by the Hotel/Motel Fund, which may be longer than one year from year-end.

The implementation of the pension accounting standard required the non-major enterprise funds to record significant net pension
liabilities. The General Fund reported a transfer and related interfund liability to these funds to cover the newly reported liabilities.
The General Fund will liquidate the interfund liability as payments on the pension liability become due. Principally all of these
liabilities will come due more than one year from year-end.

Transfers tolfrom Other F unds
Transfers in:

Nonmajor
General Nonmajor Water and Enterprise

Transfers Out: Fund Gov'tFunds SewerFund Funds Total
$ - $1,609,884 $ - $ 5s9,741 $2,169,62s

Non-major Gov't Funds 82,500 72,574 1,438,348 _ 1,593,422

$ 82,500 $ 1,682,458 $ t,439,349 $ 559,741 $ 3,763,047

The county's funds regularly make transfers into funds that are legally required to account for certain expenditures as well as to
facilitate the payment of certain expenditures that have multiple funding sources. Of the $82,500 in transfers from the nonmajor
governmental funds, $66,000 were to assist with debt service payments that were made from the General Fund.

The General Fund transferred out $1,609,884 to nonmajor gov't funds and $559,741 to nonmajor enterprise funds to assist in the
daily fund operations and to fund capital projects. Included in the transfers from the General Fund to the nonmajor gov't funds are
transfers to the E-9ll fund used to supplement the E-9ll system. The transfers to the nonmajor enterprise funds include a transfer
recorded as an intemal balance to offset the pension obligations recorded in those funds to ensure that those funds do not have a
negative net position.

The SPLOST 2009 Fund transfered $1,438,348 to the Water and Sewer Fund to assist with capital projects as was approved by
the voters in the 2009 SPLOST referendum.
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Note 5: Other Assets

Investment in Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority

The County, along rvith three other counties, is a member of the Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority (UOBWA). The purpose of
this venture was to construct a reservoir and water treatment plant that would provide water for the counties involved. Each
governnrent is responsible for a pro-rata share ofthe costs based on population.

In April 2015, the UOBWA issued $29.98 milliorr of Series 2015 Revenue Refunding Bonds. These bonds were issued to advance
refund the Series 2005 Water Revenue Refunding Bonds. ln March 2005, the UOBWA issued $48,155,000 of Water Revenue
Refunding Bonds, Series 2005. The proceeds of the bonds were used to advance refund the Series 1997 Bonds maturing in the
years 2009 and thereafter and to pay certain expenses incident to the issuance of the bonds. The County's share of the bond debt is
20.929%. An Investment in UOBWA and an offsetting Contract Payable were recorded in the Oconee County Water and Sewer
Fund to recognize this investment and obligation. The County is reducing the Contract Payable through rnonthly payments made
from the Water and Sewer Fund which are more fully described in Note 7.

The investrnent costs are amortized over the useful lives of the underlying assets of the investment. Approximately l0% of the
total investment costs represent the investment into the land,50o/o represent the investment into the reservoir, which has a useful
life of 100 years, and 407o represent the investment into the treatment plant, which has a useful life of 50 years.

Investment in UOBWA at year-end consisted of the following:

Initial cash costs $ 70,221
Contract payable for 20.959%o of revenue bond liability 11,787,064
Additional cash investments 41,250

I 1,898,535
Accumulated amortization (2,326,125)
lnvestment in UOBWA, net $ 9,572,410

Financial statements for the Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority can be obtained at the following address: Northeast Georgia
Regional Commission, 305 Research Drive, Athens, Georgia 30605-2795.

Note 6: Unavailable Grant Reimbursement

The County received a grant from the Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) to assist in funding the widening of Mars
Hill Road. One of the requirements for receiving reimbursement under that grant is that the grant reimbursements be of sufficient
size before they are submitted to the GDOT. The County accumulated $24,810 of unreimbursed cost as of June 30. Because the
reimbursement ofcosts incurred through June 30 was not received by the County soon enough to be considered "available", the
County did not report revenue under the modified accrual basis of accounting in the general fund. Revenue was reported in the
governmental activities on the statement of activities because there is no requirement that the funds be "available" under the
accrual basis of accounting.
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Note 7: Long-term Obligations

G oy er nmenl al A ctiv ili e s

Categories of Debt

General Obligation Bonds

In September 2011, the County issued $10,095,000 of Series 2011 Oconee County, Georgia General Obligation Bonds with
coupon rates ranging from I .5% lo 5 .5oh The proceeds were used to advance refund the then outstanding balance of $9,805,000 of
the Series 2003 Oconee County, Georgia General Obligation Bonds, whose proceeds were used to fund the creation of a new park.
Because the County irrevocably placed sufficient assets with atrustee, the remaining outstanding balance of the Series 2003 bonds
of $8,585,000 does not represent a liability of the County. The Series 201 I bonds were issued at a premiurn of $428,875. The
Series 2011 Bonds are being liquidated by the SPLOST 2009 Fund.

Contracts Payable - OCIDA

The Oconee County Industrial Development Authority (a blended component unit of the County) issued $10,380,000 of Series
2012 Revenue Bonds with coupon rates ranging from2%oto 4oh and $4,285,000 of Series 2016 Revenue Bonds with a coupon rate
of 2.38%o. The proceeds from the 2012 bonds were used to provide incentives for a large private employer to locate a factory
within the county. The proceeds from the 2016 bonds were used to finance the cost of constructing certain economic development
road projects of the County. Both bond issuances are repayable solely through the proceeds of intergovemmental contracts which
call fol the County to make all ofthe required debt service payments on the bonds. Pursuant to this contract, the County has agreed
to assess property taxes sufficient to make all of the required debt service payments provided that the necessary taxes will not
exceed one mill per dollar of assessed value. Because the County is unconditionally liable for the payment of the debt, a contract
payable for the entire present value of the debt is reponed on the Statement of Net Position. The General Fund will liquidate this
liability.

Capital Leases

On October 1,2015, the County entered into a $44,141 lease-purchase agreement for the purchase of net motion equipment. The
lease is for a period of sixty months at an interest rate of 4.304oh and will be liquidated by payments from the E-9ll Fund. The
assets received under the lease are depreciable under the County's capital asset depreciation policy and the resulting expense is
reported as a component ofdepreciation expense.

On July 7,2015, the County entered into a $201,538 lease-purchase agreement for the purchase oflnteract E-9ll CAD upgrade
equipment. The lease is for a period of thirty-six months at an interest rate of 2.082%o and will be liquidated by payments from the
SPLOST 2009 Fund. The lease is payable in three annual payments. The assets received under the lease are depreciable under the
County's capital asset depreciation policy and the resulting expense is reported as a component ofdepreciation expense.

OnJulyl,2015,theCountyenteredintoa$483,512 lease-purchaseagreementforthepurchaseofmobiledataterminals. The
fease is for a period of thirty-six months at an interest rate of 2.15%;o and will be liquidated by payments from the SPLOST 2015
Fund. The lease is payable in three annual payments. The assets received under the lease are depreciable under the County's
capital asset depreciation policy and the resulting expense is reported as a component ofdepreciation expense.

The assets recorded under capital leases and the related accumulated amortization are as follows:

Historical
Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Mobile Data Terminals
Interact Computer Aid Dispatch
Net Motion Licenses

483,512
201 ,53 8

44,141

$ 48,219

20,099
4,402

The County includes the amortization ofleased assets in its annual calculation ofdepreciation expense.
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Note 7: Long-term Obligations, continued

Conduit Debt

The Oconee County Industrial Development Authority (OCIDA), a blended component unit of the County, has issued several
industrial revenue bonds that were used to finance the cost of the acquisition, equipping and improvement of ceftain Iand and
buildings located in Oconee County, Georgia. The total amount of industrial revenue bonds outstanding at year end was
$19,858,057,madeupofthreeissues. TheAuthorityreceivesanannualadn.rinistrativefeeof$l0,000inconnectionwiththe
issuanceoftheSeries20l2Bonds. Thisfeeisreportedasotherincomeinthefinancialstatements.Althoughthisdebtbearsthe
name of the Oconee County Industrial Development Authority, the Authority has no obligation for such debt beyond the resources
provided by a lease or loan with the third party on whose behalf the debt was issued. Therefore, no liability has been reflected in
the financial statements for this debt.

Business-type Activilies

Revenue Bonds

Series 2003 Bonds

In July 2003, the County issued Series 2003 Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds in the amount of $9,375,000, with interest rates
ranging from I .35% to 4.5Yo. The proceeds of the issue have been used to purchase the land on which the LAS site is located (the
County was previously leasing this property), to refinance the GEFA loan, to pay the premium for a surety bond that will fund the
debt service reserve, to pay the premium for a municipal bond new issue insurance policy and to pay the costs of issuing the Series
2003 Bonds. The majority of the Series 2003 bonds were advance refunded by the County's issuance of the Series 2012 bonds. At
year-end, the Series 2003 Bonds had an outstanding balance of$100,000. Interest of4o/ois due semiannually on the outstanding
balance until September2024 when the outstanding interest and principal are due.

Series 2009 Bonds

In September 2009, the County issued $7,095,000 of its Series 2009 Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds with an average interest
cost of 3.18%. These bonds consist of serial bonds bearing various fixed rates ranging fiom2%oto 4%owith annual maturities from
September 20ll through September 2019. The net proceeds of $7,129,309 ($7,095,000 face value plus $227,288 issuance
premium less $192,980 in issuance costs) were used to complete a current refunding of the Series 1998 Water and Sewerage
Revenue Bonds. The refunding resulted in a difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the old debt
of$557,730 and is being charged to interest expense through the year 2020 using the straight-line method.

Series 2012 Bonds

During July 2012, the County issued $6,740,000 of Series 2012 Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Refunding Revenue
Bonds with coupon rates ranging from 2o/o to 5%o. The bonds were issued at a premium of S1,295,000 with issuance costs of
$177,500 which yielded net proceeds of$7,857,500. The proceeds ofthese bonds were used to advance refund $7,390,000 ofthe
remaining outstanding balance of the Series 2003 Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds. Dwing2012,
$7,390,000 of the Series 2003 Bonds were called and legally retired. As of year-end, the Series 2003 Water and Sewer Revenue
Bonds had an outstanding balance of $ 1 00,000 as noted above.

The refunding resulted in a difference between the reacquisition price and the net carying amount of the old debt of $557,730.
This was recorded as a deferred charge under the title "deferred amount on debt refunding" and is being amortized to interest
expense through the year 2020 using the straight-line method.
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Note 7: Long-term Obligations, continued

Contract Payable- UOBWA

In April20l5, the UOBWA issued atotalof $29,980,000 of its Series 2015 Revenue Refunding Bonds (Series 2015 Bonds) which
advance refunded the Series 2005 Bonds and provided additional working capital for UOBWA. The County signed an
intergovernmental agreement which requires the County to make monthly interest and principal payments to UOBWA for its
20.959% share of the interest and principal payments due under the Series 2015 Bonds. The original principal of the County's
share payable under this agreement is $6,283,508. The monthly principal payments will range from $37,115 to $53,620 and the
interest payments will accrue at a weighted average yield of 2.06%o.

The County's share of the difference befween UOBWA's carrying value of the Series 2005 bonds as of the refunding date and the
issuance price of the Series 2015 Bonds was $352,272 and is included in the amount entitled "deferred anrount on debt refunding"
on the Water and Sewer statement of net position. This amount will be amortized to interest expense over the life of the Series
20 15 Bonds.

Contracts Payable - WCWSA

In October 2007, Oconee County entered into an Intergovernmental Contract-Reservoir Project with Walton County and the
Walton County Water and Sewerage Authority (WCWSA). This contract indicated that WCWSA would issue the Walton County
Water and Sewerage Authority Revenue Bonds (Oconee-Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project), Series 2008 totaling $19,535,000.
The proceeds from the Series 2008 Bonds will be used by the Authority for the purpose of financing or refinancing all or a portion
of the cost of acquiring, constructing, installing and equipping a reservoir and related treatment and transmission facilities, paying
capitalized interest on the Series 2008 Bonds, funding a debt service reserye and paying the costs ofissuing the Series 2008 Bonds.
The Series 2008 Bonds carry a coupon rate, payable semi-annually, ranging from 4-5%. Principal on the Series 2008 Bonds is due
in amounts ranging from $470,000 to $1,335,000 between 2015 and 2038.

Under the terms of the Contract, the County has agreed to pay the Authority amounts sufficient to pay the debt service on the
Series 2008 Bonds. The County intends to make the Contract Payments with moneys derived from its water and sewerage system.
However, the County System Revenues have not been pledged as security for the Contract Payments or the Series 2008 Bonds. In
the event that the County System Revenues are insufficient to make the Contract Payments, the County has agreed to levy an ad
valorem property tax, unlimited as to rate or amount, on all properfy in the County subject to taxation for such purposes in order to
make the Contract Payments. The County will make monthly payments over to the Authority that total the amount of the semi-
annual payments due under the bonds. The contract matures on February 1,2038.

During July 2015, the WCWSA completed a partial advance refunding for $8,140,000 of the Series 2008 Bonds by issuing
$8,425,000 of its Series 2015. The County signed an intergovernmental contract for these bonds that is substantially the same as

the one related to the Series 2008 Bonds. Immediately afterthe refunding, $10,925,000 of the Series 2008 Bonds were outstanding
that were not affected by the refunding. The refunded portion of the Series 2008 bonds had a carrying value as of the refunding
date of $8,283,913 and reacquisition price of the refunded bonds was $9,397,590. This resulted in a deferred charge of $l,l13,677
that will be amortized to interest expense over the life of the Series 2015 Bonds.

The payments required to liquidate the contract payable related to the refunded portion of the Series 2008 Bonds was $14,888,750
and the payments required to liquidate the contract payable related to the newly issued Series 2015 Bonds is $13,893,177. This is a
reduction of$995,573. The economic gain on refunding, calculated by discounting the cash flow savings using the average yield of
the Series 2015 Bonds, is $757,832. The $8.14 million of refunded Series 2008 Bonds are considered to be defeased because the
County has inevocably transferred to a trustee an amount adequate to completely retire the $8.14 million of refunded bonds. Since
the refunded bonds have been defeased, they are no longer accounted for as an obligation ofthe County even though all ofthe
refunded bonds were still legally outstanding at year-end.
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Note 7: Long-term Obligations, continued

Notes Payable - GEFA

The Walton County Water and Sewer Authority entered into a note payable with the Georgia Environmental Finance Authority
(GEFA) during 2013. Oconee County is obligated to pay 28.8o/o of the amounts payable under that note pursuant to the
intergovemmental agreement that establishes the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project (HLC). The note allows for up to
$20,000,000 of borrowing, of which the County's share would be $5,760,000. At year-end, the entire note balance had been drawn
and was outstanding. The note calls for no interest to be paid during the construction period, which continues until August 2016.
During the repayment period, annual interest only payrnents at 7o/o interest will be made. All remaining outstanding interest and
the outstanding principal will be paid in one payment on December 31.2052

During July 2014, WCWSA entered into a second note payable with GEFA which allows for $12,000,000 of bonowing, of which
the County's share would be $3,456,000. At year-end, WCWSA had drawn $7,344,067 on the note and the County's share was
$2,115,091. All of the money drawn during the year was still outstanding at year-end. The note calls for no interest to be paid
during the construction period, which could continue until January 2018. From that date, the County will make 60 monthly interest
only payments with interest accruing at2%o. Afterward, the County will make equal 419 monthly principal and interest payments
of an amount sufficient to pay the interest accruing at2o/o and, all principal due under the note. Based on curent borrowings, these
monthly payments would be $7,018.

Because the notes bear interest at rates that differ substantially from tlre market interest rate available to the County, the accounting
standards required that the County discount the required debt service payments using the County's market yield on debt with
similar terms. The County estimated that the market yield that it would be required to pay would be 3%o and used this rate to
calculate the discount on this debt. This discount will be amortized to interest expense over the life of the loan.

Changes in long-term obligations for the year are as follows:

Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases

Ending
Balance

Due within
One Year

Governmental activities:
Contracts payable - OCIDA

Less: discount
Net contracts payable

General obligation bonds

Issuance premiums

Net bonds payable
Capital leases

Total contracts payable, bond
payable and capital leases, net

Net pension liability
Compensated absences

Total governmental activities

$ 9,970,000
(r 0,079)

9,959,921

9,725,000
3s7.321

$ 4,285,000

4,285,000

$ 41s,000
(s40)

4t4,460
390,000

20,4',19

410,419
227,516

1,052,395
1,693,963

383,329
$ 3,129,687

$ 13,840,000

(9,539)
13,830,461

9,335,000
336,902

9,671,902
501,675

24,004,038
8,145,326

719,588

$ 32,868,952

42s,000

425,000
400,000

400,000
236,592

r,06r,582

23,432

$ 1,085,014

10,082,321

20,042,242

6,820,739
642,381

$ 27,505,362

729,191

5,014,191
3,019,550

460,536

$ 8,493,277

27



Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2016

Note 7: Long-term Obligations, continued

Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases

Ending
Balance

Due within
One Year

Business-type activities :

Notes payable - GEFA
Less: discounts on GEFA notes

Total notes payable

Contracts payable

UOBWA Contract payable

Plus: issuance premium

WCWSA Contract payable

Less: issuance discount
Total contracts payable

Bonds payable:

Revenue bonds

Deferred amounts:

Issuance discounts
lssuance premiums

Total bonds payable

Total notes payable, contracts payable

and bonds payable, net

Net pension liability - Water
Net pension liability - Nonmajor
Compensated absences - Water
Compensated absences - Nonrnajor
Total Business-type activities

$ 7,s36,22s
(3,019,97s)

4.516.250

$ 338,867
(26,986)
311.881

$ 7,875,092
(3,046,e61)

4,828,131

5,838,243

635,036
18,855,000

(s7,s07)
26,003,707

10,060,000

(1,563)

909,610

4t,799,885
662,9s7
337,346

69,840
24,329

$ 42,894,357

6,283,s08
692,766

18,369,986

(t04,944)
25,241,316

l1,l10,000

(1,786)

1,049,217

12,157,431

41,914,997

530,989
310,949

84,591

8.42-s,000

9,194,090

9,505,971
300,737

60,154
2s,841

445,265

57,730
7,939,986

(47,437)
8,431,699

1,o5o,ooo

(223)
139,607

g,62l,og3

168,769

33,757

40,s92
23,848

$ 9,888,049

1,189,384 10,968,047 1,085,000

452,714

530,000

982,714

1,085,000

2,067,714

$ 2,067,7 t4
26,397 21,780

$ 42,867,923 $ 9,914,483

The business-type bonds payable amounts reported above consist ofthe following individual revenue bond issues:

2003 Series 2009 Series Total
Outstanding bond payable

Unamortized discount
Unamortized premium
Net total

100,000
(1,563)

$ 3,450,000

71,97 5

$ 3,s21,97s

2012 Series

$ 6,5lo,ooo

837,635

$ 7,347,63s

10,060,000

(1,563)

909.610
98.437 10,968,047

All business-type notes, contracts and bonds payable presented above represent liabilities of the Water and Sewer Fund.
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Note 7: Long-term Obligations, continued

Debt Service Requirements

Debt service requirements ou long-term debt at year-end are as follows:

G ov ern men tal activ ities

Year Ending General Obligation Bonds Contracts Payable - OCIDA
June 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest
2017 $ 400,000 s 371,235 $ 425,000 $ 392,865
20r8 415,000 351,235 870,000 358,458
2019 435,000 330,485 890,000 339,199
2020 445,000 313,085 910,000 319,736
2021 470,000 290,835 930,000 297,941

2022 - 2026 2,615,000 1,137,613 4,985,000 1,147,086
2027 -2031 3,125,000 617,293 2,875,000 621,389
2032 - 2034 1,430,000 82,080 1,955,000 t43,815

$ 9,335,000 $ 3,493,861 $ 13,840,000 $ 3,620,489

Future minimum lease paynrents at year-end are:

Year Ending June, 30
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021

Minimum lease payments

Less: Interest

Governmental
Activities

247,ggg
247,980

9,829
9,829
4,914

520,540
(l 8,865)

Net present value of minimum lease payments $ 501,675

B usiness-Ape activities

Water and Sewer Fund
2003 Revenue Bonds 2009 Revenue Bonds 2012 Revenue Bonds

Year Ending Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal lnterest
June 30,

2017$$4,500$845,000$126,931 $240,000$298,000
- 4,500 870,000 95,800 250,000 291,850
- 4,500 900,000 55,900 265,000 284,125
- 4,500 835,000 16,700 380,000 274,4s0

4,500 - 1,270,000 237,000
2022 - 2024 100,000 11.2s0 _ 4,105,000 309,625

$ 100,000 $ 33,750 $ 3,4s0,000 $ 295,331 $ 6,510,000 $ 1,695,050

2018
2019
2020
2021
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Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30,2016

Water and Sewer Fund
Contract Payable - UOBWA Contract Payable - WCWSA Notes Payable - GEFA

Year Ending
June 30,

2017

20 l8
2019
2020
2021

2022 - 2026
2027 -2031
2032 - 2036
2037 - 2041

2042 - 2046
2047 - 2051
2052 - 2056
20s7 -20s8

Principal

$ 452,714
461,098

474,721

489,393

504,064
2,912,698

643,555

Principal

$ 530,000

550,000

570,000

595,000

620,000

3,530,000
4,415,000
5,435,000

2,61o,ooo

823,750
802,800

78 l,050
7 57,97 5

733,ts6
3,23t,tzs
2,349,250
1,386,250

197,250

149,097

235,790
260,555
287,934
318,190
351,625

6,148,573
124,348

$ 7,875,092

$ 14,346

7s,491
100,167

1 00,1 67

100,167

49s,954
474,628
449,8s3
422,474
392,218
358,783

206,105
1,978

$ 3,192,331

Interest Interest Interest

)'r? ))ct

214,175
200,342
1 86,1 00

t7t,4t8
564,343
32,172

$ 5,838,243 $ 1,591,779 $ 18,855,000 $ 11,062,606

Debt Covenants

The bond and note indentures contain significant limitations and restrictions on annual debt
amounts to be maintained in various sinking funds, and minimunr revenue bond coverage ratios.
is in compliance with all such significant financial limitations and restrictions.

service requirements, minimum
Management believes the County

Note 8: Net Position Restricted By Enabling Legislation

In 2003,2009 and 2015, referendums were passed providing for al%o sales tax to be used by the County for various construction
projects.

Additionally, the County maintains several special revenue funds to account for activities that have revenues that are restricted by
Georgia law.

The County reports restrictions on the use of the remaining fund balance in the funds as follows:

Capital projects

Judicial
Public safety

Housing and Development

$ 10,441,941

148,842

108,490

745,007

$ 10,844,280
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Note 9: Retirement Benefits

Defined BeneJit Pension Plan

The County provides a defined benefit retirement program for its employees.

Plan Description

The County sponsors the Association County Commissioners of Georgia Restated Pension Plan for Oconee County Employees
(The Plan). The Plan, through execution of an adoption agreement, is affiliated with the Association County Commissioners of
Georgia Defined Benefit PIan Third Restate Defined Benefit Plan (The ACCG Plan), an agent multiple-employer pension plan
administered by GEBCorp.

The ACCG, in its role as the Plan Sponsor, has the sole authority to amend the provisions of The ACCG Plan, as provided in
Section 19.03 of the ACCG Plan document. The County has the authority to amend the adoption agreement, which defines the
specific operational provisions of The Plan, as provided in Section 19.02 of the ACCG Plan document.

Cornplete financial statements for The Plan can be obtained directly from the plan administrator at:
GEBCorp
400 Galleria Parkway, Suite 1250
Atlanta, Georgia 30339

All full-time County employees are eligible to participate in the Plan after completing three years of service. Benefits are fully
vested after ten years of service. Participants employed before August 2010 become eligible to retire at age 65 with 5 years of
participation in the Plan. Employees hired after August 2010 must have l0 years of service to be eligible to retire with benefits
from the Plan. Upon eligibility to retire, pafticipants are entitled to an annual of 2o/o of the average annual compensation muttiplied
by the participant's years ofservice, payable as a life annuity. Average annual compensation is based on the highest average ofthe
Participant's contpensation over two consecutive plan years during the ten plan years preceding the Participant's date ofretirement
ortermination.ThePlanalsoprovidesbenefitsintheeventofdeathordisability. Thesebenefitprovisionswereestablishedbyan
adoption agreement executed by the County Board of Commissioners.

County employees are not required to contribute to the Plan. The County contributes the entire cost of the Plan, using the actuarial
basis described in the annual valuation report.

Plan Asset Mix and Accounting Policies

The Plan's financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis, modified to include unrealized gains or losses on marketable
securities owned by the Plan and increments in cash value of death benefits. Plan mernber contributions are recognized when due
and the County has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions.

Investments in securities are valued at current market prices. The trust fund is invested, approximately,inT\Yo equities and30o/o
f,rxed income securities on a cost basis.

Plan assets do not include any loans, notes, bonds, or other instruments or securities of the County or related parties except for
current receivables ofplan contributions due from the County.
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Note 9: Retirement Benefits, continued

Plan Membership

Retirees, beneficiaries and disabled receiving benefits
Terminated plan members entitled to but not receiving benefits
Active plan members

Total

Covered compensation for active participants

Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30,2016

7.50%
5.00% with an age based scale as follows:

77

104

196

377

$ 8,439,900

Contributions

The County is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate. Section 47-20 of lhe Georgia Code sets forth the funding
standards for state and local governmental pension plans. The Georgia Constitution enables the goveming authority of the County,
the Board of Commissioners, to establish and amend from time to time, the contribution rates for the employer and its plan
members. Administrative expenses are based on total covered payroll of plan members and are added to the annual funding
requirement. The County's actuarially required contribution was $1,623,896 and its actual contribution was $1,716,341, or l06Yo
of the required contributiort and,20.34o/o of the covered compensation. The County paid its contribution during December 2015, so

the County reported no payable and the plan reported no receivable for amounts due for the 2015 plan year.

Net Pension Liability

The County's total pension liability was determined based on an actuarial valuation as of December 31,2015 and the net pension
liability was measured as of the same date. The Decernber 31,2015 actuarial valuation determined the total pension liability using
assumptions that were applied to all periods included in the measurement as follows:

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Investment retum
Salary increases

Age Salary increase

Under 30 5.0% plus 1.5%

30-39 5.0% plus 1.0%

40-49 5.0% less 0.5%
50+ 5.0% less 1.0%

Based on the results of a February 20 I 4 experience study
Future payroll growth 5.507o per year

No cost of living adjustments are awarded after retirement.

RP-2000, Projected with Scale AAMortality:
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Note 9: Retirement Benefits, continued

Change in Assumptions

The actuarial valuation as of December 31, 2015 used the RP-2000 mortality table, projected with Scale AA in estimating the total
pension liability. Prior valuatious used the RP-2000 mortality table. Changing the mortality table used in the valuation resulted in
the actuarially determined total pension liability increasing by $945,358.

Discount Rate

The discount rate is determined using a building block approach based on 20-year benchmarks (25%o weighting), 30-year
benchmarks (25o/o weighling), and forwardJooking capital market assumptions for moderate asset allocations as determined by
UBS (50% weighting). The discount rate is rounded to the nearest 0.25o/o.

The discount rate is calculated as follows:

20-year benchmark weighted average return
30-year benchmark weighted average return

UBS capital market moderate asset

allocation assumption

Calculated discount rate

Benchmark Allocation

Expected return Weighting
7.44o/o

9.49%

6.30%

25%
2s%

5jYo

7.380/o

Rounded to the nearest 0.25%oand used as the discount rate 1.50Y"

The 20 and 30 year benchmark weighted average returns are calculated using the following asset allocation
and historical returns based on their compounded annual growth rate (CAGR):

Average 20

Year Return
Average 30

Year Return
s&P 500

Barclay's Agg.
MCSE EAFE
Citi Non US WEBI
NAREIT Equity
Russell 2000
Russell 3000

S&P Mid-cap

Weighted average return

30o/o

30o/o

't5%

5o/o

5%

5%

5%

5o/o

8.80%
5.7 5o/o

5.4404

5.48Vo

9.97o/o

8.96%
8.89o/o

[t.83%

7.44Yr

10.7 4o/o

7.80o/o

951%
5.48yo

ll.35o/o
9.37%

10.58o/o

t3.21%

9.49%

l00o/o
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Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30,2016

Note 9: Retirement Benefits, continued

The above calculated discount rate was used to calculate both the beginning and ending total pension liability. The average
contribution made to the plan over the last 5 years was used to project plan assets. The projected plan assets are sufficient to pay
all projected benefits pronrised to current plan participants. Because projected plan assets are sufficient to pay all projected
prornised benefits, the expected long-term rate ofreturn was used to discount all projected benefit payments.

Because of the sensitivity of the calculation of the total pension liability to relatively srnall changes in the discount rate, the total
pension liability calculated using discount rates one percentage point higher and lower than the discount rates actually used to
calculate the total pension liability follows:

Discount Rate
Senstivity Analysis
6.500/o 8.50%

$ 27,942,540 $ 2t,488,486
15,273,164 15,273,164

$ 12,669,376 $ 6,2rs,322

Summary of Changes in Total Pension Liability, Fiduciary Net Position and Net Pension Liability

The changes in the total pension liability from the beginning to the ending of the year are as follows:

Total Pension Liability
Fiduciary Net Position

Net Pension Liability

Summary of Changes

Beginning of year

Changes during the plan year:

Service cost

Interest on total pension liability
Liability experience (gain)/loss

Assumption change

Employer contributions
Employee contributions
Net investment income
Benefit payments

Administrative expenses

Other expense

Net change

End ofyear

Total Pension
Liability

$ 22,193,423

660,206
1,630,194

(95,391)

945,358

(914,999)

2,225,368

$ 24,418,791

Fiduciary Net
Position

$ 14,530,746

1,716,341

152,431
(914,999)
(44,145)

(167,210)
742,418

$ 15,273,164

Net Pension
Liability

$ 7,662,677

660,206
1,630,194

(es,39l)
945,358

(1,716,341)

(152,431)

44,145
167,210

1,482,950

$ 9,145,627
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Note 9: Retirement Benefits, continued

Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows Related to Pension ltems and Deferred Inflows Related to Pension Items

The following schedule reconciles the pension contributions to the total pension expense reported by the County in the
government-wide statements :

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows and Inflows

Pension contributions
Change in net pension liabilif
Deferred outflow related to investment results
Deferred outflow related to change in assumptions
Deferred inflows related to experience gain
Amoftization of deferred inflows
Amofiization of defened outflows

Pension expense $ 1,683,848

The unamoftized defened outflows and inflows related to pension items are as follows:

1,716,341

t,482,950
(794,2s9)
(945,358)

95,391
(14,453)
143.236

Deferred
Outflows

of Resources

Deferred
Inflows

of Resources
Differences between expected and actual

experience

Change of assumptions

Net difference befvyeen projected and actual
earnings on Plan investments

$-
802,121

912,299

$ 1,714,419

$ 80,938

$ 80,938
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Note 9: Retirement Benefits, continued

The Counfy made its pension contribution forthe 2015 plan year (calendaryear2015) in December 2015. Accordingly, the County
did not make any contributions to the pension plan between the measurement date and the County's fiscal year-end, so the County
does not report a deferred outflow ofresources related to pension contributions. None ofthe deferred outflows ofresources will be
recognized as a reduction ofthe net pension liability.

The County amortizes the differences between projected and actual investment returns into pension expense equally over a closed
five year amortization period. The County amortizes differences between actual and expected experience and any changes in
assumptions over the expected remaining service period of participants. The expected amortization of the County's current
deferred outflows and inflows over the next five years is:

Year ended June 30,

2017

2018

2019
2020
202t
2022

Experience
Difference

$ 912,298

Deferred Compensation Plan

The County offers employees the Oconee County Deferred Compensation Plau created in accordance with lnternal Revenue Code
Section 457. The plan is administered by an independent third party plan administrator. As a result, the assets and liabilities of the
plan are not recorded on the County's financial statements. All contributions to this plan are voluntary employee contributions.

D eJined C ontributi o n Plan

The County has also established the Oconee County 401(a) Defined Contribution Plan through adoption of the ACCG 401(a)
Defined Contribution Program. The plan was established to provide benefits at retirement to Oconee County enrployees. There
are no employee or employer contributions at this time. The County has delegated certain administrative responsibilities to
ACCG, or its designee. Plan provisions are established and may be amended by the Board of Commissioners.

In addition, the following pension and retirement plans are in effect, but are not under the direct control of the County:

Extension Service Emplovees Retirement Plan

Employees of the Oconee County Agricultural Extension Service are covered under the Teachers Retirement System of Georgia.
The General Fund contributes9.24%o of these employees' compensation to their pension fund.

Probate Judge's Retirement Fund of Georsia

The Probate Judge is covered under a pension plan that requires that certain sums from marriage licenses and fines or forfeitures
be remitted to the pension plan before the payment of any costs or other claims.

$ 14,453

14,453

14,453

14,453

14,453

8,673

$ 80,938

Assumption
Change

$ 143,236

143,236

143,236

143,236

143,236

85,941

$ 802,121

Investment Results
Difference

$ 235,451
235,451
235,451
205,945
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Note 9: Retirement Benefits, continued

Clerk of Superior Court Retirement Fund

Tlre Clerk of Superior Court is covered under a pension plan which requires that certain sums fiom fees and fines or forfeitures be
remitted to the pensiorr plan before the payment of any costs or other claims.

Sheriffs Retirement Fund/Peace Officer's Annuitv and Benefit Fund

The Sheriff and sheriff deputies are covered under separate pension plans which require that certain sums from fines or bond
forfeitures be remitted by the Probate Judge or Clerk of Superior Court to the pension plans before the payment of any costs or
other claims.

Note 10: Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

GASB Statement No. 45, .4ccounting and Financial lleporting by Employersfor Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions,
requires the recognition of certain postemployment obligations in the accrual basis financial statements of state and local
governments. The purpose of the statement is to require local govemments to recognize the cost of prornised postemployment
benefits as those benefits are earned by employees. Consequently, the expense recorded in the accrual basis statements of the
County reports the actuarially determined cost of benefits earned this year plus an amortization component of benefits earned in
previous years. The actuarial valuation of the County's postemployment benefits amortizes the cost of the previously eamed
benefits over 30 years

The County provides postretirement health care benefits under the Oconee County Health Care Plan to former employees who
retired prior to 2010, certain fomrer employees who retired in 2010 and 2011 and current employees who remain insured by the
County's health plan throughout their employment with the County through at least age 65 provided that the employee has at least
5 years of service. The plan is a single employer plan, and it does not issue a separately available financial report. The County
contributes toward retiree health costs on the authority of a resolution by the Board of Commissioners. Any plan amendments
would similarly be approved by a resolution of the Board of Commissioners.

The County contributes around $215 per month towards a retiree's Medicare supplement premium. Dependent cost is the
responsibility of the retiree, but neither retirees nor current employees contribute toward the plan. During the fiscal year,
expenditures of $138,709 were recognized for retiree health care and Medicare supplements. The County has the following
participants in its plan:

Retired participants
Active participants

Total parlicipants

55

192

247
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June 30,2016

Note l0: Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB), continued

The Actuarial Accrued Liability and the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability for the County's OPEB are calculated as follows:

$ 4,761,344

The County finances its postemployment benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. The cumulative Annual Required Contribution (ARC)
from the implementation of GASB Statement No.45 as determined by the actuarial valuation exceeded the County's cumulative
expenditures on a pay-as-you-go basis. This results in the County reporting a Net OPEB Obligation. The ARC and the Net OPEB
benefit are calculated as follows:

Retired participants
Active participants

Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL)

Less: Present value ofplan assets

Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liabiltiy (UAAL)

Normal cost (current service cost)
Amortization of UAAL (share of past service cost)

Annual Required Contribution (ARC)
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation
Adjustment to Annual Required Contribution

Annual OPEB Cost
OPEB costs paid during year

Change in Net OPEB Obligation
Net OPEB Obligatior/(Asset), beginning

Net OPEB Obligation/(Asset), ending

Percentage of ARC contributed

$ 2,649,177
2,112,167

4,761,344

$-
107,540

320,818
(4,880)

3t9,t7t
( I 38,709)

180,462
(122,009)

$ 58,453

43o/o

The County finances its postemployment benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis resulting in the County having no present value of plan
assets. Consequently, all of the actuarial accrued liability is unfunded. A three year history of funding information for Other
Postemployment Benehts is presented in the required supplementary information immediately following the footnotes thal
provides information about whether the funded ratio is increasing or decreasing over time. The following contains summary
information about the County's funding progress for its OPEB obligation:

Actuarial
Valuation

Date

Actuarial Actuarial Accrued
Value Liability (AAL) UAAL as a
of Projected Unfunded Funded Covered Percentage of

Assets Unit Credit AAL (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Covered Payroll
(a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) ((b-a)/c)

$ 4,761,3447t1t20ts $ s 4,761,344

38

|oh s 7,951,720 59.9%
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Note 10: Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB), continued

Trend lnformation

Year OPEB Cost % of ARC OPEB

Ended OPEB Cost Contributed Contributed Obligation/(Asset)

613012016 $ 319,171 $ 138,709 43% $ 53,453

6t30t20ts $ 107,73s $ 143,792 133% $ (122,009)

6t3012014 $ 107,735 S 164,229 752o/o $ (85,952)

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods

The actuary performed his valuation based on the benefits offered under the plan as explained by the County. The actuarial
valuation of the plan involves estimates of the value of reported amouuts and assumptions about the probability of events far into
the future. The actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations
and new estimates are nrade about the future. The actuarial valuation projects the costs of the benefits provided based on the
substantive plan currently in place and the relative cost sharing of the plan between the County and the retired employees. The
actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective, consistent with that perspective the methods and assumption used include
techniquesdesignedtoreduceshort-termvolatilityinactuarialaccruedliabilitiesandtheactuarial valueofassets. Thefollowing
table contains the significant methods used and assumptions made by the actuary for purposes of the actuarial valuation:

Valuation date

Actuarial cost method

Amortization method

Remaining amortization period

Asset valuation method

Actuarial assumptions:

06130116

Projected unit credit

Level percentage ofpay, open

23 years

Market value of assets

Investment rate of return (includes 3% inflation) 4%

Medical cost trend rate 5olo premium increase annually

The actuarial valuation used the same medical cost trend rate for all years.

Immediately following the notes is a required schedule of funding progress which presents multiyear trend information about
whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liability for
benefits.
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Note 11: Risk Management

The County is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts, thefts of, damage to, and destruction of assets; erors and
omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Government has joined together with other municipalities in the state

as part of the Georgia Interlocal Risk Management Agency Propefty and Liability Insurance Fund and the Georgia Municipal
Association Group Self-lnsurance Workers' Compensation Fund, a public entity risk pool currently operating as a comrnon risk
management and insurance program for member local govemments.

As part of these risk pools, the County is obligated to pay all contributions and assessments as prescribed by the pools, to
cooperate with the pool's agents and attomeys, to follow loss reductior-r procedures established by the funds, and to report as

prornptly as possible, and in accordance with any coverage descriptions issued, all incidents which could result in the funds being
required to pay any claim of loss. The County is also to allow the pool's agents and attorneys to represent the County in
investigation, settlement discussions and all levels of litigation arising out of any claim made against the County within the scope
of loss protection furnished by the funds.

The funds are to defend and protect the members of the funds against liability or loss as prescribed in the member government
contract and in accordance with the worker's compensation law of Georgia. The funds are to pay all costs taxed against members
in any legal proceeding defended by the members, all interest accruing after entry ofjudgrnent, and all expenses incurred for
investigation, negotiation or defense.

Note 12: Landfill Costs

The Oconee County landfill received no solid waste after October 8, 1993. lt currently operates only as a transfer station and was
officially declared closed by the EPD in 1996. Thus, the County is only responsible for minor monitoring of the closed facility and
is not subject to GASB 18, "Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs." which is based

on the EPA rule that establishes thirty-year postclosure care requirements for landfills that accept solid waste after October 9,
1993.

During fiscal year 2016, the County obtained a permit from EPD to accept inert waste. The assured cost are defined as the sum of
closure plus post closure plus corrective action care cost. The annual post-closure care costs are estimated at$29,621. The 30 year
post closure cost estimate is $888,615. Therefore, the total financial assurance required is $1,177,514.

Note 13: Contingencies and Commitments

Contingent Liabilities

The County participates in a number of federal and state assisted grant programs. Expenditures financed by grants are subject to
audit by the appropriate grantor government. If expenditures are disallowed due to noncompliance with grant program regulations,
the County may be required to reimburse the grantor government. The amount. if any, of disallowed expenditures discovered in
future audits is expected to be immaterial.

Litigation

The County is a defendant in several lawsuits, which arose in the ordinary course of its activities. The County records liabilities
resulting from such claims and litigation only when they become probable and measurable. No liability has been recorded for any
of the lawsuits currently in process. However, the County attorney and the County's management believe that damages, if any,
that are to be paid by the County in excess of insurance coverage will not be material to the financial statements.
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Note 14: Joint Ventures

Northeast Georsia Resional Commission (RC)

Oconee County, Georgia, along with cities and counties in the 12 county Northeast Georgia area, is a member of the Northeast
Georgia Regional Commission (RC). Membership in an RC is automatic for each municipality and county in the state. The
Offrcial Code of Georgia Section 50-8-34 (Georgia Planning Act of 1989) provides for the organizational structure of the RCs.
Each county and municipality in the state is required by law to pay minimum annual dues to the RC. The Board is comprised of
not less than two (2) or more than five (5) representatives of each member county served by the RC. The manner of selecting such
representatives from each member county is as follows:

* The chief elected official or the chair of the board of commissioners of each county served by the Center shall be a
member (or a designated government official).* One elected or appointed municipal government official from each county served by the Center. The mayors of the
municipalities in such county shall select the municipal representative of that county.* Not less than ten (10) or more than twenty (20) public members.* A minority representation, the percentage of which is at least equal to the minority population of the geographical
region served by the Board, as established by the latest United States Census.

The Georgia Planning Act of 1989 (O.C.G.A. 50-8-34) defines RCs as "public agencies and instrumentalities of their members".
Georgia laws also provide that the member governments are liable for any debts or obligations of an RC beyond its resources.
(O.C.G.A. 50-8-39.1) Complete financial statements of the Northeast Georgia Regional Commission can be obtained directly
from the RC's adrninistrative office at 305 Research Drive, Athens, Georgia 30605.

Note 15: Hotel Motel Lodging Tax

Oconee County, Georgia has levied a6%olodging tax. During the year ended June 30,2016, the County received $156,147 in
hotel motel tax revenue of this amount, 60%o must be spent in accordance with O.C.G.A a8-13-51(a) (4). During the current fiscal
year, the Hotel Motel Tax fund had $143,396 in expenditures. Of these expenditures, $71,000 was spent from the restricted
portion of fund balance and$72,396 was spent from the unrestricted portion of the tax (40%). At June 30,2016,$282,306 was the
balance ofrestricted fund balance and reshicted net position. This amount represents the restricted portion ofthe tax (60%) and
will be spent in accordance with O.C.G.A 48-13-51(a) (4).

Note 16: Subsequent Event

Subsequent to year-end, the Walton County Water and Sewerage Authority (WCWSA) issued its Series 2016 Refunding Revenue
Bonds in the amount of $9,465,000 to partially refund the portion of its Series 2008 Revenue Bonds that were not refunded with its
Series 2015 Refunding Revenue Bond issuance. An intergovemmental contract between the County and the WCWSA requires the
County to make the principal and interest payments on the bonds as part of its contribution toward the construction of the Hard
Labor Creek Reservoir. The Series 2016 bonds have an average yield of 2.77%o and are projected to result in approximately
$1,700,000 in interest savings to the County over the life of the bonds.
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Schedule I

Oconce County, Georgia
Required Supplementary Information

Retirement Plan - Schedule of Changes in the County's Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios

Year Ended June 30,
Changes in Total Pension Liability

Total Pension Liability - beginning of year

Service cost

Interest on total pension tiability
Assumption change

Benefit payments (adjusted for interest)
Liability experience gain / loss

Total Pension Liability - end of year

Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Net Position - beginning of year
Employer contributions
Net investment income
Benefit payments

Administrative expense

Other

Fiduciary Net Position - end of year

Net Pension Liability

Plan Fiduciary Net Position as a %o of Total Pension Liability

Covered payroll

Net Pension Liabilif as o/o of Covered Payroll

_ (95,391)

22,193,423 24,418,791

12.912,277 14,530,746
r,781,612 1,716,341

849,702 152,431
(920,393) (914.999)
(41,842) (44,145)
(50,610) (167 ,210)

14.530,746 15,273.164

$ 7,662,677 $ 9,14s,627

2015 2016

li 20,916,657

662,925
1,534,234

(920,393)

65.47%

$ 8,409,345

91.12%

$ 22,193,423

660.206
1,630,194

945,358
(914,999)

62.55Yo

$ 8,439,900

108.360/o

Note: As information becomes available it will be added to this schedule until a l0 year history is presented.

2016
2015

Schedule of County Pension Contributions

Contributions Contributions
in as

Relation to Percentage of
Actuarially Actuarially Contribution Covered Covered
Determined Determined Deficiency Employee Employee

Payroll

20.34o/o

27.19o/o

Contribution Contribution (Excess) Payroll

$ 1,623,896 $ 1,716,341 $ (92,445) S 8,439,900
(26,720) 8,409,34s1,754,892 1,781.612

Unavailable historical information is not required to be reported in the implementation year
under GASB Statement No. 68. The information will be reported as it becomes
available.
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Other Postemployment Benefits - Schedule of f,'unding Progress
June 30, 2016

OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Schedule of Fundine Proeress

(a)
Actuarial
Yalue of
Assets

(b)
Actuarial
Accrued
Liability
(AAL)

Projected
Unit Credit

Unfunded
AAL (UAAL)

(b-a)

$ 4,76'1,344

2,307,688
2,790,731

Schedule 2

UAAL as a

percentage of
covered
payroll

(b-a)/c

59.9o/o

0.0%
0.0o/o

Actuarial Valuation
Date

71112015

7n/2013
7lt/2011

Fiscal Year
Ended

$ 4,761,344
2,307,688
2,790,731

Annual Required
Contribution

Amount
Contributed

Percentage

Contributed

Schedule of Employer Contributions

6/30116

6130lt5
6/30/14
6l30lt3
6l30lt2
6130111

6l30lt0
6t30t09

319,17 |
r07,735

107,735

121,537

121,537

70,324

s7,702

640,255

138,709

r43,792

164,229

1 53,889

164,201

90,488

25,000
25,000

43j%
133.s%

152.4o/o

126.60/o

135.lYo

128.7%

43.3%

3.9o/o
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Oconee County, Ceorgia
Required Supplemental Information

Schedule ofRevenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget (by Department) and Actual - General Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

Original
Budget

$ r9,637,700

557.750

35,000

2,457,350

354,500

1 3,500

64,700
23,120,500

Final
Budget

s 20,770,520

557.750

1,233,100

2,457,550

354,500
13,5 00

64,700

25,451,620

Actual

s 2r.005,700
746,715

1,236.635

2,486,982

326,433
27,288

2,429

I 43,786
25,975.968

Schedule 3

Variance
with l'inal

Budgct

s 23s,180

r 88,965

3,53 5

29,432
(28,067)
13.788

2,429

79,086
524,348

REVENUES
Taxes

Licenses and permits

Intergovernmental revenue

Charges for services

Fines and forfeitures
Investment income

Contributions and donations
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Department level:

Commission
Administration
Human resources

Finance

Law enforcement

Jail

Tax commissioner
Probate court
Clerk of courts

Juvenile court

Superior court
Dishict attorney

Magishate court

Coroner

Tax assessor

Board ofelections
Public works

Parks and recreation

Operations
Public safety
Planning

Code enforcement
Information technology
Cornmunity development

Joint governmental programs

Total expenditures

Excess of revenues over expendifures

oTHER FTNANCTNG SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds of capital asset dispositions
Transl'ers in
Transfers (out)

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

Fund balance - beginning
Fund balances - ending

414,495

444.126

458.743

645,383

3,538,943
2,492,098

438,227

457,847

753,967

91-97 5

394,989
27,475

80,045

26,644
574,847

219,254

2,2s7,778

2,540,078

1,689,441

1,233,',175

194,478

756,431

603,699

877,568
21,212,306

1,908.194

585,095

444-t26
481.443

645.383

3,538,943

2,627,458

450,227
472,947
753,967

91,975
394.989
27,475

90,545

31,644

619,737

233,254

3,523,878

2,632,259

t,'114.681
1,300,955

194,478

789,156
660,699

650,5 6 l
909,926

23,865,80 I

1,585,819

574,706

423,565

472.628

536,346

3,383,888
2,526,652

440,9s9
469,321
721,473

90,024

310.789
26.682
87,772

30,583

615,333
226,945

3,354,386

2.550,5',16

1,654,184

1,233.137
t54,4tt
7',|4,706

640,972

647,520
902,706

22,850,264

3,125,704

1,015.537

1,539,885

64,193

77.735
141,928

1,681.813

r 0,389

20,561

8,81 s

109,037

155,055

100,806

9.268
3,626

32,494
1,95 I

84,200

793

2,773
r,06r
4,404
6.309

169.492

81,683

60,497

67,818
40,067

14,450

19.727

3,041

7,220

I 6,500 82,500
(2,527,253) (2,247,360)

(2,510,753) (2,164,860)

64,t93
82,500

(2.169,625)
(2.022,932)

1.102,772(602,55e)

9,718.748

(579,04r )

9.718,748

$ 9,n6,189 $ 9,139,707 $ 10,821,520 $ r,681.813
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Schedule 3 1

Current:

General govemment:

Commission
Administration
Hunan resources

Finance

Board ofelections
lnformation technology

Tax commissioner
Tax assessor

Operations

Superior court - Board ofequalization
Judicial:

Superior court
Clerk of courts

Distrrct attomey
Magistrate court
Probate court
Juvenile court

Public safety:

Law enforcement

Jail

Pubtic salbty

Coroner
Public works:

Public rvorks

County facilities
Health and welfare:

Joint gov't programs-health and welfare
Culture and recreation:

Parks and recreation

Joint gov't program-[ibrary
Housing and development:

Community development

Joint gov't progam-development
Code enforcement

Planning
Total current expenditures

Debt service:

Principal payments:

Comm uniry- devel opment

Total principal payments

Interest payments:

Communit-v devel opment

Total interest payments

Total debt service

Total expenditures by department

Oconee County, Georgia
Reconciliation of Budget Erpenditures by Department to

GAAP Basis Budget - General Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

Original Final
Budget Budget

s 414,495 $ s85,09s $

144,126 444,126

458,7 43 181.443

645.383 645,383

219,254 233,254
603,699 660,699

438,227 4s0,227

5'7 4,84'7 619,737

1,225,749 I,225,749
5.500 5.500

389,489

753,967

27,475
80,045

457,847

91,97s

3,s3 8,943

2,492,098
1,233,77s

26,644

2.257,778
463,692

241,750

2,540.078
462,500

167,3 l8
756.431
194,478

21,212,306

389,489

753,967

27,475

90,545

472,94'.7

91,975

3,53 8,943

2,627,4s8
1,300,9s5

3t-644

3.523,878
488,932

249.2s0

) 61) )\q
483,4s8

206,561
177,218

789. I 56

194,478

23,421,801

Actual

574.706

423,565

472,628
s36,346
226,945
640,972

440.959

615,3 33

1.170,774

3,063

307,726

721,473
26.682
8'7.772

469,321

90,024

3,383,888

2,526,652

1,233,137

30,583

3,3s4,386
483,4 1 0

249,123

2,550,576
481,170

209.s39
172,413

774.706
ts4,411

22,412,283

Variance
u'ith Final

Budget

$ 10,389

20.s61
8,8 l5

I 09,037
6't0g

10 1)1

9,268
4,404

54,915

2,437

81,763

32,494
793

2,773

3,626

t,95 I

1 55,055

100,806

67.8 r 8

1,061

169,492
< <r')

127

81,683

2,288

(2,978)

4,805

14,450

40.067

1.009,518

415,000 41s,000
415,000 415,000

29,000 22,981 6,019

29,000 22,981 6,019

444,000 437,981 6,019

$ 21,2t2,306 $ 23,86s,801 $ 22,8s0,264 $ r,015,537



Oconee County, Georgia
Notes to Required Supplementary Information

June 30,2016

Related to the Pension Data

NOTEA: VALUATIONDATE

The acluarially determined contribution rates are calculated as ofJanuary 1 ofeach year presented. The contrlbutions
are recorded during that year by the pension plan and the County and are paid usirrg curent financial resources
directly following that year.

NOTE B: METHODS AND ASST]NIPTIONS USBD TO DE,TERMINE, CONTRIBUTION RATES

Actuarial cost method Entry age

Asset valuation method 5-vear smoothed market

Arnortization method L*"1 p".".rrtug" compensation

Future payroll growth 5.50%

Investment rate of retum 7.50%

NOTE C: CIIANGES IN ASSUIUPTIONS

The investment retum was changed from 7 .7 5%oto 7 .50%, in 2014. The investment return was changed from
8.0%oto 7.75%oir^2009. All other years assumed an 8.0% investment return. Age and service based employee
termination rates were updated to more closely reflect acfual experience in 2014. The mortaliry* table rvas changed
from the 1983 GAM, sex distinct table to the RP-2000 combined table in 2014. Retirement rates u,ere updated in20l4.
The funding method was changed from Projected Unit Credit to Entry Age Normal |n2014.

NOTE D: HISTORICAL DATA

The adoption on GASB Statement No. 68 resulted in a number of new defrnitions and concepts regarding
measuring pension liabilities. Statement 68 introduced the concept of a total pension liability and a fiduciary
net position. While the County has historical data that might be similar to these two amounts. the calculation
of the amounts that the County has differ enough that presenting this information might be misleading.
Accordingly, the County has not presented historical information about the changes in the total pension
liability or the fiduciary net position. Statenent 68 also requires the County to present historical contribution
data of its pension plan ifthe plan has calculated an "actuarially determined contribution". The County believes
that the Annual Required Conhibution as calculated by the actuaries of the plan prior to the implementation
of Statement 68 is an actuarially deterined contribution. Therefore, the County. presented the comparison
ofits contribution to the actarially determined contribution for the past 10 years.

Related to the Budget to Actual Comparison

NOTE E: BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The budget is prepared and adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).
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Nonmajor Governmental Funds

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Special Revenue Funds acc<lunt for revenues from specific t&\es or other earmarked revenue souroes rvhich, by
law, are designated to finance particular functions or activities of govemment.

Council on Aging - The Council on Aging Fund accounts for the activity relating to the County's senior center.

Law Libraly - The Law Library Fund accounts for the funds used for the purpose of providing a law library for
use by the County courts.

Confiscated Assets - The Conflscated Assets Fund accounts for the cash leceived either from a cash

confiscation or cash received lrom a sale ofcapital assets acquired from a drug raid.

Drug Abuse Treatment Education Fund - The D.A.T.E Fund accounts for the cash received from
surcharges added to the base fine and collected by the courts. Funds are expended lbr drug
abuse treatment and education programs or a Drug/DUI court.

Special Revenue Fund - The Special Revenue Fund accounts for the receipt ofdonations to the County for
various uses and projects, as well as other funding paid to the County rvith specified purposes set forth for the
funding.

Victims Services - The Victims Services and Forfeited Property Fund accounts for the receipt of the additional
court costs assessed for the purpose ofassisting victims and to cover the related salary costs.

Special Lighting District - The Special Lighting Districts Fund accounts for the fiscal activity relating to the
providing of steet lighting services within the County.

E-9ll Emergency Telephone System - The E-9l l Fund accounts for the fiscal activity related to the imposition,
collection and uses of the E-91I emergency telephone number system fees.

Multipte Grant Fund - The Multiple Grant Fund accounts for the fiscal activity related to various small
grants awarded to the County.

Hotel/Motel Tax Fund - The Hotel/Motel Tax Fund accounts for the hotel/motel taxes collected as required
by general law that are legally restricted for promotion oftrade and tourism in the County.

Industrial Development Authority - This fund accounts for the General Fund of the Oconee County
Industrial Development Authority, which meets the criteria of a blended component unit,
and is included in Oconee County's repoft as though it were not a separate legal entity.

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

Capital Projects Funds account for the financial resowces to be used for the acquisition or construction ofmajor
capital facilities other than those financed by proprietary funds and trust funds.

SPLOST 2004 Fund - This fund accounts for capital projects financed liom SPLOST fi.rnds.

SPLOST 2009 Fund - This fund accounts for capital projects financed from SPLOST funds.

Local Resources Fund - This fund accounts for the acquisition ofcapital facilities.

Industrial Development Capital Projects Fund - This fund accounts for all of the funds received
and expended related to the Authority's issuance of its Series 2012 afi Series 20 I 6 revenue bonds.



Oconec County, Gcorgia
r\ll Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Com bining Balance Sheet

June 30, 2016

Total Nonmajor
Special Revenue

Funds

Total
Nonmajor

Capital Projects
Fund

Schedule 4

Total
Nonmajor

Govcrnmental
Funds

ASSETS
Cash

Investments. plus accrued interest
Accounts receivable, net
Taxes receivable. net

lntemal balances

Due from other govemments

Prepaid items
Total assets

$ 1,381.608

r 32,388

779

301,342
105,7 t2

7.957

s 1,929,786

s '7,867.471

3,678.418

$ I 1,54s,889

$ 2,275

5 7,610

s 9,249.079

3,678.418

l 32,388

779

301,342
105,7 t2

7,957

s 13.475,675

$ 151,567

186,293

3t.972

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED TNFLOIVS OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Intemal balances

Salaries and benefits payable

Total liabilities

Deferred infl ows of resources:

Unavailable property taxes
'Iotal deferred inflows

Fund balances:

Nonspendable

Restricted

Capital projects

Judicial

Public safety

Culture and rccreation

Housing and development
Assigned

Health and vr,'elfare

Housing and development
Unassigned

Total fund balances
I'otal liabilities, deferred inflows and fund balances

309.94'7 59,885 369,832

709
709

$ 149,292

128,683

3t-9'72

709
709

7,957

t37.298
172,260

200,402

81,971
154,824

I 68.987

70r.109
(5,678)

1,619,130

s 1,929,786

I 1,486,004

I 1,486.004

$ n,s45,889

7,957

11,623.302

172,260

200,402

81,971
154,824

168,987

701,109
(5,678)

I 3, I 05.134
s 13,475.675



Drug Abuse
Confiscated Trqtment &

Assels Edueiion Fund

Vicaims
Seryics and

Forfei ted

ProDerty D911

Specia I

Lighting HoteuMotel
District Tax

Schedute 5

Iotal Nonmajor
Spccial Rcvenuc

Funds
Council Law

on Aging Library

'191,982 $ t04,913

20,600

Ocone County, Gorgia
Nonmajor Govemmental l'unds - Special Revenue Funds

Combining Balance Sheet

June 30,2016

Special

Revenue

Fund

Multiple
Grsnt
Fund

lndusarial
Development

Authority

s 723,'il3$-
14,720

269.520

394
s 284,634

s 441

|.879
2.326

ASSETS
Cash

Accomts receivable, net

Tiles receivable, net

Intenlal balances

Duc from other govements
Prepaid itenrs

Totrl assets

Liabilities:
Aocouts psyable

lntemal balmces

Salaries md benefits payable
'I otal liabilities

f)efcred infl ows of resources:

Unavailable property tues
Total deferred inflows

Fud balmces:
Nonspendable

Restricted

Capital Projects

Judicial

Public safety

Cultue and recreation

Housing and dcvclopment

Assigned

Health ard welfue
Housing and development

Unassigned
Tolal fund balancs

Total liabilitics, dcferred infl orvs

and fund balance

2,276

$ 220,858 $ lo4,9l3

$ 4,898

38,248

6.U9
49,595

s 19,109 $ 68.837

80.949

$ il9,085 $ 102,330 $ u,500 $ 19.842

$ - $ 19,133

l 1,500

I 1,500 t9,133

g '723,'113 $ r,929,786

149,292

128,683

31.9'12

22,604 309,947

19,109 68,837 $ 228.841

25

$ 38,136

97.043
$?7

779

I 8,986

1.38 1,608

r32,388
719

301.342
to5,1t2

'7 -957

12,836

13,263

$ 254.965

5.281

I 1,500

LIABILITIES. DEFERRED INFLOWS AND FTIND BALANCES

- $ 9,214

- 18,089

$ 71,5t4 $ 2 1,482

57,204

23.644

102,330

s 22,604 $

3 642 27,303 71.514

109 709

7 q57

137.298

172,260
200,402

81,971

154,824

168,987
70t,t 09

(s,678)
I.619,130

$ 1,929,786

2,2'16

I 68,987

10t.2'71
19,109 68,837

23,418

t 12,456
8 1,971

9,817

41,51 |

5,287 394

1i7,298

145,00'7

t'7 1 ,263 tot ,27 I

$ 220,858 S 104,913 $ 19,109

19,109 68,837 221.662

$ 68,837 $ 254,96_5

----------------: (5'287)
47,57 t

$ 119.085 $ 102.330

(391)

282,308

$ 11,500 s 19,842 $ 284,634
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Schedule 6

Oconee County, Georgia
Nonmajor Governmental Funds - Capital Projects Funds

Combining Balance Sheet

June 30, 2016

$ 3,697,681 $ 3,728,381 $ - $ - $ 4.119,827 S 11,54s,889

$2.27s$-S-$-
- 57,610

2,275 57,610

3,695,406 3,670,771
3.695,406 3,670,771 4,119,827 11,486,004

$ 3,697,681 $ 3,728,381 S - $ S 4,119,827 S11,545,889

SPLOST
2W9
Fund

f,ocal
Resou rces

Capitrl
Projects

Fund

Industrial
Development

Authority
Projects

l'und

Industrial
Development

Authority
Parkway Blvd

Fund

ASSETS
Cash

Investments

Total ,ssets

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable

Intemal balances

Total liabilities
Fund balances:

Restricted

Capital projects

Total fund balances

Total liabilities and fund balances

$ 3,728,381 4,119,827

$ - s 2,27s
- 57,610

- 59,885



Oconec County, Gcorgia
All Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

Total Nonmajor
Special Revenue

Funds

Total
Nonmajor

Capital Projects
Funds

Schedule 7

Total
Nonmajor

Governmental
Funds

REVENUES
Taxes

Intergovemmental revenue

Charges for services
Fines and forl"eitures
Investment income
Contributions and donations
Miscellaneous

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government

Judicial
Public safety
Public works
Health and welfare
Culture and recreation
Housing and development

Debt service:
Principal payments

Inlerest and fiscal charges

Debt issuance costs

Capital outlay
General govemment

Public safbty
Public wor*s
Culture and recreation
Housing and development

Intergovemmental
Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expendifures

o'l'HER FTNANCING SOURCES AND (USES)
Proceeds from long-term debt
Transfers in
Transfers (out)

Total other financing sources (uses)

Change in fund balances

Fund balances - beginning

Fund balances - ending

s 156.147

446,513

1,067,125

69,49s
1,630

163,63 I
25-4tl

s r,645.551

14,5 l3

s r,80 r .698
446,513

1,067,125

69,49s
16,t43

163,631

25,4r1
3,590,0 r 61.929.952 1,660,064

2.913,4t5

(983.463)

44,t4t
r,365,602
(1 5s,074)

1.254,669

271,206

1,347,924

$ 1,619,130

160,000

490,661

85,000

77,444
83,050

3 I 5.806

47,614

80, r 73

233,834

1,573,582

86,482

4,285,000

316,856
(1,438,348)

3, I 63,508

3.249,990

8,236,014

$ l 1,486,004

5,453
359,287

1,602,031
236,532
488,722

38, r 98

178,277

3,998

917

5,453

359,287
1,602,03 I

236,532

488,722

3 8,1 98

178,277

I 63,998

491,s78

85,000

77,444
83.050

315.806
47,614
80, r 73

233,834
4,486,997

(896,981)

4,329.t41
t,682,458

(1,593,422)

4,418,177

3.521,196

9,583,938

s 13,105.134
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Ocone County, Georgia
Nonmajor Governmcnaal Funds - Special Revenue Fundr

Conrbining Schedule ofRevcotra, Erpcoditore and Changw in Fund Balanc
For the Fiscal Yqr Ended June 30, 2016

Mulliple
Grtrtrt
Fund

Speial
l,ighling
Di!trict

Hotel/Motel
Tar

$ r56,t47

lndusariel
Developmenl

Authority

$-

123,165

1,249

Schedule 8

Totsl
Noomajor

Speial
Revenue

Funds

$ r56,147
446,513

1,067,125
69,495

1,630

r63,63r
25,411

1,929,952

REVENTIES
Tues
Intergovemmmtal revenue

Chuges ibr seruices

Fines md forfeitures
lnvestment income
Contributions and donations
Miscellmeous

Totol revenu6

EXPENDITURES
Cufient:

General goyemmflt
Judioial
Publio safety

Public works
Health od welfae
Cultue md rcreation
Housing ad development

Debt seruice:

Principal payments
Interest ild fisal ohilges
Total expenditu16

Excess (defi ciency) of revenues

over (under) expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Proceeds from long-tem debt

I'rasfers in
Tresfers (out)

Total other linstrcing lourc6 (uses)

Net change in fund balances

Fund balauces - beginring
Fund balalces - elding

Council Law
on Aging Library

Drug Abuse Speial
Confiscaled Treslmcnt & Rwenue

Aslets Education Fund Fund

Mctim!
Senice ond
Forfeiled
Property E-gll

$-
242,0?1

19.40t
715,398

$-
13,263

36,484

163,61 I

192,0't8
64,t 88

$-
t2't,o35

46

25,4t1

152,492

l't,284
96

t5,097
6

t7,7 t3

17,380 I 5,103 t7,'113 2t1,6tt 26t,424 7t5.398 64,188 t92,O1a 156.147 124,414

442,722 6,952

(2e0,21O) 10,42a

36t,820

8,'196

6,307 17,713

111,0t2 350,516

96,599 (89,088)

3,998
917

1.511,471 64,188

(796,073) 
________________:

44,t4t
75t.912

5,453
359,281

1,602,03r
236,532
488,72?

r4r,3e; 34,8s; ,1i;L1i

3,998

r43,3e; 34.88; ,.rl.1l1s

12,'1s1 89,533 (983,463)

6,952
5,453
1.819 350,516

68,49t
3,05 I

38,198

8,796 I,506,556 18,188

46,000

233,481
442,722

213,441

(41,403)

361,820

7t,590

99,673

$ l'11,263

(66,000)
(66,0O0)

,1 S1?

44,141
1,365,602
(1s5,014)

t,254,669

27 1,20610,428

90,843
$ t01,271

s9,124 5,800

(8,000) (81,074)
51,124 (',t5,274)

135,9't5

t3s,rls ---'-1rin;
46,887

41,401 9,548

41303 
'J48

_ 1' 
'OO

260,009
$ - $ 282.308

6,307 68,837

12,802
$ t9,109 $ 68,837

2t,325

6'17.576 1,347.924
$ 701.t09 $ 1,619,130



Schedule 9

Oconee Count5r, Georgia
Nonmajor Governmental Funds - Capital Projects Funds

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

SPLOST
2004
Fund

SPLOST
2009
Fund

Local
Resources

Capital
Projects

Fund

Industrial
Development

Authority
Projects

Fund

Industrial
Development

Authority
Parkway Blvd

Fund

Total
Nonmajor

Capital
Projects
Funds

REVENUES
Taxes

lnvestrnent income
Total revenues

EXPENDITURES
Debt service:

Principal payments

Interest and fiscal charges

Debt issuance costs

Capital outlay
General government

Public safety

Public works
Culture and recreation

Housing and development
Intergovernmental

Total expenditures

Deficiency of revenues under expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Proceeds from long-term debt

Transfers in
Transfers (out)

Total other financing sources (uses)

Net change in fund balances

Fund balances - beginning

Fund balances - ending

$-
10,012

10,012

$ I ,645,551
4,501

1,650,052

$ 1,645,551

14,513

1,660,064

55,894

55,894

(45,882)

(4s,882)

3,741,288

$ 3,695,406

160,000

229,730

78,000

25,550
47,614

233,834
774,728

875,324

(1,438,348)
(1,438,348)

(563,024)

4.233,795

260,931
85,000

- 80,t73

260,931 16s,173

(260,931) ( I65,173)

2l,550
5,050

290,256

3 16,856

(3 r 6,8s6)

3 16,856

160,000

490,661

85,000

77,444
83,050

315,806

47,614
80, I 73

233,834
1,573,582

86,482

4,285,000 4,285,000

- 316,856

(1,438,348)

4,285,000 3,163,508

4,119,827 3,249,990

9,236,014

(260,93\)

260,931

3,670,77r

3 16,856

$ - $4,119,827 $11,486,004



Nonmaj or Proprietary F'unds

Enterprise Funds

Solid Waste Fund - The Solid Waste Fund accounts for the operation and maintenance of the County's landfill
disposal sites and recycling.

Special Facilities Fund - The Special Facilities Fund accounts for the operation, maintenance and development of
the Corurty's Civic Center, William Daniell House and the Eagle Tavern Museum, as well as economic development
and tourism.



Oconee County, Georgia
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds

Combining Schedule of Net Position
June 30,2016

Solid
Waste
Fund

Special
Facilities

Fund

Schedule 10

Total
Nonmajor

Proprietary
Funds

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash

Accounts receivable, net

InternaI balances

Prepaid items

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:

Capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets, net of depreciation
Total capital assets

Total assets

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Defened outflow related to peDsions

Total assets and deferred outflows

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Intemal balances

Salaries and benefits payable

Total current liabilities
Noncunent liabilities:

Compensated absences

Net pension liability
Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflow related to pensions

Total liabilities and deferred inflows

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets

Unrestricted
Total net position

$ 538

1,787

148.887

r,352
152.564

125,000

45.296
170,296

322.860

$ s38
4.815

664,774

3,475

3,028

5 1 5,887

673,602

25,000 150,000

1,543,220 1,588,516

1,568,220 1,738.516
2,089,2s8 2,412,118

5,167

328,027

26,435

2,n5,693
31,602

2,443,720

37,869

4,884
42.753

7,732

83,400
91.132

19.073

16,597

253,946
270,543
289,616

61,826

24,329
337.346

36r,67s
423.501

9,488

9,585

47.357

14,469

133,885

243 1,198 1,441

134,128 290,814 424,942

t70,296
23.603

1,568,220
256,659

1,738,5 l6
280,262

$ 2,018,778$ 193,899 $ 1,824,879
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Oconee County, Georgia
Nonmajor Proprietary Funds

Combining Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

Special
Facilities

Fund

Schedule I I

Total
Nonmajor

Proprietary
Funds

Solid
Waste
Fund

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services

Licenses and permits

Rents and royalties
Miscellaneous

Total operating revenues

OPERATING EXPENSES
Salaries and benefits
Other contracted services

Supplies and materials
Repairs and maintenance

Utilities
Insurance

Depreciation and amortization
Other charges

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Loss before contributions and transfers

Transfers in

Change in net position

Total net assets - beginning

Total net position - ending

172,018

7.500

217

$ 64,571

100,069

200

236.589

7,500

100.069

417

179,795 I 64,840 344.635

168.237

229,700
10.046

4,415
9,782
6,162
5.210

9,875

26s,379
4,097

27,276

22,256
51,745

3,349
69,126
17.144

433,616
233,797

37,322

26,671
61,527

9.51 I

14,336
27.019

443,427 460.372 903,799

(263,632) (2es,532) (55e,164)

(263,632)

263,729

97

193.802

(29s,532)

296,012

480

1,824,399

(559,164)

559.741

577

2,018,201

$ 193,899 $ r.824.879 $ 2,018,778
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Oconee County, Georgia
Non major Proprietary Fu nds

Combining Schedule of Cash Flows
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2016

Solid
Waste
Fund

Special
Facilities

Fund

Schedule 12

Total
Nonmajor

Proprietary
Funds

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers
Payments to employees

Net cash (used) by operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfers in

Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash - beginning of the year
Cash - end ofthe vear

Reconciliation ofoperating loss to net cash
used by operating activities:

Operating loss

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash

used by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense

Change in assets and liabilities:
Receivables. net
Prepaid items
Due from other governments
Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Compensated absences

Net change in pension deferrals
Net pension liability

Net cash (used) by operating activities

$ 179,169

(30s,7s4)
( r 65,434)

s 168,954
(124,690)
(270,374\

s 348.123

(430,444)
(435.808)

(292,019)

292.448
292,448

(263.632)

5,210

(626)
l4l

(3 s.e1 5)

r,002
1,898

(4,546)

4,449

$ (292,019)

(226,r10)

214,480
2t4,480

(5 1 8.129)

506,928
506.928

429

109

( 1 I ,630)

I1,630

$

s (295,s32)

69,126

4,r15
1,360

(183)
(54e)

(3,966)
(22.429)

21.948

$ (226,110)

(ll.20l)

(s59, l 64)

74.336

3.489
1,501

(36,098)

453

(2,068)
(26,97s)
26,397

$ (518.129)

538
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Fiduciary Funds

Agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and thus do not represent

the measurement or results of operations.



Schedule l3

Oconee County, Georgia
Fiduciara Funds

Combining Schedule of Fiduciary Assets and Liabilities
June 30, 2016

Total
Tax Superior Probatc Magistrate Juvenile Fiduciary

Commissioner Sheriff Court Court Court Court Funds

ASSETS

Cash $ 33,945 $ 15,909 $ 344,585 S 72,143 S 79,v22 3 408 S 546,912
Totrl As?a! $ 33,945 $ 15,909 $ 344,5E5 J 12-)43 S 79,922 t 408 S 546,912

LIABILITIES

Due to others

Total Liabilities
$ 33,945 $ 15,909 $ 344,585 $ 72,143 $ 79,922 $ 408 s 546,912

$ 33,e45 _$_l5,e0e_ $ 344,585 _$ 72,143_ $ 7e,e22 _$_19!_ $ 546,er2
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Oconee County, Georgia
Fiduciary Funds

Combining Schedule of Changes in tr'iduciary Net Position
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,2016

Balance

6t30t20ls Additions Deductions

Schedule l4
Page 1

Balance

613012016

TAXCOMMISSIONER

Assets

Cash

Liabilities
Due to others

SHERIFF

Assets

Cash

Liabilities
Due to others

SUPERIOR COURT

Assets

Cash

Liabilities
Due to others

$ 47,196,945
47,196,945

47,196,945
47.196,945

$ 47,163,000

47,163,000

47,163,000
47,163,000

$ 33,945

33,945

33,945
33,945

3,301

3,30 r

3,301

303,807 l,gl g,16l

1,918,161

303,807 I,9l8,l6l
$ 303,807 $ l,918,16l

56,982 44,374

56,982 44,374

56,982 44.374 15,909

1,877,383 344,595
1,877,383 344,595

1,877,383 344,595

$ 1,877,383 $ 344,s8s
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Oconee County, Georgia
Fiduciary Funds

Combining Schedule of Changes in Assets and Liabilities
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,2016

Balance

6t30t20rs Additions Deductions

Schedule 14

Page2

Balance

6130/2016

PROBATE COURT

Assets

Cash

Liabilities
Due to others

MAGISTRATE COURT

Assets

Cash

Liabilities
Due to others

JUVENILE COURT

Assets

Cash

Liabilities
Due to others

TOTALS

Assets

Cash

Liabilities
Due to others

51.132 544.906 $ 523,895

523,895 72,t43

72.143
72,t43

544,906

51,132
51,132

64,282

64,282

64,282
64,282

544,906 523,895

s23,89s544.906

200,169 t84,529 79,922

200,169

200,169
200,t69

r84.529

r84.s29
r84.529

5,609 5,505

5,505

5,609 5 505

5,505304 5,609

422,826 49.922.772 49,798,686
49,798,686

49,798,686

$ 49,798,686

79,922

79,922

79922

408

546,912
546,912

546,912

$ 546,912

408

408

408304

422,826 49,922,772

422,826 49,922,772

$ 422,826 $ 49,922,772
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED
TN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AADITING STANDARDS

To the Honorable Commissioners of
Oconee County. Georgia

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards genelally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits containedin Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, the
discretely presented conrponent unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Oconee
County, Georgia as ofand for the year ended June 30,2016, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise Oconee County, Georgia's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated
January 31,2017 . Our report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of the
Oconee County Health Department, as described in our report on Oconee County, Georgia's financial statements.
This report does not include the results ofthe other auditors' testing ofinternal control over flnancial reporting or
compliance and other rratters that are reporled on separately by those auditors.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Oconee County, Georgia's internal
control over financial reporting (intemal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose ofexpressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Oconee County. Georgia's intemal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly. we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Oconee County. Georgia's intemal control over
financial reporting.

A deficiency in internal conlrol exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies. in internal
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements r.vill
not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A signiJicant deficiency is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in intemal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet impoftant enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of intemal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph ofthis section and was not designed to identiff all deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit u,e did not
identifl any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However. material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Oconee County, Georgia's financial statements are free
from rnaterial misstatement. rve performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts and glant agreements, noncompliance \4'ith which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. Howerrer, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions
was not an objective ofour audit and, accordingly, u,e do not express such an opinion. The results ofour tests
disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that is required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.

-qerving tLe Northeast Georgia area since 1970
www.ttccpa.com



We noted certain other matters that we have reported to management of Oconee County, Georgia in a separate letter
dated January 31,2017.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards
in considering the entity's intemal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any
other purpose.

Madison, Georgia
January 31,2017
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6,000,000

1,3 00,000
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r,500,000

4,600,000

$ 25.000,000

$ 6,970,000

5,03 1,3s0

6,276,264

1,319,670
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1,500,000
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$ 26,379,005

$ 6,970,000
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$ 22,789,859

5s.894

$ 5s,894

$ 6,970,000

5,031 ,350

6,276,261

),3t9,670

681,721

1,500,000

1,066,748

$ 22,845,753

Schedule l5
Page I

Estimated
Percentages

of Completion

r00.00%

r 00 00%

r00 00%

I 00 00%

r00.00%

r00 00%

23.t9%

I 00 00%

r00.00%

59.12o/o

r00.00%

s8 99%

60.44%

100.00%

47.0r%

r00.00%
100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

Oconee County. Georgia
Schedule ofSpecial Purpose Local Option Sales Tar

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,2016

Original
Estimated

Cost

Revised

Estimated
Cost

Expenditures
Prior
Years

Current
Yea r

2004 Referendum***

Water & Sewer improvements

Recreation & culhral facilities

Roads

Jail expansion

Emergency operations c€nter

Fire station project

County facilities expansion

and renovation

Totals

2009 Referendum***

Recreation facilities

County Jail ard Emergency

Operation Center-g1 I Building

Water & Sewer facilities

Roads, Streets & Bridges

Recreational, Historic and Scenic

Facilities

Fire Station Facilities and

Equipment

Communication Facilities

Farmland Protection

Payment to Cities
City of Watkinsville
Town ofBogart
Town ofNorth High Shoals

Town of Bishop

Totals

$ 4,847,985

6,059,98 I

6,884,176

8.080.020

1,1 r0,999

3,939,0t4

3,232.001

504,984

3,227,960

1,6 16,000

674,680

222.200

$ 40.400.000

$ 4,053,402

5,857,522

4,2r2,355

6,7 ss.704

928,906

3,293,400

3.4s4.937

122,216

2,698,890

1,3s 1,134

s64,098

185,78 l

$ 33,778,34s

$ 3,663.672

5,857,s22

t,052,125

6,7 55,704

474,761

t,9t2,483

3,454,937

198,500

2.567,411

r,285,3t2
536,618

176,730

s 27,935,775

389,730

r,438,348

73,164

78,000

l3 1,480

65,822

27,481

9.0s 1

$ 2,213.076

$ 4,0s3,402

5,857,522

2.490,473

6,755,704

547,92s

r,990,483

3,4s4,937

198.s00

2,698,891

1,35 1.134

564,099

l 85,78 r

$ 30,148,8_51

6l



5,592,000

I 2, I 00.000

12,000,000

500.000

3,0r 9,s00

1,500,000

250.000

2,000,000

2,000,000

7s0,000

850,000

3,158,000

3, r 00,000

475.000

4.746.500

1,496,000

1,089,000

5,592,000

12,r 00,000

l 2,000.000

500,000

3,0 19,s00

I,500,000

250,000

2,000,000

2,000,000

7s0,000

850,000

3. l 58,000

3,100.000

475,000

4,746,500
1,,196,000

1,089,000

380.470

454.204

sr.947

48.1 I 8

983,637

380.470

454.204

5r,947

48,1 1 8

983,637

Schedule I 5

Page2

6.80%

0.00%

3.790

0.00Y.

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

0.00%

2.60%

0.00%

0.00%

r.52%

3r.73%

0.00o/o

9.290

9.29o/o

9.29%
9.29o/o

Oconee Count-v, Georgia
Schedule ofSpecial Purpose Local Option Sales Tax

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,2016

2015 Referendum t**

Recreation facilities

Water & Sewer facilities

Roads, Streets & Bridges

Farmland ftotection

F ire Station and Rescue Facilities
and

equipment

Civic Center Facilities

Historic and Scenic Facilities

Library Facilities

General Cormty Facilities

Animal Control Facilities

Economic Development Facilities

Recreational and Park Facilities

Larv Enforcement Facilities and

equipment

Technology Facilities

Payment to Cities
City of Watkinsville
Torvn ofBogart
Town ofNorth High Shoals

Town of Bishop

Totals

374,000 374.000

$ s5,000,000 $ s5,000.000 $ -

441.067 441,067

139,015 139,015

101,19s 10r.195

34,754 34,7s4

2,634,407 $ 2,634.407

223.5r8

$ 2,8s7,925

Principal payment on law enforcement equipme[t purchased using capital lease

Total expenditures and transfers reported in the SPLOST 201 5 fund

***The Original Estimated Cost ofeaoh project may change as actual costs are incurred.



Oconee County, Georgia
Schedule of State Contractual Assistance
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,2016

Contract
Number

Actual Revenue
Received

Current
Expenditures

Schedule 16

Amount Due
To/From

StateState Program Name

Family Connection 93-161600096 $ 33,750 $ 45,000 $ 11,250

63



Oc+nnc Crunty Board of Commissioners

Certifi cation of 9- 1 - I Expenditures

For the Year Ettdod June 30, 2016

Line
Nr.

lodic0(i: UCEA furd Typc Us$ to Aoc*unt for 9-l -l Aolivity (choors oftoJl

-.-j[ . Specinl RevcnucFund *---.,,,- Entcrprlle Fund

Erpaldituxes (UCOA Activig 1800)

Wircl*ss scwicu supplier cost recnvery charge s

fid*ntily e*ch supptier individually on li$es balow - ottauh ljst, ifneqa$ary]

UMB Whotre$sl* Bauk (SprinUNextel)

iqds:Jii(lj ; l1iii,il

irB*if i1:r

XPf;il.};,iii

i{F5il ll

t,$?'{.6#

49,142.&r'l

5I6.9,12.9{

_ _?ieErf.rr-

(,l2] 6n

s

$

AT&'r MoLililv

Iintergency tetephone equip*rr.on1 incitrding n+xtsery effiprter hardwarc,

oflware. and databqss prnvltianing; addrEsrinf, *nd nonrsurring s06tsof
cuablis[ing l 9-l-t systcr*:

3a Lcs$fco*fJ

3h Putohescco*ts

}r Msintgoancs{otts

4 Riles *sstoioted rvith fie sen'icc supplienc 9-l-t sen'ice ond other wrvice

supplicrs ncuning chorges

5 Employeu3hirc sulclYfor
filsinKranceof maodem a$

diryctort ts delined in O.C.G.A. $c6-5-I38.2

,a $rl*ies ond trag*r

5b Employeehcneftts

6 Cosl of$*ining ofemploycts who wo* at dispotc}en nr diruEilrs

? Ollie suppl ier cf the prr$tic salety answritg poitlu used dinofly in

8

8a

$b

I

9s

9b

k

t0

il
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fprioling tmergc*iy 9-I-l pubhc edu&rinn rnterielr

Loggrng recordcrs u*d lt a publie safety antwering point to record

tobphooc and rsdio tnffir:

tsasB Nosls

P$rshu$e corlx

Maintsnance stxls

4h:,,ljl:r{i}X,r(Ali,tjl;; I j.i i l s
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Ocon*e County Board of Cotnrtrissiorierx

Crrtifimtion *l 9- l -l Lxpendi{ures

For tlw Year Ended trune 3n, 2015

Lirre
No.

I lnsurancc pumhasrd tn insure again*t risks rnd tiatility in (he o.peralion and maiatffime
*fthe f" 1. I system or: behalfof{hu loral goverrrureit tt rrn hdlalf.oferaployetn hired
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Oconee CounS Bonrd of, Cornmissioners

Certification of 9-l.l Bxpendiiures
For thu Ysar Endsd June3Q 2016

Cortiticntign q.f.I*qfi .!.Sp.yF,f*,rqaql Off iclnlF

I heve revienrd {Ire infonnation prerrmrd in tlrir report and certify thut it is accurutr rnd corr*ci. I furtlcr re*i$' that
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Oconee County, Georgia
Watkinsville, Georgia

Stifel Nicoluas & Company, Incorporated
Atlanta, Georgia

Regions Bank
Atlanta, Georgia

The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A.
Atlanta, Georgia

Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 20174;
Revenueand $ Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Taxable Refunding

Bonds, Series 2017B

Ladies and Gentleman:

We have acted as Bond Counsel to Oconee County, Georgia (the "County") in connection with the issuance
by the County of the $ Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A
(the "Series 2017A Bonds") and $ Oconee County, Georgia Water and Sewerage Taxable Refunding
Revenue Bonds, Series 2017B (the "Series 20178 Bonds" and, together with the Series 20174 Bonds, the "series
2017 Bonds"). In such capacity, we have examined (i) a certified copy of the validation proceedings relating to the
Series 2017 Bonds conducted in the Superior Court of Oconee County, Georgia, (ii) the Constitution and laws of the
State of Georgia, including specifically the Revenue Bond Law of the State of Georgia (O.C.G.A. Section 36-82-60
etseq.) (iii)theresolutionoftheCountyadoptedonOctober23, lggs,assupplementedonNovember3, 1998,as
amended and supplemented on July 18, 2003, as amended and supplemented on September 1,2009, as

supplemented on October 22,2009, as amended and supplemented on June 26,2072, as supplemented on July 12,
2072, as supplemented on September 20, 2017 , and as supplemented on ,2017 (the "Bond Resolution")
and (iv) such other laws, certified proceedings, documents, instruments and certifications as we have deemed
necessary to render this opinion. In all such examinations, we have assumed the genuineness of signatures on
original documents and the conformity to original documents of all copies submitted to us as certified, conformed or
photographic copies, and as to certificates of public officials and others, we have assumed the same to have been
properly given and to be accurate.

The Series 2017 A Bonds are being issued by the County for the purpose of financing the renovation and
improvement of the Calls Creek Wastewater Reclamation Facility and the acquisition, construction and installation
of additional water and sewer facilities and equipment and paying the costs of issuance related thereto. The Series
20178 Bonds are being issued by the County for the purpose of refunding the outstanding aggregate principal
amount of the County's Water and Sewerage Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2009 (the "series 2009 Bonds") and
paying the costs of issuance related thereto.

Re



The County has heretofore issued its Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2003 (the "Series 2003
Bonds") and its Water and Sewerage Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2012 (the "Series 2012 Bonds"), pursuant to
the Bond Resolution. The Series 2003 Bonds, the Series 2012 Bonds and the Series 2017 Bonds and any additional
parity bonds issued pursuant to the Bond Resolution are secured by a lien on the net revenues (as more fully
described in the Bond Resolution) (the "Net Revenues") derived from the operation of the County's water and

sewerage system (the "System"). The Series 2017 Bonds do not constitute a debt of the County within the meaning
of any constitutional debt limitations of the State of Georgia, andno holder of a Series 2017 Bond shall everhave
the right to compel any exercise of the taxing power of the County to pay any Series 2017 Bond or the interest

thereon. The Series 2017 Bonds are payable solely from the Net Revenues and the other moneys specifically
pledged to the payment thereof.

Regarding questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon representations of the County and
certified proceedings and other certifications of public officials and others furnished to us without undertaking to
verifl, the same by independent investigation.

Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that under existing law:

l. The County has the power to adopt the Bond Resolution, perform the agreements on its part
contained therein, and issue the Series 2017 Bonds.

2. The Series 2017 Bonds have been duly authorized and executed by the County, and are valid and

binding limited obligations of the County, payable solely from the Net Revenues of the System and others funds
provided therefor in the Bond Resolution.

3. The Bond Resolution has been adopted by the County and constitutes a valid and binding
obligation of the County enforceable against the County.

4. The Bond Resolution creates a valid lien on the Net Revenues of the System for the security of the
Series 2017 Bonds on parity with other bonds issued or to be issued (if any) under the Bond Resolution.

5. Assuming compliance with the aforementioned covenant by the Authority to maintain the
exclusion from federal gross income of interest on the Series 2017A Bonds, interest on the Series 2017A Bonds is

excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and under existing laws the interest thereon is exempt
from presents State of Georgia income taxation. The interest on the Series 2017 A Bonds will not be included as an

item of tax preference in computing the federal altemative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations;
however, such interest will be taken into account in computing an adjustment used in determining the federal
alternative minimum tax for certain corporations.

6. Under existing statutes, the interest on the Series 20178 Bonds is exempt from present State of
Georgia income taxation. We express no opinion as to any other tax consequences regarding the Series 20178
Bonds.

The rights of the owners of the Series 2017 Bonds and the enforceability of the Series 2017 Bonds and the

Bond Resolution are limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting
creditors' rights generally, and by equitable principles, whether considered at law or in equity

We express no opinion herein regarding the accuracy, adequacy, or completeness of the Official Statement
relating to the Series 2017 Bonds. Further, we express no opi-nion with respect to any federal income tax
consequences caused by the receipt or accrual ofinterest on the Series 2017 Bonds other than as expressly set forth
herein.

D-2



This opinion is given as of the date hereof, and we assume no obligation to revise or supplement this
opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention, or any changes in law that
may hereafter occur.

Very truly yows,

GRAY PANNELL & WOODWARD LLP

A Parher
By:
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Engineering Report

OvervIew
This report accompanies the Official Statement and serves to complement and append, adding context to the

many statistics and numbers presented in the Statement. The purpose of the Engineering Report is to further
describe the project needs and the System's capacity to attain and repay revenue bonds secured by the revenue

of the System, as the primary source of funding for the projects.

Executive Summary - Key Projects
With the fiscal year 2017 budget, the Oconee County Board of Commissioners authorized the design and

construction of certain water and wastewater projects as part of the Utility Departments Capital lmprovements

Program.

lncluded in that proBram are the following:

o Calls Creek Water Reclamation Facility (WRF) Upgrade to 1.5 MGD

o Northwest Pressure Zone Water System lmprovements

Ca{[s Creek WR$' {-lpgrade to 1.5 MGm
A portion of the proceeds of the Series 2077 A Bonds will be used for the
purpose of financing or refinancing the costs of renovating and improving the

Calls Creek Wastewater Reclamation Facility (the "Calls Creek WRF") and

acquiring, constructing and installing other water and sewer facilities and

equipment (the "Projects"). The expected completion date of the total
Projects is December 37,2018.

Based on existing wastewater flows and long range flow forecasts from the
Water Demond ond Wostewoter Woter Demond ond Wostewoter Flow Forecosts through 2050, the County

authorized construction of the upgrade in February 2017 with Notice to Proceed on construction on May I,2Ot7.
A design / build contract was executed with Crowder Construction, lnc., Conyers, Georgia, for a not-to-exceed

amount of 513,382,49L.00. The construction phase is divided into two phases, with Part 1 consisting of 1.5 MGD

of firm treatment capacity scheduled to be commissioned approximately 1-year from the notice-to-proceed, in

August 2018. The balance of the project will follow within 460 days of the notice-to-proceed.

The Projects include the renovation and improvements of the existing Calls Creek WRF from its currently
permitted 0.67 MGD to 1.5 MGD. Such renovation and improvements include the following key elements:

Upgrade influent pumping station to 7.5 MGD Peak Flow;

Chemical feed systems for phosphorus removal and pH / alkalinity control;

1.5 MGD biological treatment system with associated tankage and aeration equipment;

Ultra-violet disinfection system;

Effluent flow monitoring flume;

Upsized effluent pipeline;

Common woll, circulor aerotion

bosins will odd needed treotment

copocity ot Cdlls Creek plont.

a

a

a

a

a

a
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Conversion of existing 0.5 MG gallon aeration basin into solids holding tank;

Bio-solids dewatering building including screw press;

Two nominal 60-foot diameter secondary clarifiers;

Final filtration including duplex, tertiary disk filters;

Septage receiving station for processing of septic waste from regional septic haulers.

ffiorthurest PresstEre Zerts Hlevated Storage Tanh
ln addition to the improvements to the Calls Creek WRF, a portion of the proceeds of the

Series 2OL7 A Bonds will be used for the purpose of financing or refinancing the costs of
acquiring, constructing and installing an additional elevated water storage facility known

as the Northwest Oconee Pressure Zone, which includes a 250,000 gallon elevated storage

tank, a booster pumping station and associated water line connections. Such elevated

water storage facility will be constructed for the purpose of providing acceptable system

pressure and fire flow for the planned Dove Creek Elementary School, located in

the northwest part of the County (the Storage Tank Project).

The addition of 250,000 gallons of elevated storage at the NW Pressure Zone, in

a

a

a

a

a

The Project will be constructed over

opproximotely 75-months, beginning in

lote 2077 with completion in Morch 20L9.

combination with a 750,000 gallon Watkinsville tank in 2019, will increase the Systems storage to approximately

1-day's average demand or 2.75 MG.

Background

F{istory
Oconee County covers approximately 186 square miles and is located in Northeast Georgia approximately 60

miles east of Atlanta. Georgia's 137th county was created by a legislative act in 1875 from part of western Clarke

County. Oconee County was named for the river flowing along part of its eastern border which comes from a

Native American word meaning "spring of the hills." The County came into existence due to the fact that Clarke

County's seat was Watkinsville, but was changed to Athens in 1871. Due to demands from western Clarke County

residents (now Oconee County), the new Oconee County was created and the county seat was re-established in

Watkinsville.

The Systems
The System(s) were officially created in 1989 with the transfer of all of the assets and liabilities of the Oconee

Utility Authority (the "Authority") to the Board of Commissioners (County). The Authority was created by an Act

of the General Assembly of the State of Georgia in 1981, which act was repealed in 1989. The facilities comprising

the System date to the late 1930's when the original plans for the City of Watkinsville's water and sewerage

system were developed. The City of Watkinsville system was upgraded during the L950's and further expanded in

1986 with the construction of the Calls Creek Water Reclamation Facility (formerly the Calls Creek Water Pollution

Control Plant), an activated sludge wastewater treatment plant (the "Calls Creek WRF"). The operations of the

City of Watkinsville system were transferred to the Authority in 1984 and the assets were transferred to the

System in 1989. Since 1990, the County has expanded its systems by financing and constructing strategic capital

improvements and accepting as contributed capital, both water and sewer system infrastructure financed and

constructed by private developers.
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Grovuttr

Fopulatioxr
Population growth is directly linked to additional water supply and wastewater treatment needs. Except for
industry, manufacturing or processing, water demands and wastewater flows are directly related to the
population served. Historical population data from the decennial census for ZOLO were obtained for this report,

along with population estimates for years 201-1 through 2015 developed by the US Census Bureau.

Oconee County population forecasts through 2050 were obtained from the State of Georgia Office of Planning

and Budget (OPB); these are the same forecasts the State of Georgia Environmental Protection Division (EPD)

used for the State Water Plan Update, completed in June 2017. Figure 1 shows the OPB population forecasts

compared to earlier studies developed for the County (2005 Wastewater Strategies, 2007 Oconee County

Comprehensive Plan and the 2014 Madison-Athens Clarke-Oconee RegionalTransportation Plan, MACORT). As

seen in Figure 1, the 201-5 OPB projections, which consider the 2008 economic downturn and development
pattern shifts, are more modest than previous studies and estimates. lllustrating the impact of the 2008 Great

Recession on the region's growth, the 2005 Wastewater Strategies report forecast the 2025 population to be

higher than the OPB's 2050 population.

Figure 1. Oconee County: Comparison of Population Forecasts
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While the overall population forecasts are important, it is also vital for planning to identify where people are

located and will be located within the County. Population and geospatial data were obtained for census blocks

within Oconee County from the U.S. Census Bureau. The Census Block Group data is aggregated into watershed
basins based on United States Geologic Survey (USGS) Hydrologic Unit Code basin delineations (HUC-L2

boundaries). The basin boundaries within Oconee County are shown in Figure 2.
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TablelprovidesasummaryofthepopulationforecastsineachHUC-12Basin. Accordingtothe2015Population

Estimates, the total population was approximately 35,300 with an average of 2.81. people per household. Oconee

County is expected to continue to experience modest, but steady population growth as a regional employment

center with excellent schools, recreational amenities, and efficient transportation links to both Athens and Metro-

Atlanta.

Table 1. Population Forecasts by Basin

Bear Creek 853 930 7,017 1,110 L,20s 1,301 L,399 1,506

Calls Creek-Middle Oconee River 5,652 7,260 7,934 8,559 9,403 10,148 10,915 L1,750

Freeman Creek-Appa lachee River 502 657 71,8 784 851 918 988 1,063

Greenbrier Creek 1,099 L,t99 1,310 1,430 1,553 1,676 1.803 1,940

Lower Barber Creek 8,655 9,446 70,322 tl,268 12,23s 13,204 1,4,203 15,289

McNutt Creek 4,767 5,202 5,585 6,205 5,738 7,272 7,822 8,420

Robinson Creek 3,5s6 3,989 4,359 4,759 5,1,67 5,577 5,998 6,457

Rose Creek 1,133 L,236 1,351 1,,475 r.,501 t,728 L,859 2,001.

Sandv Creek-Oconee River 99 108 118 L29 L40 151 t62 175

Shoal Creek-Aopalachee River 573 625 584 746 810 874 941, 1,,012

Shoal Creek-Oconee River L,673 L,826 1,996 2,778 2,365 2,553 2.747 2,9s6
Turkey Creek-Appalachee River 1,995 2,777 2,379 2,597 2,820 3,043 3,274 3,524

Upper Barber Creek 2,I35 2,330 2,546 2,778 3,017 3,2s6 3,s02 3,771,

Wildcat Creek-Oconee River 924 1,009 L,102 L,203 7,307 1,,41,O L,517 1,533

Wolf Creek-Aooalachee River 448 489 535 583 634 684 73s 792

Total 35,265 38,483 42,056 45,9O4 49,846 53,795 57,855 62,289

Annuol Growth Rote 1.8% 1.9% 1.8% 1.7% L.6% 1.s% L.5%

Figure 2. Oconee County Watershed Basins
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Water Semrand Fcnecasts
Oconee County currently provides water service to approximately 10,700 connections (customers). Based on

water billing records from January 201,4 through June 2017, there are approximately 7,600 residential customers
and 3,100 commercial, industrial and institutional customers. Approximately 70% of customers are residential
resulting in nearly 60%of the Oconee County population with waterservice based on population statistics of 2.8I
persons per residential connection. The one significant industrial water customer is Ameripride Services, lnc.,

located in Watkinsville.

Futue e Frojectflons by Caestomer C;xtegory
As determined in the County's updated Water and Wastewater Master Plan, Figure 3 summarizes the water
demand forecasts by customer category.

Figure 3. Water Demand Forecasts by Customer Category
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The County's planning process identified gaps in existing treatment capacity and future water demands.

Permitted water supply and treatment capacity is on a maximum day basis. Similarly, Figure 4 describes the
Demand Forecasts expressed as the need for additional treated water capacity. Figure 4 compares the maximum
day water demand forecasts to the maximum day water supply available from the Upper Oconee Water Basin

Authority (UOBWA). As seen on Figure 4, the available water supply should be sufficient through 2045, atwhich
point additional water supply will be needed from either the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir or from purchase of
water supply from another UOBWA member.
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Figure 4. Water Demand Forecasts Compared to Treatment and Supply Capacities

7.5

)i)25 "rtrt! ?{.i.1 {
'r'enr

E& AvS LU'r' l)r!?t3rru ffi{S fi4^t iJdy ffi U,iSl.+A s{ratd rBitc. Suufl! F!r} f,U? * * U[V\ry{$?]r,v lV] y tJgBilt! Md.. L}dr*

Figure 4 also presents Oconee County's share of the current maximum day capacity of the UOBWA's Bear Creek

Water Treatment Plant, which is 4.0 MGD. Oconee County has a need for additional treated water capacity within
the next few years. Conversations with other UOBWA members who have excess capacity are underway to
obtain additional treated water.

The UOBWA water treatment plant is expandable to 42 MGD, and, if the current entitlement share is used, this
would result in 8 MGD of available water treatment capacity for Oconee County. The water demand forecasts

indicate the 8 MGD of treatment capacity will be exceeded between 2035 and 2040. However, discussions about

the entitlement share of future water treatment capacity needs to occur as Barrow and Jackson Counties are

using far less than the entitlement share and may be willing to consider other options for the future.

Oconee County proactively joined with Walton County to build the Hard Labor Creek Reservoir, from which
additional water supply may be obtained in the future. The next steps of the master planning process will develop

and compare water supply and treatment options in sufficient detail to develop cost estimates and make

recommendations to meet the future water needs of Oconee County.

Wastewater S'}ow Forecasts
Oconee County currently provides wastewater service to approximately 2,400 customers. Based on billing

records from 20L4 through June2OL7, there are 1,730 residentialcustomers and 710 non-residentialcustomers
(commercial/institutional) and two significant industrial customers, Benson's Bakery and Ameripride Services,

lnc., located in the Cities of Bogart and Watkinsville, respectively.
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Two facilities provide wastewater treatment in Oconee County, the Calls Creek Water Reclamation Facility (WRF)

just inside the Watkinsville City Limit, and the Rocky Branch Land Application System (LAS), located on the
growing unincorporated western side of the County, near the Eastville Community. Calls Creek WRF is permitted

to discharge 0.667 million gallons per day (MGD) on a monthly average, (also known as maximum month average

day) basis to Calls Creek. EPD has given tentative concurrence with the Design Development Report to expand

CallsCreekWRFtol.5MGD;adesign-buildexpansionofthefacilityisunderway. TheRockyBranchLASis

permitted to treat and subsequently land-apply up to 0.400 MGD on a MMAD basis. Rocky Branch LAS also has

attached an inactive 1.0 MGD discharge permit to Barber Creek, recently renewed in2Ot7 and expiring in May

2022.

As determined in the County's updated Water and Wastewater Master Plan, Figure 5 summarizes the wastewater

flow forecasts by cumulative capacity need. The Master Plan identified gaps in existing treatment capacity and

future flows. Permitted treatment capacity is on a maximum-month, average-day basis. Figure 5 provides a

comparison of flows on a maximum month average day and current treatment capacity. Phasing for future
expansions is also indicated.

Figure 5. Wastewater Forecasts Compared to Existing Treatment Capacity
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Systern Conditions

Overview
The County'sWoter ond Wostewater Systems Ordinonce, adopted in February 4,2003, provides the legal

framework for which all regulatory, procedural and commercial business is conducted by the System. Under the

County's Woter and Wastewoter Standords Ordinance, adopted originally December 19,2000, and later updated

January 4,2OLL, all water and sewerage facilities and improvements, both public and private, within the
jurisdiction of the County, including water lines, sewers, ground water wells, plants, pumping stations, force

mains, and other equipment, must be designed, constructed, and conveyed to the County as capital assets.

The Water and Wastewater Systems operate as described in the following two subsections.

&Vatex:

Finished (potable and drinking) water is supplied to the 10,950 customers of the System through 290 miles of
transmission and distribution main. The water system's pressure datum is generated by the Upper Oconee Basin

Water Authority's high service pumping station located at the Bear Creek Water Treatment Plant located in

JacksonCounty. Thatpumpingstationisbackedupbynaturalgasfiredgenerators,incaseofemergency.
Oconee County imports approximately 96% of its water from the UOBWA into the Oconee County transmission

pipeline, sending the finished water to its elevated storage reservoirs.

The elevated storage reservoirs, equaling 1.75 MG, currently store

approximately one-half day's average daily demand. The addition of the
250,000 gallons of elevated storage at the NW Pressure Zone, in combination

with a 750,000 gallon Watkinsville tank in 20L9, will increase the Systems

storage to approximately 1-day's average demand or 2.75 MG.

The elevated storage tanks allow the County to operate three pressure zones

based on 1010-, 974-, and 920-feet mean sea level, matching the system

working pressure to the topography through the distribution system. Matching the working pressure to the
topography optimizes pressurization of the distribution system, providing most customers with a desirable 60 to
70 psi working pressure, while reducing the effects of leaks, and conserving water at the customer interface.

Wastewater'
Wastewater generated by the 2,400 customers of the system is collected and transported to the treatment plants

by 84 miles of gravity sanitary sewers and force mains. Thirty-five pumping stations are used to lift the
wastewater across the topography on the routes to the treatment plants. The County treats wastewater at its
two plants, the Calls Creek WRF located in Watkinsville, and at the Rocky Branch Land Treatment Facility (LAS),

located in the Eastville community, near Bogart.

The current permitted design capacity of Calls Creek WRF is 0.567 MGD. ln 2016, the County received a Waste

Load Allocation from Georgia EPD to prepare to expand Calls Creek WRF to 1.5 MGD. The 1.5 MGD Upgrade is

underway and will be commissioned in August of 2018. The LAS was commissioned into service in July, 2002. This

facility was initially permitted for 200,000 gallons per day ("GPD"), and was later re-rated to a handle a capacity of
400,000 GPD. ln 2OL7, Georgia EPD approved the County's construction plans to improve and optimize the design

capacity of the LAS facility. Those improvements are underway and should be commissioned by March 2018.
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Management Focus and Activitles
The following narratives provide an overview of the key focus areas of the management team and how the system

operates the system on a day to day basis.

0penasionas
The management team is structured as illustrated in Figure 6. Daily operations are overseen by the Director and

Assistant Director, with priority focus on the three following areas.

Water Business Office

Operations and Maintenance

Engineering

The management team and staff possess licenses and credentials required by the State of Georgia and EPD for
operation and management of public water and sewer systems. Table 2 describes said qualifications.

fi*mproving Revenue
With the improving economy in 2015, Utility Department saw impressive growth in rate revenue and capacity

charges in Fiscal Years 2015 and 2077. However, it was not that far in the past that this situation was not the

case.

Oconee County, along with the rest of North Georgia, experienced a crippling drought in 2OO7 - 2008, now

recorded as the State's Record Drought. Combined with the Great Recession of 2008,

this two-fold economic collapse shut down much of the pre-recession revenue sources

including capacity charges and rate revenues, rate revenue trimmed substantially due to
local and State mandated reductions in water consumption.

Although the Great Recession was declared over in June 2009, the economic picture in

Oconee County began to move in a positive direction in approximately 2014 as

commercial development began to return. ln order to obtain an independent review of
the financial capacity of the system, the Department commissioned a Comprehensive

Water and Wastewater Rate Study and development of a Financial Model in 2016. That Study was completed in

2077 and forms the basis of the financial projections contained later in this Report.

ln addition to water and sewer rate increases for 2018 through 2021, target recommendations from the Rate

Study include the following best management practices concerning cash reserve targets and ratios:

o Cash Reserves: Operating Funds = 90 Days of Operating Expenses

o Cash Reserves: Capital Funds =2%oof Gross Assets

o Net Revenue Equal to or Greater Than 150% of Annual Total Debt Service

o Net Revenue Plus Debt Equal to or Greater lhan 70% of Depreciation

o Outstanding Debt to Depreciated Assets Equal to or Less Than 50%

Our financial model will strive to incorporate these best management practices over the coming years, with the FY

2018 Budget beginning to reserve greater cash reserves to cover unforeseen operations and maintenance

expenses, and to set aside capital reserves for renewal and replacement. The FY 2018 Budget recognizes a

significant increase in FY 2017 Revenue attributed to the growth in customer numbers realized in 201-6 and 2OL7.

a

a

a

M eter cho n ge-out progro ms

from2006 - 2070 improved

on unbilled woter.
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Figure 6. - Management Structure
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Table 2. Staffand Qualifications

Wayne Haynie
Director State of Georgia, Florida

Donald M. Baughcum Class I Water Operator 7-28-7998
Assistant Director Class lll Wastewater Operator

Water Laboratory Analyst

Jenanne White Administrative Assistant Certified 9-06-2005
Ad ministrative Assista nt
Gloria Batson Master's Degree 6-13-20L6
BusinessOfficeManager BusinessAdministration

Distribution Certified
Collections Certified
Erosion Control Level 1b

Ryan Meeler
Utility lnspector

Erin Carlton Class I Wastewater Operator LO-L2-20L5

Paul Ludwig Class I Wastewater Operator 12-28-2010

Mark VonKutzleben Class lll Wastewater Operator 3-L0-2OL4
Wastewater Operator ll
Jake Hayes Class lll Wastewater Operator 5-9-2016
Wastewater Operator !l
Randy Bolton Class lll Wastewater Operator 4-1,-20LG
Wastewater Operator ll
tance Raines

D&C Supervisor
Distribution Certified
Collections Certified
Erosion Control Level 1a

David Lewis
Asst. Supervisor
Utility Worker ll

Distri bution Certified
Erosion Certified

Shane Stone
Utility Worker Il

Distribution Certified
Erosion Certified

Eddie Fouche
Utility Worker I

Distribution Certified
Collections Certified

tL-19-2007

Nick Hensley Bachelors - CriminalJustice 6-L3-2016

Tracie Metcalf Collections Certified 9-29-2OL4
Maintenance Supervisor Erosion Certified
John Johnson
Utility Worker lll

4-21-20t7

Kanelvis Smith
Utility Worker lll
WillCrook
Utility Work l!!

8-2-2017

Class ll Water Operator 9-L2-20L2
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Jeff Sheffield Distribution Certified 72-3-2070
Water Operator lll Erosion Certified
Ginger Thrasher Assoc. Degree Accounting 7L-22-2OO4

Accounts Technician Water Laboratorv Analvst
Sandy Maxwell
Customer Service Rep.

3-31-2008

Lisa Bowman
Customer Service Rep.

6-72-2017

Sper-ati om & MaEtrte!'B;rclce Expenses
The FY 2018 Operations and Expense Budget recognizes significant growth in several areas, including the following

key areas:

Wholesale water purchases from UOBWA to cover customer growth;

Additional staffing including Assistant Engineer; and,

Capital Expense Reserves for Water & Wastewater Renewal and Replacement.

W\arxeexuag

The Department commissioned an update of the 2006 Wastewater Strategies in 2016. ln July of 20!7 , the Water

and Wastewater Master Plan Update was completed, covering long range water demands, wastewater flow
projections and recommended alternatives for water and wastewater treatment capacity through year 2050. A
portionoftheseprojectionsarepresentedinFigures3through5intheparagraphsabove. TheBoardof
Commissioners will review and discuss this Update in October 2017, with a subsequent vote on general

acceptance of the plan before calendar year 2018.

lxrxtovatioxr
FY 18 will include innovations in technology including the following:

o Pilot project - Advanced Metering lnfrastructure: Advanced meters, capable of sending customer

consumption information over the internet, will be implemented in the commercial corridor along Epps

Bridge Parkway in calendar year 2018.

. Automated meter functions: Following suit with the AMI functions, on f off ,life-line flow functions, and

cut-offs will be implemented on pilot and other metering locations of interest.

o Mapping & asset management: Expanding the Department's outreach to the private sector for expertise,

the System will request qualifications from consultants specializing in asset management in 2018. A plan

for the development of an asset management program will be requested.

Reguf,atory Oversight
sts*,..i1.:**-.* *-s
s E(&B&SSWASt A U

a

a

a

Regulatory oversight of the Water and Wastewater Systems falls under the State of
Georgia Department of Natural Resources, Environmental Protection Division. The

System has performed in such a fashion that it has received the Georgia Association

of Water Professionals' Platinum Award for fifteen straight years. The award can be

earned annually by systems that achieve zero violations of State Standards.

W#teF ,$ysferm Sateit*ry Survey: For the water system, EPD's Sanitary Survey is the

triennial inspection for conformance with State standards for all water agencies.

*akln:ivd:{' :y\(?ri
Ocsnta ("snB Ut{ll!? ftepartr*rt

, <i\r.i?rr:< o:{r:dkd,!r ar/zz

ts$ri v$+4 r,&r&r*"d: r\r, vJi

: 1r \ i' \ st , :' " i
i '*../' " l

The System hos eorned

lndustry Plotinum Aword for
15 years stroight
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Oconee County's last inspection was on September 2,201,6 with the subsequent report of "in compliance" with
the Georgia Rules for Safe Drinking Water.

W$ter Syste*w ,4nmwal Aatefff; Originating with the 2011 State Water Plan, Oconee County conducts and

responds to EPD on the Annual Water Audit, an accounting of water use and stewardship of the County's water
resources. Between calendar years 2015 and 2016, the most recent reporting period, Oconee County's water loss

has been reduced by 2.4% or 3 million gallons. The calenda r year 2017 audit period is currently in progress.

Water Testimg Lwb*t'*t*ry: Oconee County operates a State EPD Certified Water Testing Laboratory for the
determination of Coliform and E-Coli Bacteria. The Laboratory's last certification inspection was performed

January 9,20L7 and was found in compliance with EPD standards.

Stage # Srstrtpcf *nt *wd Disinfection Eyproducfs; Regarding sampling for Trihalomethanes and Haloacetic

Acids, which are linked to carcinogens, tests are conducted on a quarterly basis with the last sampling being
performedonAugustLS,2OTT. Resultsarecalculatedusinganannual runningaverage;OconeeCountyhas
maintained compliance since 2013, the inception date for the State's testing program.

{,esd and t*pper Rufe; The latest Lead and Copper sampling occurred on July 1.,2076; all samples were found

to be in compliance with State Requirements.

tksditslttgir:txl'l'esting frsr Gt'oundw*ter W*lls: Any system that utilizes groundwater or has a blend of
groundwater in its supply is required to sample for radioactive elements. County wells were sampled in June

2006 and found to be in compliance with State Requirements. The next series of tests are planned for2023.

Dr*exght Marnag*emefit amd \ffaten Cornsex"vaEiox"a FEams

One of the greatest risks to North Georgia's water agencies is drought. Situated

downstream on a relatively small stream, the Atlanta Metro area is very

susceptible to moderate and prolonged drought. Although Oconee County is

not dependent on the Chattahoochee River as is Metro Atlanta, we are mindful

that the Oconee River system, our raw water supply, is fed by a rather small

watershed.

Georgio EPD approval of DMP

or'ws tJoBWA o pror"rr-yor: oo,nn Drought is impossible to contain as we cannot prevent the onset, or predict

out of stotewide woter restririionl how long it will last. water restrictions brought on by drought can pose the

bosedonsoundscience. greatestrisktotheannual revenueperformanceofthesystem. Droughtcanbe
managed however. Oconee County, with our regional partners in the UOBWA,

developed an approach to manage drought where the effects are predicted early and the responses are
graduated through a series of early steps designed to extend our ability to weather and survive the drought
period with as little impact on revenue performance as possible.

The UOBWA adopted a Drought Management Policy and Contingency Plan (DMP) in March of 2015 that includes a

unique Water Supply Model that forecasts the onset of drought by scoring the most widely accepted

environmental, geological, and weather related data points, historical statistics, and forward looking probabilities.

The Model is a decision tool which allows early adjustments in our drought response designed to extend

remaining days of water supply in our reservoir.
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The Plan and Modelwere reviewed and approved for use by the Georgia EPD for our region on March 76,201-6.

EPD's concurrence letter is contained in the Appendix. Oconee County adopted the UOBWA Drought

Management Policy and Contingency Plan with our own local legislation entitled Drought Water Conservation

Ordinance in October 2016.

Oconee County's Water System operates under the Department's Water Conservation Plan, last updated in

November 2013 and currently being updated.

Capital lmprovements Plan
The Department maintains short or tactical, medium, and long range forecasts for Capital lmprovements for years

2017 through2022 and beyond.

Tables 3 and 4 are short range, working summaries of projects included in the 2017-2018 Water & Wastewater

Capital lmprovements Plan. The Department uses these more detailed plans, including gross cash flow
projections, to complete the annual budget and assist the Finance Department with projecting funding needs and

cash flow projections. Projects contained in the Series 2017 Bond lssue are contained in these tables. The tables

include spillover capital expenditures from FY 16 through FY 19.

Table 5 is a more strategic, 10-year forecast adopted by the Board in previous years to illustrate high level project

projections. Annually, the Department reviews the long term plans, reviewing project priorities and funding

levels, then adjusts the short term plans as needed.

Figures 7 and 8 illustrate the projects contained in Table 5 in a graphical fashion.
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Table 3. FY 2017-2OlB Water System Improvements
fY 2017.2018 Water $ystEm lmpiovements

Proicrt Desf rintion . . :., )rooosed Fundins Source Gf,FA Loan Estimated Cosl

FY Tota I

20x6

FY Total

z017 FYTotal 2018 FY Totat 2019

Tot'rl

Water System

2017 Water System Drought Resiliency Projects

Watkinsville 0.75 MG Elevated Storage Tank

Co nstructio n

Design

Pressure Zone PRV lnstallations

Pressure Zone Water Main Extensions

Union Church Road Closure

Rays Church Road Extension

Thrasher Drive / White Street Water Line Replacements

Co nstructio n

St. Marys Highland Hills Water Main Extension

E ngineering

Co nstructio n

NW Oconee Pressure Zone lmp 0.25 MG Storage Tank

Constructio n

Design & Construction Phase Services

Barrow County / UOBWA Capacity Feasibility

Walton County lnterconnection lmprovements (US 78 BPS)

Parkway Boulevard Water Main Extension

Water Master Planning Study

Mars Hill Road Phase ll Utility Relocations

Water Meter Replacements

FY 2017 Water & Sewer Rate Study & Financial Model

Co nsulta nt

Water Availa bility Fees

Water Availa bility Fees

Water Availa bility Fees

R

R

enewal & Replacement

enewal & Replacement

enewal & Replacements

SPLOST

SPLOST

2017 A Bonds

201.7 A Bonds

2017 A Bonds

Renewal & Replacement

Renewal & Replacement

IDA Bond lssue (External)

Operating Fund

SPLOST

Renewal & Replacement

Operating Fund

3,200,000

130,000

400,000

85,000

680,000

10,000

200,000

1,95s,000

110,000

250,000

390,000

40,000

300,000

235,000

27,OOO

S

S

s

S

s

S

s

5

)
s

s

s

s

S

S

s

S

S

S

S

s

s

s

S

s

)
s

S

S

S

S

S

s

s

s

s

s

5

5

S

5

s

s

s

S

10,000

190,000

25,000

3s,000

25,000

s

5

S

5

S

S

$

S

S

s

s

s

s

s

S

S

i
s

S

S

S

S

s

s

S

5

s

5

5

s

s

$

S

S

S

S

$

s

10,000

390,000

1s,000

2,000

S

s

s 300,000

5 9s,0oo

s

5-
S

S

S

S

s 580,000

s

S
(

s
(

5-
S r,o7s,ooo

s 110,000
(

75,000

s

s

S

S

5

$

S

S

S

5

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

s

S

s 2,900,000

s 3s,000

s 400,000

s

5

5

s

)
S

5

S

S

s

S

S

S

s

)
5

s

s

s

s

s

s

85,000

890,000

250,000

300,000

125,000S

S

S

S

S

S

s

S

S

S

S

s 3,200,000

S 13o,ooo

s 400,000

)-
S.
s 8s,ooo

5

S

S

s 680,000

S

s 1o,ooo

s 200,000

s

s

S 1,95s,ooo

S rro,ooo

5-
s

s

S

)
S

S

S

S

S

S

5

s

s
s

250,000

390,000

40,000

300,000

235,000

21,OO0

Tota l: S 28s,ooo S 4u,ooo s 2.335.000 s 4.985.000 s 8.022.000

Totals S 8,022,000 S 28s,ooo s 417,000 s 2.335.000 s 4.985.000
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Table 4. FY 20L7-2OLB Wastewater System Improvements
tY 2017 - 2018 Wastewater Syilem 

lmpovements

Froiect oescription ... . . i.: Proposed Fundins Source GEFA Loan Estiffiated Cosl

FY Tota I

2016

FY Total

2017

FY Ti5t6I

2018

FY Total

2019

Tota I

Wastewater System

Calls Creek WRF Upgrade

Phase ll Services - Final Design & Construction
Phase I Services - 80% Design & GMP Development

Owner Engineering / Const Mgmt

Rocky Branch LAS Sludge Removal

Rocky Branch WRF Feasibility

Rocky Branch LAS Aeration Equipment Purchase & lnstallation

ACC Diverslon - Phase I (Engineering)

ACC Diversion - Phase I (Construction)

McNutt's Creek Trunk Sewer Phase ll
Easement Acquisition

Calls Creek Plant Outfall TO Middle Oconee

Survey & Engineering

Easement Acquisition

Sewer Collection System lnfiltration & lnflow Reduction

2016 Pumping Station lmprovements

Bogart Area Sewer System lmprovements Planning & Construction

Wastewater Master Plannlng Study

Veterans Park Pumping Station and Force Main - Const

Design and Construction Phase Services

FY 2017 Water & Sewer Rate Study & Financial Model

Epps Bridge Road FM Design & Services During Construction
Eoos Bridse Road FM Construction

2017 A Bonds

Capacity Fees

Capacity Fees

SPLOST

Operating

Operating Fund

SPLOST

SPLOST

SPLOST

SPLOST

Operating

Operating Fund

SPLOST

SPLOST

Operating Fund

Operating Fund

Operating Fund

Operatlng Fund

SPLOST

SPLOST

S

S

5

)
s

5

s

s

s

S

S

$

s

s

s

s

s

S

5

)
s

s

S

s

S

13,400,000

4s0,000

95,000

50,000

25,000

100,000

155,000

70,000

4,2L5,OOO

508,000

105,000

175,000

57s,000

40,000

s8s,000

25,000

77,OOO

25,000

2.000.000

S

S

S

S

S

s

5

S

s

5

S

s

5

S

s

5

s
s

s

s

S

)

s

s

S

S

s

s

s
(

150,000

s0,000

2,OOO

25,000

175,000

25,000

10,000

25,000

300,000

2s,000

s 1,63s,000

S 406,000

80,000

650,000

30,000

2,000

5

5

)
5

S

s

)
5

)
s

s

5

s

s

s

s

s

S

S

S

S

s

s

)
5

$

S
q

s 12,000,000

s

s

5 100,000

S

S

S 2,s8o,ooo

s 100,000

s

S

s

S

s

S

s

s

S

5

S sss,ooo

s 2s,000
(

s

S

S 2s,ooo

S 2.ooo.ooo

s

S

S

81,000 L4,000

5

5

S

s 1ss,000

S 7o,ooo

S

5

s

s

5

S

$

S

s
s

S

s

s

s

s

5

s

s

S

s

S

s

S 1,4oo,ooo S 13,4oo,ooo

s 4s0,000

50,000

S

s

S

S

9s,000

25,000

s 100,000

s 1ss,000

70,000

5 4,21s,000

s s08,000

s

s

S los,ooo

S

S

5 17s,ooo

s 67s,000

S

s

s

S

5

s

5 40,000

S

S sss,ooo
2s,000

27,OOO

25,000

S 2,ooo,ooo

Tota s S 22,72s,000 S 462,000 S 3,128.000 S 17,495.000 S 1.639.000 s 22,72s,O00
lota ls s 452.000 S 3,128,000 $ 17,496,000 s 1,639,000
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Table 5. 10-Year Water and Sewer Capital Improvements Program

OCONEE COUFITY UT:IITY DEPARTMENT
IO.YEAR CAPITAL IIYIPECVEME$EES PROGRAM
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Figure 7. 10-Year Water System Strategic Plan
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Figure B. 10-Year Wastewater System Strategic Plan
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Appendflx
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App*metrix A

Brought Mamagerer*mf FEan * EpD fismcaxrnemce Letten



Geo ia De rtment f Natural Resources
Environmental Protection Division . watershed protection Branch

2 Madin Luther King Jr. Drive . Suite 1 152 East . Aflanta . Georgia 30334
(4o4) 463-1511; Fax (40a) 651-84s5

Judson H. Turner, Director

March 22,2016

Mr. Melvin Davis
Chairman, Upper Oconee Water Authority
Chairman, Oconee County Board of Commissioners
305 Research Drive
Athens, Georgia 30605-2795

RE: Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority Proposed Drought Management
Policy/Contingency Plan

Dear Mr. Davis:

This letter is in response to your Proposed Drought Management Policy/Contingency plan
(Policy/Plan) dated September 16,2015 and related letters dated October 29, 2015 and November
3,2015. As stated in these materials, the Policy/Plan is intended to update the Upper Oconee Water
Authority's (Authority) Drought Contingency Plan, required to be approved by EPD in Rule 391-3-
6(4)(b)9. The Policy/Plan includes a computer model and associated policy statement to facilitate
proactive management of the Authority's water supply prior to and during drought events.

Based upon our review of the materials submitted, EPD agrees that the model is a positive step
fonruard for proactive management of water resources, During our review EPD noted some aspects
of the model that could be further improved, and we would be pleased to work with you if you are
interested in doing so. Nonetheless, the modelas proposed in the Policy/Plan is approved.

The Policy/Plan provides that the member governments will be required to reduce water use at
varying levels under certain drought conditions. The Policy/Plan does not prescribe specific water
use reduction measures, as those are left to the member governments. This is consistent with EpD
Rule 391-3-30, which provides local governments broad discretion to craft their drought water use
reduction strategies. However, in regard to restrictions on outdoor water use, the Water Stewardship
Act (O,C.G.A S 12-5-7) requires a variance from EPD in order to implement any restrictions on
outdoor water use that are either more stringent or less stringent than those imposed by the state.
Therefore, except in cases of emergency, prior to implementing outdoor water use restrictions that
differ from those imposed by the state, local government members of the Authority must first apply
for and obtain a variance from EPD. ln case of an emergency which immediately threatens ihe
public health, safety, or welfare a member government may impose more stringent restrictions on
outdoor water use without first obtaining a variance; provided, however, that such emergency
restrictions shall be valid for a period not exceeding seven days unless a variance is subsequenily
granted by EPD.

Please note that the standard for EPD to approve a variance request is "good cause," which means
evidence sufficient to support a reasonable conclusion that such additional restrictions are necessary
and appropriate (or not necessary and appropriate for less stringent requirements) to avoid or relieve
a local water shortage. The Authority's computer model is approved, and its results will be a
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valuable part of any variance request^ EPD commits to providing a quick response to variance
requests from the Authority. ln fact, the Water Stewardship Act requires ihat EPD render a decision
on variance applications within five business days.

ln summary, in accordance with Rule 391-3-6(4Xb)9, the Policy/Plan and associated computer
model are approved. Any specific outdoor water use reduciion measures by the member
governments that differ from those imposed by the state must be reviewed and approved as
described in O.C.G,A S 12-5-7 and Rule 391-3-30..08. This review, however, will include'a review of
the Authority's model results and will be expedited

lf you have any questions please feel free to contact me at 404.46g.4911 or
james, capp@dnr.ga. gov.

Sincerely,

Watershed Protection Branch

copy:
Ghip Ferguson - Attorney for Upper Oconee Water Authority
Bob snipes - owner Representative for Upper oconee water Authority
Gary Duck - Engineering Committee Chairman for Upper Oconee Water Authority
Wayne Haynie - Operations Committee Chairman for Upper Oconee Water Authority
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Appendix ts - Financial F'easibi[ity Report
PRMG (Public Resources Management Group, lnc.), Rate Consultant for Oconee County was retained to
develop an independent and comprehensive review of water and sewer rates, fees, and charges in 2016.

PRMG performed cost of service and revenue sufficiency analyses, then developed rate modelling as

part of a financial model of the enterprise fund. The financial model of the Department's Enterprise

Fund, allows "what-if' scenarios to be performed in real time based on updated budget and cost data. A
study of fixed assets and plant in service assisted with development of capital cost recovery charges.

PRMG assisted the Department in projecting debt service coverage for FY 2018 through 2022. Those

projections for debt service coverage, including the reserves discussed in the Revenue Section herein,

are described in the following Letter and Tables.
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Letten of Aut[eor'IzatE$H



Public Resources Management Group, Inc.
t..it i I i t y", ilq te. l:' in Lutr io t, an rl fuI aru ug e tn Lt fi i t l o rus u t t cn t,:;

September 22,2017

The Honorable John Daniell and
Members of the Board of Commissioners

Mr. Wayne Haynie, P.E., Director
Oconee County Board of Commissioners
23 North Main Street
Watkinsville, GA 30677

Subject: Water and Wastewater Projected Operating Results - Water and Sewerage
Revenue Bonds, Series 2017 A and Water and Sewerage Taxable Refunding
Revenue Bonds, Series 20178

Dear Chairman Daniell and Members of the Board:

Public Resources Management Group ("PRMG" or the "Feasibility Consultant") has been retained
by Oconee County (the "County") to act as the independent financial feasibility consultant for the
County and to prepare the Water and Wastewater Projected Operating Results Report (the "Report")
dated as of September27,2077 (the "Report") to be included in Appendix E in the Preliminary
Official Statement, dated on or about September 22, 2017 (the "Preliminary Official Statement")
and the Official Statement to be dated the date of pricing (the "Official Statement") for the Water
and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A (the "Series 2017A Bonds") and the Water and
Sewerage Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 20178 (the "Series 20178 Bonds" and collectively
with the Series 2017A Bonds the "Series 2017 Bonds"). The Report was prepared in accordance
with general utility industry practices for financial forecasting purposes. The Feasibility Consultant
was responsible for the compilation of the financial projections for the County's water and
wastewater utility system (the "System") as presented in this Report. The County was responsible
for providing a description of the System and a description and need of the proposed capital
improvements to be funded from the Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2017 A. PRMG
consents to the references to PRMG in the Preliminary Official Statement and the Official
Statement each relating to the Series 2017 Bonds.

Respectfully submitted,

Public Resources Management Group, Inc.

K ff\l lTl4lRpt\Op Rsulrs ReMcw LfPWG Lm (9-22-2017)

34. t hioR'r'H t\{Alll,ANn
Tel: 407-628-2600 ' Fa-x: 407-6f,8-2(i10 '

?"r-i4-O*^-'
Robert J. Ori
President

fr#.^ J*d,
K. Ryan Smith
Senior Rate Consultant

AVhlNLl[:] - Sull'l. 300 - \'XAI'['{.AND. F't, -i?751
Dmail: PRI\4GiOPRN{G iuc. com . Website : r.vu,rv. PRIv{G iuc. oorn
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September 22,2017

The Honorable John Daniell and
Members of the Board of Commissioners

Mr. Wayne Haynie, P.E., Director
Oconee County Board of Commissioners
23 North Main Street
Watkinsville, GA 30677

Subject: Water and Wastewater Projected Operating Results - Water and Sewerage
Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 20178

Dear Chairman Daniell and Members of the Board:

Oconee County, Georgia (the "County") is currently planning to issue in the aggregate principal
of not to exceed $13,500,000t11 Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2Ol7A (the "Series
2017A Bonds") and not to exceed $2,250,000t21 Water and Sewerage Taxable Refunding
Revenue Bonds, Series 20178 (the "Series 20178 Bonds" and, collectively with the Series
2017A Bonds, the "Series 2017 Bonds") on behalf of its water and wastewater utility system (the
"Utility System"). The County plans to issue the Series 2017 Bonds, along with other available
funds, to: i) fund certain capital improvements to the County's Utility System; ii) refund the
outstanding Oconee County Water and Sewerage Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2009; and
iii)pay certain expenses related to the issuance and sale of the Series 2017 Bonds. The Series
2017 Bonds are being issued pursuant to a resolution adopted by the County on October 23,
1998, as amended and supplemented by resolutions adopted by the County on November 3,
1998, July 18, 2003, September l, 2009, October 22,2009, June26, 2012, Jrily 12,2012, and
September 20,2017 (collectively, the "Bond Resolution"), authorizing the issuance of the Series
2017 Bonds by the County. The Series 2017 Bonds are anticipated by the County to be dated and
delivered on or about October 19, 2017. Capitalized undefined terms referenced in this report
shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in the Bond Resolution as defined hereinafter.

In support of the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds, the County requested that Public Resources
Management Group, Inc. ("PRMG" or the "Feasibility Consultant") work in conjunction with the
County to prepare a projection of the ability of the System Net Revenues to meet the rate
covenant as defined in the Bond Resolution. The primary purpose of our analysis is to provide
information for Stifel, Nicolaus, and Company (the "Underwriter") in connection with offering
the Series 2017 Bonds and for the other parties reviewing the Official Statement associated with
the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds. This analysis is attached to this report and provides a

[] Preliminary; as of July 24,2017 assuming a3.41%o All-ln True lnterest Cost ("TIC") as provided by the County
and is subject to change based on actual sale ofSeries 2017 Bonds.

[2] Preliminary; as of July 24,2017 assuming a3.54o/o All-ln True Interest Cost ("TIC") as provided by the County
and is subject to change based on actual sale ofSeries 2017 Bonds.

Kr\DC\l I 7l -01 \Rpt\Op Resuls Review Ltr\Operating Results Ltr (Final) docx
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The Honorable John Daniell and
Members of the Board of Commissioners

Mr. Wayne Haynie, P.E., Director
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summary of the financial projections of the County's Utility System for the hscal years ending
June 30, 2017 through 2022 (the "Forecast Period"). The financial projections in the Report
associated with the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds were based on discussions with and
information and projections provided by the County. The Underwriter provided information
regarding the Series 2017 Bonds with respect to the structure, timing, and amount of bonds to be
issued. PRMG, as the Feasibility Consultant for the System, provided assistance to the County
with respect to certain analysis utilized in the production of the projected operating results
presented in this report. PRMG believes the sources of such information, assumptions, and
projections to be reasonable for the purposes of the financial forecast included with this report
and we have no reason to believe that such information is unreliable for the purposes of the
development of such forecast. The actual results achieved during the Forecast Period as
compared to the estimates contained in the financial forecast may vary from those projected and
such variations could be material. Such projections are, therefore, subject to adjustment and we
can give no assurances that the projections will be realized.

In the preparation of this report, PRMG does not offer any opinion as to the general condition of
the Utility System, the compliance with regulations promulgated and imposed by various
agencies upon the operation of the Utility System, the estimated cost of or need for the
improvements to be funded from ongoing Utility System operations as referenced in the tables
accompanying this report, or any other engineering aspects of the Utility System. Reference is
made to the Official Statement for a discussion of the Utility System capital improvements,
facilities and conditions.

In the preparation of the report, PRMG also relied upon certain information provided by the
Underwriter regarding the timing and structure of the Series 2017 Bonds that will be secured for
repayment from the Net Revenues. The debt-related assumptions may vary from actual results
and are subject to market conditions, as well as the County's credit rating at the time of issuance.
The County expressly acknowledges that PRMG is not a "Municipal Advisor" as defined under
Section 15B(e)(a)(A) of the Exchange Act as amended by the Dodd-Frank Act and thus is not
providing advice with respect to municipal financial products or the issuance of municipal
securities, including advice with respect to the structure, timing, terms and conditions and other
similar matters concerning financial products or issues.

Projected Operating Results and Rate Covenant Compliance

Included on Table 1 attached to this report are the estimated financial projections for the Utility
System, which presents the ability of the Utility System to make payments into the Sinking Fund
equal to amounts sufficient to discharge the payment of the principal of and the interest (the
"Debt Service Payment") on the Outstanding Bondst3l and the Series 2017 Bonds (collectively

[3] The Outstanding Bonds include all of the existing senior lien Bonds issued pursuant to the Bond Resolution and
are projected to still be outstanding after the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds, which include the: i) Water and
Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2003; ii)portions of the Water and Sewerage Refunding Revenue Bonds,
Series 2009 that have not been refunded by the issuance of the Series 20178 Bonds; and iii) Water and
Sewerage Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 2012 (the "Outstanding Bonds").

K:\DC\l I 7l-01 \Rpt\Op Results Review Ltr\Operating Results Ltr (Final) docx



The Honorable John Daniell and
Members of the Board of Commissioners

Mr. Wayne Haynie, P.E., Director
September 22,2017
Page 3

with the Outstanding Bonds, the "Senior Lien Obligations") and comply with the rate covenantlal
contained in the Bond Resolution for the Forecast Period (the "Financial Forecast"). The
preparation of the Financial Forecast was based on certain assumptions, considerations,
information, and forecasts prepared by the County and reviewed by PRMG for the Utility
System. The Financial Forecast summarizes the results of the studies and our evaluations up to
the date of this report. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2017 Bonds should not rely upon the
information contained in this report for a current description of any matters set forth herein as of
any date subsequent to the date of this report. Changed conditions occurring or becoming known
after such date could affect the material presented herein to the extent of such changes.

In making the projections and estimates for the preparation of the Financial Forecast, the primary
assumptions and information utilized by the County and reviewed by PRMG in the
determination of the projected operating results include the following:

1. The primary source of recurring Utility System Revenues are from rates for utility service;
during the Fiscal Year 2017 such amounts accounted for approximately 8l .3o/o of the
Utility System Gross Revenues. The projection of rate revenues for the Forecast Period
were based on: i) recent historical trends in customers and water sales / billed wastewater
flow; and ii) the current rates for utility service for the Fiscal Years 2018 based on the rate
application provisions as approved by resolution associated with the adoption of the Fiscal
Year 2018 Budget on June 6,2017 by the County Board of Commissioners (the "Board")
(the "2018 Budget"). During the May ll,2017 public meeting County staff presented to
the County Board of Commissioners (the "Board") a four (4) year rate adjustment plan,
which among other things, would automatically increase water retail service rates by
approximately one percent (1.0%) and wastewater retail service rates by four and one half
percent (4.5%) each July l't for Fiscal Years 2018 through202l. The County adopted and
implemented rates for Fiscal Year 2018 that included the one percent (1.0%) and four and
one half percent (4.5%) for water and wastewater retail service respectively coincidentally
with the adoption of the 2018 Budget. It is anticipated based on discussions with County
staff that the Board will continue to implement the recommended rate adjustment plan
presented on May 11,2017. No other rate adjustments above the application of the rate
adjustment plan for the Forecast Period were recognized in the financial forecast. To the
extent the anticipated rate adjustments are not implemented by the County, the available
Net Revenues, as shown on Table 1A at the end of this report may be reduced, which could
result in the County not maintaining compliance with the rate covenant as delineated in the
Bond Resolution.

Other revenues include miscellaneous charges of the Utility System, interest income on
estimated fimd balances of the Utility System, Sewer Connection Fees, and Sewer
Inspection Fees. The projected revenues for these fees were based on: i) actual collections
of such fees during Fiscal Year 2016 and 2017; ii) amounts approved in the Fiscal Year

[4] Reference Section 29 erfiitled "Rate Covenant" in the Bond Resolution, which delineates the maintaining of
rates that will provide in each Fiscal Year Net Revenues to meet certain debt service coverage requirements.
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2018 Budget, which represents the most recent financial plan as adopted by the County and
which were compared to recent trends in actual collections; and iii) adopted changes to the
fees charged to the County's customers. It should be noted that the Water Availability Fees
and Sewer Capacity Fees represent one-time charges applied to new development
connecting to the Utility System to recover the pro rata capital cost of utility infrastructure
constructed in advance in order required to serve such customers. Based on our
understanding of the provisions of the Bond Resolution, the Water Availability Fees and
Sewer Capacity Fees are included as a component of Gross Revenues of the Utility System
and have been recognized in the rate covenant compliance analysis as shown on Table lA.
To the extent the Water Service Availability Fees and Sewer Capacity Fees were not
reflected, the ability to meet the rate covenant would be reduced; however, the receipt of
such funds would continue to be a financial resource of the Utility System and would be
available for future capital reduction or the payment of expansion-related debt service
payments.

2. Projected Operating and Maintenance Expenses were based on: i) actual expenses as
reported by the County during Fiscal Year 2016 and2017; ii) projections contained in the
2018 Budget; iii) the recognition of additional personnel above the budgeted positions
included in the Budget for the remainder of the Forecast Period to meet projected service
area growth demands and persorurel needs as provided by the County; iv) increases in
operating expenses to account for inflation based, in part, on the application of the
projected consumer price index as published by the Congressional Budget Office as of
August 2017, Utility System customer and increasing demands in finished water /
wastewater treated as a result of Utility System development and growth and other factors,
which has been applied on an annual basis for each year after Fiscal Year 2018; and v) an
allowance for contingencies in order to have additional funds available to meet unknown or
unplanned expenses throughout the Fiscal Year and to recognize potential changes in
revenues that may result due to weather, conservation, and other factors. To the extent the
contingency allowance is not required to pay for the annual operating expenses or to
provide funds for ongoing Utility System operations, such monies would accrue to the
benefit of the Utility System and could be used for other purposes such as providing
increased funds to finance renewals, replacements, and upgrades to the Utility System over
time or to reduce potential rate adjustments that may be required in the future.

Table 18 at the end of this report provides: i) a detailed presentation of the operating
expenses as contained in the 2018 Budget; ii)adjustments made to the 20l8Budget
operating expenses based on recent trends in expenses and discussions with the County,
which served as the basis for the projection of such expenses for the remainder of the
Forecast Period; and iii) the projected operating expenses for the remainder of the Forecast
Period based on the application of certain escalation and utility system growth factors.
Table lC at the end of this report provides a summary of the annual escalation factors
assumed in the development of the Financial Forecast for the Utility System.
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It should be noted that the 2018 Budget is greater than the actual operating expenses
reported for the Fiscal Years 2016 and2017, which is considered normal since the 2018
Budget provides for the basis to incur costs and must reflect total potential operating
conditions of the Utility System (e.g., all utility positions are filled). The 2018 Budget
represents the most recent financial plan of the Utility System and was considered
representative of the estimated expenditure needs of the Utility System based on
comparisons to prior fiscal years actual results and discussions with the County;
accordingly PRMG considered the projections contained in the 2018 Budget to be
reasonable and conservative for the development of the Financial Forecast.

The Senior Lien Obligations were based on the actual debt service repayment schedules for
the County's Outstanding Bonds and the estimated debt service repayment schedule for the
Series 2017 Bonds as provided by the County's Underwriter at the request of the County.
The Debt Service Payment requirements for the Senior Lien Obligations presented on
Table 1A are presented on a "gross" basis (i.e., not net of interest eamings on any debt
service related funds or accounts) and on the monthly funding requirements (on an accrual
basis) of the various sinking funds as required by the Bond Resolution, which authorized
the issuance of the Outstanding Bonds as opposed to when the Debt Service Requirement is
actually paid.

Based on the provisions of the Bond Resolution the County must make payments out of
Net Revenues to repay junior lien obligations, which include, but is not limited to: i) on any
loans made by Georgia Environmental Finance Authority and the State of Georgia
Revolving Fund; ii) and that portion of the payments made by the County out of the Net
Revenues to the Upper Oconee Basin Water Authority ("UOBWA") under the
Intergovernmental Reservoir and Raw Water Supply Agreement and the Upper Oconee
Water Treatment and Transmission Agreement dated Jluly 22, 1996: and iii) any and all
existing loans having a lien on the Net Revenues of the System (the "Junior Lien
Obligations"). The Junior Lien Obligations were based on the actual debt service
repayment schedules for the County's existing obligations to make contract payments to the
UOBWA for the payment of debt service on the UOBWA Revenue Refunding Bonds,
Series 2015A and UOBWA Taxable Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 20158 as provided
by the County's Underwriter at the request of the County. The Junior Lien Obligation
requirements are presented on Table 1A on a "gross" basis (i.e., not net of interest earnings
on any debt service related funds or accounts) and on the monthly funding requirements
(on an accrual basis) of the various sinking funds as opposed to when the Junior Lien
Obligations is actually paid.

In addition to the Junior Lien Obligations the County has obligations to make payments
from the Renewal and Extension Fund on any outstanding contract payments with respect
to: i) the Intergovernmental Contract-Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project, dated October 1,

2007, as amended and supplemented from time to time, between the County and the
Walton County Water and Sewerage Authority; and ii) the Intergovernmental Reservoir
and Water Supply and Treatment Agreement, dated September l, 2007 between the

4.

5.
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County, Walton County, and the Walton County Water and Sewerage Authority, which
represent debt obligations held by other governmental entities for the benefit of the County
(the "Contract Obligations"). The Contract Obligations were based on the actual debt
service repayment schedules for the County's current obligations to make contract
payments to the Walton County Water and Sewerage Authority ("Walton County") for the
payment of debt service on the Walton County Revenue Bonds (Oconee-Hard Labor Creek
Reservoir Project), Series 2015 and Walton County Revenue Bonds (Oconee-Hard Labor
Creek Reservoir Project), Series 2016 as provided by the County's Underwriter at the
request of the County. The Contract Obligation requirements are presented on Table 1A on
a "gross" basis (i.e., not net of interest earnings on any debt service related funds or
accounts) and on the monthly funding requirements (on an accrual basis) of the various
sinking funds as opposed to when the Junior Lien Obligations is actually paid.

6. The County has established the Renewal and Extension Fund in accordance with the
provisions of the Bond Resolution. Each month, after the required sums have been paid to
meet the requirements of: i) operating the System; ii) Senior Lien Obligations; iii) Junior
Lien Obligations; and iv) Contract Obligations, the County will next deposit any additional
monies in the Revenue Fund (except for a working capital reserve in the amount not to
exceed 45 Days estimated operating and maintenance costs) into the Renewal and
Extension Fund. Monies held in the Renewal and Extension Fund may only be used for the
purpose of: i) in case of an emergency having a major effect upon the System caused by
some extraordinary occurrence, which makes it necessary to use the funds of the System
for the alleviation or removal of such effects and an insufhciency of money exists in the
Revenue Fund to meet such emergency; ii) making replacements, additions, extensions and
improvements, acquiring equipment and paying the cost of any engineering studies,
surveys or plans and specifications pertaining to the future development or expansion of
the System; iii) payment of charges of the depository(ies) for investment services;
iv) paying principal and interest on any revenue bonds then outstanding and falling due at
any time for payment of which money is not available in the Sinking Fund securing the
payment of the same and the interest thereon; v) acquiring bonds in the open market at a
price less than or equal to the redemption price; vi) payments to be made by the County
pursuant to the Intergovernmental Contract-Hard Labor Creek Reservoir Project, dated as
of October 1,2007, as amended and supplemented from time to time, between the County
and the Walton County Water and Sewerage Authority; and vii) payments to be made by
the County pursuant to the Intergovernmental Reservoir and Water Supply and Treatment
Agreement, dated as of September 1, 2007 between the County, Walton County, Georgia
and the Walton County Water and Sewerage Authority. For the purposes of this report it
has been assumed that the County will make annual deposits to the Renewal and Extension
fund ranging from approximately one million ($1,000,000) and two million ($2,000,000)
dollars.
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FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

Based upon the recent historical operating results of the Utility System as reported by the
County, the projections contained in the 2018 Budget, the assumptions recognized, which
include the implementation of the anticipate rate adjustment plan, and the results of our studies
with the development of the Financial Forecast, we are of the opinion that the Net Revenues of
the Utility System are projected for the Forecast Period to be in compliance with the rate
covenant contained in the Bond Resolution. The forecast of projected operating results is
considered by PRMG as being reasonable and attainable and provides a basis for the County to
meet the rate covenants as delineated in the Bond Resolution.

The ability of the Net Revenues of the Utility System to fund the deposits to the Debt Service
Account to fund the Debt Service Payment and to comply with the rate covenants of the Bond
Resolution are subject to the assumptions and considerations identified in the attached analyses
and information obtained during the preparation of such analyses regarding the Utility System
and the associated financial conditions evaluated herein. As such, the analysis and the
corresponding assumptions should be reviewed in its entirety with respect to such projections
and the conclusions presented herein in our report.

Respectfully submitted,

Public Resources Management Group, Inc.

?"Lt4-O*'
Robert J. Ori
President

,ilWJ*d"
K. Ryan Smith
Senior Rate Consultant

RIO/dlc
Attachment
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Table 1A

O@nee Couniy
Water md Sewer Utility System

Page I of2

70,131 l44,8ll 222,731 304,450 451,660
t,549,841 t,730,235 ),154,056 1,858,579 1,940,931 2,O23,2a7 2,023,281

78,933 17t,036 213,994 389,520 4'\,87'l

Line
No Descnption

I

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Rate Revenues

Existing Water Rate Revenues [4]
Additional Water Rate Revenues [5]
Existing Sewer Rate Revenues [4]
Additional Sewer Rate Revenues [5]

Total Rate Revenues

Other Operating Revenues and lncome
Other Revenues [6]
Interest lnmme [7]
Sewer Conn@tion{nspedion Fees [8]

Tohl Other Operating Revenu6 and lncome

Other Revenues

$ 8,3r 8,385

$ 368,949

36,539

I 37,700

$ 541,1 88

s 9,029,894 S 8,916,187 $ 9,379,031 $ 9,788,47t S 10,215,277 $ 10,441,843

s 333,510 S

51,265

145,350

489,241 $ 460,626 S

24,145 42,645

21,353 21,353

4ss,388 $ 455,388

76,444 '76,444

21,353 2t,153

449,266 S

61,920

21 353

s36,r 2s $ 539,345 $ 524,624 $ 512,538 S s53,1 86 $ 553,1 86

10 WaterAvailabilityFees [9]
I I Sewer Capacity Fees [9]

l2 Total OtherRevenuq

l3 Gross Revenues

14 NetOperating and Maintenance Expenses []0]

l5 NetRevenues

Senror Lien Obligations
16 Ocon@ County Water and Sewage Revflue Bonds, Serie 2003
I 7 Oconee County Water and Sewage Revenue Bonds, Series 2009
I 8 Oconee County Water and Sewge Refundrng Revmue Bonds, Sqi6 20I2
I 9 Oconee County Wa ter and Sewage Revenue Bonds, Series 20 1 7A
20 Oconee County Water and Sewage Tuable Refunding Revenue Bonds, Series 20 I 7B

2l Total Senior Lien Obligations

Senior Lien Debt Service Coverage Test
22 Calculated
21 Mrnimum Requirement

24 NetRevenu6 After Senior Lim Obligations and Minimum CovemgeRequirement

Junior Lien Obligations

25 Contrad Paymens - UOBWA Series 201 5A Bonds I I l
26 Contrad Palment - UOBWA Series 2015B Bonds I I ]

27 Total Junior Lien Obligations

Junior Lien Debt Service CoveBge Test
2a Calculated

29 Minimum Requirement

Net Revenues After Senior Lien Obligations and Minimum Covmge Requirement and Juior Lien
30 Obligations

Conract Obligations [ 2]
31 Conmcs Paymmts - Walton County Bonds Series 2015 [l 3]
32 Conrad Palments - Walton Couty Bonds Series 2016 [t 3]
33 Conract Payments - Walton GEFA 2012 Note I4l
34 Conracts Paynens - Walton GEFA 2014 Note U4l

35 Tohl Contract Obligations

Contrad Obligations Debt Service Coverage Test
36 Calculabd
3'l MinimumRequirement

All-In Debt Service Coverage T6t [5]
Net Revenues

Debt Obligations

Smior Lien ObligatioN
Junior Lren Obligations

Contract Obligations

Total Debt Obligations

All-In Debt Seruice Coverage Tet [5]
Calculated

s 1,072,460 $

1,076.642
865,365 $ 420,000 $ 420,000 $ 420,000 $ 420,000 $ 420,000
673,920 3E8,000 388,000 388,000 388,000 388,000

$ zr4rJo, s 1J31285 $ 8o8po0 $ so8,ooo s 808,000 $ Eo8,ooo $ 808,000

$ 1t,010,675 $ 11,105,304 $ 10,263,532 S 10,711,655 S 11,129,009 S il,576,463 S 1t,806,029

$ 4,308,049 $ 4,r70,410 $ 5,328,695 S 5,347,87s S 5,734,595 $ 5,68r,3t9 $ 5,803,971

$ 6JOrSr6 S 6,r14W $ 4,134,81.7 S s,363,780 $ 5,394,4t4 $ 5,89s,t44 $ 6,002,058

$ 4,500 $

985,596

539,500

4,500 $ 2.250 S

c83,6t0 t63,867
544,713 551,850 623,142

- 468,994 511,700
- 8t9.8t2 934-797

$-$-s-

1,392,311 r,540,000 1,s38,792

537,700 531,700 s37,700

I 50 450

$ 1,529,596 $ 1,532,844 S 2,006,713 $ 2,095,639 $ 2,080,467 $ 2,07',7,',to0 S 2,016,492

43Eo/o 452yo 246yo 256yo 25q/o 2840/o 289y"

I l5%

s +,s+t,sso $ 5,t72Joa $ ,,6n,048 s 2.953.795 $ 3.00t.878 $ 3.505.?89 $ 3.614.092

isvo

438yo

1je/o

s 146,110 $ 146,il0 $ 146,110 s 146,110
528,995 529,833 529,)62 528,953

5 6?5.1 05 S "?5rr4l $ 6?52X $ 6?5p61

$ t46,t 10 $ 146,t l0 $

529342 529,3't2
326,358

349,122

732%
I O0%

165% 389%
1OU/o 100%

6't5.493 $

444%

100yo

615,482 S

519f/o

tju/o

676,080

535yo

t00yo

4,268,485 S 4,496,r60 $ 1,95t,?75

316,913 S 357,375 $ 356,625

858,942
14,346 57,865 51,865

63.360

s 2,21a,732 $ 2,326,385 $ 2,810,307 S 2,938,013

s 355,940 $ 355,346 $ 354,153 S 3s4,r s9
t59,663 862,350 863,167 861,358
57,865 57,865 57,865 57,865

69,120 69,120 69,120 69,072

1,259 $ 415,240 $ t,336,192 S 1,342,588 S 1,344,681 $ t,344,904 $ 1,342,455

210yr 219/o

t000/. 10@/.

t28q/"
tou/o

I 0a3yo

t00%
1 46Yo

1ou/o

t7lyo
100yo

l11Yo

tju/o

6,'t02,626 S6,934,874 $4,934.837 $5.363.780 $5.194.4t4 S5.895.144 $6.002.058

39

40

4'l

42

43

44

s 1,529,s96 $ 1,532,844 $ 2,006,713 S 2,095,639
675,105 675,943 675,213 67s,O63
331,259 4t5,240 t,336,192 1,342,588

s ,Jt5rr6o $ ,.614.0, $ 4.Ot&838 S 4t 828'

s 2,040,467 s 2,077,100 $ 2,0't6,492
675,493 615,4a2 676,0E0

1.344.68t t.344.904 1.342.455

s 4,t00,64t $ 4,098,087 $ 4,095,026

t30% t44yo 1 41yo264Yo 264% 123o/o

20t6l2l 2ot1 13) 2018 2019 2O2O 2021 2022

s 6,768,544 S 7,299,659 $ 7,013,067 $ 7,204,601 $ 7,350.810 $ 7.498.020 $ 7.498.020



Table I A

Oconee County

Water and Sewer Utility System

to meet the rate covenant and flow of funds requirement as delin€ted in the Bond Resolution for the Forecast Period

The amounb shown for the Histori@l Fiscal Yqrs 201 6 aDd 201 7 are presented for comparatlve purposes

Amounts shown derived from infomation conhined in the Financial Report for the Fis@l Y€r 201 6 and other financial information for the Utility Slstem provided by the County

Amounts showD for the Fis€l Y* 201 7 based on a compilatron ofthe respeeive Fiscal Y@r opemtions as prepared by tie County and other financial rnfomation for the Utility System

as provided by the County; such amounts represent unaudited rsults

experienced by the Utility System

[5] OnMayll,20lTtheCountyBoardofCommissionersagr@dtorevisetheUtilitySystemretail rateskucture6wellasadoptafour(4)y%rannual rateadjushentplan
Amountsshownassumetheappli€tionoftheannualrateadjustmentplan Thefollowingadjustmentswereassumedfor@chFis@lY@roftheFore@stPeriod:

Page 2 of 2

l2l

l3l

2019 2020 2021 2022

tmplemented and Anticipated Rate Adj6trent - Watq Rehil SeNi@ Rntes

Implemented and Anticipated Rate Adjustments - Wastewater Rehil Seruice Rates

1 00Yo

4 so%

I 00Yo

4 50%
I 00%

4 50%

'I 00yo

4 500/0

0 000/0

o oe/o

[6] Amountshownincludebulkwatercharg6,meterfees,inspectionsfees,labfees,badcheckfees,penallycharges,senicecharg6,andothermiscellaneouscharges

annual ioterest rates ranging from 0 237o and 0 55o% during the Fore€st Period

estimated cost incr€ses @upled with the re@gnition of Utility System groMh where appli@ble

delinated io the Bond Resolution

[2] Pu6uantiotheBondRsolution,alldebtissuedthatisnotspecifellyonparitywiththeOutbndingBondsissuedbyWaltonCountyWaErandSewerageAuthority(WaltonCounty)
are considered subordinate and junior to the County Outanding Bonds and tie UOBWA Bonds; the annual debt sewice payments for tlese bonds are shou in the Financial Foreest
as''ContradObligations" TheContEctObligationsissuedbytheWaltonCountyincludelowinterestl@nssecuredbytheGeorgiaEnvironmenhlFinaneAuthoriry('GEFA")
and bonds issued to fund the Hard Labor Creek ("HLC") Reseruoir Projed beNeen the County and tie Walton County Water and Sewemge Authority (sm f@hote I I and l4 below)
With repect to the HLC project, such contEct palments are to be paid from the Renewal and Extension Fund, however such amounts are shown prior to the amount available

for deposit since it represents a debt of the Utilrty System payable from tbe Renewal and Extmjoo Fund

[13] TheCountyh6agreedtopayWaltonCountyamomhsufficienttopaythedebtsewiceontheWaltonCountyWaterandSewerageRefundingRevenueBonds,Series20l5and
Walton County Water and Sewerage Revenue Bonds, Series 2016 (Walton County HLC Bonds) pursuant to the Intergovemmenhl Conract Hard Labor Crek Reservoir Proj@!
datedOdoberl,200T TheCoutySystemrevenueshavenotb@npledgedassecurityforthe@ntactpalments IntheeventtheCountysystemrevenueareinsufficientinorder
to make the contact pa)menb. the County has agreed to lely an ad valorem hx, unlimited as to rate or amoun! on all property in tle County gubject to Hation for such pupose in order to

make the contract payments

[14] TheCountyh6agreedtopayWaltonCountyamountssufficienttopaythedebtseNiceontheWaltonCounty'sGeorgiaEnviromenhl FinanceAuthorjrPromissorNoteWSl2L2lWR
(the "Walton GEFA 2012 Note") and Georgia Environmenhl FimDce Authority Promissory Note WSl2L20WR (the "Walton GEFA 2014 Note") pursunt to the Environmotal

contact palmens, the county has agreed to le\y an ad valorem tax, unlimited as to mte or mount, on all property io the County subject to taxation for such purpose in order to make

tle contract paymens

I I 5] Amounb shown for i nfomational purpos6 onty, the Bond Resolution does not requi re an " All-ln" or cummu lative debt servi@ coverage tesl as a covenant of the System

I I 6] In accordance with the Bood Resolution the County wil I deposit al I available monies remai ni ng in the Revenue Fund afer the pa]ment of: i) Openting a nd Ma intemnce Expenses;

Expenses. into the Renewal and Extension Fund The Renewal and Extension Fund is used for making replacements, additions, extensions and improvemenB, acqurring equipment,
and other related epi€l expenditures



Table I B

Oconee County
Water & Sewer Utility System

Line
No

Budget
20 t8

Adjusted Escalation Fiscal Yer Endins June 30.
Description Adjustmepts 2018 Budget Factor 2019 2020 2022

s 729,636 $ 75 t,525
53,995 55,6 I 5

43,285 44,584
I 76,083 182,387

41,987 43,246

9,696 9,987

t04,641 107,786

4,761 4,904
14,3',n 14,802

26,225 2'7,012

20,'162 21,385
I63,909 168,826

15,398 11,660
1,396 1,429

24,696 2s,289
9,127 9,346
5,518 5,'702

3,3 t I 3,421

6,622 6,843

I I,036 11,404

16,554 t7,107
12t,394 t25,449

25,'7'10 26,388
1,074 I,t00
4,9t',7 5,065

17,435 18,133

38,655 39,582
7 ,',731 7,9t6

22,549 23,090
3,114 3,189

10,737 10,995

2,684 2,749
2,362 2,4t9
6,979 7,14'1

1,074 1,t00
3,221 3,299
2,147 2,t99
8,590 8,'796

2,14',7 2.t99
1t,274 t 1,545

29,',164 3 1 ,136
6,442 6,597
8,157 8,389

13,959 14,294

6,373 6,502
30,802 31,427

38,974 40,397

1.360.378 1.404.099

'1,825

19,321

10,'131

6
'l

8

9

IO

U
12

l3
t4
l5
l6
t7
t8
I9
20
2t
22

23

24

25

26

27

28

29
30

3l
32

33

34

35

36

37

38

39

40

4t

43

44
45

46

47

48

49
50

5l
52

53

54

55

56

51

58

59

60

6t
62

63

64

65

66

67

68

Water Operating Budget
Salries []
Additional Persomel
Overtime ! l
Group lnsurance []
Soc Sec Contributions []
Medicue fll
Retirement Contributions U ]
Retr'rement Contributions 401(A) [ ]
Workers Cornp I l]
Accounting
Lrgal Fees

Engineering Consulting
Contract 3rd Party Billing
Collection Expense

EPD Drinking Water Testing
Georgia One Call Sewice
R&M Buildings

R&M Fire Hydrmts
R&M Grouds
R&M Vehicle & Equipment
R&M Well
Distribution System Repairs

Storage Tank Maintenmce
Rental ofBuildings
Equipment Rental

Copy Machine Lease/It4aintenance

Ins Otherthm Emp[ Benefits
Telephone

Mobile Telephone Commications
Telemetry Lines
Postage

Comunity Outreach
Eoviromental Hzads Compliance
Postage Machine kse,Maintenmce
Govement Reporting
Open Records RequesLReprinting
Travel
Dues & Publications
Training
Licenses

Miscellmeous Supplies
R&M Vehicle & Equipmont ln House

lab Supplies
Chemicals
Office Supplies
Electricity
Electricity - Wells ad Tilks
Vehicle & Equipment Fuel

Purchased Water
Water Meters
Computer Commmication Systems

Unifoms
Health & Safety

Capital System hnprovements - Water
Capital Equipmont
Budget Contingency
Opemting md Maintenilce Cost at Hrc
Debt Service Principat 09 Bond
Debt Sewice lnterest 09 Bond
Debt Sewice Principal l2 Bond
Debt Service lnterest 12 Bond
Debt Sewice Principal UOBWA
Debt Service Interest UOBWA
Debt Seruice Principal HLC

Debt Service lnterest HLC
Debt Service Principal 03 Bond
Debt Service Iaterest 03 Bond

Total Water Projected Operating Expenses

s 842,820

50,000

200,000
48,500

I r.200
120,880

5,500

I 6,600

24,000
19,000

I 50,000
69,000

1,300

23,000
8,500

5,000

3,000

6,000

I 0,000
I 5,000

I r 0,000
206,300

24,000
1,000

4,500

I 5,500

36,000
'7,200

2 t ,000
2,900

I 0,000

2,500
2,200
6,500

I,000
3,000

2,000

8,000

2,000
10,500

26,000

6,000
7,500

13,000

6,000

29,000

35,000

t,260,000
I 25,000

I,700
I 8,000

10,000

800,000

I I 5,000

15,840

870,000

95,800
250,000
291,850
461, I 00

I 10,700

25,000

33 r ,900

4,500

(r75,r00)
2l,996

( r 0,388)
(4r,ssl)
( 1 0,076)

(2,321)
(25, r l 3)

( r,1 43)
(3,449)

$ 667,720
21,996
39,612

158,449

38,424

8,873

9s,767
4,357

l3,t 5t
24,000
19,000

150,000

69,000

1,300

23,000

8,500

5,000

3,000

6,000
t0,000
I 5,000

I I 0,000

206,300

24,000
1,000

4,500

I 5,500

36,000

1,200

2 r,000
2,900

I 0,000

2,500
2,200

6,500

1,000

3,000

2,000

8,000

2,000

10,500

26,000
6,000

7,500

13,000

6,000

29,000

35,000

I,237.213

I,700
I 8,000

I 0,000

32,471

I 5.840

(22,',187)

( l 25,000)

(800,000)
( r r5,000)

32,477

(870,000)
(95,800)

(250,000)
(291,850)
(46 r,r 00)
( l 10,700)

(25,000)

(33 1,900)

(4,500)

$ 687,7sr S 708,384

96,805 66,6t2
40,801 42.025
164,I2t 169,997

39,57 7 40,',164

9,139 9,4t4
98,640 101,599

4,488 4,623

13.546 )3,952
24,720 25,462

19,570 20,157

154,500 159,135

7t.070 73,202

I,331 t,363
23,552 24,117

8,104 8,913

5,16',7 5,340

3,100 3,204
6,200 6,401

t0,334 t0,6'19
15,501 16,019

|3,614 117,471

- 220,3t I

24,576 25,166
1,024 1,049

4,635 4,774
16,120 16,',165

36,864 3',7,749
'7 ,373 ',1,550

21,504 22,020
2,970 3,041

10,240 10,486

2,s60 2,621
, r51 ) ?O?

6,656 6,816

1,024 1,049

3,0'12 3,146
2,048 2,097
8,192 8,389

2,048 2,097
10,152 I 1,010

21,199 28,452
6,144 6,291
1 ,113 7 ,932
13,312 13,631

6,t22 6,246

29,589 30, t89
36,278 37,602

1.278.s9s r.318.923

Labor
Calculated

Labor
Ins-Health

Iabor
labor
labor
labor
Labor

Contract-L
Contract-L
Contract-L
CoDtract-L
lnflation
Inflation
Inflation

Capital-ENR
Capital-ENR
Capital-ENR
Capital-ENR
Capital-ENR
Capital-ENR
Capital-ENR

Inflation
Inflation

Contract-L
los-Property

Inflation
Inflation
Inflation
hflation
Infl ation
Inflation
Inflation
lnfl ation

Inflation
Inflation
Inflation
Inflation
Inflation
Inflation
Repair

Inflation
Chemical
lnflation
Electric
Electric

Fuel

Calculated
Eliminate
Inflation
Inflation

Inflation
Eliminate
Eliminate

Calculated
lnflation

Eliminate
Elimioate
Eliminate

Elimioate
Eliminate
Eliminate
Eliminate

Eliminate
Eliminate
Eliminate

1,74t
18,432

10,240

32,1t6
16,220

1,783

18,874

10,486

34,911

16,609

1,869

19,791

10.995

33,636 34,681

17,008 17,416

-i--?'!r129- -!-aJrErD -9--1 
2tt''2- s 3,259,902 $ 3,549,2'75 S 3,414,253 $ 3,520,213



Table lB

Oconee Comty
Water & Sewer Utility System

Operatinq Budqet ild Adiustrnents

Line
No Description

Budget
20r8

Adjusted Escalation Fit"u.l Y"- Erding J*" 3O
Adjustments 20lgBudget Factor 2olw

Sewer Operating Budget

69 Saluies WW []
'10 Additional Persomel WAV
7l Overtime WAV []
'72 Group lnswance WW []
73 Soc Sec Contributions WAV []
'14 Medicare WAV []
75 Retirernent Contributions W/W []
'16 Retirement Contributions 401(A) WAV Il
77 Workers Comp WAV ! l
18 Contract Lab Fees for WAV

79 Engineeriog Consulting WAV
80 Sludge Disposal

8l Sewer System Maintenmce
82 Lift Station Mainteomce
83 l:b Repairs

84 R&M Vehicle & Equip WAV

85 R&M Building - WflV
86 Equipment Rental WAV
8'l hs Other thm Empl Benefits w/Iv
88 Mobile Telephone Voice - WW
89 Travel Wutewater
90 Training Wastewater
9l Mobile Telephone /Telemetry
92 Elect-ic WAV - WWTP
93 Licenses Wastewater
94 Materials & Supplies WAV
95 R&M Vehicle & Equip WAV In House

96 Lab Supplies WAV
9'7 Treatrnent Chemicals WW
98 Natual Gas

99 Electricity WAV
100 Vehicle &EquipmentFuel W V

l0l Unifoms Wastewater
102 Health & Safery Wastewater
103 Puchased Sewer

104 Intemet - WW
105 Budget Contingency
106 Capital System hrprovements W/!V
107 DepreciationExpense

108 Total Sewer Projected Operating Expeoses

109 Total Water and Sewer Projected Operating Expenses

s 272900 $

15,000

64,500

16,500

4,000

s r,600
1,300

5,800

3,000

I 15,000

50,000

55,000

180,000

90,000

r50,000

50,000

1,500

4,200
4,000

1,000

4,000

13,200

190,000

3s0
25,000

10,000

25,000

60,000

3,500

120,000

20,000

8,200

10,000
'72,500

3,000

900,000

1,500

175,100 $

43,393
10,388

41,551

t0,076
) 1)1

25,1 l3
1,143

3,449

20,126
(900,000)

(1,500)

$ 415,283
'72,636

26,934
t 13,780

28,195
6,7't2

8 r,385
2,s91
9,812
3,r83

122,004
52,429
5R 715

192,225

96,112
t64,149

54,7 t6
1,573

4,543
4,194
I,049
4,194

I 3,84 I
197,792

36',7

26,2t4
10,943

26,214
63,456
3,160

t24,92t
21,487

8,s98

I 0,486

76,022
3,t46

2t,637

448,000 Labor $

43,393 Calculated
25,388 Labor

106,051 hs-Health
26,5'16 Labor
6,32'7 Labor

16,113 Labor
2,443 Labor
9,249 labor
3,000 Contract-L

I 15,000 Contract-L
50,000 lnflation
55,000 Capital-ENR

180,000 Capital-ENR
90,000 Capital-ENR

150,000 Repair

50,000 Repair

1,500 Inflation
4,200 Ins-Property
4,000 Inflation
1,000 Inflation
4,000 Inflation
13,200 Inflation

190,000 Electric
350 lnflation

25,000 Inflation
10,000 Repair
25,000 Inflation
60,000 Chemical
3,500 Fuel

120,000 Electric
20,000 Fuel

8,200 loflation
10,000 Inflation
72,500 hflation
3,000 lnflation

20,126 Calculated
- Eliminate
- Eliminate

s 489,542 $ 504,228

89,694 92,384
2',7,742 28,574

I 17,854 122,073

29,040 29,912
6,914 7,121

83,827 86,342

2,669 2,149
t0,106 10,410

3,2'18 3,311

125,664 t29,434
53,68',1 54,976

60,69',7 62,724

198,645 205,280
99,323 t02,640
t7t,1t6 179,632

57,239 59,871

l,6l I 1,649

4,724 4,9t3
4,295 4,398
1,074 I,100
4,29s 4,398
t4,173 t4,st4

201,80'7 205,904
376 385

26,844 27,488
11,448 |,915
26,844 27,488
65,259 67,112
3,897 4,040

127,457 130,045

22,271 23,084
8,805 9,016

10,737 10,995
'77,846 ',79,715

3,221 3,299
22,446 23.132

46t,440
38,t41
26,149

r 09,848

27,373

6,5t',7

79,0t5
2,5t6
9,526
3,090

I I 8,450

5 1,200

56,837

I 86,0 l2
93,006

156,915

52,305

1,536

4,368
4,096
1,024

4,096
13,517

I 93,857

358

25,600

10,46 I
25,600
6t,704
3,628

t22,436
20,730

8,397

10,240

74,240
3,072

20,673

$ 2,601,5s0 s (568,834) S 2,032,716

$ 2,606,0s0 $ (s73,334) $ s,328,695

$ 2,08',1,9'13 $ 2,185,320 $ 2,267,066 s 2,336,380

$ 5.347.875 S 5.734.595 $ s.681.319 $ 5.856.593



Line
No.

Table lC

Oconee County
Water & Sewer Utility System

Summary of Expense Escalation Factors

Escalation
Reference

Pro.jected Fiscal Year Ending June 30,
Description 201 8 2019 2020 2021 2022

I
2

J

4

5

6

7

8

9

l0
l1
t2
13

14

15

16

17

Inflation (CBO CPI Index February 2015)
Labor Escalator

Contract Labor - Interim Plant Operations
Indirect Cost Escalation and OPEB

Life/Health/Disability Insurance Escalator
Property Insurance Escal ator
Fuel and Oil
Electrical Expense

Chemicals
Marginal Escalator
Constant

Elimination Factor
Repair & Maintenance
Capital Escalator - ENR Index (l 0 Yr Change)
Capital Escalator - Marginal
Capital Escalator - High
CIP Contingency

Inflation
Labor

Contract-L
Indirect

Ins-Health
Ins-Property

Fuel
Electric

Chemical
Margin

Constant

Eliminate
Repair

Capital-ENR
Capital-Marginal

Capital-High
CIP Cont

t.0220
1.0300

1.0300

1.0500

1.0358

1.0400

1.036s

l.0203
1.0284
1.0100

1.0000

0.0000

1.0461

1 0334
I 0100

1.0500

l. 1000

1.0240
1.0300

I 0300

1.0500

1.0358

1.0400

1.0365

1.0203

1.0284
1 0100

l 0000

0.0000

l.0461
1.0334

1.0100

1.0s00

1. l 000

t.0240
1.0300

1.0300

l 0500

l 0358

I 0400

t.0240
1.0300

1.0300

I 0500

l 03s8

1.0400

1.0365

t.0203
t.0284
r.0100
1.0000

0.0000

1.0461

r.0240
1.0300

1.0300

1.0500

1.0358

1.0400

1.0365

1.0203

r.0284
1.0100

1.0000

0.0000

0365

0203

0284
0100

1.0000

0.0000

I 0461

1.0334

1.0100

1.0s00

l. l 000

0334
0100

0500

l 000

0461

0334
0100

0500

1000
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